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“Revealing much about the aftermath of World War II in England, the novel is at once an unlikely love story, a portrayal of heroism and survival, and a subtle homage to the bond forged by literature.”

—The Charlotte Observer




“I can’t remember the last time I discovered a novel as smart and delightful as this one, a world so vivid that I kept forgetting this was a work of fiction populated with characters so utterly wonderful that I kept forgetting they weren’t my actual friends and neighbors. Treat yourself to this book, please—I can’t recommend it highly enough.”

—Elizabeth Gilbert, author of Eat, Pray, Love




“The letters that make up this novel shed light on the suffering of the Channel Islanders during the German occupation, but there is also a rich vein of humor. After [Juliet] moves to Guernsey to work on her book, she finds it impossible to leave the island and her new friends, a feeling readers may share when they finish this delightful novel.”

—The Boston Globe




“Written in warm, life-affirming prose … an ideal choice for book groups.”

—St. Petersburg Times




“A vivid epistolary novel whose characters spring to life … [a] paean to books and those who love them.”

—The Washington Post




“One of those joyful books that celebrate how reading brings people together and sustains them through rough times.”

—New Orleans Times-Picayune




“Mary Ann Shaffer and Annie Barrows have written a wondrous, delightful, poignant book—part Jane Austen, part history lesson. The letters in The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society aren’t addressed to you, but they are meant for you. It’s a book everyone should read. An absolute treasure.”

—Sarah Addison Allen, author of Garden Spells




“Charming … so clever … so vivid and moving.”

—Publishers Weekly




“Marvelous … Reminiscent of Helene Hanff’s 84 Charing Cross Road, this is a warm, funny, tender and thoroughly entertaining celebration of the power of the written word.”

—Library Journal




“A sure winner.”

—Kirkus Reviews




“For sheer enjoyment, The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society is one of the best books of the year … [a] delightful, unforgettable novel.”

—BookPage
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A Note on Using this eBook

In this deluxe eBook edition of The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, you can switch between the story text and in-depth annotations that provide further insights and background information. Throughout the eBook you will see hyperlinks within the text that allow you to click back and forth between the text and annotations. Click on the hyperlink within the text to go to each annotation. Then click “Back” at the end of the annotation to return to your place in the text.



Lovingly dedicated to my mother, Edna Fiery Morgan, and to my dear friend Julia Poppy

—M. A. S.

And to my mother, Cynthia Fiery Barrows

—A. B.
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8th January, 1946

Mr. Sidney Stark, Publisher
Stephens & Stark Ltd.
21 St. James’s Place
London S.W.1
England

Dear Sidney,

Susan Scott is a wonder. We sold over forty copies of the book, which was very pleasant, but much more thrilling from my standpoint was the food. Susan managed to procure ration coupons for icing sugar and real eggs for the meringue. If all her literary luncheons are going to achieve these heights, I won’t mind touring about the country. Do you suppose that a lavish bonus could spur her on to butter? Let’s try it—you may deduct the money from my royalties.

Now for my grim news. You asked me how work on my new book is progressing. Sidney, it isn’t.

English Foibles seemed so promising at first. After all, one should be able to write reams about the Society to Protest the Glorification of the English Bunny. I unearthed a photograph of the Vermin Exterminators’ Trade Union, marching down an Oxford street with placards screaming “Down with Beatrix Potter!” But what is there to write about after a caption? Nothing, that’s what.

I no longer want to write this book—my head and my heart just aren’t in it. Dear as Izzy Bickerstaff is—and was—to me, I don’t want to write anything else under that name. I don’t want to be considered a light-hearted journalist anymore. I do acknowledge that making readers laugh—or at least chuckle—during the war was no mean feat, but I don’t want to do it anymore. I can’t seem to dredge up any sense of proportion or balance these days, and God knows one cannot write humor without them.

In the meantime, I am very happy Stephens & Stark is making money on Izzy Bickerstaff Goes to War. It relieves my conscience over the debacle of my Anne Brontë biography.



My thanks for everything and love,
Juliet

P.S. I am reading the collected correspondence of Mrs. Montagu. Do you know what that dismal woman wrote to Jane Carlyle? “My dear little Jane, everybody is born with a vocation, and yours is to write charming little notes.” I hope Jane spat on her.

From Sidney to Juliet

10th January, 1946

Miss Juliet Ashton
23 Glebe Place
Chelsea
London S.W. 3

Dear Juliet:

Congratulations! Susan Scott said you took to the audience at the luncheon like a drunkard to rum—and they to you—so please stop worrying about your tour next week. I haven’t a doubt of your success. Having witnessed your electrifying performance of “The Shepherd Boy Sings in the Valley of Humiliation” eighteen years ago, I know you will have every listener coiled around your little finger within moments. A hint: perhaps in this case, you should refrain from throwing the book at the audience when you finish.

Susan is looking forward to ushering you through bookshops from Bath to Yorkshire. And of course, Sophie is agitating for an extension of the tour into Scotland. I’ve told her in my most infuriating older-brother manner that It Remains To Be Seen. She misses you terribly, I know, but Stephens & Stark must be impervious to such considerations.

I’ve just received Izzy’s sales figures from London and the Home Counties—they are excellent. Again, congratulations!

Don’t fret about English Foibles; better that your enthusiasm died now than after six months spent writing about bunnies. The crass commercial possibilities of the idea were attractive, but I agree that the topic would soon grow horribly fey. Another subject—one you’ll like—will occur to you.

Dinner one evening before you go? Say when.

Love,
Sidney

P.S. You write charming little notes.

From Juliet to Sidney

11th January, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Yes, lovely—can it be somewhere on the river? I want oysters and champagne and roast beef, if obtainable; if not, a chicken will do. I am very happy that Izzy’s sales are good. Are they good enough that I don’t have to pack a bag and leave London?

Since you and S&S have turned me into a moderately successful author, dinner must be my treat.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. I did not throw “The Shepherd Boy Sings in the Valley of Humiliation” at the audience. I threw it at the elocution mistress. I meant to cast it at her feet, but I missed.

From Juliet to Sophie Strachan

12th January, 1946

Mrs. Alexander Strachan
Feochan Farm
by Oban
Argyll

Dear Sophie,

Of course I’d adore to see you, but I am a soul-less, will-less automaton. I have been ordered by Sidney to Bath, Colchester, Leeds, and several other garden spots I can’t recall at the moment, and I can’t just slither off to Scotland instead. Sidney’s brow would lower—his eyes would narrow—he would stalk. You know how nerve-racking it is when Sidney stalks.

I wish I could sneak away to your farm and have you coddle me. You’d let me put my feet on the sofa, wouldn’t you? And then you’d tuck blankets around me and bring me tea. Would Alexander mind a permanent resident on his sofa? You’ve told me he is a patient man, but perhaps he would find it annoying.

Why am I so melancholy? I should be delighted at the prospect of reading Izzy to an entranced audience. You know how I love talking about books, and you know how I adore receiving compliments. I should be thrilled. But the truth is that I’m gloomy—gloomier than I ever was during the war. Everything is so broken, Sophie: the roads, the buildings, the people. Especially the people.

This is probably the aftereffect of a horrid dinner party I went to last night. The food was ghastly, but that was to be expected. It was the guests who unnerved me—they were the most demoralizing collection of individuals I’ve ever encountered. The talk was of bombs and starvation. Do you remember Sarah Morecroft? She was there, all bones and gooseflesh and bloody lipstick. Didn’t she use to be pretty? Wasn’t she mad for that horse-riding fellow who went up to Cambridge? He was nowhere in evidence; she’s married to a doctor with grey skin who clicks his tongue before he speaks. And he was a figure of wild romance compared to my dinner partner, who just happened to be a single man, presumably the last one on earth—oh Lord, how miserably mean-spirited I sound!

I swear, Sophie, I think there’s something wrong with me. Every man I meet is intolerable. Perhaps I should set my sights lower—not so low as the grey doctor who clicks, but a bit lower. I can’t even blame it on the war—I was never very good at men, was I?

Do you suppose the St. Swithin’s furnace-man was my one true love? Since I never spoke to him, it seems unlikely, but at least it was a passion unscathed by disappointment. And he had that beautiful black hair. After that, you remember, came the Year of Poets. Sidney’s quite snarky about those poets, though I don’t see why, since he introduced me to them. Then poor Adrian. Oh, there’s no need to recite the dread rolls to you, but Sophie—what is the matter with me? Am I too particular? I don’t want to be married just to be married. I can’t think of anything lonelier than spending the rest of my life with someone I can’t talk to, or worse, someone I can’t be silent with.

What a dreadful, complaining letter. You see? I’ve succeeded in making you feel relieved that I won’t be stopping in Scotland. But then again, I may—my fate rests with Sidney.

Kiss Dominic for me and tell him I saw a rat the size of a terrier the other day.

Love to Alexander and even more to you,
Juliet

From Dawsey Adams, Guernsey, Channel Islands, to Juliet

12th January, 1946

Miss Juliet Ashton
81 Oakley Street
Chelsea
London S.W. 3

Dear Miss Ashton,

My name is Dawsey Adams, and I live on my farm in St. Martin’s Parish on Guernsey. I know of you because I have an old book that once belonged to you—the Selected Essays of Elia, by an author whose name in real life was Charles Lamb. Your name and address were written inside the front cover.

I will speak plain—I love Charles Lamb. My own book says Selected, so I wondered if that meant he had written other things to choose from? These are the pieces I want to read, and though the Germans are gone now, there aren’t any bookshops left on Guernsey.

I want to ask a kindness of you. Could you send me the name and address of a bookshop in London? I would like to order more of Charles Lamb’s writings by post. I would also like to ask if anyone has ever written his life story, and if they have, could a copy be found for me? For all his bright and turning mind, I think Mr. Lamb must have had a great sadness in his life.

Charles Lamb made me laugh during the German Occupation, especially when he wrote about the roast pig. The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society came into being because of a roast pig we had to keep secret from the German soldiers, so I feel a kinship to Mr. Lamb.

I am sorry to bother you, but I would be sorrier still not to know about him, as his writings have made me his friend.

Hoping not to trouble you,
Dawsey Adams

P.S. My friend Mrs. Maugery bought a pamphlet that once belonged to you, too. It is called Was There a Burning Bush? A Defense of Moses and the Ten Commandments. She liked your margin note, “Word of God or crowd control???” Did you ever decide which?

From Juliet to Dawsey

15th January, 1946

Mr. Dawsey Adams
Les Vauxlarens
La Bouvée
St. Martin’s, Guernsey

Dear Mr. Adams,

I no longer live on Oakley Street, but I’m so glad that your letter found me and that my book found you. It was a sad wrench to part with the Selected Essays of Elia. I had two copies and a dire need of shelf-room, but I felt like a traitor selling it. You have soothed my conscience.

I wonder how the book got to Guernsey? Perhaps there is some secret sort of homing instinct in books that brings them to their perfect readers. How delightful if that were true.

Because there is nothing I would rather do than rummage through bookshops, I went at once to Hastings & Sons upon receiving your letter. I have gone to them for years, always finding the one book I wanted—and then three more I hadn’t known I wanted. I told Mr. Hastings you would like a good, clean copy (and not a rare edition) of More Essays of Elia. He will send it to you by separate post (invoice enclosed) and was delighted to know you are also a lover of Charles Lamb. He said the best biography of Lamb was by E. V. Lucas, and he would hunt out a copy for you, though it may take a while.

In the meantime, will you accept this small gift from me? It is his Selected Letters. I think it will tell you more about him than any biography ever could. E. V. Lucas sounds too stately to include my favorite passage from Lamb: “Buz, buz, buz, bum, bum, bum, wheeze, wheeze, wheeze, fen, fen, fen, tinky, tinky, tinky, cr’annch! I shall certainly come to be condemned at last. I have been drinking too much for two days running. I find my moral sense in the last stage of a consumption and my religion getting faint.” You’ll find that in the Letters (it’s on page 244). They were the first Lamb I ever read, and I’m ashamed to say I only bought the book because I’d read elsewhere that a man named Lamb had visited his friend Leigh Hunt, in prison for libeling the Prince of Wales.

While there, Lamb helped Hunt paint the ceiling of his cell sky blue with white clouds. Next they painted a rose trellis up one wall. Then, I further discovered, Lamb offered money to help Hunt’s family outside the prison—though he himself was as poor as a man could be. Lamb also taught Hunt’s youngest daughter to say the Lord’s Prayer backward. You naturally want to learn everything you can about a man like that.

That’s what I love about reading: one tiny thing will interest you in a book, and that tiny thing will lead you onto another book, and another bit there will lead you onto a third book. It’s geometrically progressive—all with no end in sight, and for no other reason than sheer enjoyment.

The red stain on the cover that looks like blood—is blood. I got careless with my paper knife. The enclosed postcard is a reproduction of a painting of Lamb by his friend William Hazlitt.

If you have time to correspond with me, could you answer several questions? Three, in fact. Why did a roast pig dinner have to be kept a secret? How could a pig cause you to begin a literary society? And, most pressing of all, what is a potato peel pie—and why is it included in your society’s name?

I have sub-let a flat at 23 Glebe Place, Chelsea, London S.W.3. My Oakley Street flat was bombed in 1945 and I still miss it. Oakley Street was wonderful—I could see the Thames out of three of my windows. I know that I am fortunate to have any place at all to live in London, but I much prefer whining to counting my blessings. I am glad you thought of me to do your Elia hunting.

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

P.S. I never could make up my mind about Moses—it still bothers me.

From Juliet to Sidney

18th January, 1946

Dear Sidney,

This isn’t a letter: it’s an apology. Please forgive my moaning about the teas and luncheons you set up for Izzy. Did I call you a tyrant? I take it all back—I love Stephens & Stark for sending me out of London.

Bath is a glorious town: lovely crescents of white, upstanding houses instead of London’s black, gloomy buildings or—worse still—piles of rubble that were once buildings. It is bliss to breathe in clean, fresh air with no coal smoke and no dust. The weather is cold, but it isn’t London’s dank chill. Even the people on the street look different—upstanding, like their houses, not grey and hunched like Londoners.

Susan said the guests at Abbot’s book tea enjoyed themselves immensely—and I know I did. I was able to un-stick my tongue from the roof of my mouth after the first two minutes and began to have quite a good time.

Susan and I are off tomorrow for bookshops in Colchester, Norwich, King’s Lynn, Bradford, and Leeds.

Love and thanks,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

21st January, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Night-time train travel is wonderful again! No standing in the corridors for hours, no being shunted off for a troop train to pass, and above all, no black-out curtains. All the windows we passed were lighted, and I could snoop once more. I missed it so terribly during the war. I felt as if we had all turned into moles scuttling along in our separate tunnels. I don’t consider myself a real peeper—they go in for bedrooms, but it’s families in sitting rooms or kitchens that thrill me. I can imagine their entire lives from a glimpse of bookshelves, or desks, or lit candles, or bright sofa cushions.

There was a nasty, condescending man in Tillman’s bookshop today. After my talk about Izzy, I asked if anyone had questions. He literally leapt from his seat to go nose-to-nose with me—how was it, he demanded, that I, a mere woman, dared to bastardize the name of Isaac Bickerstaff? “The true Isaac Bickerstaff, noted journalist, nay the sacred heart and soul of eighteenth-century literature: dead now and his name desecrated by you.”

Before I could muster a word, a woman in the back row jumped to her feet. “Oh, sit down! You can’t desecrate a person who never was! He’s not dead because he was never alive! Isaac Bickerstaff was a pseudonym for Joseph Addison’s Spectator columns! Miss Ashton can take up any pretend name she wants to—so shut up!” What a valiant defender—he left the store in a hurry.

Sidney, do you know a man named Markham V. Reynolds, Jr.? If you don’t, will you look him up for me—Who’s Who, the Domesday Book, Scotland Yard? Failing those, he may simply be in the Telephone Directory. He sent a beautiful bunch of mixed spring flowers to me at the hotel in Bath, a dozen white roses to my train, and a pile of red roses to Norwich—all with no message, only his engraved card.

Come to that, how does he know where Susan and I are staying? What trains we are taking? All his flowers have met me upon my arrival. I don’t know whether to feel flattered or hunted.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

23rd January, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Susan just gave me the sales figures for Izzy—I can scarcely believe them. I honestly thought everyone would be so weary of the war that no one would want a remembrance of it—and certainly not in a book. Happily, and once again, you were right and I was wrong (it half-kills me to admit this).

Traveling, talking before a captive audience, signing books, and meeting strangers is exhilarating. The women I’ve met have told me such war stories of their own, I almost wish I had my column back. Yesterday, I had a lovely, gossipy chat with a Norwich lady. She has four daughters in their teens, and just last week, the eldest was invited to tea at the cadet school in town. Arrayed in her finest frock and spotless white gloves, the girl made her way to the school, stepped over the threshold, took one look at the sea of shining cadet faces before her—and fainted dead away! The poor child had never seen so many males in one place in her life. Think of it—a whole generation grown up without dances or teas or flirting.

I love seeing the bookshops and meeting the booksellers—booksellers really are a special breed. No one in their right mind would take up clerking in a bookstore for the salary, and no one in his right mind would want to own one—the margin of profit is too small. So, it has to be a love of readers and reading that makes them do it—along with first dibs on the new books.

Do you remember the first job your sister and I had in London? In crabby Mr. Hawke’s secondhand bookshop? How I loved him—he’d simply unpack a box of books, hand one or two to us and say, “No cigarette ashes, clean hands—and for God’s sake, Juliet, none of your margin notes! Sophie, dear, don’t let her drink coffee while she reads.” And off we’d go with new books to read.

It was amazing to me then, and still is, that so many people who wander into bookshops don’t really know what they’re after—they only want to look around and hope to see a book that will strike their fancy. And then, being bright enough not to trust the publisher’s blurb, they will ask the book clerk the three questions: (1) What is it about? (2) Have you read it? (3) Was it any good?

Real dyed-in-the-wool booksellers—like Sophie and me—can’t lie. Our faces are always a dead giveaway. A lifted brow or curled lip reveals that it’s a poor excuse for a book, and the clever customers ask for a recommendation instead, whereupon we frog-march them over to a particular volume and command them to read it. If they read it and despise it, they’ll never come back. But if they like it, they’re customers for life.

Are you taking notes? You should—a publisher should send not just one reader’s copy to a bookshop, but several, so that all the staff can read it, too.

Mr. Seton told me today that Izzy Bickerstaff makes an ideal present for both someone you like and someone you don’t like but have to give a present to anyway. He also claimed that 30 percent of all books bought are bought as gifts. Thirty percent???

Did he lie?

Has Susan told you what else she has managed besides our tour? Me. I hadn’t known her half an hour before she told me my make-up, my clothes, my hair, and my shoes were drab, all drab. The war was over, hadn’t I heard?

She took me to Madame Helena’s for a haircut; it is now short and curly instead of long and lank. I had a light rinse, too—Susan and Madame said it would bring out the golden highlights in my “beautiful chestnut curls.” But I know better; it’s meant to cover any grey hairs (four, by my count) that have begun to creep in. I also bought a jar of face cream, a lovely scented hand lotion, a new lipstick, and an eye-lash curler—which makes my eyes cross whenever I use it.

Then Susan suggested a new dress. I reminded her that the Queen was very happy wearing her 1939 wardrobe, so why shouldn’t I be? She said the Queen doesn’t need to impress strangers—but I do. I felt like a traitor to crown and country; no decent woman has new clothes—but I forgot that the moment I saw myself in the mirror. My first new dress in four years, and such a dress! It is the exact color of a ripe peach and falls in lovely folds when I move. The saleslady said it had “Gallic Chic” and I would too, if I bought it. So I did. New shoes are going to have to wait, since I spent almost a year’s worth of clothing coupons on the dress.

Between Susan, my hair, my face, and my dress, I no longer look a listless, bedraggled thirty-two-year-old. I look a lively, dashing, haute-couturéd (if this isn’t a French verb, it should be) thirty.

Apropos of my new dress and no new shoes—doesn’t it seem shocking to have more stringent rationing after the war than during the war? I realize that hundreds of thousands of people all over Europe must be fed, housed, and clothed, but privately I resent it that so many of them are Germans.

I am still without any ideas for a book I want to write. It is beginning to depress me. Do you have any suggestions?

Since I am in what I consider to be the North I’m going to place a trunk call to Sophie in Scotland tonight. Any messages for your sister? Your brother-in-law? Your nephew?

This is the longest letter I’ve ever written—you needn’t reply in kind.

Love,
Juliet

From Susan Scott to Sidney

25th January, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Don’t believe the newspaper reports. Juliet was not arrested and taken away in handcuffs. She was merely reproved by one of Bradford’s constables, and he could barely keep a straight face.

She did throw a teapot at Gilly Gilbert’s head, but don’t believe his claim that she scalded him; the tea was cold. Besides, it was more of a skim-by than a direct hit. Even the hotel manager refused to let us compensate him for the teapot—it was only dented. He was, however, forced by Gilly’s screams to call in the constabulary.

Herewith the story, and I take full responsibility for it. I should have refused Gilly’s request for an interview with Juliet. I knew what a loathsome person he was, one of those unctuous little worms who work for The London Hue and Cry. I also knew that Gilly and the LH&C were horribly jealous of the Spectator’s success with the Izzy Bickerstaff columns—and of Juliet.

We had just returned to the hotel from the Brady’s Booksmith party for Juliet. We were both tired—and full of ourselves—when up popped Gilly from a chair in the lounge. He begged us to have tea with him. He begged for a short interview with “our own wonderful Miss Ashton—or should I say England’s very own Izzy Bickerstaff?” His smarm alone should have alerted me, but it didn’t—I wanted to sit down, gloat over Juliet’s success, and have a cream tea.

So we did. The talk was going smoothly enough, and my mind was wandering when I heard Gilly say, “… you were a war widow yourself, weren’t you? Or rather—almost a war widow—as good as. You were to marry a Lieutenant Rob Dartry, weren’t you? Had made arrangements for the ceremony, hadn’t you?”

Juliet said, “I beg your pardon, Mr. Gilbert.” You know how polite she is.

“I don’t have it wrong, do I? You and Lieutenant Dartry did apply for a marriage license. You did make an appointment to be married at the Chelsea Register Office on 13th December, 1942, at 11:00 A.M. You did book a table for luncheon at the Ritz—only you never showed up for any of it. It’s perfectly obvious that you jilted Lieutenant Dartry at the altar—poor fellow—and sent him off alone and humiliated, back to his ship, to carry his broken heart to Burma, where he was killed not three months later.”

I sat up, my mouth gaping open. I just looked on helplessly as Juliet attempted to be civil: “I didn’t jilt him at the altar—it was the day before. And he wasn’t humiliated—he was relieved. I simply told him that I didn’t want to be married after all. Believe me, Mr. Gilbert, he left a happy man—delighted to be rid of me. He didn’t slink back to his ship, alone and betrayed—he went straight to the CCB Club and danced all night with Belinda Twining.”

Well, Sidney, surprised as Gilly was, he was not daunted. Little rodents like Gilly never are, are they? He quickly guessed that he was on to an even juicier story for his paper.

“OH-HO!” he smirked, “What was it, then? Drink? Other women? A touch of the old Oscar Wilde?”

That was when Juliet threw the teapot. You can imagine the hubbub that ensued—the lounge was full of other people having tea—hence, I am sure, the newspapers learning of it.

I thought his headline, “IZZY BICKERSTAFF GOES TO WAR—AGAIN! Reporter Wounded in Hotel Bun-Fight,” was a bit harsh, but not too bad. But “JULIET’S FAILED ROMEO—A FALLEN HERO IN BURMA” was sick-making, even for Gilly Gilbert and the Hue and Cry.

Juliet is worried she may have embarrassed Stephens & Stark, but she is literally sick over Rob Dartry’s name being slung around in this fashion. All I could get her to say to me was that Rob Dartry was a good man, a very good man—none of it was his fault—and he did not deserve this!

Did you know Rob Dartry? Of course, the drink/Oscar Wilde business is pure rot, but why did Juliet call off the wedding? Do you know why? And would you tell me if you did? Of course you wouldn’t; I don’t know why I’m even asking.

The gossip will die down of course, but does Juliet have to be in London for the thick of it? Should we extend our tour to Scotland? I admit I’m of two minds about this; the sales there have been spectacular, but Juliet has worked so hard at these teas and luncheons—it is not easy to get up in front of a roomful of strangers and praise yourself and your book. She’s not used to this hoopla like I am and is, I think, very tired.

Sunday we’ll be in Leeds, so let me know then about Scotland.

Of course, Gilly Gilbert is despicable and vile and I hope he comes to a bad end, but he has pushed Izzy Bickerstaff Goes to War onto the Best Seller List. I’m tempted to write him a thank-you note.

Yours in haste,
Susan

P.S. Have you found out who Markham V. Reynolds is yet? He sent Juliet a forest of camellias today.

Telegram from Juliet to Sidney


AM TERRIBLY SORRY TO HAVE EMBARRASSED YOU AND STEPHENS & STARK. LOVE, JULIET



From Sidney to Juliet

26th January, 1946

Miss Juliet Ashton
The Queens Hotel
City Square
Leeds

Dear Juliet,

Don’t worry about Gilly—you did not embarrass S&S; I’m only sorry that the tea wasn’t hotter and you didn’t aim lower. The Press is hounding me for a statement regarding Gilly’s latest muckraking, and I am going to give them one. Don’t worry; it’s going to be about Journalism in these degenerate times—not about you or Rob Dartry.

I just spoke to Susan about going on to Scotland and—though I know Sophie will never forgive me—decided against it. Izzy’s sales figures are going up—way up—and I think you should come home.

The Times wants you to write a long piece for the supplement—one part of a three-part series they plan to publish in successive issues. I’ll let them surprise you with the subject, but I can promise you three things right now: they want it written by Juliet Ashton, not by Izzy Bickerstaff; the subject is a serious one; and the sum mentioned means you can fill your flat with fresh flowers every day for a year, buy a satin quilt (Lord Woolton says you no longer need to have been bombed out to buy new bedcovers), and purchase a pair of real leather shoes—if you can find them. You can have my coupons.

The Times doesn’t want the article until late spring, so we will have more time to think up a new book possibility for you. All good reasons to hurry back, but the biggest one is that I miss you.

Now, about Markham V. Reynolds, Junior. I do know who he is, and the Domesday Book won’t help—he’s an American. He is the son and heir of Markham V. Reynolds, Senior, who used to have a monopoly on paper mills in the States and now just owns most of them. Reynolds, Junior, being of an artistic turn of mind, does not dirty his hands in making paper—he prints on it instead. He’s a publisher. The New York Journal, the Word, View—those are all his, and there are several smaller magazines as well. I knew he was in London. Officially, he’s here to open the London office of View, but rumor has it that he’s decided to begin publishing books, and he’s here to beguile England’s finest authors with visions of plenty and prosperity in America. I didn’t know his technique included roses and camellias, but I’m not surprised. He’s always had more than his fair share of what we call cheek and Americans call can-do spirit. Just wait till you see him—he’s been the undoing of stronger women than you, including my secretary. I’m sorry to say she’s the one who gave him your itinerary and your address. The silly woman thought he was so romantic-looking, with “such a lovely suit and handmade shoes.” Dear God! She couldn’t seem to grasp the concept of breach of confidentiality, so I had to sack her.

He’s after you, Juliet, no doubt about it. Shall I challenge him to a duel? He would undoubtedly kill me, so I’d rather not. My dear, I can’t promise you plenty or prosperity or even butter, but you do know that you’re Stephens & Stark’s—especially Stark’s—most beloved author, don’t you?

Dinner the first evening you are home?

Love,
Sidney

From Juliet to Sidney

28th January, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Yes, dinner with pleasure. I’ll wear my new dress and eat like a pig.

I am so glad I didn’t embarrass S&S about Gilly and the teapot—I was worried. Susan suggested I make a “dignified statement” to the press too, about Rob Dartry and why we did not marry. I couldn’t possibly do that. I honestly don’t think I’d mind looking like a fool, if it didn’t make Rob look a worse one. But it would—and of course, he wasn’t a fool at all. But he’d sound that way. I’d much prefer to say nothing and look like a feckless, flighty, cold-hearted bitch.

But I’d like you to know why—I’d have told you before, but you were off with the Navy in 1942, and you never met Rob. Even Sophie never met him—she was up at Bedford that fall—and I swore her to secrecy afterwards. The longer I put off saying anything, the less important it became for you to know, especially in light of how it made me look—witless and foolish for getting engaged in the first place.

I thought I was in love (that’s the pathetic part—my idea of being in love). In preparation for sharing my home with a husband, I made room for him so he wouldn’t feel like a visiting aunt. I cleared out half my dresser drawers, half my closet, half my medicine chest, half my desk. I gave away my padded hangers and brought in those heavy wooden ones. I took my golliwog off the bed and put her in the attic. Now my flat was meant for two, instead of one.

On the afternoon before our wedding, Rob was moving in the last of his clothes and belongings while I delivered my Izzy article to the Spectator. When I was through, I tore home, flew up the stairs, and threw open the door to find Rob sitting on a low stool in front of my bookcase, surrounded by cartons. He was sealing the last one up with gummed tape and string. There were eight boxes—eight boxes of my books bound up and ready for the basement!

He looked up and said, “Hello, darling. Don’t mind the mess, the porter said he’d help me carry these down to the basement.” He nodded toward my bookshelves and said, “Don’t they look wonderful?”

Well, there were no words! I was too appalled to speak. Sidney, every single shelf—where my books had stood—was filled with athletic trophies: silver cups, gold cups, blue rosettes, red ribbons. There were awards for every game that could possibly be played with a wooden object: cricket bats, squash racquets, tennis racquets, oars, golf clubs, Ping-Pong paddles, bows and arrows, snooker cues, lacrosse sticks, hockey sticks, and polo mallets. There were statues for everything a man could jump over, either by himself or on a horse. Next came the framed certificates—for shooting the most birds on such and such a date, for First Place in footraces, for Last Man Standing in some filthy tug-of-war against Scotland.

All I could do was scream, “How dare you! What have you DONE?! Put my books back!”

Well, that’s how matters started. Eventually, I said something to the effect that I could never marry a man whose idea of bliss was to strike out at little balls and little birds. Rob countered with remarks about damned bluestockings and shrews. And it all degenerated from there—the only thought we probably had in common was, What the hell have we talked about for the last four months? What, indeed? He huffed and puffed and snorted—and left. And I unpacked my books.

Remember the night last year when you met my train to tell me my home had been bombed flat? You thought I was laughing in hysteria? I wasn’t—it was in irony—if I’d let Rob store all my books in the basement, I’d still have them, every one.

Sidney, as a token of our long friendship, you do not need to comment on this story—not ever. In fact, I’d far prefer it if you didn’t.

Thank you for tracing Markham V. Reynolds, Junior, to his source. So far, his blandishments are entirely floral, and I remain true to you and the Empire. However, I do have a pang of sympathy for your secretary—I hope he sent her some roses for her trouble—as I’m not certain that my scruples could withstand the sight of handmade shoes. If I ever do meet him, I’ll take care not to look at his feet—or I’ll lash myself to a flagpole first and then peek, like Odysseus.

Bless you for telling me to come home. Am looking forward to the Times proposal for a series. Do you promise on Sophie’s head it will not be a frivolous subject? They aren’t going to ask me to write about the Duchess of Windsor, are they?

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sophie Strachan

31st January, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Thank you for your flying visit to Leeds—there are no words to express how much I needed to see a friendly face just then. I honestly was on the verge of stealing away to the Shetlands to take up the life of a hermit. It was beautiful of you to come.

The London Hue and Cry’s sketch of me taken away in chains was overdrawn—I wasn’t even arrested. I know Dominic would much prefer a godmother in prison, but he will have to settle for something less dramatic this time.

I told Sidney the only thing I could do about Gilly’s callous, lying accusations was to maintain a dignified silence. He said I could do that if I wanted to, but Stephens & Stark could not!

He called a press conference to defend the honor of Izzy Bickerstaff, Juliet Ashton, and Journalism itself against such trash as Gilly Gilbert. Did it make the papers in Scotland? If not—here are the highlights. He called Gilly Gilbert a twisted weasel (well, perhaps not in exactly those words, but his meaning was clear) who lied because he was too lazy to learn the facts and too stupid to understand the damage his lies inflicted upon the noble traditions of Journalism. It was lovely.

Sophie, could two girls (now women) ever have had a better champion than your brother? I don’t think so. He gave a wonderful speech, though I must admit to a few qualms. Gilly Gilbert is such a snake-in-the-grass, I can’t believe he’ll just slither away without a hiss. Susan said that, on the other hand, Gilly is also such a frightful little coward, he would not dare to retaliate. I hope she’s right.

Love to you all,
Juliet

P.S. That man has sent me another bale of orchids. I’m getting a nervous twitch, waiting for him to come out of hiding and make himself known. Do you suppose this is his strategy?

From Dawsey to Juliet

31st January, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Your book came yesterday! You are a nice lady and I thank you with all my heart.

I have a job at St. Peter Port harbor—unloading ships, so I can read during tea breaks. It is a blessing to have real tea and bread with butter, and now—your book. I like it too because the cover is soft and I can put it in my pocket everywhere I go, though I am careful not to use it up too quickly. And I value having a picture of Charles Lamb—he had a fine head, didn’t he?

I would like to correspond with you. I will answer your questions as well as I can. Though there are many who can tell a story better than I can, I will tell you about our roast pig dinner.

I have a cottage and a farm, left to me by my father. Before the war, I kept pigs, and grew vegetables for St. Peter Port markets and flowers for Covent Garden. I often worked also as a carpenter and roofer.

The pigs are gone now. The Germans took them away to feed their soldiers on the continent, and ordered me to grow potatoes. We were to grow what they told us and nothing else. At first, before I knew the Germans as I came to later, I thought I could keep a few pigs hidden—for my own self. But the Agricultural Officer nosed them out and carried them off. Well, that was a blow, but I thought I’d manage all right, for potatoes and turnips were plentiful, and there was still flour then. But it is strange how the mind turns on food. After six months of turnips and a lump of gristle now and then, I was hard put to think about anything but a fine, full meal.

One afternoon, my neighbor, Mrs. Maugery, sent me a note. Come quick, it said. And bring a butcher knife. I tried not to get my hopes high—but I set out for the manor house at a great clip. And it was true! She had a pig, a hidden pig, and she invited me to join in the feast with her and her friends!

I never talked much while I was growing up—I stuttered badly—and I was not used to dinner parties. To tell the truth, Mrs. Maugery’s was the first one I was ever invited to. I said yes, because I was thinking of the roast pig, but I wished I could take my piece home and eat it there.

It was my good luck that my wish didn’t come true, because that was the first meeting of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, even though we didn’t know it then. The dinner was a rare treat, but the company was better. With talking and eating, we forgot about clocks and curfews until Amelia (that’s Mrs. Maugery) heard the chimes ring nine o’clock—we were an hour late. Well, the good food had strengthened our hearts, and when Elizabeth McKenna said we should strike out for our rightful homes instead of skulking in Amelia’s house all night, we agreed. But breaking curfew was a crime—I’d heard of folks being sent to prison camp for it—and keeping a pig was a worse one, so we whispered and picked our way through the fields as quiet as could be.

We would have come out all right if not for John Booker. He’d drunk more than he’d eaten at dinner, and when we got to the road, he forgot himself and broke into song! I grabbed hold of him, but it was too late: six German patrol officers suddenly rose out of the trees with their Lugers drawn and began to shout—Why were we out after curfew? Where had we been? Where were we going?

I couldn’t think what to do. If I ran, they’d shoot me. I knew that much. My mouth was dry as chalk and my mind was blank, so I just held on to Booker and hoped.

Then Elizabeth drew in her breath and stepped forward. Elizabeth isn’t tall, so those pistols were lined up at her eyes, but she didn’t blink. She acted like she didn’t see any pistols at all. She walked up to the officer in charge and started talking. You never heard such lies. How sorry she was that we had broken curfew. How we had been attending a meeting of the Guernsey Literary Society, and the evening’s discussion of Elizabeth and Her German Garden had been so delightful that we had all lost track of time. Such a wonderful book—had he read it?

None of us had the presence of mind to back her up, but the patrol officer couldn’t help himself—he had to smile back at her. Elizabeth is like that. He took our names and ordered us very politely to report to the Commandant the next morning. Then he bowed and wished us a good evening. Elizabeth nodded, gracious as could be, while the rest of us edged away, trying not to run like rabbits. Even lugging Booker, I got home quick.

That is the story of our roast pig dinner.

I’d like to ask you a question of my own. Ships are coming in to St. Peter Port harbor every day to bring us things Guernsey still needs: food, clothes, seed, plows, feed for animals, tools, medicine—and most important, now that we have food to eat, shoes. I don’t believe that there was a fit pair left on the island by the end of the war.

Some of the things being sent to us are wrapped up in old newspaper and magazine pages. My friend Clovis and I smooth them out and take them home to read—then we give them to neighbors who, like us, are eager for any news of the outside world in the past five years. Not just any news or pictures: Mrs. Saussey wants to see recipes; Mme. LePell wants fashion papers (she is a dressmaker); Mr. Brouard reads Obituaries (he has his hopes, but won’t say who); Claudia Rainey is looking for pictures of Ronald Colman; Mr. Tourtelle wants to see Beauty Queens in bathing dress; and my friend Isola likes to read about weddings.

There is so much we wanted to know during the war, but we were not allowed letters or papers from England—or anywhere. In 1942, the Germans called in all the wireless sets—of course, there were hidden ones, listened to in secret, but if you were caught listening, you could be sent to the camps. That is why we don’t understand so many things we can read about now.

I enjoy the war-time cartoons, but there is one that bewilders me. It was in a 1944 Punch and shows ten or so people walking down a London street. The chief figures are two men in bowler hats, holding briefcases and umbrellas, and one man is saying to the other man, “It is ridiculous to say these Doodlebugs have affected people in any way.” It took me several seconds to realize that every person in the cartoon had one normal-sized ear and one very large ear on the other side of his head. Perhaps you could explain it to me.

Yours sincerely,
Dawsey Adams

Juliet to Dawsey

3rd February, 1946

Dear Mr. Adams,

I am so glad you are enjoying Lamb’s letters and the copy of his portrait. He did fit the face I had imagined for him, so I’m glad you felt that way, too.

Thank you very much for telling me about the roast pig, but don’t think I didn’t notice that you only answered one of my questions. I’m hankering to know more about the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, and not merely to satisfy my idle curiosity—I now have a professional duty to pry.

Did I tell you I am a writer? I wrote a weekly column for the Spectator during the war, and Stephens & Stark publishers collected them together into a single volume and published them under the title Izzy Bickerstaff Goes to War. Izzy was the nom-de-plume the Spectator chose for me, and now, thank heavens, the poor thing has been laid to rest, and I can write under my own name again. I would like to write a book, but I am having trouble thinking of a subject I could live happily with for several years.

In the meantime, the Times has asked me to write an article for the literary supplement. They want to address the practical, moral, and philosophical value of reading—spread out over three issues and by three different authors. I am to cover the philosophical side of the debate and so far my only thought is that reading keeps you from going gaga. You can see I need help.

Do you think your literary society would mind being included in such an article? I know that the story of the society’s founding would fascinate the Times’s readers, and I’d love to learn more about your meetings. But if you’d rather not, please don’t worry—I will understand either way, and either way, would like to hear from you again.

I remember the Punch cartoon you described very well and think it was the word Doodlebug that threw you off. That was the name coined by the Ministry of Information; it was meant to sound less terrifying than “Hitler’s V-1 rockets” or “pilotless bombs.”

We were all used to bombing raids at night and the sights that followed, but these were unlike any bombs we had seen before.

They came in the daytime, and they came so fast there was no time for an air-raid siren or to take cover. You could see them; they looked like slim, black, slanted pencils and made a dull, spastic sound above you—like a motor-car running out of petrol. As long as you could hear them coughing and putt-putting, you were safe. You could think “Thank God, it’s going past me.”

But when their noise stopped, it meant there was only thirty seconds before it plummeted. So, you listened for them. Listened hard for the sound of their motors cutting out. I did see a Doodlebug fall once. I was quite some distance away when it hit, so I threw myself down in the gutter and cuddled up against the curb. Some women, in the top story of a tall office building down the street, had gone to an open window to watch. They were sucked out by the force of the blast.

It seems impossible now that someone could have drawn a cartoon about Doodlebugs, and that everyone, including me, could have laughed at it. But we did. The old adage—humor is the best way to make the unbearable bearable—may be true.

Has Mr. Hastings found the Lucas biography for you yet?

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

From Juliet to Markham Reynolds

4th February, 1946

Mr. Markham Reynolds
63 Halkin Street
London S.W.1

Dear Mr. Reynolds,

I captured your delivery boy in the act of depositing a clutch of pink carnations upon my doorstep. I seized him and threatened him until he confessed your address—you see, Mr. Reynolds, you are not the only one who can inveigle innocent employees. I hope you don’t sack him; he seems a nice boy, and he really had no alternative—I menaced him with Remembrance of Things Past.

Now I can thank you for the dozens of flowers you’ve sent me—it’s been years since I’ve seen such roses, such camellias, such orchids, and you can have no idea how they lift my heart in this shivering winter. Why I deserve to live in a bower, when everyone else has to be satisfied with bedraggled leafless trees and slush, I don’t know, but I’m perfectly delighted to do so.

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

From Markham Reynolds to Juliet

February 5, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I didn’t fire the delivery boy—I promoted him. He got me what I couldn’t manage to get for myself: an introduction to you. The way I see it, your note is a figurative hand-shake and the preliminaries are now over. I hope you’re of the same opinion, as it will save me the trouble of wangling an invitation to Lady Bascomb’s next dinner party on the off-chance you might be there. Your friends are a suspicious lot, especially that fellow Stark, who said it wasn’t his job to reverse the direction of the Lend-Lease and refused to bring you to the cocktail party I threw at the View office.

God knows, my intentions are pure, or at least, non-mercenary. The simple truth of it is that you’re the only female writer who makes me laugh. Your Izzy Bickerstaff columns were the wittiest work to come out of the war, and I want to meet the woman who wrote them.

If I swear that I won’t kidnap you, will you do me the honor of dining with me next week? You pick the evening—I’m entirely at your disposal.

Yours,
Markham Reynolds

From Juliet to Markham Reynolds

6th February, 1946

Dear Mr. Reynolds,

I am no proof against compliments, especially compliments about my writing. I’ll be delighted to dine with you. Thursday next?

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

From Markham Reynolds to Juliet

February 7, 1946

Dear Juliet,

Thursday’s too far away. Monday? Claridge’s? 7:00?

Yours,
Mark

P.S. I don’t suppose you have a telephone, do you?

From Juliet to Markham

7th February, 1946

Dear Mr. Reynolds,

All right—Monday, Claridge’s, seven.

I do have a telephone. It’s in Oakley Street under a pile of rubble that used to be my flat. I’m only sub-letting here, and my landlady, Mrs. Olive Burns, possesses the sole telephone on the premises. If you would like to chat with her, I can give you her number.

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

From Dawsey to Juliet

7th February, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I’m certain the Guernsey Literary Society would like to be included in your article for the Times. I have asked Mrs. Maugery to write to you about our meetings, as she is an educated lady and her words will sound more at home in an article than mine could. I don’t think we are much like literary societies in London.

Mr. Hastings hasn’t found a copy of the Lucas biography yet, but I had a postcard from him saying, “Hard on the trail. Don’t give up.” He is a kind man, isn’t he?

I’m hauling slates for the Crown Hotel’s new roof. The owners are hoping that tourists may want to come back this summer. I am glad of the work but will be happy to be working on my land soon.

It is nice to come home in the evening and find a letter from you.

I wish you good fortune in finding a subject you would care to write a book about.

Yours sincerely,
Dawsey Adams

From Amelia Maugery to Juliet

8th February, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Dawsey Adams has just been to call on me. I have never seen him as pleased with anything as he is with your gift and letter. He was so busy convincing me to write to you by the next post that he forgot to be shy. I don’t believe he is aware of it, but Dawsey has a rare gift for persuasion—he never asks for anything for himself, so everyone is eager to do what he asks for others.

He told me of your proposed article and asked if I would write to you about the literary society we formed during—and because of—the German Occupation. I will be happy to do so, but with a caveat.

A friend from England sent me a copy of Izzy Bickerstaff Goes to War. We had no news from the outside world for five years, so you can imagine how satisfying it was to learn how England endured those years herself. Your book was as informative as it was entertaining and amusing—but it is the amusing tone I must quibble with.

I realize that our name, the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, is an unusual one and could easily be subjected to ridicule. Would you assure me you will not be tempted to do so? The Society members are very dear to me, and I do not wish them to be perceived as objects of fun by your readers.

Would you be willing to tell me of your intentions for the article and also something of yourself? If you can appreciate the import of my questions, I should be glad to tell you about the Society. I hope I shall hear from you soon.

Yours sincerely,
Amelia Maugery

From Juliet to Amelia

10th February, 1946

Mrs. Amelia Maugery
Windcross Manor
La Bouvée
St. Martin’s, Guernsey

Dear Mrs. Maugery,

Thank you for your letter. I am very glad to answer your questions.

I did make fun of many war-time situations; the Spectator felt a light approach to the bad news would serve as an antidote and that humor would help to raise London’s low morale. I am very glad Izzy served that purpose, but the need to be humorous against the odds is—thank goodness—over. I would never make fun of anyone who loved to read. Nor of Mr. Adams—I was glad to learn one of my books fell into such hands as his.

Since you should know something about me, I have asked the Reverend Simon Simpless, of St. Hilda’s Church near Bury St. Edmunds, Suffolk, to write to you. He has known me since I was a child and is fond of me. I have asked Lady Bella Taunton to provide a reference for me too. We were fire wardens together during the Blitz and she wholeheartedly dislikes me. Between the two of them, you may get a fair picture of my character.

I am enclosing a copy of a biography I wrote about Anne Brontë, so you can see that I am capable of a different kind of work. It didn’t sell very well—in fact, not at all, but I am much prouder of it than I am of Izzy Bickerstaff Goes to War.

If there is anything else I can do to assure you of my good will, I will be glad to do so.

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

From Juliet to Sophie

12th February, 1946

Dearest Sophie,

Markham V. Reynolds, he of the camellias, has finally materialized. Introduced himself, paid me compliments, and invited me out to dinner—Claridge’s, no less. I accepted regally—Claridge’s, oh yes, I have heard of Claridge’s—and then spent the next three days fretting about my hair. It’s lucky I have my lovely new dress, so I didn’t have to waste precious fretting time on my clothes.

As Madame Helena said, “The hairs, they are a disaster.” I tried a roll; it fell down. A French twist; it fell down. I was on the verge of tying an enormous red velvet bow on the top of my head when my neighbor Evangeline Smythe came to the rescue, bless her. She’s a genius with my hair. In two minutes, I was a picture of elegance—she caught up all the curls and swirled them around in the back—and I could even move my head. Off I went, feeling perfectly adorable. Not even Claridge’s marble lobby could intimidate me.

Then Markham V. Reynolds stepped forward, and the bubble popped. He’s dazzling. Honestly, Sophie, I’ve never seen anything like him. Not even the furnace-man can compare. Tan, with blazing blue eyes. Ravishing leather shoes, elegant wool suit, blinding white handkerchief in breast pocket. Of course, being American, he’s tall, and he has one of those alarming American smiles, all gleaming teeth and good humor, but he’s not a genial American. He’s quite impressive, and he’s used to ordering people about—though he does it so easily, they don’t notice. He’s got that way of believing his opinion is the truth, but he’s not disagreeable about it. He’s too sure he’s right to bother being disagreeable.

Once we were seated—in our own velvet-draped alcove—and all the waiters and stewards and maîtres d’hôtel were finished fluttering about us, I asked him point-blank why he had sent me those scads of flowers without including any note.

He laughed. “To make you interested. If I had written you directly, asking you to meet me, how would you have replied?” I admitted I would have declined. He raised one pointed eyebrow at me. Was it his fault if he could outwit me so easily?

I was awfully insulted to be so transparent, but he just laughed at me again. And then he began to talk about the war and Victorian literature—he knows I wrote a biography of Anne Brontë—and New York and rationing, and before I knew it, I was basking in his attention, utterly charmed.

Do you remember that afternoon in Leeds when we speculated on the possible reasons why Markham V. Reynolds, Junior, was obliged to remain a man of mystery? It’s very disappointing, but we were completely wrong. He’s not married. He’s certainly not bashful. He doesn’t have a disfiguring scar that causes him to shun daylight. He doesn’t seem to be a werewolf (no fur on his knuckles, anyway). And he’s not a Nazi on the lam (he’d have an accent).

Now that I think about it, maybe he is a werewolf. I can picture him lunging over the moors in hot pursuit of his prey, and I’m certain that he wouldn’t think twice about eating an innocent bystander. I’ll watch him closely at the next full moon. He’s asked me to go dancing tomorrow—perhaps I should wear a high collar. Oh, that’s vampires, isn’t it?

I think I am a little giddy.

Love,
Juliet

From Lady Bella Taunton to Amelia

12th February, 1946

Dear Mrs. Maugery,

Juliet Ashton’s letter is at hand, and I am amazed at its contents. Am I to understand she wishes me to provide a character reference for her? Well, so be it! I cannot impugn her character—only her common sense. She hasn’t any.

War, as you know, makes strange bedfellows, and Juliet and I were thrown together from the very first when we were Fire Wardens during the Blitz. Fire Wardens spent their nights on various London roof-tops, watching out for incendiary bombs that might fall. When they did, we would rush forth with stirrup pump and buckets of sand to stifle any small blaze before it could spread. Juliet and I were paired off to work together. We did not chat, as less conscientious Wardens would have done. I insisted on total vigilance at all times. Even so, I learned a few details of her life prior to the war.

Her father was a respectable farmer in Suffolk. Her mother, I surmise, was a typical farmer’s wife, milking cows and plucking chickens, when not otherwise engaged in owning a bookshop in Bury St. Edmunds. Juliet’s parents were both killed in a motor accident when she was twelve and she went to live with her great-uncle, a renowned Classicist, in St. John’s Wood. There she disrupted his studies and household by running away—twice.

In despair, he sent her to a select boarding school. When she left school, she shunned a higher education, came to London, and shared a studio with her friend Sophie Stark. She worked by day in bookshops. By night, she wrote a book about one of those wretched Brontë girls—I forget which one. I believe the book was published by Sophie’s brother’s firm, Stephens & Stark. Though it’s biologically impossible, I can only assume that some form of nepotism was responsible for the book’s publication.

In any event, she began to publish feature articles for various magazines and newspapers. Her light, frivolous turn of mind gained her a large following among the less intellectually inclined readers—of whom, I fear, there are many. She spent the very last of her inheritance on a flat in Chelsea. Chelsea, home of artists, models, libertines, and Socialists—completely irresponsible people all, just as Juliet proved herself to be as a Fire

Warden.

I come now to the specifics of our association.

Juliet and I were two of several Wardens assigned to the roof of the Inner Temple Hall of the Inns of Court. Let me say first that, for a Warden, quick action and a clear head were imperative—one had to be aware of everything going on around one. Everything.

One night in May 1941, a high-explosive bomb was dropped through the roof of the Inner Temple Hall Library. The Library roof was some distance away from Juliet’s post, but she was so aghast by the destruction of her precious books that she sprinted toward the flames—as if she could single-handedly deliver the Library from its fate! Of course, her delusions created nothing but further damage, for the firemen had to waste valuable minutes in rescuing her.

I believe Juliet suffered some minor burns in the debacle, but fifty thousand books were blown to Kingdom Come. Juliet’s name was stricken from the lists of the Fire Wardens, and rightly so. I discovered she then volunteered her services to the Auxiliary Fire Services. On the morning after a bombing raid, the AFS would be on hand to offer tea and comfort to the rescue squads. The AFS also provided assistance to the survivors: reuniting families, securing temporary housing, clothing, food, funds. I believe Juliet to have been adequate to that daytime task—causing no catastrophe among the teacups.

She was free to occupy her nights however she chose. Doubtless it included the writing of more light journalism, for the Spectator engaged her to write a weekly column on the state of the nation in war-time—under the name of Izzy Bickerstaff.

I read one of her columns and canceled my subscription. She attacked the good taste of our dear (though dead) Queen, Victoria. Doubtless you know of the huge memorial Victoria had built for her beloved consort, Prince Albert. It is the jewel in the crown of Kensington Gardens—a monument to the Queen’s refined taste as well as to the Departed. Juliet applauded the Ministry of Food for having ordered peas to be planted in the grounds surrounding that memorial—writing that no better scarecrow than Prince Albert existed in all of England.

While I question her taste, her judgment, her misplaced priorities, and her inappropriate sense of humor, she does indeed have one fine quality—she is honest. If she says she will honor the good name of your literary society, she will do so. I can say no more.

Sincerely Yours,
Bella Taunton

From the Reverend Simon Simpless to Amelia

13th February, 1946

Dear Mrs. Maugery,

Yes, you may trust Juliet. I am unequivocal on this point. Her parents were my good friends as well as my parishioners at St. Hilda’s. Indeed, I was a guest at their home on the night she was born.

Juliet was a stubborn but, withal, a sweet, considerate, joyous child—with an unusual bent toward integrity for one so young.

I will tell you of one incident when she was ten years old. Juliet, while singing the fourth stanza of “His Eye Is on the Sparrow,” slammed her hymnal shut and refused to sing another note. She told our choir director the lyrics cast a slur on God’s character. We should not be singing it. He (the choir director, not God) didn’t know what to do, so he escorted Juliet to my office for me to reason with her.

I did not fare very well. Juliet said, “Well, he shouldn’t have written, ‘His eye is on the sparrow’—what good was that? Did He stop the bird from falling down dead? Did He just say, ‘Oops’? It makes God sound like He’s off bird-watching, when real people need Him.”

I felt compelled to agree with Juliet on this matter—why had I never thought upon it before? The choir did not sing and has not since sung “His Eye Is on the Sparrow.”

Juliet’s parents died when she was twelve and she was sent to live with her great-uncle, Dr. Roderick Ashton, in London. Though not an unkind man, he was so mired in his Greco-Roman studies he had no time to pay the girl any attention. He had no imagination, either—fatal for one engaged in child-rearing.

She ran away twice, the first time making it only as far as King’s Cross Station. The police found her waiting, with a packed canvas carry-all and her father’s fishing rod, to catch the train to Bury St. Edmunds. She was returned to Dr. Ashton—and she ran away again. This time, Dr. Ashton telephoned me to ask for my help in finding her.

I knew exactly where to go—to her parents’ former farm. I found her opposite the farm’s entrance, sitting on a little wooded knoll, impervious to the rain—just sitting there, soaked—looking at her old (now sold) home.

I wired her uncle and went back with her on the train to London the following day. I had intended to return to my parish on the next train, but when I discovered her fool of an uncle had sent his cook to fetch her home, I insisted on accompanying them. I invaded his study and we had a vigorous talk. He agreed a boarding school might be best for Juliet—her parents had left ample funds for such an eventuality.

Fortunately, I knew of a very good school—St. Swithin’s. Academically a fine school, and with a headmistress not carved from granite. I am happy to tell you Juliet thrived there—she found her studies stimulating, but I believe the true reason for Juliet’s regained spirits was her friendship with Sophie Stark and the Stark family. She often went to Sophie’s home for half-term vacation, and Juliet and Sophie came twice to stay with me and my sister at the Rectory. What jolly times we shared: picnics, bicycle rides, fishing. Sophie’s brother, Sidney Stark, joined us once—though ten years older than the girls, and despite an inclination to boss them around, he was a welcome fifth to our happy party.

It was rewarding to watch Juliet grow up—as it is now, to know her fully grown. I am very happy she asked me to write to you of her character.

I have included our small history together so you will realize I know whereof I speak. If Juliet says she will, she will. If she says she won’t, she won’t.

Very truly Yours,
Simon Simpless

Susan Scott to Juliet

17th February, 1946

Dear Juliet,

Was that possibly you I glimpsed in this week’s Tatler, doing the rumba with Mark Reynolds? You looked gorgeous—almost as gorgeous as he did—but might I suggest that you move to an air-raid shelter before Sidney sees a copy?

You can purchase my silence with torrid details, you know.

Yours,
Susan

Juliet to Susan Scott

18th February, 1946

Dear Susan,

I deny everything.

Love,
Juliet

From Amelia to Juliet

18th February, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Thank you for taking my caveat so seriously. At the Society meeting last night, I told the members about your article for the Times and suggested that those who wished to do so should correspond with you about the books they read and the joy they found in reading.

The response was so vociferous Isola Pribby, our Sergeant-at-Arms, was forced to bang her hammer for order (I admit that Isola needs little encouragement to bang her hammer). I think you will receive a good many letters from us, and I hope they will be of some help in your article.

Dawsey has told you that the Society was invented as a ruse to keep the Germans from arresting my dinner guests: Dawsey, Isola, Eben Ramsey, John Booker, Will Thisbee, and our dear Elizabeth McKenna, who manufactured the story on the spot, bless her quick wits and silver tongue.

I, of course, knew nothing of their predicament at the time. As soon as they left, I made haste down to my cellar to bury the evidence of our meal. The first I heard about our literary society was the next morning at seven, when Elizabeth appeared in my kitchen and asked, “How many books have you got?”

I had quite a few, but Elizabeth looked at my shelves and shook her head. “We need more. There’s too much gardening here.” She was right, of course—I do like a good garden book. “I’ll tell you what we’ll do,” she said. “After I’m done at the Commandant’s Office, we’ll go to Fox’s Bookshop and buy them out. If we’re going to be the Guernsey Literary Society, we have to look literary.”

I was frantic all forenoon, worrying over what was happening at the Commandant’s Office. What if they all ended up in the Guernsey jail? Or, worst of all, in a prison camp on the continent? The Germans were erratic in dispensing their justice, so one never knew which sentence would be imposed. But nothing of the sort occurred.

Odd as it may sound, the Germans allowed—and even encouraged—artistic and cultural pursuits among the Channel Islanders. Their object was to prove to the British that the German Occupation was a Model Occupation. How this message was to be conveyed to the outside world was never explained, as the telephone and telegraph cable between Guernsey and London had been cut the day the Germans landed in June 1940. Whatever their skewed reasoning, the Channel Islands were treated much more leniently than the rest of conquered Europe—at first.

At the Commandant’s Office, my friends were ordered to pay a small fine and submit the name and membership list of their society. The Commandant announced that he, too, was a lover of literature—might he, with a few like-minded officers, sometimes attend meetings?

Elizabeth told them they would be most welcome. And then she, Eben, and I flew to Fox’s, chose armloads of books for our newfound Society, and rushed back to the Manor to put them on my shelves. Then we strolled from house to house—looking as carefree and casual as we could—in order to alert the others to come that evening and choose a book to read. It was agonizing to walk slowly, stopping to chat here and there, when we wanted to scurry! Timing was vital, since Elizabeth feared the Commandant would appear at the next meeting, a bare two weeks away. (He did not. A few German officers did attend over the years but, thankfully, left in some confusion and did not return.)

And so it was that we began. I knew all our members, but I did not know them all well. Dawsey had been my neighbor for over thirty years, and yet I don’t believe I had ever spoken to him of anything more than weather and farming. Isola was a dear friend, and Eben, too, but Will Thisbee was only an acquaintance and John Booker was nearly a stranger, for he had only just arrived when the Germans came. It was Elizabeth we had in common. Without her urging, I would never have thought to invite them to share my pig, and the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society would never have drawn breath.

That evening when they came to my house to make their selections, those who had rarely read anything other than Scripture, seed catalogues, and The Pigman’s Gazette discovered a different kind of reading. It was here Dawsey found his Charles Lamb and Isola fell upon Wuthering Heights. For myself, I chose The Pickwick Papers, thinking it would lift my spirits—it did.

Then each went home and read. We began to meet—for the sake of the Commandant at first, and then for our own pleasure. None of us had any experience with literary societies, so we made our own rules: we took turns speaking about the books we’d read. At the start, we tried to be calm and objective, but that soon fell away, and the purpose of the speakers was to goad the listeners into wanting to read the book themselves. Once two members had read the same book, they could argue, which was our great delight. We read books, talked books, argued over books, and became dearer and dearer to one another. Other Islanders asked to join us, and our evenings together became bright, lively times—we could almost forget, now and then, the darkness outside. We still meet every fortnight.

Will Thisbee was responsible for the inclusion of Potato Peel Pie in our society’s name. Germans or no, he wasn’t going to go to any meetings unless there were eats! So refreshments became part of our program. Since there was scant butter, less flour, and no sugar to spare on Guernsey then, Will concocted a potato peel pie: mashed potatoes for filling, strained beets for sweetness, and potato peelings for crust. Will’s recipes are usually dubious, but this one became a favorite.

I would enjoy hearing from you again and learning how your article progresses.

Yours most sincerely,
Amelia Maugery

From Isola Pribby to Juliet

19th February, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Oh my, oh my. You have written a book about Anne Brontë, sister to Charlotte and Emily. Amelia Maugery says she will lend it to me, for she knows I have a fondness for the Brontë girls—poor lambs. To think all five of them had weak chests and died so young! What a sadness.

Their Pa was a selfish thing, wasn’t he? He paid his girls no mind at all—always sitting in his study, yelling for his shawl. He never rose up to wait on hisself, did he? Just sat alone in his room while his daughters died like flies.

And their brother, Branwell, he wasn’t much either. Always drinking and sicking up on the carpets. They were forever having to clean up after him. Fine work for lady Authoresses!

It is my belief that with two such men in the household and no way to meet others, Emily had to make Heathcliff up out of thin air! And what a fine job she did. Men are more interesting in books than they are in real life.

Amelia told us you would like to know about our book society and what we talk about at our meetings. I gave a talk on the Brontë girls once when it was my turn to speak. I’m sorry I can’t send you my notes on Charlotte and Emily—I used them to kindle a fire in my cookstove, there being no other paper in the house. I’d already burnt up my tide tables, the Book of Revelation, and the story about Job.

You will want to know why I admired those girls. I like stories of passionate encounters. I myself have never had one, but now I can picture one. I didn’t like Wuthering Heights at first, but the minute that specter, Cathy, scrabbled her bony fingers on the window glass—I was grasped by the throat and not let go. With that Emily I could hear Heathcliff’s pitiful cries upon the moors. I don’t believe that after reading such a fine writer as Emily Brontë, I will be happy to read again Miss Amanda Gillyflower’s Ill-Used by Candlelight. Reading good books ruins you for enjoying bad books.

I will tell you now about myself. I have a cottage and small holding next to Amelia Maugery’s manor house and farm. We are both situated by the sea. I tend my chickens and my goat, Ariel, and grow things. I have a parrot in my keeping too—her name is Zenobia and she does not like men.

I have a stall at Market every week, where I sell my preserves, vegetables, and elixirs I make to restore manly ardor. Kit McKenna—daughter to my dear friend Elizabeth McKenna—helps me make my potions. She is only four and has to stand on a stool to stir my pot, but she is able to whip up big froths.

I do not have a pleasing appearance. My nose is big and was broken when I fell off the hen-house roof. One eyeball skitters up to the top, and my hair is wild and will not stay tamped down. I am tall and built of big bones.

I could write to you again, if you want me to. I could tell you more about reading and how it perked up our spirits while the Germans were here. The only time reading didn’t help was after Elizabeth was arrested by the Germans. They caught her hiding one of those poor slave workers from Poland, and they sent her to prison in France. There was no book that could lift my heart then, nor for a long time after. It was all I could do not to slap every German I saw. For Kit’s sake, I held myself in. She was only a little sprout then, and she needed us. Elizabeth hasn’t come home yet. We are afraid for her, but mind you, I say it’s early days yet and she might still come home. I pray so, for I miss her sorely.

Your friend,
Isola Pribby

From Juliet to Dawsey

20th February, 1946

Dear Mr. Adams,

How did you know that I like white lilacs above all flowers? I always have, and now here they are, pluming out over my desk. They are beautiful, and I love having them—the look, the delicious scent and the surprise of them. At first I thought, How on earth did he find these in February, and then I remembered that the Channel Islands are blessed by a warm Gulf Stream.

Mr. Dilwyn appeared at my door with your present early this morning. He said he was in London on business for his bank. He assured me it was no trouble at all to deliver the flowers—there wasn’t much he wouldn’t do for you because of some soap you gave Mrs. Dilwyn during the war. She still cries every time she thinks of it. What a nice man he is—I am sorry he didn’t have time to stop for coffee.

Due to your kind offices, I have received lovely, long letters from Mrs. Maugery and Isola Pribby. I hadn’t realized that the Germans permitted no outside news at all, not even letters, to reach Guernsey. It surprised me so much. It shouldn’t have—I knew the Channel Islands had been occupied, but I never, not once, thought what that might have entailed. Willful ignorance is all I can call it. So, I am off to the London Library to educate myself. The library suffered terrible bomb damage, but the floors are safe to walk on again, all the books that could be saved are back on the shelf, and I know they have collected all the Times from 1900 to—yesterday. I shall study up on the Occupation.

I want to find some travel or history books about the Channel Islands too. Is it really true that on a clear day, you can see the cars on the French coast roads? So it says in my Encyclopedia, but I bought it secondhand for 4 shillings and I don’t trust it. There I also learned that Guernsey is “roughly seven miles long and five miles wide, with a population of 42,000 inhabitants.” Strictly speaking, very informative, but I want to know more than that.

Miss Pribby told me that your friend Elizabeth McKenna had been sent to a prison camp on the continent and has not yet returned. It knocked the wind out of me. Ever since your letter about the roast pig dinner, I had been imagining her there among you. Without even knowing I was doing so, I depended upon one day receiving a letter from her too. I am sorry. I will hope for her early return.

Thank you again for my flowers. It was a lovely thing for you to do.

Yours ever,
Juliet Ashton

P.S. You may consider this a rhetorical question if you want to, but why did Mrs. Dilwyn weep over a cake of soap?

From Juliet to Sidney

21st February, 1946

Dearest Sidney,

I haven’t heard from you in ages. Does your icy silence have anything to do with Mark Reynolds?

I have an idea for a new book. It’s a novel about a beautiful yet sensitive author whose spirit is crushed by her domineering editor. Do you like it?

Love always,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

23rd February, 1946


Dear Sidney,

I was only joking.



Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

25th February, 1946


Sidney?

Love,
Juliet



From Juliet to Sidney

26th February, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Did you think I wouldn’t notice you were gone? I did. After three notes went unanswered, I made a personal visit to St. James’s Place, where I encountered the cast-iron Miss Tilley, who said you were out of town. Very enlightening. Upon pressing, I learned you had gone to Australia! Miss Tilley listened coolly to my exclamations. She would not disclose your exact whereabouts—only that you were scouring the Outback, seeking new authors for Stephens & Stark’s list. She would forward any letters to you, at her discretion.

Your Miss Tilley does not fool me. Nor do you—I know exactly where you are and what you are doing. You flew to Australia to find Piers Langley and are holding his hand while he sobers up. At least, I hope that’s what you are doing. He is such a dear friend—and such a brilliant writer. I want him to be well again and writing poetry. I’d add forgetting all about Burma and the Japanese, but I know that’s not possible.

You could have told me, you know. I can be discreet when I really try (you’ve never forgiven me for that slip about Mrs. Atwater in the pergola, have you? I apologized handsomely at the time).

I liked your other secretary better. And you sacked her for naught, you know: Markham Reynolds and I have met. All right, we’ve done more than meet. We’ve danced the rumba. But don’t fuss. He has not mentioned View, except in passing, and he hasn’t once tried to lure me to New York. We talk of higher matters, such as Victorian literature. He’s not the shallow dilettante you would have me believe, Sidney. He’s an expert on Wilkie Collins, of all things. Did you know that Wilkie Collins maintained two separate households with two separate mistresses and two separate sets of children? The scheduling difficulties must have been shocking. No wonder he took laudanum.

I do think you would like Mark if you knew him better, and you may have to. But my heart and my writing hand belong to Stephens & Stark.

The article for the Times has turned into a lovely treat for me—now and ongoing. I have made a group of new friends from the Channel Islands—the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society. Don’t you adore their name? If Piers needs distracting, I’ll write you a nice fat letter about how they came by their name. If not, I’ll tell you when you come home (when are you coming home?).

My neighbor Evangeline Smythe is going to have twins in June. She is none too happy about it, so I am going to ask her to give one of them to me.

Love to you and Piers,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sophie

28th February, 1946

Dearest Sophie—

I am as surprised as you are. He didn’t breathe a word to me. On Tuesday, I realized I hadn’t heard from Sidney in days, so I went to Stephens & Stark to demand attention and found he’d flown the coop. That new secretary of his is a fiend. To every one of my questions, she said, “I really can’t divulge information of a personal nature, Miss Ashton.” How I wanted to smack her.

Just as I was concluding that Sidney had been tapped by MI6 and was on a mission in Siberia, horrible Miss Tilley admitted that he’d gone to Australia. Well, it all came clear then, didn’t it? He’s gone to get Piers. Teddy Lucas seemed quite certain that Piers was going to drink himself steadily to death in that rest home unless someone came and stopped him. I can hardly blame him, after what he’s been through—but Sidney won’t allow it, thank God.

You know I adore Sidney with all my heart, but there’s something terrifically liberating about Sidney in Australia. Mark Reynolds has been what your Aunt Lydia would have called persistent in his attentions for the last three weeks, but, even as I’ve gobbled lobster and guzzled champagne, I’ve been looking furtively over my shoulder for Sidney. He’s convinced that Mark is trying to steal me away from London in general and Stephens & Stark in particular, and nothing I said could persuade him otherwise. I know he doesn’t like Mark—I believe aggressive and unscrupulous were the words he used last time I saw him—but really, he was a bit too King Lear about the whole thing. I am a grown woman—mostly—and I can guzzle champagne with whomever I choose.

When not checking under tablecloths for Sidney, I’ve been having the most wonderful time. I feel as though I’ve emerged from a black tunnel and found myself in the middle of a carnival. I don’t particularly care for carnivals, but after the tunnel, it’s delicious. Mark gads about every night—if we’re not going to a party (and we usually are), we’re off to the cinema, or the theater, or a night club, or a gin house of ill-repute (he says he’s trying to introduce me to democratic ideals). It’s very exciting.

Have you noticed there are some people—Americans especially—who seem untouched by the war, or at least, un-mangled by it? I don’t mean to imply that Mark was a shirker—he was in their Air Corps—but he’s simply not sunk under it. And when I’m with him, I feel untouched by the war, too. It’s an illusion, I know it is, and truthfully, I’d be ashamed of myself if the war hadn’t touched me. But it’s forgivable to enjoy myself a little—isn’t it?

Is Dominic too old for a jack-in-the-box? I saw a diabolical one in a shop yesterday. It pops out, leering and weaving, its oily black mustache curling above pointed white teeth, the very picture of a villain. Dominic would adore it, after he had got over his first shock.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Isola

28th February, 1946

Miss Isola Pribby
Pribby Homestead
La Bouvée
St. Martin’s, Guernsey

Dear Miss Pribby,

Thank you so much for your letter about yourself and Emily Brontë. I laughed when I read that Emily had caught you by the throat the second poor Cathy’s ghost knocked at the window. She got me at the exact same moment.

Our teacher had assigned Wuthering Heights to be read over the Easter holiday. I went home with my friend Sophie Stark, and we whined for two days over the injustice of it all. Finally her brother, Sidney, told us to shut up and get on with it. I did, still fuming, until I got to Cathy’s ghost at the window. I have never felt such dread as I did then. Monsters or vampires have never scared me in books—but ghosts are a different matter.

Sophie and I did nothing the rest of our holiday but move from bed to hammock to armchair, reading Jane Eyre, Agnes Grey, Shirley, and The Tenant of Wildfell Hall.

What a family they were—but I chose to write about Anne Brontë because she was the least known of the sisters, and, I think, just as fine a writer as Charlotte. Lord knows how Anne managed to write any books at all, influenced by such a strain of religion as her Aunt Branwell possessed. Emily and Charlotte had the good sense to ignore their bleak aunt, but not poor Anne. Imagine preaching that God meant women to be Meek, Mild, and Gently Melancholic. So much less trouble around the house—pernicious old bat!

I hope you will write to me again.

Yours,
Juliet Ashton

From Eben Ramsey to Juliet

28th February, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I am a Guernsey man and my name is Eben Ramsey. My fathers before me were tombstone-cutters and carvers—lambs a specialty. These are the things I like to do of an evening, but for my livelihood, I fish.

Mrs. Maugery said you would like to have letters about our reading during the Occupation. I was never going to talk—or think, if I could help it—about those days, but Mrs. Maugery said we could trust to your judgment in writing about the Society during the war. If Mrs. Maugery says you can be trusted, I believe it. Also, you had such kindness to send my friend Dawsey a book—and he all but unknown to you. So I am writing to you and hope it will be a help to your story.

Best to say we weren’t a true literary society at first. Aside from Elizabeth, Mrs. Maugery, and perhaps Booker, most of us hadn’t had much to do with books since our school years. We took them from Mrs. Maugery’s shelves fearful we’d spoil the fine papers. I had no zest for such matters in those days. It was only by fixing my mind on the Commandant and jail that I could make myself to lift up the cover of the book and begin.

It was called Selections from Shakespeare. Later, I came to see that Mr. Dickens and Mr. Wordsworth were thinking of men like me when they wrote their words. But most of all, I believe that William Shakespeare was. Mind you, I cannot always make sense of what he says, but it will come.

It seems to me the less he said, the more beauty he made. Do you know what sentence of his I admire the most? It is “The bright day is done, and we are for the dark.”

I wish I’d known those words on the day I watched those German troops land, plane-load after plane-load of them—and come off ships down in the harbor! All I could think of was damn them, damn them, over and over. If I could have thought the words “the bright day is done and we are for the dark,” I’d have been consoled somehow and ready to go out and contend with circumstance—instead of my heart sinking to my shoes.

They came here on Sunday, 30th June, 1940, after bombing us two days before. They said they hadn’t meant to bomb us; they mistook our tomato lorries on the pier for army trucks. How they came to think that strains the mind. They bombed us, killing some thirty men, women, and children—one among them was my cousin’s boy. He had sheltered underneath his lorry when he first saw the planes dropping bombs, and it exploded and caught fire. They killed men in their lifeboats at sea. They strafed the Red Cross ambulances carrying our wounded. When no one shot back at them, they saw the British had left us undefended. They just flew in peaceably two days later and occupied us for five years.

At first, they were as nice as could be. They were that full of themselves for conquering a bit of England, and they were thick enough to think it would just be a hop and a skip till they landed in London. When they found out that wasn’t to be, they turned back to their natural meanness.

They had rules for everything—do this, don’t do that, but they kept changing their minds, trying to seem friendly, like they were poking a carrot in front of a donkey’s nose. But we weren’t donkeys. So they’d get harsh again.

For instance, they were always changing curfew—eight at night, or nine, or five in the evening if they felt really mean-minded. You couldn’t visit your friends or even tend your stock.

We started out hopeful, sure they’d be gone in six months. But it stretched on and on. Food grew hard to come by, and soon there was no firewood left. Days were grey with hard work and evenings were black with boredom. Everyone was sickly from so little nourishment and bleak from wondering if it would ever end. We clung to books and to our friends; they reminded us that we had another part to us. Elizabeth used to say a poem. I don’t remember all of it, but it began “Is it so small a thing to have enjoyed the sun, to have lived light in the spring, to have loved, to have thought, to have done, to have advanced true friends?” It isn’t. I hope, wherever she is, she has that in her mind.

Late in 1944, it didn’t matter what time the Germans set the curfew for. Most people went to bed around five o’clock anyway to keep warm. We were rationed to two candles a week and then only one. It was mighty tedious, lying up in bed with no light to read by.

After D-Day, the Germans couldn’t send any supply ships from France because of the Allied bombers. So they were finally as hungry as we were—and killing dogs and cats to give themselves something to eat. They would raid our gardens, rooting up potatoes—even eating the black, rotten ones. Four soldiers died eating handfuls of hemlock, thinking it was parsley.

The German officers said any soldier caught stealing food from our gardens would be shot. One poor soldier was caught stealing a potato. He was chased by his own people and climbed up a tree to hide. But they found him and shot him down out of the tree. Still, that did not stop them from stealing food. I am not pointing a finger at those practices, because some of us were doing the same. I figure hunger makes you desperate when you wake to it every morning.

My grandson, Eli, was evacuated to England when he was seven. He is home now—twelve years old, and tall—but I will never forgive the Germans for making me miss his growing-up years.

I must go milk my cow now, but I will write to you again if you like.

My wishes for your health,
Eben Ramsey

From Miss Adelaide Addison to Juliet

1st March, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Forgive the presumption of a letter from a person unknown to you. But a clear duty is imposed upon me. I understand from Dawsey Adams that you are to write a long article for the Times’ literary supplement on the value of reading and you intend to feature the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society therein.

I laugh.

Perhaps you will reconsider when you learn that their founder, Elizabeth McKenna, is not even an Islander. Despite her fine airs, she is merely a jumped-up servant from the London home of Sir Ambrose Ivers, R.A. (Royal Academy). Surely, you know of him. He is a portrait painter of some note, though I’ve never understood why. His portrait of the Countess of Lambeth as Boadicea, lashing her horses, was unforgivable. In any event, Elizabeth McKenna was the daughter of his housekeeper, if you please.

While Elizabeth’s mother dusted, Sir Ambrose let the child putter in his studio, and he kept her in school long after the normal leaving time for one of her station. Her mother died when Elizabeth was fourteen. Did Sir Ambrose send her to an institution to be properly trained for a suitable occupation? He did not. He kept her with him in his home in Chelsea. He proposed her for a scholarship to the Slade School of Fine Art.

Mind you, I do not say Sir Ambrose sired the girl—we know his proclivities too well to admit of that—but he doted upon her in a way that encouraged her besetting sin: lack of humility. The decay of standards is the cross of our times, and nowhere is this regrettable decline more apparent than in Elizabeth McKenna.

Sir Ambrose owned a home in Guernsey—on the cliff tops near La Bouvée. He, his housekeeper, and the girl summered here when she was a child. Elizabeth was a wild thing—roaming unkempt about the island, even on Sundays. No household chores, no gloves, no shoes, no stockings. Going out on fishing boats with rude men. Spying on decent people through her telescope. A disgrace.

When it became clear that the war was going to start in earnest, Sir Ambrose sent Elizabeth to close up his house. Elizabeth bore the brunt of his haphazard ways in this case, for, in the midst of putting up the shutters, the German army landed on her doorstep. However, the choice to remain here was hers, and, as is proven by certain subsequent events (which I will not demean myself to mention), she is not the selfless heroine that some people seem to think.

Furthermore, the so-called Literary Society is a scandal. There are those of true culture and breeding here in Guernsey, and they will take no part in this charade (even if invited). There are only two respectable people in the Society—Eben Ramsey and Amelia Maugery. The other members: a rag-and-bone man, a lapsed Alienist who drinks, a stuttering swine-herd, a footman posing as a Lord, and Isola Pribby, a practicing witch, who, by her own admission to me, distills and sells potions. They collected a few others of their ilk along the way, and one can only imagine their “literary evenings.”

You must not write about these people and their books—God knows what they saw fit to read!


Yours in Christian Consternation and Concern,
Adelaide Addison (Miss)



From Mark to Juliet

March 2, 1946

Dear Juliet,

I’ve just appropriated my music critic’s opera tickets. Covent Garden at 8:00. Will you?

Yours,
Mark

From Juliet to Mark


Dear Mark,

Tonight?

Juliet



From Mark to Juliet


Yes!

M.



From Juliet to Mark

Wonderful! I feel sorry for your critic, though. Those tickets are scarce as hens’ teeth.

Juliet

From Mark to Juliet

He’ll make do with standing room. He can write about the uplifting effect of opera on the poor, etc., etc.

I’ll pick you up at 7.

M.

From Juliet to Eben

3rd March, 1946

Mr. Eben Ramsey
Les Pommiers
Calais Lane
St. Martin’s, Guernsey

Dear Mr. Ramsey,

It was so kind of you to write to me about your experiences during the Occupation. At the war’s end, I, too, promised myself that I had done with talking about it. I had talked and lived war for six years, and I was longing to pay attention to something—anything—else. But that is like wishing I were someone else. The war is now the story of our lives, and there’s no subtracting it.

I was glad to hear about your grandson Eli returning to you. Does he live with you or with his parents? Did you receive no news of him at all during the Occupation? Did all the Guernsey children return at once? What a celebration, if they did!

I don’t mean to inundate you with questions, but I have a few more, if you’re in an answering frame of mind. I know you were at the roast pig dinner that led to the founding of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society—but how did Mrs. Maugery come to have the pig in the first place? How does one hide a pig?

Elizabeth McKenna was brave that night! She truly has grace under pressure, a quality that fills me with hopeless admiration. I know you and the other members of the Society must worry as the months pass without word, but you mustn’t give up hope. Friends tell me that Europe is like a hive broken open, teeming with thousands upon thousands of displaced people, all trying to get home. A dear old friend of mine, who was shot down in Burma in 1943, reappeared in Australia last month—not in the best of shape, but alive and intending to remain so.

Thank you for your letter.

Yours sincerely,
Juliet Ashton

From Clovis Fossey to Juliet

4th March, 1946

Dear Miss,

At first, I did not want to go to any book meetings. My farm is a lot of work, and I did not want to spend my time reading about people who never was, doing things they never did.

Then in 1942 I started to court the Widow Hubert. When we’d go for a walk, she’d march a few steps ahead of me on the path and never let me take her arm. She let Ralph Murchey take her arm, so I knew I was failing in my suit.

Ralph, he’s a bragger when he drinks, and he said to all in the tavern, “Women like poetry. A soft word in their ears and they melt—a grease spot on the grass.” That’s no way to talk about a lady, and I knew right then he didn’t want the Widow Hubert for her own self, the way I did. He wanted only her grazing land for his cows. So I thought—If it’s rhymes the Widow Hubert wants, I will find me some.

I went to see Mr. Fox in his bookshop and asked for some love poetry. He didn’t have many books left by that time—folks bought them to burn, and when he finally caught on, he closed his shop for good—so he gave me some fellow named Catullus. He was a Roman. Do you know the kind of things he said in verse? I knew I couldn’t say those words to a nice lady.

He did hanker after one woman, Lesbia, who spurned him after taking him into her bed. I don’t wonder she did so—he did not like it when she petted her downy little sparrow. Jealous of a bitty bird, he was. He went home and took up his pen to write of his anguish at seeing her cuddle the little birdy to her bosom. He took it hard, and he never liked women after that and wrote mean poems about them.

He was a tight one too. Do you want to see a poem he wrote when a fallen woman charged him for her favors—poor lass. I will copy it out for you.


Is that battered strumpet in her senses, who asks me

for a thousand sesterces?

That girl with the nasty nose?

Ye kinsmen to whom the care of the girl belongs,

Call together friends and physicians; the girl is insane.

She thinks she is pretty.



Those are love tokens? I told my friend Eben I never saw such spiteful stuff. He said to me I had just not read the right poets. He took me into his cottage and lent me a little book of his own. It was the poetry of Wilfred Owen. He was an officer in the First World War, and he knew what was what and called it by its right name. I was there, too, at Passchendaele, and I knew what he knew, but I could never put it into words for myself.

Well, after that, I thought there might be something to this poetry after all. I began to go to meetings, and I’m glad I did, else how would I have read the works of William Wordsworth—he would have stayed unknown to me. I learned many of his poems by heart.

Anyway, I did win the hand of the Widow Hubert—my Nancy. I got her to go for a walk along the cliffs one evening, and I said, “Lookie there, Nancy. The gentleness of Heaven broods o’er the sea—Listen, the mighty Being is awake.” She let me kiss her. She is now my wife.

Yours truly,
Clovis Fossey

P.S. Mrs. Maugery lent me a book last week. It’s called The Oxford Book of Modern Verse, 1892–1935. They let a man named Yeats make the choosings. They shouldn’t have. Who is he—and what does he know about verse?

I hunted all through that book for poems by Wilfred Owen or Siegfried Sassoon. There weren’t any—nary a one. And do you know why not? Because this Mr. Yeats said—he said, “I deliberately chose NOT to include any poems from World War I. I have a distaste for them. Passive suffering is not a theme for poetry.”

Passive Suffering? Passive Suffering! I nearly seized up. What ailed the man? Lieutenant Owen, he wrote a line, “What passing-bells for these who die as cattle? Only the monstrous anger of the guns.” What’s passive about that, I’d like to know? That’s exactly how they do die. I saw it with my own eyes, and I say to hell with Mr. Yeats.

Yours truly,
Clovis Fossey

From Eben to Juliet

10th March, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Thank you for your letter and your kind questions about my grandson, Eli. He is the child of my daughter, Jane. Jane and her new-born baby died in hospital on the day that the Germans bombed us, 28th June, 1940. Eli’s father was killed in North Africa in 1942, so I have Eli in my keeping now.

Eli left Guernsey on 20th June, along with the thousands of babies and schoolchildren who were evacuated to England. We knew the Germans were coming and Jane worried for his safety here. The doctor would not let Jane sail with them, the baby’s birth being so close.

We did not have any news of the children for six months. Then I got a postcard from the Red Cross, saying Eli was well, but not where he was situated—we never knew what towns our children were in, though we prayed not in a big city. An even longer time passed before I could send him a card in return, but I was of two minds about that. I dreaded to tell him that his mother and the baby had died. I hated to think of my boy reading those cold words on the back of a postcard. But I had to do it. And then a second time, after I got word about his father.

Eli did not come back until the war was over—and they did send all the children home at once. That was a day! More wonderful even than when the British soldiers came to liberate Guernsey. Eli, he was the first boy down the gangway—he’d grown long legs in five years—and I don’t think I could have left off hugging him to me, if Isola hadn’t pushed me a bit so she could hug him herself.

I bless God that he was boarded with a farm family in Yorkshire. They were very good to him. Eli gave me a letter they had written for me—it was full of all the things I had missed seeing in his growing up. They told of his schooling, how he helped on the farm, how he tried to be steadfast when he got my postcards.

He fishes with me and helps me tend my cow and garden, but carving wood is what he likes best—Dawsey and I are teaching him how to do it. He fashioned a fine snake from a bit of broken fence rail last week, though it’s my guess that the broken fence rail was really a rafter from Dawsey’s barn. Dawsey just smiled when I asked him of it, but spare wood is hard to find on the island now, as we had to cut down most of the trees—banisters and furniture, too—for firewood when there was no more coal or paraffin left. Eli and I are planting trees on my land now, but it is going to take a long time for them to become grown—and we do all miss the leaves and shade.

I will tell you now about our roast pig. The Germans were fussy over farm animals. Pigs and cows were kept strict count of. Guernsey was to feed the German troops stationed here and in France. We ourselves could have the leavings, if there were any.

How the Germans did favor book-keeping. They kept track of every gallon we milked, weighed the cream, recorded every sack of flour. They left the chickens alone for a while. But when feed and scraps became so scarce, they ordered us to kill off the older chickens, so’s the good layers could have enough feed to keep on laying eggs.

We fishermen had to give them the largest share of our catch. They would meet our boats in the harbor to portion out their share. Early in the Occupation, a good many Islanders escaped to England in fishing boats—some drowned, but some made it. So the Germans made a new rule, any person who had a family member in England would not be allowed in a fishing boat—they were afraid we’d try to escape. Since Eli was somewhere in England, I had to lend out my boat. I went to work in one of Mr. Privot’s glass houses, and after a time, I got so I could tend the plants well. But my, how I did miss my boat and the sea.

The Germans were especially fractious over meat because they didn’t want any to go to the Black Market instead of feeding their own soldiers. If your sow had a litter, the German Agricultural Officer would come to your farm, count the babies, give you a Birth Certificate for each one, and so mark his record book. If a pig died a natural death, you told the AO and out he’d come again, look at the dead body, and give you a Death Certificate.

They would make surprise visits to your farm, and your number of living pigs had better tally up with their number of living pigs. One pig less and you were fined, one time more and you could be arrested and sent to jail in St. Peter Port. If too many pigs went missing, the Germans figured you were selling on the Black Market, and you were sent to a labor camp in Germany. With the Germans you never knew which way they’d blow—they were a moody people.

In the beginning, though, it was easy to fool the Agricultural Officer and keep a secret live pig for your own use. Here is how Amelia came to have hers.

Will Thisbee had a sickly pig who died. The AO came out and wrote a Certificate saying the pig was truly dead and left Will alone to bury the poor animal. But Will didn’t—he hied off through the wood with the little body and gave it to Amelia Maugery. Amelia hid her own healthy pig and called the AO saying, “Come quick, my pig has died.”

The AO came out right away and, seeing the pig with its toes turned up, never knew it was the same pig he’d seen earlier that morning. He inscribed his Dead Animal Book with one more dead pig.

Amelia took the same carcass over to another friend, and he pulled the same trick the next day. We could do this till the pig turned rank. The Germans caught on finally and began to tattoo each pig and cow at birth, so there was no more dead animal switching.

But Amelia, with a live, hidden, fat, and healthy pig, needed only Dawsey to come kill it quietly. It had to be done quietly because there was a German battery by her farm, and it would not do for the soldiers to hear the pig’s death squeal and come running.

Pigs have always been drawn to Dawsey—he could come in a barnyard, and they would rush up to him and have their backs scratched. They’d set up a shindy for anyone else—squealing, snuffling, and plunging about. But Dawsey, he could soothe them down and he knew just the right spot under their chins to slip his knife in quick. There wasn’t time for the pigs to squeal; they’d just slide quietly onto the ground sheet.

I told Dawsey they only looked up once in surprise, but he said no, pigs were bright enough to know betrayal when they met it, and I wasn’t to try to pretty matters up.

Amelia’s pig made us a fine dinner—there were onions and potatoes to fill out the roast. We had almost forgotten how it felt to have full stomachs, but it came back to us. With Amelia’s curtains closed against the sight of the German battery, and food and friends at the table, we could make believe that none of it had happened.

You are right to call Elizabeth brave. She is that, and always was. She came from London to Guernsey as a little girl with her mother and Sir Ambrose Ivers. She met my Jane her first summer here, when both were ten, and they were ever staunch to one another since then.

When Elizabeth came back in the spring of 1940 to close up Sir Ambrose’s house, she stayed longer than was safe, because she wanted to stand by Jane. My girl had been feeling poorly since her husband, John, went to England to sign up—that was in December of 1939—and she had a difficult time holding on to the baby till her time could come. Dr. Martin ordered her to bed, so Elizabeth stayed on to keep company with Jane and play with Eli. Nothing Eli liked more than to play with Elizabeth. They were a threat to the furniture, but it was cheerful to hear them laugh. I went over once to collect the two of them for supper and when I stopped in, there they were—sprawled on a pile of pillows at the foot of the staircase. They had polished Sir Ambrose’s fine oak banister and come sailing down three floors!

It was Elizabeth who did the needful things to get Eli on the evacuation ship. We Islanders were given only one day’s notice when the ships were coming from England to take the children away. Elizabeth worked like a whirl-a-gig, washing and sewing Eli’s clothes and helping him to understand why he could not bring his pet rabbit with him. When we set out for the schoolyard, Jane had to turn away so as not to show Eli a tearful face at parting, so Elizabeth took him by the hand and said it was good weather for a sea-voyage.

Even after that, Elizabeth wouldn’t leave Guernsey when everyone else was trying to get away. “No,” she said. “I’ll wait for Jane’s baby to come, and, when she’s fattened up enough, then she and Jane and I will go to London. Then we’ll find out where Eli is and go get him.” For all her winning ways, Elizabeth was willful. She’d stick out that jaw of hers and you could see it wasn’t any use to argue with her about leaving. Not even when we could all see the smoke coming from Cherbourg, where the French were burning up their fuel tanks, so the Germans couldn’t have them. But, no matter, Elizabeth wouldn’t go without Jane and the baby. I think Sir Ambrose had told her he and one of his yachting friends could sail right into St. Peter Port and take them off Guernsey before the Germans came. To speak the truth, I was glad she did not leave us. She was with me at the hospital when Jane and her new baby died. She sat by Jane, holding on hard to her hand.

After Jane died, Elizabeth and me, we stood in the hallway, numb-like and staring out the window. It was then we saw seven German planes come in low over the harbor. They were just on one of the reconnaissance flights, we thought—but then they began dropping bombs—they tumbled down the sky like sticks. We didn’t speak, but I know what we each were thinking—thank God Eli was safely away. Elizabeth stood by Jane and me in the bad time, and after. I was not able to stand by Elizabeth, so I thank God her daughter, Kit, is safe and with us, and I pray for Elizabeth to come home soon.

I was glad to hear of your friend who was found in Australia. I hope you will correspond with me and Dawsey again, as he enjoys to hear from you such as I do myself.

Yours sincerely,
Eben Ramsey

From Dawsey to Juliet

12th March, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I am happy you liked the white lilacs.

I will tell you about Mrs. Dilwyn’s soap. Around about the middle of the Occupation, soap became scarce; families were only allowed one tablet per person a month. It was made of some kind of French clay and lay like a dead thing in the washtub. It made no lather—you just had to scrub and hope it worked.

Being clean was hard work, and we had all got used to being more or less dirty, along with our clothes. We were allowed a tiny bit of soap powder for dishes and clothes, but it was a laughable amount; no bubbles there either. Some of the ladies felt it keenly, and Mrs. Dilwyn was one of those. Before the war, she had bought her dresses in Paris, and those fancy clothes went to ruins faster than the plain kind.

One day, Mr. Scope’s pig died of milk fever. Since no one dared eat of it, Mr. Scope offered me the carcass. I remembered my mother making soap from fat, so I thought I could try it. It came out looking like frozen dish water and smelling worse. So I melted it all down and started again. Booker, who had come over to help, suggested paprika for color and cinnamon for scent. Amelia let us have some of each, and we put it in the mix.

When the soap had hardened enough, we cut it into circles with Amelia’s biscuit cutter. I wrapped the soap in cheese cloth, Elizabeth tied bows of red yarn, and we gave them as presents to all the ladies at the Society’s next meeting. For a week or two, anyway, we looked like respectable folks.

I am working several days a week now at the quarry, as well as at the port. Isola thought I looked tired and mixed up a balm for aching muscles—it’s named Angel Fingers. Isola has a cough syrup called Devil’s Suck and I pray I’ll never need it.

Yesterday, Amelia and Kit came over for supper, and we took a blanket down to the beach afterward to watch the moon rise. Kit loves to do that, but she always falls asleep before it is fully risen, and I carry her home to Amelia’s house. She is certain she’ll be able to stay awake all night as soon as she’s five.

Do you know very much about children? I don’t, and although I am learning, I think I am a slow learner. It was much easier before Kit learned to talk, but it was not so much fun. I try to answer her questions, but I am usually behind-hand, and she has moved on to a new question before I can answer the first. Also, I don’t know enough to please her. I don’t know what a mongoose looks like.

I like having your letters, but I often feel I don’t have any news worth the telling, so it is good to answer your rhetorical questions.

Yours,
Dawsey Adams

From Adelaide Addison to Juliet

12th March, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I see you will not be advised by me. I came upon Isola Pribby, whilst in her market stall, scribbling a letter—in response to a letter from you! I tried to resume my errands calmly, but then I came upon Dawsey Adams posting a letter—to you! Who will be next, I ask? This is not to be borne, and I seize my pen to stop you.

I was not completely candid with you in my last letter. In the interests of delicacy, I drew a veil on the true nature of that group and their founder, Elizabeth McKenna. But now, I see that I must reveal all:

The Society members have colluded amongst themselves to raise the bastard child of Elizabeth McKenna and her German Paramour, Doctor/Captain Christian Hellman. Yes, a German soldier! I don’t wonder at your shock.

Now, I am nothing if not just. I do not say that Elizabeth was what the ruder classes called a Jerry-bag, cavorting around Guernsey with any German soldier who could give her gifts. I never saw Elizabeth wearing silk stockings, clad in silk dresses (indeed, her clothing was as disreputable as ever), smelling of Parisian scent, guzzling chocolates and wine, or SMOKING CIGARETTES, like other Island hussies.

But the truth is bad enough.

Herewith, the sorry facts: in April of 1942, the UNWED Elizabeth McKenna gave birth to a baby girl—in her own cottage. Eben Ramsey and Isola Pribby were present at the birthing—he to hold the mother’s hand and she to keep the fire going. Amelia Maugery and Dawsey Adams (An unmarried man! For shame!) did the actual work of delivering the child, before Dr. Martin could arrive. The putative father? Absent! In fact, he had left the Island a short time before. “Ordered to duty on the continent”—SO THEY SAID. The case is perfectly clear—when the evidence of their illicit connection was irrefutable, Captain Hellman abandoned his mistress and left her to her just deserts.

I could have foretold this scandalous outcome. I saw Elizabeth with her lover on several occasions—walking together, deep in talk, gathering nettles for soup, or collecting firewood. And once, facing each other, I saw him put his hand on her face and follow her cheek-bone down with his thumb.

Though I had little hope of success, I knew it was my duty to warn her of the fate that awaited her. I told her she would be cast out of decent society, but she did not heed me. In fact, she laughed. I bore it. Then she told me to get out of her house.

I take no pride in my prescience. It would not be Christian.

Back to the baby—named Christina, called Kit. A scant year later, Elizabeth, as feckless as ever, committed a criminal act expressly forbidden by the German Occupying Force—she helped shelter and feed an escaped prisoner of the German Army. She was arrested and sentenced to prison on the continent.

Mrs. Maugery, at the time of Elizabeth’s arrest, took the baby into her home. And since that night? The Literary Society has raised that child as its own—toting her around from house to house in turn. The principal work of the baby’s maintenance was undertaken by Amelia Maugery, with other Society members taking her out—like a library book—for several weeks at a time.

They all dandled the baby, and now that the child can walk, she goes everywhere with one or another of them—holding hands or riding on their shoulders. Such are their standards! You must not glorify such people in the Times!

You’ll not hear from me again—I have done my best. Let it be on your head.

Adelaide Addison

Cable from Sidney to Juliet

20th March, 1946


DEAR JULIET—TRIP HOME DELAYED. FELL OFF HORSE, BROKE LEG. PIERS NURSING. LOVE, SIDNEY



Cable from Juliet to Sidney

21st March, 1946


OH, GOD, WHICH LEG? AM SO SORRY.
LOVE, JULIET



Cable from Sidney to Juliet

22nd March, 1946


IT WAS THE OTHER ONE. DON’T WORRY—LITTLE PAIN. PIERS EXCELLENT NURSE. LOVE, SIDNEY



Cable from Juliet to Sidney

22nd March, 1946


SO HAPPY IT WASN’T THE ONE I BROKE. CAN I SEND ANYTHING TO HELP YOUR CONVALESCENCE? BOOKS—RECORDINGS—POKER CHIPS—MY LIFE’S BLOOD?



Cable from Sidney to Juliet

23rd March, 1946


NO BLOOD, NO BOOKS, NO POKER CHIPS. JUST KEEP SENDING LONG LETTERS TO ENTERTAIN US. LOVE, SIDNEY AND PIERS



From Juliet to Sophie

23rd March, 1946

Dear Sophie,

I only got a cable, so you know more than I do. But whatever the circumstances, it’s absolutely ridiculous for you to consider flying off to Australia. What about Alexander? And Dominic? And your lambs? They’ll pine away.

Stop and think for a moment, and you’ll realize why you shouldn’t fuss. First off, Piers will take excellent care of Sidney. Second, better Piers than us—remember what a vile patient Sidney was last time? We should be glad he’s thousands of miles away. Third, Sidney has been stretched as tight as a bow-string for years. He needs a rest, and breaking his leg is probably the only way he’ll allow himself to take one. Most important of all, Sophie: he doesn’t want us there.

I’m perfectly certain Sidney would prefer me to write a new book than to appear at his bedside in Australia, so I intend to stay right here in my dreary flat and cast about for a subject. I do have a tiny infant of an idea, much too frail and defenseless to risk describing, even to you. In honor of Sidney’s leg, I’m going to coddle it and feed it and see if I can make it grow.

Now, about Markham V. Reynolds (Junior). Your questions regarding that gentleman are very delicate, very subtle, very much like being smacked in the head with a mallet. Am I in love with him? What kind of a question is that? It’s a tuba among the flutes, and I expect better of you. The first rule of snooping is to come at it sideways—when you began writing me dizzy letters about Alexander, I didn’t ask if you were in love with him, I asked what his favorite animal was. And your answer told me everything I needed to know about him—how many men would admit that they loved ducks? (This brings up an important point: I don’t know what Mark’s favorite animal is. I doubt it’s a duck.)

Would you care for a few suggestions? You could ask me who his favorite author is (Dos Passos! Hemingway!!). Or his favorite color (blue, not sure what shade, probably royal). Is he a good dancer? (Yes, far better than I, never steps on my toes, but doesn’t talk or even hum while dancing. Doesn’t hum at all so far as I know.) Does he have brothers or sisters? (Yes, two older sisters, one married to a sugar baron and the other widowed last year. Plus one younger brother, dismissed with a sneer as an ass.)

So—now that I’ve done all your work for you, perhaps you can answer your own ridiculous question, because I can’t. I feel addled around Mark, which might be love but might not. It certainly isn’t restful. I’m rather dreading this evening, for instance. Another dinner party, very brilliant, with men leaning across the table to make a point and women gesturing with their cigarette holders. Oh dear, I want to nuzzle into my sofa, but I have to get up and put on an evening dress. Love aside, Mark is a terrible strain on my wardrobe.

Now, darling, don’t fret about Sidney. He’ll be stalking around in no time.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Dawsey

25th March, 1946

Dear Mr. Adams,

I have received a long letter (two, in fact!) from a Miss Adelaide Addison, warning me not to write about the Society in my article. If I do, she will wash her hands of me forever. I will try to bear that affliction with fortitude. She does work up quite a head of steam about “Jerry-bags,” doesn’t she?

I have also had a long letter from Clovis Fossey about poetry, and one from Isola Pribby about the Brontë sisters. Aside from delighting me—they gave me brand-new thoughts for my article. Between them, you, Mr. Ramsey, and Mrs. Maugery, Guernsey is virtually writing my article for me. Even Miss Adelaide Addison has done her bit—defying her will be such a pleasure.

I don’t know as much about children as I would like to. I am godmother to a wonderful three-year-old boy named Dominic, the son of my friend Sophie. They live in Scotland, near Oban, and I don’t get to see him often. I am always astonished, when I do, at his increasing personhood—no sooner had I gotten used to carrying about a warm lump of baby than he stopped being one and started scurrying around on his own. I missed six months, and lo and behold, he learned how to talk! Now he talks to himself, which I find terribly endearing since I do, too.

A mongoose, you may tell Kit, is a weaselly-looking creature with very sharp teeth and a bad temper. It is the only natural enemy of the cobra and is impervious to snake venom. Failing snakes, it snacks on scorpions. Perhaps you could get her one for a pet.

Yours,
Juliet Ashton

P.S. I had second thoughts about sending this letter—what if Adelaide Addison is a friend of yours? Then I decided no, she couldn’t possibly be—so off it goes.

From John Booker to Juliet

27th March, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Amelia Maugery has asked me to write to you, for I am a founding member of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society—though I only read one book over and over. It was The Letters of Seneca: Translated from Latin in One Volume, with Appendix. Seneca and the Society, betwixt them, kept me from the direful life of a drunk.

From 1940 to 1944, I pretended to the German authorities that I was Lord Tobias Penn-Piers—my former employer, who had fled to England in a frenzy when Guernsey was bombed. I was his valet and I stayed. My true name is John Booker, and I was born and bred in London.

With the others, I was caught out after curfew on the night of the pig roast. I can’t remember it with any clarity. I expect I was tipsy, because I usually was. I recall soldiers shouting and waving guns about and Dawsey holding me upright. Then came Elizabeth’s voice. She was talking about books—I couldn’t fathom why. After that, Dawsey was pulling me through a pasture at great speed, and then I fell into bed. That’s all.

But you want to know about the influence of books on my life, and as I’ve said, there was only one. Seneca. Do you know who he was? He was a Roman philosopher who wrote letters to imaginary friends telling them how to behave for the rest of their lives. Maybe that sounds dull, but the letters aren’t—they’re witty. I think you learn more if you’re laughing at the same time.

It seems to me that his words travel well—to all men in all times. I will give you a living sample: take the Luftwaffe and their hairdos. During the Blitz, the Luftwaffe took off from Guernsey and joined in with the big bombers on their way to London. They only flew at night so their days were their own, to spend in St. Peter Port as they liked. And how did they spend them? In beauty parlors: having their nails buffed, their faces massaged, their eyebrows shaped, their hair waved and coiffed. When I saw them in their hairnets, walking five abreast down the street, elbowing Islanders off the sidewalk, I thought of Seneca’s words about the Praetorian Guard. He’d written—“who of these would not rather see Rome disordered than his hair.”

I will tell you how I came to pretend to be my former employer. Lord Tobias wanted to sit out the war in a safe place, so he purchased La Fort manor on Guernsey. He had spent World War I in the Caribbean but had suffered greatly from prickly heat there.

In the spring of 1940, he moved to La Fort with most of his possessions, including Lady Tobias. Chausey, his London butler, had locked himself in the pantry and refused to come. So I, his valet, came in Chausey’s stead, to supervise the placing of his furniture, the hanging of his draperies, the polishing of his silver, and the stocking of his wine cellar. It was there I bedded each bottle, gentle as a baby to its crib, in its little rack.

Just as the last picture was being hung on the wall, the German planes flew over and bombed St. Peter Port. Lord Tobias, panicking at all the racket, called the captain of his yacht and ordered him to “Redd up the ship!” We were to load the boat with his silver, his paintings, his bibelots, and, if enough room, Lady Tobias, and set sail at once for England.

I was the last one up the gangway, with Lord Tobias screaming, “Hurry up, man! Hurry up, the Huns are coming!”

My true destiny struck me in that moment, Miss Ashton. I still had the key to his Lordship’s wine cellar. I thought of all those bottles of wine, champagne, brandy, cognac that didn’t make it back to the yacht—and me all alone amongst them. I thought of no more bells, of no more livery, of no more Lord Tobias. In fact, of no more being in service at all.

I turned my back on him and quickly walked back down the gangway. I ran up the road to La Fort and watched the yacht sail away, Lord Tobias still screaming. Then I went inside, laid a fire, and stepped down to the wine cellar. I took down a bottle of claret and drew my first cork. I let the wine breathe. Then I returned to the library, sipped, and began to read The Wine-Lover’s Companion.

I read about grapes, tended the garden, slept in silk pajamas—and drank wine. And so it went until September when Amelia Maugery and Elizabeth McKenna came to call on me. Elizabeth I knew slightly—she and I had chatted several times among the market stalls—but Mrs. Maugery was a stranger to me. Were they going to turn me in to the constable? I wondered.

No. They were there to warn me. The Commandant of Guernsey had ordered all Jews to report to the Grange Lodge Hotel and register. According to the Commandant, our ID cards would merely be marked “Juden” and then we were free to go home. Elizabeth knew my mother was Jewish; I had mentioned it once. They had come to tell me that I must not, under any circumstances, go to the Grange Lodge Hotel.

But that wasn’t all. Elizabeth had considered my predicament thoroughly (more thoroughly than I) and made a plan. Since all Islanders were to have identity cards anyway, why couldn’t I declare myself to be Lord Tobias Penn-Piers himself? I could claim that, as a visitor, all my documents had been left behind in my London bank. Amelia was sure Mr. Dilwyn would be happy to back up my impersonation, and he was. He and Amelia went with me to the Commandant’s Office, and we all swore that I was Lord Tobias Penn-Piers.

It was Elizabeth who came up with the finishing touch. The Germans were taking over all of Guernsey’s grand houses for their officers to live in, and they would never ignore such a residence as La Fort—it was too good to miss. And when they came I must be ready for them as Lord Tobias Penn-Piers. I must look like a Lord at Leisure and act at my ease. I was terrified.

“Nonsense,” said Elizabeth. “You have presence, Booker. You’re tall, dark, handsome, and all valets know how to look down their noses.”

She decided that she would quickly paint my portrait as a sixteenth-century Penn-Piers. So I posed as such in a velvet cloak and ruff, seated against a background of dark tapestries and dim shadows, fingering my dagger. I looked Noble, Aggrieved, and Treasonous.

It was a brilliant stroke, for, not two weeks later, a body of German officers (six in all) appeared in my library—without knocking. I received them there, sipping a Château Margaux ’93 and bearing an uncanny resemblance to the portrait of my “ancestor” hanging above me over the mantel.

They bowed to me and were all politeness, which did not prevent them from taking over the house and moving me into the gatekeeper’s cottage the very next day. Eben and Dawsey slipped over after curfew that night and helped me carry most of the wine down to the cottage, where we cleverly hid it behind the woodpile, down the well, up the chimney, under a haystack, and above the rafters. But even with all this toting of bottles, I still ran out of wine by early 1941. A sad day, but I had friends to help distract me—and then, then I found Seneca.

I came to love our book meetings—they helped to make the Occupation bearable. Some of their books sounded fine, but I stayed true to Seneca. I came to feel that he was talking to me—in his funny, biting way—but talking to me alone. His letters helped to keep me alive in what was to come later.

I still go to all our Society meetings. Everyone is sick of Seneca, and they are begging me to read someone else. But I’ll not do it. I also act in plays that one of our repertory companies puts on—impersonating Lord Tobias gave me a taste for acting, and besides that, I am tall, loud, and can be heard in the last row.

I am happy the war is over, and I am John Booker again.

Yours truly,
John Booker

From Juliet to Sidney and Piers

31st March, 1946

Mr. Sidney Stark
Monreagle Hotel
Broadmeadows Avenue, 79
Melbourne
Victoria
Australia

Dear Sidney and Piers,

No life’s blood—just sprained thumbs from copying out the enclosed letters from my new friends on Guernsey. I love their letters and could not bear the thought of sending the originals to the bottom of the earth where they would undoubtedly be eaten by wild dogs.

I knew the Germans occupied the Channel Islands, but I barely gave them a thought during the war. I have since scoured the Times for articles and anything I can cull from the London Library on the Occupation. I also need to find a good travel book on Guernsey—one with descriptions, not timetables and hotel recommendations—to give me the feel of the island.

Quite apart from my interest in their interest in reading, I have fallen in love with two men: Eben Ramsey and Dawsey Adams. Clovis Fossey and John Booker, I like. I want Amelia Maugery to adopt me; and me, I want to adopt Isola Pribby. I will leave you to discern my feelings for Adelaide Addison (Miss) by reading her letters. The truth is, I am living more in Guernsey than I am in London at the moment—I pretend work with one ear cocked for the sound of the post dropping in the box, and when I hear it, I scramble down the stairs, breathless for the next piece of the story. This must be how people felt when they gathered around the publisher’s door to seize the latest installment of David Copperfield as it came off the printing press.

I know you’re going to love the letters, too—but would you be interested in more? To me, these people and their war-time experiences are fascinating and moving. Do you agree? Do you think there could be a book here? Don’t be polite—I want your opinion (both of your opinions) unvarnished. And you needn’t worry—I’ll continue to send you copies of the letters even if you don’t want me to write a book about Guernsey. I am (mostly) above petty vengeance.

Since I have sacrificed my thumbs for your amusement, you should send me one of Piers’s latest in return. So glad you are writing again, my dear.

My love to you both,
Juliet

From Dawsey to Juliet

2nd April, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Having fun is the biggest sin in Adelaide Addison’s bible (lack of humility following close on its heels), and I’m not surprised she wrote to you about Jerry-bags. Adelaide lives on her wrath.

There were few eligible men left in Guernsey and certainly no one exciting. Many of us were tired, scruffy, worried, ragged, shoeless, and dirty—we were defeated and looked it. We didn’t have the energy, time, or money left over for fun. Guernsey men had no glamour—and the German soldiers did. They were, according to a friend of mine, tall, blond, handsome, and tanned—like gods. They gave lavish parties, were jolly and zestful company, possessed cars, had money, and could dance all night long.

But some of the girls who dated soldiers gave the cigarettes to their fathers and the bread to their families. They would come home from parties with rolls, pâtés, fruit, meat patties, and jellies stuffed in their purses, and their families would have a full meal the next day.

I don’t think some Islanders ever credited the boredom of those years as a reason to befriend the enemy. Boredom is a powerful reason, and the prospect of fun is a powerful draw—especially when you are young.

There were many folks who would have no dealings with the Germans—if you said so much as good morning, you were abetting the enemy, according to their way of thinking. But circumstances were such that I could not abide by that with Captain Christian Hellman, a doctor in the Occupation forces and my good friend.

In late 1941 there wasn’t any salt on the Island, and none was coming to us from France. Root vegetables and soups are listless without salt, so the Germans got the idea of using seawater to supply it. They carried it up from the bay and poured it into a big tanker set in the middle of St. Peter Port. Everyone was to walk to town, fill up their buckets, and carry them home again. Then we were to boil the water away and use the sludge in the bottom of the pan as salt. That plan failed—there wasn’t enough wood to waste building up a fire hot enough to boil the pot of water dry. So we decided to cook all our vegetables in the seawater itself.

That worked well enough for flavor, but there were many older people who couldn’t make the walk into town or haul heavy buckets home. No one had much strength left over for such chores. I have a slight limp from a badly set leg, and though it kept me from army service, it has never been bad enough to bother me. I was very hale, and so I began to deliver water around to some cottages.

I traded an extra spade and some twine for Mme. LePell’s old baby pram, and Mr. Soames gave me two small oak wine casks, each with a spigot. I sawed off the barrel tops to make moveable lids and fitted them into my pram—so now I had transport. Several of the beaches weren’t mined, and it was an easy thing to climb down the rocks, fill a cask with seawater, and tote it back up.

The November wind is bleak, and one day my hands were near numb after I climbed up from the bay with the first barrel of water. I was standing by my pram, trying to limber up my fingers, when Christian drove by. He stopped his car, backed up, and asked if I wanted any help. I said no, but he got out of his car anyway and helped me lift the barrel into my pram. Then, without a word, he went down the cliff with me, to help with the second barrel.

I hadn’t noticed that he had a stiff shoulder and arm, but between those, my limp, and the loose scree, we slipped coming back up and fell against the hillside, losing our grip on the barrel. It tumbled down, splintered against the rocks, and soaked us. God knows why it struck us both as funny, but it did. We sagged against the cliff-side, unable to stop laughing. That was when Elia’s essays slipped from my pocket, and Christian picked it up, sopping wet. “Ah, Charles Lamb,” he said, and handed it to me. “He was not a man to mind a little damp.” My surprise must have showed, because he added, “I read him often at home. I envy you your portable library.”

We climbed back up to his car. He wanted to know if I could find another barrel. I said I could and explained my water-delivery route. He nodded, and I started out with my pram. But then I turned back and said, “You can borrow the book, if you’d like to.” You would have thought I was giving him the moon. We exchanged names and shook hands.

After that, he would often help me carry up water, and then he’d offer a cigarette, and we’d stand in the road and talk—about Guernsey’s beauty, about history, about books, about farming, but never about the present time—always things far away from the war. Once, as we were standing, Elizabeth rattled up the road on her bicycle. She had been on nursing duty all that day and probably most of the night before, and like the rest of us, her clothes were more patches than cloth. But Christian, he broke off in mid-sentence to watch her coming. Elizabeth drew up to us and stopped. Neither said a word, but I saw their faces, and I left as soon as I could. I hadn’t realized they knew each other.

Christian had been a field surgeon, until his shoulder wound sent him from Eastern Europe to Guernsey. In early 1942, he was ordered to a hospital in Caen; his ship was sunk by Allied bombers and he was drowned. Dr. Lorenz, the head of the German Occupation Hospital, knew we were friends and came to tell me of his death. He meant for me to tell Elizabeth, so I did.

The way that Christian and I met may have been unusual, but our friendship was not. I’m sure many Islanders grew to be friends with some of the soldiers. But sometimes I think of Charles Lamb and marvel that a man born in 1775 enabled me to make two such friends as you and Christian.

Yours,
Dawsey Adams

From Juliet to Amelia

4th April, 1946

Dear Mrs. Maugery,

The sun is out for the first time in months, and if I stand on my chair and crane my neck, I can see it sparkling on the river. I’m averting my eyes from the mounds of rubble across the street and pretending London is beautiful again.

I’ve received a sad letter from Dawsey Adams, telling me about Christian Hellman, his kindness and his death. The war goes on and on, doesn’t it? Such a good life—lost. And what a grievous blow it must have been to Elizabeth. I am thankful she had you, Mr. Ramsey, Isola, and Dawsey to help her when she had her baby.

Spring is nearly here. I’m almost warm in my puddle of sunshine. And down the street—I’m not averting my eyes now—a man in a patched jumper is painting the door to his house sky blue. Two small boys, who have been walloping one another with sticks, are begging him to let them help. He is giving them a tiny brush apiece. So—perhaps there is an end to war.

Yours,
Juliet Ashton

From Mark to Juliet

April 5, 1946

Dear Juliet—

You’re being elusive and I don’t like it. I don’t want to see the play with someone else—I want to go with you. In fact, I don’t give a damn about the play. I’m only trying to rout you out of that apartment. Dinner? Tea? Cocktails? Boating? Dancing? You choose, and I’ll obey. I’m rarely so docile—don’t throw away this opportunity to improve my character.

Yours,
Mark

From Juliet to Mark

Dear Mark,

Do you want to come to the British Museum with me? I’ve got an appointment in the Reading Room at two o’clock. We can look at the mummies afterward.

Juliet

From Mark to Juliet

To hell with the Reading Room and the mummies. Come have lunch with me.

Mark

From Juliet to Mark


You consider that docile?

Juliet



From Mark to Juliet


To hell with docile.

M.



From Will Thisbee to Juliet

7th April, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I am a member of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society. I am an antiquarian ironmonger, though it pleases some to call me a rag-and-bone man. I also invent labor-saving devices—my latest being an electric clothes-pin that wafts the laundry gently on the breeze, saving the laundress’s wrists.

Did I find solace in reading? Yes, but not at first. I’d just go and eat my pie in quietude in a corner. Then Isola got ahold of me and said I had to read a book and talk about it like the others did. She gave me a book called Past and Present by Thomas Carlyle, and a tedious thing he was—he gave me shooting pains in my head—until I came to a bit on religion.

I was not a religious man, though not for want of trying. Off I’d go, like a bee among blossoms, from church to chapel to church again. But I was never able to get a grip on Faith—till Mr. Carlyle posed religion to me in a different way. He was walking among the ruins of the Abbey at Bury St. Edmunds, when a thought came to him, and he wrote it down thus:


Does it ever give thee pause, that men used to have a soul—not by hearsay alone, or as a figure of speech; but as a truth that they knew, and acted upon! Verily it was another world then … but yet it is a pity we have lost the tidings of our souls … we shall have to go in search of them again, or worse in all ways shall befall us.



Isn’t that something—to know your own soul by hearsay, instead of its own tidings? Why should I let a preacher tell me if I had one or not? If I could believe I had a soul, all by myself, then I could listen to its tidings all by myself.

I gave my talk on Mr. Carlyle to the Society, and it stirred up a great argument about the soul. Yes? No? Maybe? Dr. Stubbins yelled the loudest, and soon everyone stopped arguing and listened to him.

Thompson Stubbins is a man of long, deep thoughts. He was a psychiatrist in London until he ran amok at the annual dinner of the Friends of Sigmund Freud Society in 1934. He told me the whole tale once. The Friends were great talkers and their speeches went on for hours—while the plates stayed bare. Finally they served up, and silence fell upon the hall as the psychiatrists bolted their chops. Thompson saw his chance: he beat his spoon upon his glass and shouted from the floor to be heard.

“Did any of you ever think that along about the time the notion of a SOUL gave out, Freud popped up with the EGO to take its place? The timing of the man! Did he not pause to reflect? Irresponsible old coot! It is my belief that men must spout this twaddle about egos, because they fear they have no soul! Think upon it!”

Thompson was barred from their doors forever, and he moved to Guernsey to grow vegetables. Sometimes he rides with me in my cart and we talk about Man and God and all the In-between. I would have missed all this if I had not belonged to the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society.

Tell me, Miss Ashton, what are your views on the matter? Isola thinks you should come to visit Guernsey, and if you do, you could ride in my cart with us. I’d bring a cushion.

Best wishes for your continued health and happiness.

Will Thisbee

From Mrs. Clara Saussey to Juliet

8th April, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I’ve heard about you. I once belonged to that Literary Society, though I’ll wager none of them ever told you about me. I didn’t read from any book by a dead writer, no. I read from a work I wrote myself—my book of cookery recipes. I venture to say my book caused more tears and sorrow than anything Charles Dickens ever wrote.

I chose to read about the correct way to roast a suckling pig. Butter its little body, I said. Let the juices run down and cause the fire to sizzle. The way I read it, you could smell the pig roasting, hear its flesh crackle. I spoke of my five-layer cakes—using a dozen eggs—my spun-sugar sweets, chocolate-rum balls, sponge cakes with pots of cream. Cakes made with good white flour—not that cracked grain and bird-seed stuff we were using at the time.

Well, miss, my audience couldn’t stand it. They was pushed over the edge, hearing of my tasty recipes. Isola Pribby, that never had a manner to call her own, she cried out I was tormenting her and she was going to hex my saucepans. Will Thisbee said I would burn like my cherries jubilee. Then Thompson Stubbins swore at me, and it took both Dawsey and Eben to get me away safely.

Eben called the next day to apologize for the Society’s bad manners. He asked me to remember that most of them had come to the meeting directly from a supper of turnip soup (with nary a bone in it to give pith), or parboiled potatoes scorched on a hot iron—there being no cooking fat to fry them up in. He asked me to be tolerant and forgive them.

Well, I’ll not do it—they called me bad names. There wasn’t a one of them who truly loved literature. Because that’s what my cookery book was—sheer poetry in a pan. I believe they was made so bored, what with the curfew and other nasty Nazi laws, they only wanted an excuse to get out of an evening, and reading is what they chose.

I want the truth of them told in your story. They’d never have touched a book, but for the OCCUPATION. I stand by what I say, and you can quote me direct.

My name is—Clara S-A-U-S-S-E-Y. Three esses, in all.

Clara Saussey (Mrs.)

From Amelia to Juliet

10th April, 1946

My dear Juliet,

I, too, have felt that the war goes on and on. When  my son, Ian, died at El Alamein—side by side with Eli’s father, John—visitors offering their condolences, thinking to comfort me, said “Life goes on.” What nonsense, I thought, of course it doesn’t. It’s death that goes on; Ian is dead now and will be dead tomorrow and next year and forever. There’s no end to that. But perhaps there will be an end to the sorrow of it. Sorrow has rushed over the world like the waters of the Deluge, and it will take time to recede. But already, there are small islands of—hope? Happiness? Something like them, at any rate. I like the picture of you standing upon your chair to catch a glimpse of the sun, averting your eyes from the mounds of rubble.

My greatest pleasure has been in resuming my evening walks along the cliff tops. The Channel is no longer framed in rolls of barbed wire, the view is unbroken by huge VERBOTEN signs. The mines are gone from our beaches, and I can walk when, where, and for as long as I like. If I stand on the cliffs and turn out to face the sea, I don’t see the ugly cement bunkers behind me, or the land naked without its trees. Not even the Germans could ruin the sea.

This summer, gorse will begin to grow around the fortifications, and by next year, perhaps vines will creep over them. I hope they are soon covered. For all I can look away, I will never be able to forget how they were made.

The Todt workers built them. I know you have heard of Germany’s slave workers in camps on the continent, but did you know that Hitler sent over sixteen thousand of them here, to the Channel Islands?

Hitler was fanatic about fortifying these islands—England was never to get them back! His generals called it Island Madness. He ordered large-gun emplacements, anti-tank walls on the beaches, hundreds of bunkers and batteries, arms and bomb depots, miles and miles of underground tunnels, a huge underground hospital, and a railroad to cross the island to carry materials. The coastal fortifications were absurd—the Channel Isles were better fortified than the Atlantic Wall built against an Allied invasion. The installations jutted out over every bay. The Third Reich was to last one thousand years—in concrete.

So, of course, he needed thousands of slave workers; men and boys were conscripted, some were arrested, and some were just picked up off the streets—out of cinema queues, from cafés, from the country lanes and fields of any German Occupied territory. There were even political prisoners from the Spanish Civil War. The Russian prisoners of war were treated the worst, perhaps because of their victory over the Germans on the Russian Front.

Most of these slave workers came to the islands in 1942. They were kept in open sheds, dug-out tunnels, in pens, some of them in houses. They were marched all over the island to their work sites: thin to the bone, dressed in ragged trousers with bare skin showing through, often no coats to protect them from the cold. No shoes or boots, their feet tied up in bloody rags. Young lads, fifteen and sixteen, were so weary and starved they could scarcely put one foot in front of another.

Guernsey Islanders would stand by their gates to offer them what little food or warm clothing they could spare. Sometimes the Germans guarding the Todt work columns would let the men break ranks to accept these gifts—other times they would beat them to the ground with rifle butts.

Thousands of those men and boys died here, and I have recently learned that their inhuman treatment was the intended policy of Himmler. He called his plan Death by Exhaustion, and he implemented it. Work them hard, don’t waste valuable foodstuffs on them, and let them die. They could, and would, always be replaced by new slave workers from Europe’s Occupied countries.

Some of the Todt workers were kept down on the Common, behind a wire fence—they were white as ghosts, covered in cement dust; there was only one water standpipe for over a hundred men to wash themselves.

Children sometimes went down to the green to see the Todt workers behind the wire fences. They would poke walnuts and apples, sometimes potatoes, through the wire for them. There was one Todt worker who did not take the food—he came to see the children. He would put his arm through the wire just to hold their faces in his hands, to touch their hair.

The Germans did give the Todt workers one-half day a week off—on Sunday. That was the day when the German Sanitary Engineers emptied all the sewage into the ocean—by way of a big pipe. Fish would swarm for the offal, and the Todt workers would stand in that feces and filth up to their chests—trying to catch the fish in their hands, to eat them.

No flowers or vines can cover over such memories as these, can they?

I have told you the most hateful story of the war. Juliet, Isola thinks you should come and write a book about the German Occupation. She told me she did not have the skill to write such a book herself, but, as dear as Isola is to me, I am terrified she might buy a notebook and begin anyway.

Yours ever,
Amelia Maugery

From Juliet to Dawsey

11th April, 1946

Dear Mr. Adams,

After promising never to write to me again, Adelaide Addison has sent me another letter. It is devoted to all the people and practices she deplores, and you are one of them, along with Charles Lamb.

It seems she called on you to deliver the April issue of the parish magazine—and you were nowhere to be found. Not milking your cow, not hoeing your garden, not washing your house, not doing anything a good farmer should be doing. So she entered your barnyard, and lo—what did she see? You, lying up in your hay-loft, reading a book by Charles Lamb! You were “so enraptured with that drunkard,” you failed to notice her presence.

What a blight that woman is. Do you happen to know why? I lean toward a malignant fairy at her christening.

In any event, the picture of you lolling in the hay, reading Charles Lamb, pleased me very much. It made me recall my own childhood in Suffolk. My father was a farmer there, and I helped out at the farm; though admittedly all I did was jump out of our car, open the gate, close it and jump back in, gather eggs, weed our garden, and flail at the hay when I was in the mood.

I remember lying in our hay-loft reading The Secret Garden with a cowbell beside me. I’d read for an hour and then ring the bell for a glass of lemonade to be brought to me. Mrs. Hutchins, the cook, finally grew weary of this arrangement and told my mother, and that was the end of my cowbell, but not my reading in the hay.

Mr. Hastings found the E. V. Lucas biography of Charles Lamb. He decided not to quote a price to you, but just to send it along to you at once. He said, “A lover of Charles Lamb ought not to have to wait.”

Yours ever,
Juliet Ashton

From Susan Scott to Sidney

11th April, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I’m as tender-hearted as the next girl, but dammit, if you don’t get back here soon, Charlie Stephens is going to have a nervous breakdown. He’s not cut out for work; he’s cut out for handing over large wads of cash and letting you do the work. He actually turned up at the office before ten o’clock yesterday, but the effort annihilated him. He was deathly white by eleven, and had a whiskey at eleven-thirty. At noon, one of the innocent young things handed him a jacket to approve—his eyes bulged with terror and he began that disgusting trick with his ear—he’s going to pull it right off one day. He went home at one, and I haven’t seen him yet today (it’s four in the afternoon).

In other depressing developments, Harriet Munfries has gone completely berserk; she wants to “color-coordinate” the entire children’s list. Pink and red. I kid you not. The boy in the mail-room (I don’t bother learning their names anymore) got drunk and threw away all letters addressed to anyone whose name started with an S. Don’t ask why. Miss Tilley was so impossibly rude to Kendrick that he tried to hit her with her telephone. I can’t say I blame him, but telephones are hard to come by and we can’t afford to lose one. You must sack her the minute you come home.

If you need any further inducement to buy an aeroplane ticket, I can also tell you that I saw Juliet and Mark Reynolds looking very cozy at Café de Paris the other night. Their table was behind the velvet cordon, but from my seat in the slums, I could spy all the telltale signs of romance—he murmuring little nothings in her ear, her hand lingering in his beside the cocktail glasses, his touching her shoulder to point out an acquaintance. I considered it my duty (as your devoted employee) to break it up, so I elbowed my way past the cordon to say hello to Juliet. She seemed delighted and invited me to join them, but it was apparent from Mark’s smile that he didn’t want company, so I retreated. He’s not a man to cross, that one, with his thin smile, no matter how beautiful his ties are, and it would break my mum’s heart if my lifeless body was found bobbing in the Thames.

In other words, get a wheelchair, get a crutch, get a donkey to tote you, but come home now.

Yours,
Susan

From Juliet to Sidney and Piers

12th April, 1946

Dear Sidney and Piers,

I’ve been ransacking the libraries of London for background on Guernsey. I even got a ticket to the Reading Room, which shows my devotion to duty—as you know, I’m petrified of the place.

I’ve found out quite a lot. Do you recall a wretched, goofy series of books in the 1920s called A-Tramp in Skye … or A-Tramp in Lindisfarne … or in Sheepholm—or whatever port the author happened to sail his yacht into? Well, in 1930 he sailed into St. Peter Port, Guernsey, and wrote a book about it (with day trips to Sark, Herm, Alderney, and Jersey, where he was mauled by a duck and had to return home).

Tramp’s real name was Cee Cee Meredith. He was an idiot who thought he was a poet, and he was rich enough to sail anywhere, then write about it, then have it privately printed, and then give a copy to any friend who would take it. Cee Cee didn’t trouble himself with dull fact: he preferred to scamper off to the nearest moor, beach, or flowery field, and go into transports with his Muse. But bless him anyhow; his book A-Tramp in Guernsey was just what I needed to get the feel of the island.

Cee Cee went ashore at St. Peter Port, leaving his mother, Dorothea, to bob about the adjacent waters, retching in the wheel-house. In Guernsey, Cee Cee wrote poems to the freesias and the daffodils. Also to the tomatoes. He was agog with admiration for the Guernsey cows and the blooded bulls, and he composed a little song in honor of their cowbells (“tinkle, tinkle, such a merry sound …”). Directly beneath the cows, in Cee Cee’s estimation, were “the simple folk of the country parishes, who still speak the Norman patois and believe in fairies and witches.” Cee Cee entered into the spirit of the thing and saw a fairy in the gloaming.

After carrying on about the cottages and hedgerows and the shops, Cee Cee at last reached the sea, or, as he has it, “The SEA! It is everywhere! The waters: azure, emerald, silver-laced, when they are not as hard and dark as a bag of nails.”

Thank God Tramp had a co-author, Dorothea, who was made of sterner stuff and loathed Guernsey and everything about it. She was in charge of delivering the history of the island, and she was not one to gild the lily:

 … As to Guernsey’s history—well, the least said, soonest mended. The Islands once belonged to the Duchy of Normandy, but when William, Duke of Normandy, became William the Conqueror, he took the Channel Islands along with him in his back pocket and he gave them to England—with special privileges. These privileges were later increased by King John, and added to yet again by Edward III. WHY? What did they do to deserve the preference? Nary a thing! Later, when that weakling Henry VI managed to lose most of France back to the French, the Channel Islands elected to stay a Crown Possession of England, as who would not?

The Channel Islands freely owe their allegiance and love to the English Crown, but heed this, dear reader—THE CROWN CANNOT MAKE THEM DO ANYTHING THEY DO NOT WANT TO DO!

 … Guernsey’s ruling body, such as it is, is named the States of Deliberation but called the States for short. The real head of everything is the President of the States, who is elected by the STATES, and called the Bailiff. In fact, everyone is elected, not appointed by the King. Pray, what is a monarch for, if NOT TO APPOINT

PEOPLE TO THINGS?

 … The Crown’s only representative to this unholy mélange is the Lieutenant Governor. While he is welcome to attend the meetings of the States, and he may talk and advise all he wants, he does NOT HAVE A VOTE. At least he is allowed to live in Government House, the only mansion of any note on Guernsey—if you don’t count Sausmarez Manor, which I don’t.

 … The Crown cannot impose Taxes on the Islands—or Conscription. Honesty forces me to admit the Islanders don’t need Conscription to make them go to war for dear, dear England. They volunteered and made very respectable, even heroic, soldiers and sailors against Napoleon and the Kaiser. But be advised—these selfless acts do not make amends for the fact THAT THE CHANNEL ISLANDS PAY NO INCOME TAX TO ENGLAND. NOT ONE SHILLING. IT MAKES ONE WANT TO SPIT!

Those are her kindest words—I will spare you the rest, but you get her general drift.

One, or better yet, both of you write to me. I want to hear how both the patient and the nurse are doing. What does your doctor say about your leg, Sidney—I swear you’ve had time to grow a new one.

XXXXXX,
Juliet

From Dawsey to Juliet

15th April, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

I don’t know what ails Adelaide Addison. Isola says she is a blight because she likes being a blight—it gives her a sense of destiny. Adelaide did me one good turn, though, didn’t she? She told you, better than I could, how much I was enjoying Charles Lamb.

The biography came. I’ve read fast—too impatient not to. But I’ll go back and start over again—reading more slowly this time, so I can take everything in. I did like what Mr. Lucas said about him—“he could make any homely and familiar thing into something fresh and beautiful.” Lamb’s writings make me feel more at home in his London than I do here and now in St. Peter Port.

But what I cannot imagine is Charles, coming home from work and finding his mother stabbed to death, his father bleeding, and his sister Mary standing over both with a bloody knife. How did he make himself go into the room and take the knife away from her? After the police had taken her off to the madhouse, how did he persuade the Judge in Court to release her to his care and his care alone? He was only twenty-one years old then—how did he talk them into it?

He promised to take care of Mary for the rest of her life—and, once he put his foot on that road, he never stepped off it. It is sad he had to quit writing poetry, which he loved, and instead write criticism and essays, which he did not honor much, to make money.

I think of all his life, working as a clerk at the East India Company, so he could save money for the day, and it always came, when Mary would grow mad again, and he would have to place her in a private home.

And even then he did seem to miss her—they were such friends. Picture them: he had to watch her like a hawk for the awful symptoms, and she herself could tell when the madness was coming on and could do nothing to stop its coming—that must have been worst of all. I imagine him sitting there, watching her on the sly, and her sitting there, watching him watching her. How they must have hated the way the other one was forced to live.

But doesn’t it seem to you that when Mary was sane there was no one saner—or better company? Charles certainly thought so, and so did all their friends: Wordsworth, Hazlitt, Leigh Hunt, and, above all, Coleridge. On the day Coleridge died they found a note he had scribbled in the book he was reading. It said, “Charles and Mary Lamb, dear to my heart, yes, as it were, my heart.”

Perhaps I’ve written over-long about him, but I wanted you and Mr. Hastings to know how much your books have given me to think about and the pleasure I find in them.

I like the story from your childhood—the bell and the hay. I can see it in my mind. Did you like living on a farm—do you ever miss it? You are never really away from the countryside in Guernsey, not even in St. Peter Port, so I cannot imagine the difference living in a big city like London would make.

Kit has taken against mongooses, now she knows they eat snakes. She is hoping to find a boa constrictor under a rock. Isola stopped by this evening and said to tell you hello—she will write to you as soon as she gets her crops in—rosemary, dill, thyme, and henbane.

Yours,
Dawsey Adams

From Juliet to Dawsey

18th April, 1946

Dear Dawsey,

I am so glad you want to talk about Charles Lamb on paper. I have always thought Mary’s sorrow made Charles into a great writer—even if he had to give up poetry and clerk for the East India Company because of it. He had a genius for sympathy that not one of his great friends could touch. When Wordsworth chided him for not caring enough about nature, Charles wrote, “I have no passion for groves and valleys. The rooms where I was born, the furniture which has been before my eyes all my life, a book case which has followed me about like a faithful dog wherever I have moved—old chairs, old streets, squares where I have sunned myself, my old school—have I not enough, without your Mountains? I do not envy you. I should pity you, did I not know, that the Mind will make friends of any thing.” A Mind that can make friends of any thing—I thought of that often during the war.

By chance, I came upon another story about him today. He often drank too much, far too much, but he was not a sullen drunk. Once, his host’s butler had to carry him home, slung over his shoulder in a fireman’s hold. The next day Charles wrote his host such a hilarious note of apology, the man bequeathed it to his son in his will. I hope Charles wrote the butler too.

Have you ever noticed that when your mind is awakened or drawn to someone new, that person’s name suddenly pops up everywhere you go? My friend Sophie calls it coincidence, and Mr. Simpless, my parson friend, calls it Grace. He thinks that if one cares deeply about someone or something new one throws a kind of energy out into the world, and “fruitfulness” is drawn in.

Yours ever,
Juliet

From Isola to Juliet

18th April, 1946

Dear Juliet,

Now that we are corresponding friends, I want to ask you some questions—they are highly personal. Dawsey said it would not be polite, but I say that’s a difference twixt men and women, not polite and rude. Dawsey’s never asked me a personal question in fifteen years. I’d take it kindly if he would, but Dawsey’s got quiet ways. I don’t expect to change him, nor myself either. I see it that you cared to know about us, so I guess you would like us to know about you—only you just didn’t happen to think of it first.

First of all, I saw a picture of you on the dust jacket of your book about Anne Brontë, so I know you are below forty years of age—how far below? Was the sun in your eyes, or does it happen that you have a squint? Is it permanent? It must have been a windy day because your curls are blowing all about. I couldn’t quite make out the color of your hair, though I can tell it isn’t blonde—for which I am glad. I don’t like blondes very much.

Do you live by the river? I hope so, because people who live near running water are much nicer than people who don’t. I’d be mean as a scorpion if I lived inland. Do you have a serious suitor? I do not.

Is your flat cozy or grand? Be fulsome, as I want to be able to picture it in my mind. Do you think you would like to visit us on Guernsey? Do you have a pet? What kind?

Your friend, Isola

From Juliet to Isola

20th April, 1946

Dear Isola,

I am glad you want to know more about me and am only sorry I didn’t think of it myself, and sooner.

Present-day first: I am thirty-three years old, and you were right—the sun was in my eyes. In a good mood, I call my hair Chestnut with Gold Glints. In a bad mood, I call it mousy brown. It wasn’t a windy day; my hair always looks that way. Naturally curly hair is a curse, and don’t ever let anyone tell you different. My eyes are hazel. While I am slender, I am not tall enough to suit me.

I don’t live by the Thames anymore and that is what I miss the most about my old home—I loved the sight and sound of the river at all hours. I live now in a borrowed flat in Glebe Place. It is small and furnished within an inch of its life, and the flat owner won’t be back from the United States until November, so I have the run of his house until then. I wish I had a dog, but the building management does not allow pets! The Kensington Gardens aren’t so very far, so if I begin to feel cooped up I can walk to the park, rent a deck chair for a shilling, loll about under the trees, watch the passers-by and children play, and I am soothed—somewhat.

Eighty-one Oakley Street was demolished by a random V-1 just over a year ago. Most of the damage was to the row of houses behind mine, but three floors of Number 81 were sheared off, and my flat is now a pile of rubble. I hope Mr. Grant, the owner, will rebuild—for I want my flat, or a facsimile of it, back again, just as it was—with Cheyne Walk and the river outside my windows.

Luckily, I was away in Bury when the V-1 hit. Sidney Stark, my friend and now publisher, met my train that evening and took me home, and we viewed the huge mountain of rubble and what was left of the building.

With part of the wall gone, I could see my shredded curtains waving in the breeze and my desk, three-legged and slumped on the slanting floor that was left. My books were a muddy, sopping pile and although I could see my mother’s portrait on the wall—half gouged out and sooty—there was no safe way to recover it. The only intact possession left was my large crystal paper-weight—with Carpe Diem carved across its top. It had belonged to my father—and there it sat, whole and unchipped, atop a pile of broken bricks and splintered wood. I could not do without it so Sidney clambered over the rubble and retrieved it for me.

I was a fairly nice child until my parents died when I was twelve. I left our farm in Suffolk and went to live with my great-uncle in London. I was a furious, bitter, morose little girl. I ran away twice, causing my uncle no end of trouble—and at the time, I was very glad to do so. I am ashamed now when I think about how I treated him. He died when I was seventeen so I was never able to apologize.

When I was thirteen, my uncle decided I should go away to boarding school. I went, mulish as usual, and met the Headmistress, who marched me into the Dining Room. She led me to a table with four other girls. I sat; arms crossed, hands tucked under my armpits, glaring like a molting eagle, looking around for someone to hate. I hit upon Sophie Stark, Sidney’s younger sister.

Perfect, she had golden curls, big blue eyes, and a sweet, sweet smile. She made an effort to talk with me. I didn’t answer until she said, “I hope you will be happy here.” I told her I wouldn’t be staying long enough to find out. “As soon as I find out about the trains, I am gone!” said I.

That night I climbed out onto the dormitory roof, meaning to sit there and have a good brood in the dark. In a few minutes, Sophie crawled out—with a railway timetable for me.

Needless to say, I never ran away. I stayed—with Sophie as my new friend. Her mother would often invite me to their house for holidays, which was where I met Sidney. He was ten years older than me and was, of course, a god. He later changed into a bossy older brother, and later still, one of my dearest friends.

Sophie and I left school and—wanting no more of academic life, but LIFE instead—we went to London and shared rooms Sidney had found for us. We worked together for a while in a bookshop, and I wrote—and threw away—stories at night.

Then the Daily Mirror sponsored an essay contest—five hundred words on “What Women Fear Most.” I knew what the Mirror was finagling for, but I’m far more afraid of chickens than I am of men, so I wrote about that. The judges, thrilled at not having to read another word about sex, awarded me first prize. Five pounds and I was, at last, in print. The Daily Mirror received so many fan letters, they commissioned me to write an article, then another one. I soon began to write feature stories for other newspapers and magazines. Then the war broke out, and I was invited to write a semi-weekly column for the Spectator, called “Izzy Bickerstaff Goes to War.” Sophie met and fell in love with an airman, Alexander Strachan. They married and Sophie moved to his family’s farm in Scotland. I am godmother to their son, Dominic, and though I haven’t taught him any hymns, we did pull the hinges off his cellar door last time I saw him—it was a Pictish ambush.

I suppose I do have a suitor, but I’m not really used to him yet. He’s terribly charming and he plies me with delicious meals, but I sometimes think I prefer suitors in books rather than right in front of me. How awful, backward, cowardly, and mentally warped that will be if it turns out to be true.

Sidney published a book of my Izzy Bickerstaff columns and I went on a book tour. And then—I began writing letters to strangers in Guernsey, now friends, whom I would indeed like to come and see.

Yours ever,
Juliet

From Eli to Juliet

21st April, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Thank you for the blocks of wood. They are beautiful. I could not believe what I saw when I opened your box—all those sizes and shades, from pale to dark.

How did you happen to find the different kinds and shapes of wood? You must have gone to so many places to find them all. I’ll bet you did and I don’t know how to thank you for that. They came at just the right time too. Kit’s favorite animal was a snake she saw in a book, and he was easy to carve, being so long and thin. Now she’s gone on ferrets. She says she won’t ever touch my whittling knife again if I’ll carve her a ferret. I don’t think it will be too hard to make one, for they are pointy, too. Because of your gift, I have wood to practice with.

Is there an animal you would like to have? I want to carve a present for you, but I’d like it to be something you’d favor. Would you like a mouse? I am good with mice.

Yours truly,
Eli

From Eben to Juliet

22nd April, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Your box for Eli came Friday—what a kindness of you. He sits and studies the blocks of wood—as if he sees something hidden inside them, and he can make it come out with his knife.

You asked if all the Guernsey children were evacuated to England. No—some stayed, and when I missed Eli, I looked at the little ones around me and was glad he had gone. The children here had a bad time, for there was no food to grow on. I remember picking up Bill LePell’s boy—he was twelve but weighed no more than a child of seven.

It was a terrible thing to decide—send your kiddies away to live among strangers, or let them stay with you? Maybe the Germans wouldn’t come, but if they did—how would they behave to us? But, come to that, what if they invaded England, too—how would the children manage without their own families beside them?

Do you know the state we were in when the Germans came? Shock is what I’d call it. The truth is, we didn’t think they’d want us. It was England they were after, and we were of no use to them. We thought we’d be in the audience like, not up on the stage itself.

Then in the spring of 1940 Hitler got himself going through Europe like a hot knife through butter. Every place fell to him. It was so fast—windows all over Guernsey shook and rattled from the explosions in France, and once the coast of France was gone, it was plain as day that England could not use up her men and ships to defend us. They needed to save them for when their own invasion began in earnest. So we were left to ourselves.

In the middle of June, when it became pretty certain we were in for it, the States got on the telephone to London and asked if they would send ships for our children and take them to England. They could not fly, for fear of being shot down by the Luftwaffe. London said yes, but the children had to be ready at once. The ships would have to hurry here and back again while there was still time. It was such a desperate time for folks and there was such a feel of Hurry, Hurry.

Jane had no more strength than a cat then, but she knew her mind. She wanted Eli to go. Other ladies were in a dither—go or stay?—and they were wild to talk it over, but Jane told Elizabeth to keep them away. “I don’t want to hear them fuss,” she said. “It’s bad for the baby.” Jane had an idea that babies knew everything that happened around them, even before they were born.

The time for dithering was soon over. Families had one day to decide, and five years to abide with it. School-age children and babies with their mothers went first on the 19th and 20th of June. The States gave out pocket money to the kiddies, if their parents had none to spare. The littlest children were all excited about the sweets they could buy with it. Some thought it was like a Sunday School outing, and they’d be back by nightfall. They were lucky in that. The older children, like Eli, knew better.

Of all the sights I saw the day they left, there is one picture I can’t get out of my mind. Two little girls, all dressed up in pink party dresses, stiff petticoats, shiny strap shoes—like their Ma thought they’d be going to a party. How cold they must have been crossing the Channel.

All the children were to be dropped off at their school by their parents. It was there we had to say our good-byes. Buses came to take the children down to the pier. The boats that had just been to Dunkirk came back across the Channel for the children. There was no time to get a convoy together to escort them. There was no time to get enough lifeboats on board—or life jackets.

That morning we stopped first at the hospital for Eli to bid his mother good-bye. He couldn’t do it. His jaw was clamped shut so tight, he could only nod. Jane held him for a bit, and then Elizabeth and me walked him down to the schoolyard. I hugged him hard and that was the last time I saw him for five years. Elizabeth stayed because she had volunteered to help get the children inside ready.

I was walking back to Jane in the hospital, when I recalled something Eli had once said to me. He was about five years old, and we were walking down to La Courbière to see the fishing boats come in. There was an old canvas bathing shoe left lying right in the middle of the path. Eli walked around it, staring. Finally, he said, “That shoe is all alone, Grandpa.” I answered that yes it was. He looked at it some more, and then we walked on by. After a bit, he said, “Grandpa, that’s something I never am.” I asked him, “What’s that?” And he said, “Lonesome in my spirits.”

There! I had something happy to tell Jane after all, and I prayed it would stay true for him.

Isola says she wants to write you herself of the doings inside the school. She says she was witness to a scene you will want to know about as an authoress: Elizabeth smacked Adelaide Addison in the face and made her leave. You do not know Miss Addison, and you are fortunate in that—she is a woman too good for daily wear.

Isola told me you might come to visit Guernsey. I would be glad to offer you hospitality with me and Eli.

Yours,
Eben Ramsey

Telegram from Juliet to Isola


DID ELIZABETH REALLY SLAP ADELAIDE ADDISON? IF ONLY I HAD BEEN THERE! PLEASE SEND DETAILS. LOVE, JULIET




From Isola to Juliet

24th April, 1946

Dear Juliet,

Yes, she did—slapped her right across the face. It was lovely.

We were all at the St. Brioc School to help the children get ready for the buses to take them down to the ships. The States didn’t want the parents to come into the school itself—too crowded and too sad. Better to say good-byes outside. One child crying might set them all off.

So it was strangers who tied up shoelaces, wiped noses, put a nametag around each child’s neck. We did up buttons and played games with them until the buses could come.

I had one bunch of kiddies trying to touch their tongues to their noses, and Elizabeth had another bunch playing that game that teaches them how to lie with a straight face—I forget what it’s called—when Adelaide Addison came in with that doleful mug of hers, all piety and no sense.

She gathered a circle of children around her and commenced singing “For Those in Peril on the Sea” over their little heads. But no, “safety from storms” wasn’t enough for her. God had to keep them from being blown up too. She set about ordering the poor things to pray for their parents every night—who knew what the German soldiers might do to them? Then she said to be especially good little boys and girls so that Mama and Daddy could look down on them from Heaven and BE PROUD OF THEM.

I tell you, Juliet, she had those children crying and sobbing fit to die. I was too shocked to move, but not Elizabeth. No, quick as an adder’s tongue, she had ahold of Adelaide’s arm and told her to SHUT UP.

Adelaide cried, “Let me go! I am speaking the Word of God!”

Elizabeth, she got a look on her that would turn the devil to stone, and then she slapped Adelaide right across the face—nice and sharp, so her head wobbled on her shoulders—and hauled her over to the door, shoved her out, and locked it. Old Adelaide kept a-pounding on the door, but no one paid her any heed. I lie—silly Daphne Post did try to open it, but I got her round the neck and she stopped.

It is my belief that the sight of a good fight shocked the fear right out of those babies, and they stopped crying, and the buses all came and we loaded the children on. Elizabeth and me, we didn’t go home, we stood in the road and waved till the buses was out of sight.

I hope I never live to see another such day, even with Adelaide getting slapped. All those little children bereft in the world—I was glad I did not have any.

Thank you for your life story. You have had such sadness with your Ma and Pa and your home by the river, for which things I am sorry. But me, I am glad you have dear friends like Sophie and her Ma and Sidney. As to that Sidney, he sounds a very fine man—but bossy. It’s a failing common in men.

Clovis Fossey has asked if you would send the Society a copy of your prize-winning essay on chickens. He thinks it would be nice to read aloud at a meeting. Then we could put it in our archives, if we ever have any.

I’d like to read it too, chickens being the reason I fell off a hen-house roof—they’d chased me there. How they all came at me—with their razor lips and back-to-back eyeballs! People don’t know how chickens can turn on you, but they can—just like mad dogs. I didn’t keep hens until the war came—then I had to, but I am never easy in their company. I would rather have Ariel butt me on my bottom—that’s open and honest and not like a sly chicken, sneaking up to jab you.

I would like it if you would come to see us. So would Eben and Amelia and Dawsey—and Eli, too. Kit is not so sure, but you needn’t mind that. She might come round. Your newspaper article will be printed soon, so you could come here and rest up. It may be that you could find a story here you’d like to tell about.

Your friend,
Isola

From Dawsey to Juliet

26th April, 1946

Dear Juliet,

My temporary job at the quarry is over, and Kit is staying with me for a bit. She is sitting beneath the table I’m writing upon, whispering. What’s that you’re whispering, I asked, and there was a long quiet. Then she commenced whispering again, and I can make out my own name mixed into the other sounds. This is what generals call a war of nerves, and I know who is going to win.

Kit doesn’t resemble Elizabeth very much, except for her grey eyes and a look she gets when she is concentrating hard. But she is like her mother inside—fierce in her feelings. Even when she was a tiny creature, it was so. She howled until the glass shivered in the windows, and when she gripped my finger in her little fist, it turned white. I knew nothing of babies, but Elizabeth made me learn. She said I was fated to be a father and she had a responsibility to make sure I knew more than the usual run of them. She missed Christian, not just for herself, for Kit, too.

Kit knows her father is dead. Amelia and I told her that, but we didn’t know how to speak of Elizabeth. In the end, we said that she’d been sent away and we hoped she’d return soon. Kit looked from me to Amelia and back, but she didn’t ask any questions. She just went out and sat in the barn. I don’t know if we did right.

Some days I wear myself out with wishing for Elizabeth to come home. We have learned that Sir Ambrose Ivers was killed in one of the last bombing raids in London, and, as Elizabeth inherited his estate, his solicitors have begun a search for her. They must have better ways to find her than we have, so I am hopeful that Mr. Dilwyn will get some word from her—or about her—soon. Wouldn’t it be a blessed thing for Kit and for all of us if Elizabeth could be found?

The Society is having an outing on Saturday. We are attending the Guernsey Repertory Company’s showing of Julius Caesar—John Booker is to be Marc Antony and Clovis Fossey is going to play Caesar. Isola has been reading Clovis his lines, and she says we will all be astonished at his performance, especially when, after he’s dead, he hisses, “Thou shalt see me at Philippi!” Just thinking of the way Clovis hisses it has kept her awake for three nights, she says. Isola exaggerates, but only enough to enjoy herself.

Kit’s stopped whispering. I’ve just peered under the table, and she’s asleep. It’s later than I thought.

Yours ever,
Dawsey

From Mark to Juliet

April 30, 1946

Darling,

Just got in—the entire trip could have been avoided if Hendry had telephoned, but I smacked a few heads together and they’ve cleared the whole shipment through customs. I feel as though I’ve been away for years. Can I see you tonight? I need to talk to you.

Love,
M.

From Juliet to Mark

Of course. Do you want to come here? I have a sausage.

Juliet

From Mark to Juliet


A sausage—how appetizing. Suzette, at 8:00?

Love,
M.



From Juliet to Mark


Say please.

J.



From Mark to Juliet


Pleased to see you at Suzette at 8:00.

Love,
M.



From Juliet to Mark

1st May, 1946

Dear Mark,

I didn’t refuse, you know. I said I wanted to think about it. You were so busy ranting about Sidney and Guernsey that perhaps you didn’t notice—I only said I wanted time. I’ve known you two months. It’s not long enough for me to be certain that we should spend the rest of our lives together, even if you are. I once made a terrible mistake and almost married a man I hardly knew (perhaps you read about it in the papers)—and at least in that case, the war was an extenuating circumstance. I won’t be such a fool again.

Think of it: I’ve never seen your home—I don’t even know where it is, really. New York, but which street? What does it look like? What color are your walls? Your sofa? Do you arrange your books alphabetically? (I hope not.) Are your drawers tidy or messy? Do you ever hum, and if so, what? Do you prefer cats or dogs? Or fish? What on earth do you eat for breakfast—or do you have a cook?

You see? I don’t know you well enough to marry you.

I have one other piece of news that may interest you: Sidney is not your rival. I am not now nor have I ever been in love with Sidney, nor he with me. Nor will I ever marry him. Is that decisive enough for you?

Are you absolutely certain you wouldn’t rather be married to someone more tractable than I?

Juliet

From Juliet to Sophie

1st May, 1946

Dearest Sophie,

I wish you were here. I wish we still lived together in our lovely little studio and worked in dear Mr. Hawke’s shop and ate crackers and cheese for supper every night. I want so much to talk to you. I want you to tell me whether I should marry Mark Reynolds.

He asked me last night—no bended knee, but a diamond as big as a pigeon egg—at a romantic French restaurant. I’m not certain he still wants to marry me this morning—he’s absolutely furious because I didn’t give him an unequivocal yes. I tried to explain that I hadn’t known him long enough and I needed time to think, but he wouldn’t listen to me. He was certain that I was rejecting him because of a secret passion—for Sidney! They really are obsessed with one another, those two.

Thank God we were at his flat by then—he began shouting about Sidney and godforsaken islands and women who care more about a passel of strangers than men who are right in front of them (that’s Guernsey and my new friends there). I kept trying to explain and he kept shouting until I began to cry from frustration. Then he felt remorseful, which was so unlike him and endearing that I almost changed my mind and said yes. But then I imagined a lifetime of having to cry to get him to be kind, and I went back to no again. We argued and he lectured and I wept a bit more because I was so exhausted, and eventually he called his chauffeur to take me home. As he shut me into the back seat, he leaned in to kiss me and said, “You’re an idiot, Juliet.”

And maybe he’s right. Do you recall those awful, awful Cheslayne Fair novels we read the summer we were thirteen? My favorite was The Master of Blackheath. I must have read it twenty times (and so did you, don’t pretend you didn’t). Do you remember Ransom—how he manfully hid his love for the girlish Eulalie so that she could choose freely, little knowing that she had been mad for him ever since she fell off her horse when she was twelve? Here’s the thing, Sophie—Mark Reynolds is exactly like Ransom. He’s tall and handsome, with a crooked smile and a chiseled jaw. He shoulders his way through the crowd, careless of the glances that follow him. He’s impatient and magnetic, and when I go to powder my nose, I overhear other women talking about him, just like Eulalie did in the museum. People notice him. He doesn’t try to make them—they can’t help it.

I used to get shivers about Ransom. Sometimes I do about Mark, too—when I look at him—but I can’t get over the nagging feeling that I’m no Eulalie. If I were ever to fall off a horse, it would be lovely to be picked up by Mark, but I don’t think I’m likely to fall off a horse any time soon. I’m much more likely to go to Guernsey and write a book about the Occupation, and Mark can’t abide the thought. He wants me to stay in London and go to restaurants and theaters and marry him like a reasonable person.

Write and tell me what to do.


Love to Dominic—and you and Alexander as well. Juliet



From Juliet to Sidney

3rd May, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I may not be as distraught as Stephens & Stark is without you, but I do miss you and want you to advise me. Please drop everything you are doing and write to me at once.

I want to get out of London. I want to go to Guernsey. You know I’ve grown very fond of my Guernsey friends, and I’m fascinated by their lives under the Germans—and afterward. I’ve visited the Channel Islands Refugee Committee and read their files. I have read the Red Cross reports. I’ve read all I can find on Todt slave workers—there hasn’t, so far, been much. I’ve interviewed some of the soldiers who liberated Guernsey and talked to Royal Engineers who removed the thousands of mines from their beaches. I’ve read all of the “unclassified” government reports on the state of the Islanders’ health, or lack of it; their happiness, or lack of it; their food supplies, or lack of them. But I want to know more. I want to know the stories of the people who were there, and I can never learn those by sitting in a library in London.

For example—yesterday I was reading an article on the liberation. A reporter asked a Guernsey Islander, “What was the most difficult experience you had during the Germans’ rule?” He made fun of the man’s answer, but it made perfect sense to me. The Islander told him, “You know they took away all of our wireless sets? If you were caught having a hidden radio, you’d get sent off to prison on the continent. Well, those of us who had secret radios, we heard about the Allies landing in Normandy. Trouble was, we weren’t supposed to know it had happened! Hardest thing I ever did was walk around St. Peter Port on June 7, not grinning, not smiling, not doing anything to let those Germans know that I KNEW their end was coming. If they’d caught on, someone would be in for it—so we had to pretend. It was very hard to pretend not to know D-Day had happened.”

I want to talk to people like him (though he’s probably off writers now) and hear about their war, for that’s what I’d like to read, instead of statistics about grain. I’m not sure what form a book would take, or if I could even write one at all. But I would like to go to St. Peter Port and find out.

Do I have your blessing?

Love to you and Piers,
Juliet

Cable from Sidney to Juliet

11th May, 1946


HEREWITH MY BLESSING! GUERNSEY IS A WONDERFUL IDEA, BOTH FOR YOU AND FOR A BOOK. BUT WILL REYNOLDS ALLOW IT? LOVE, SIDNEY



Cable from Juliet to Sidney

11th May, 1946


BLESSING RECEIVED. MARK REYNOLDS IS NOT IN A POSITION TO FORBID OR ALLOW. LOVE, JULIET



From Amelia to Juliet

13th May, 1946

My dear,

It was a delight to receive your telegram yesterday and learn that you are coming to visit us!

I followed your instructions and spread the news at once—you have sent the Society into a whirlwind of excitement. The members instantly offered to provide you with anything you might need: bed, board, introductions, a supply of electric clothes-pins. Isola is over the moon that you are coming and is already at work on behalf of your book. Though I cautioned her that it was only an idea as yet, she is bound and determined to find material for you. She has asked (perhaps threatened) everyone she knows in the market to send you letters about the Occupation; she thinks you’ll need them to persuade your publisher that the subject is book-worthy. Don’t be surprised if you are inundated with mail in the next weeks.

Isola also went to see Mr. Dilwyn at the bank this afternoon and asked him to offer you the rental of Elizabeth’s cottage for your visit. It is a lovely site, in a meadow below the Big House, and it is small enough for you to manage easily. Elizabeth moved there when the German officers confiscated the larger house for their use. You would be very comfortable there, and Isola assured Mr. Dilwyn that he need only stir himself to draw up a lease for you. She herself will tend to everything else: airing out rooms, washing windows, beating rugs, and killing spiders.

I hope you won’t feel burdened by all these arrangements, as Mr. Dilwyn had planned to assess the property soon for its rental possibilities. Sir Ambrose’s solicitors have begun an inquiry into Elizabeth’s whereabouts. They have found there is no record of her arrival in Germany, only that she was put on a transport in France, with Frankfurt as the intended destination of the train. There will be further investigations, and I pray that they will lead to Elizabeth, but in the meantime, Mr. Dilwyn wants to rent the property left to Elizabeth by Sir Ambrose, to provide income for Kit.

I sometimes think that we are morally obliged to begin a search for Kit’s German relations, but I cannot bring myself to do it. Christian was a rare soul, and he detested what his country was doing, but the same cannot be true for many Germans, who believed in the dream of the Thousand-Year Reich. And how could we send our Kit away to a foreign—and destroyed—land, even if her relations could be found? We are the only family she’s ever known.

When Kit was born, Elizabeth kept her paternity a secret from the authorities. Not out of shame, but because she was afraid that the baby would be taken from her and sent to Germany to be raised. There were dreadful rumors of such things. I wonder if Kit’s heritage could have saved Elizabeth if she had made it known when she was arrested. But as she didn’t, it is not my place to do so.

Excuse my unburdening myself. My worries travel about my head on their well-worn path, and it is a relief to put them on paper. I will turn to more cheerful subjects—such as last evening’s meeting of the Society.

After the uproar about your visit had subsided, the Society read your article about books and reading in the Times. Everyone enjoyed it—not just because we were reading about ourselves, but because you brought us views we’d never thought to apply to our reading before. Dr. Stubbins pronounced that you alone had transformed “distraction” into an honorable word—instead of a character flaw. The article was delightful, and we were all so proud and pleased to be mentioned in it.

Will Thisbee wants to have a welcome party in your honor. He will bake a Potato Peel Pie for the event and has devised a cocoa icing for it. He made a surprise dessert for our meeting last night—Cherries Flambé, which fortunately burned down to the pan, so we did not have to eat it. I wish Will would leave cookery alone and go back to ironmongery.

We all look forward to welcoming you. You mentioned that you have to finish several reviews before you can leave London—but we will be delighted to see you whenever you come. Just let us know the date and time of your arrival. Certainly, an aeroplane flight to Guernsey would be faster and more comfortable than the mail boat (Clovis Fossey said to tell you that air hostesses give gin to passengers—and the mail boat doesn’t). But unless you are bedeviled by sea-sickness, I would catch the afternoon boat from Weymouth. There is no more beautiful approach to Guernsey than the one by sea—either with the sun going down, or with gold-tipped, black storm clouds, or the Island just emerging through the mist. This is the way I first saw Guernsey, as a new bride.

Fondly,
Amelia

From Isola to Juliet

14th May, 1946

Dear Juliet,

I have been getting your house all ready for you. I asked several of my friends at Market to write to you of their experiences, so I hope they do. If Mr. Tatum writes and asks for money for his recollections, don’t pay him a penny. He is a big fat liar.

Would you like to know of my first sight of the Germans? I will use adjectives to make it more lively. I don’t usually—I favor stark facts.

Guernsey seemed quiet that Tuesday—but we knew they were there! Planes and ships carrying soldiers had come in the day before. Huge Junkers thumped down, and after unloading all their men, they flew off again. Being lighter now and more frolicsome, they hedgehopped, swooping up and swooping down, all over Guernsey, scaring the cows in the fields.

Elizabeth was at my house, but we couldn’t summon up the spirit to make hair tonic, even though my yarrow was in. We just drifted around like a couple of ghouls. Then Elizabeth gathered herself up. “Come on,” she says. “I’m not going to sit inside waiting for them. I’m going to town to seek out my enemy.”

“And what are you going to do after you’ve found him?” I asks, sort of snappish.

“I’m going to look at him,” she says. “We’re not animals in a cage—they are. They’re stuck on this island with us, same as we’re stuck with them. Come on, let’s go stare.”

I liked that idea, so we put on our hats and went. But you would never believe the sights we saw in St. Peter Port.

Oh, there were hundreds of German soldiers—and they were SHOPPING! Arm in arm they went strolling along Fountain Street—smiling, laughing, peering into store windows, going in shops and coming out with their arms filled with packages, calling out to one another. North Esplanade was filled with soldiers too. Some were just lolling about, others touched their caps to us and bowed, polite-like. One man said to me, “Your island is beautiful. We will be fighting in London soon, but now we have this—a holiday in the sun.”

Another poor idiot actually thought he was in Brighton. They were buying ice lollies for the streams of children following them. Laughing and having a fine time they were. If it weren’t for those green uniforms, we’d have thought the tour boat from Weymouth was in!

We started to go by Candie Gardens, and there everything changed—carnival to nightmare. First, we heard noise—the loud steady rhythm of boots coming down heavy on hard stones. Then a troop of goose-stepping soldiers turned onto our street; everything about them gleamed; buttons, boots, those metal coal-scuttle hats. Their eyes didn’t look at anyone or anything—just stared straight ahead. That was scarier than the rifles slung over their shoulders, or the knives and grenades stuck in their boot-tops.

Mr. Ferre, who’d been in back of us, grabbed my arm. He’d fought on the Somme. Tears were running down his face, and not knowing it, he was twisting my arm, wringing it, saying, “How can they be doing this again? We beat them and here they are again. How did we let them do this again?”

Finally, Elizabeth said, “I’ve seen enough. I need a drink.”

I keep a good supply of gin in my cupboard, so we came on home.

I will close now, but I will be able to see you soon and that gives me joy. We all want to come meet you—but a new fear has struck me. There could be twenty other passengers on the mail boat, and how will I know which one is you? That book photo is a blurry little thing, and I don’t want to go kissing the wrong woman. Could you wear a big red hat with a veil and carry lilies?

Your friend,
Isola

From An Animal Lover to Juliet

Wednesday evening

Dear Miss,

I too am a member of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society—but I never wrote to you about my books, because I only read two—kiddies’ tales about dogs, loyal, brave, and true. Isola says you are coming to maybe write about the Occupation, and I think you should know the truth of what our States did to animals! Our own government, mind, not the dirty Germans! They would be ashamed to tell of it, but I am not.

I don’t much care for people—never have, never will. I got my reasons. I never met a man half so true as a dog. Treat a dog right and he’ll treat you right—he’ll keep you company, be your friend, never ask you no questions. Cats is different, but I never held that against them.

You should know what some Guernsey folks did to their pets when they got scared the Germans was coming. Thousands of them quit the island—flew off to England, sailed away, and left their dogs and cats behind. Deserted them, left them to roam the streets, hungry and thirsty—the swine!

I took in as many dogs as I could gather up, but it wasn’t enough. Then the States stepped in to take care of the problem—and did worse, far worse. The States warned in the newspapers that, because of the war, there might not be enough food for humans, much less for animals. “You may keep one family pet,” they said, “but the States will have to put the rest to sleep. Feral cats and dogs, roaming the island, will be a danger to the children.”

And that is what they did. The States gathered them animals into trucks, and took them to St. Andrews Animal Shelter, and those nurses and doctors put them all to sleep. As fast as they could kill one truck load of pets, another truck load would arrive.

I saw it all—the collecting, the unloading at the shelter, and the burying.

I saw one nurse come out of the shelter and stand in the fresh air, gulping it down. She looked sick enough to die herself. She had herself a cigarette and then she went back on in to help with the killing. It took two days to kill all the animals.

That’s all I want to say, but put it in your book.

An Animal Lover

From Sally Ann Frobisher to Juliet

15th May, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Miss Pribby told me you would be coming to Guernsey to hear about the war. I hope we will meet then, but I am writing now because I like to write letters. I like to write anything, really.

I thought you’d like to know how I was personally humiliated during the war—in 1943, when I was twelve. I had scabies.

There wasn’t enough soap on Guernsey to keep clean—not our clothes, our houses, or ourselves. Everyone had skin diseases of one sort or another—scales or pustules or lice. I myself had scabies on top of my head—under my hair—and they wouldn’t go away.

Finally, Dr. Ormond said I must go to Town Hospital and have my head shaved, and cut the tops of the scabs off to let the pus out. I hope you will never know the shame of a seeping scalp. I wanted to die.

That is where I met my friend Elizabeth McKenna. She helped the nurses on my floor. The nurses were always kind, but Miss McKenna was kind and funny. Her being funny helped me in my darkest hour. When my head had been shaved, she came into my room with a basin, a bottle of Dettol, and a sharp scalpel.

I said, “This isn’t going to hurt, is it? Dr. Ormond said it wouldn’t hurt.” I tried not to cry.

“He lied,” Miss McKenna said, “it’s going to hurt like hell. Don’t tell your mother I said ‘hell.’ ”

I started to giggle at that, and she made the first slice before I had time to be afraid. It did hurt, but not like hell. We played a game while she cut the rest of the tops off—we shouted out the names of every woman who had ever suffered under the blade. “Mary, Queen of Scots—Snip-snap!” “Anne Boleyn—Whap!” “Marie Antoinette—Thunk!” And we were done.

It hurt, but it was fun too because Miss McKenna had turned it into a game.

She swabbed my bald head with Dettol and came in to visit me that evening—with a silk scarf of her own to wrap round my head as a turban. “There,” she said, and handed me a mirror. I looked in it—the scarf was lovely, but my nose looked too big for my face, just as it always did. I wondered if I’d ever be pretty, and asked Miss McKenna.

When I asked my mother the same question, she said she had no patience with such nonsense and beauty was only skin-deep. But not Miss McKenna. She looked at me, considering, and then she said, “In a little more time, Sally, you’re going to be a stunner. Keep looking in the mirror and you’ll see. It’s bones that count, and you’ve got them in spades. With that elegant nose of yours, you’ll be the new Nefertiti. You’d better practice looking imperious.”

Mrs. Maugery came to visit me in hospital and I asked her who Nefertiti was, and if she was dead. It sort of sounded like it. Mrs. Maugery said she was indeed dead in one way, but immortal in another way. Later on, she hunted up a picture of Nefertiti for me to see. I wasn’t exactly sure what imperious was, so I tried to look like her. As yet, I haven’t grown into my nose, but I’m sure it will come—Miss McKenna said so.

Another sad story about the Occupation is my Aunt Letty. She used to have a big, gloomy old house out on the cliffs near La Fontenelle. The Germans said it lay in their big guns’ line of fire and interfered with their gun practice. So they blew it up. Aunt Letty lives with us now.

Yours sincerely,
Sally Ann Frobisher

From Micah Daniels to Juliet

15th May, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Isola gave me your address because she is sure you would like to see my list for your book.

If you was to take me to Paris today, and set me down in a fine French restaurant—the kind of place what has white lace tablecloths, candles on the walls, and silver covers over all the plates—well, I tell you it would be nothing, nothing compared to my Vega box.

In case you don’t know of it, the Vega was a Red Cross ship that come first to Guernsey on 27 December, 1944. They brought food to us then, and five more times—and it kept us alive until the end of the war.

Yes, I do say it—kept us alive! Food had not been so plentiful for several years by then. Except for the devils in the Black Market, not a spoonful of sugar was left on the Island. All the flour for bread had run out about the first of December of ’44. Them German soldiers was as hungry as we was—with bloated bellies and no body warmth from food.

Well, I was tired to death of boiled potatoes and turnips, and I would have soon turned up my toes and died, when the Vega came into our port.

Mr. Churchill, he wouldn’t let the Red Cross ships bring us any food before then because he said the Germans would just take it, and eat it up themselves. Now that may sound like smart planning to you—to starve the villains out! But to me it said he just didn’t care if we starved along with them.

Well, something shoved his soul up a notch or two, and he decided we could eat. So in December, he says to the Red Cross, “Oh, all right, go ahead and feed them.”

Miss Ashton, there were TWO BOXES of food for every man, woman, and child on Guernsey—all stored up in the Vega’s hold. There was other stuff too: nails, seed for planting, candles, oil to cook with, matches to light a fire, some clothing, and some shoes. Even a few layettes for any new babies around.

There was flour and tobacco—Moses can talk about manna all he wants, but he never seen anything like this! I am going to tell you everything in my box, because I wrote it all down to paste in my memory book.




	Six ounces of chocolate
	Twenty ounces of biscuits



	Four ounces of tea
	Twenty ounces of butter



	Six ounces of sugar
	Thirteen ounces of Spam



	Two ounces of tinned milk
	Eight ounces of raisins



	Fifteen ounces of marmalade
	Ten ounces of salmon



	Five ounces of sardines
	Four ounces of cheese



	Six ounces of prunes
	One ounce of pepper



	One ounce of salt
	A tablet of soap






I gave my prunes away—but wasn’t that something? When I die I am going to leave all my money to the Red Cross. I have written to tell them so.

There is something else I should say to you. It may be about those Germans, but honor due is honor due. They unloaded all those boxes of food for us from the Vega, and they didn’t take none, not one box of it, for themselves. Of course, their Commandant had told them, “That food is for the Islanders, it is not yours. Steal one bit and I’ll have you shot.” Then he gave each man unloading the ship a teaspoon, so’s he could scrape up any flour or grain that spilled on the roadway. They could eat that.

In fact, they were a pitiful sight—those soldiers. Stealing from gardens, knocking on doors asking for scraps. One day I saw a soldier catch up a cat, and slam its head against a wall. Then he cut it off, and hid the cat in his jacket. I followed him—till he come to a field. That German skinned that cat and boiled him up in his billy can, and ate it right there.

That was truly, truly a sorrowful sight to see. It made me sick, but underneath my sick, I thought, “There goes Hitler’s Third Reich—dining out,” and then I started laughing, fit to die. I am ashamed of that now, but that is what I did.

That is all I have to say. I wish you well with your book writing.

Yours truly,
Micah Daniels

From John Booker to Juliet

16th May, 1946

Dear Miss Ashton,

Amelia told us you are coming to Guernsey to gather stories for your book. I will welcome you with all my heart, but I won’t be able to tell you about what happened to me because I get the shakes when I talk about it. Maybe if I write it down, you won’t need me to say it out loud. It isn’t about Guernsey anyway—I wasn’t here. I was in Neuengamme Concentration Camp in Germany.

You know how I pretended I was Lord Tobias for three years? Peter Jenkins’s daughter, Lisa, was dating German soldiers. Any German soldier, so long as he would give her stockings or lipsticks. This was so until she took up with Sgt. Willy Gurtz. He was a mean little runt. The two of them together benasties the mind. It was Lisa who betrayed me to the German Commandant.

In March of 1944, Lisa was having her hair done in an upsweep at the beauty parlor, where she found an old, pre-war copy of Tatler magazine. There, on page 124, was a colored picture of Lord and Lady Tobias Penn-Piers. They were at a wedding in Sussex—drinking champagne and eating oysters. The words under the picture told all about her gown, her diamonds, her shoes, her face, and his money. The magazine mentioned that they were owners of an estate, called La Fort, on the island of Guernsey.

Well, it was pretty plain—even to Lisa, who’s thick as a post—that Lord Tobias Penn-Piers was not me. She did not wait for her hair to be combed out, but left at once to show the picture to Willy Gurtz, who took it straight to the Commandant.

It made the Germans feel like fools, bowing and scraping all that time to a servant—so they were extra spiteful and sent me to the camp at Neuengamme.

I did not think I would live out the first week. With other prisoners, I was sent out to clear unexploded bombs during air raids. What a choice—to run into a square with the bombs raining down or to be killed by the guards for refusing. I ran and scuttled like a rat and tried to cover myself when I heard bombs whistle past my head and somehow I was alive at the end of it. That’s what I told myself—Well, you’re still alive. I think all of us said the same each morning when we woke up—Well, I’m still alive. But the truth is, we weren’t. What we were—it wasn’t dead, but it wasn’t alive either. I was a living soul only a few minutes a day, when I was in my bunk. Those times, I tried to think of something happy, something I’d liked—but not something I loved, for that made it worse. Just a small thing, like a school picnic or bicycling downhill—that’s all I could stand.

It felt like thirty years, but it was only one. In April of ’45, the Commandant at Neuengamme picked out those of us who were still fit enough to work and sent us to Belsen. We rode for several days in a big, open truck—no food, no blankets, no water, but we were glad we weren’t walking. The mud-puddles in the road were red.

I imagine you already know of Belsen and what happened there. When we got off the truck, we were handed shovels. We were to dig great pits to bury the dead. They led us through the camp to the spot, and I feared I’d lost my mind because everyone I saw was dead. Even the living looked like corpses, and the corpses were lying where they’d dropped. I didn’t know why they were bothering to bury them. The fact was, the Russians were coming from the east, and the Allies were coming from the west—and those Germans were terrified of what they’d see when they got there.

The crematorium could not burn the bodies fast enough—so after we dug long trenches, we pulled and dragged the bodies to the edges and threw them in. You’ll not believe it, but the SS forced the prisoners’ band to play music as we lugged the corpses—and for that, I hope they burn in hell with polkas blaring. When the trenches were full, the SS poured petrol over the bodies and set fire to them. Afterwards, we were supposed to cover them with dirt—as if you could hide such a thing.

The British got there the next day, and dear God, but we were glad to see them. I was strong enough to walk down the road, so I saw the tanks crash down the gates and I saw the British flag painted on their sides. I turned to a man sitting against a fence nearby and called out “We’re saved! It’s the British!” Then I saw he was dead. He had only missed it by minutes. I sat down in the mud and sobbed as though he’d been my best friend.

When the Tommies came down out of the tanks, they were weeping, too—even the officers. Those good men fed us, gave us blankets, saw us to hospitals. And bless them, they burned Belsen to the ground a month later.

I read in the newspaper that they’ve put up a war refugee camp in its place now. It gives me the shivers to think of new barracks being built there, even for a good purpose. To my mind, that land should be a blank forever.

I’ll write no more of this, and I hope you’ll understand if I do not care to speak of it. As Seneca says, “Light griefs are loquacious, but the great are dumb.”

I do recall something you might like to know for your book. It happened in Guernsey, when I was still pretending to be Lord Tobias. Sometimes of an evening Elizabeth and I would walk up to the headlands to watch the bombers flying over—hundreds of them, on their way to bomb London. It was terrible to watch and know where they were headed and what they meant to do. The German radio had told us London was leveled—flattened, with nothing left but rubble and ashes. We didn’t quite believe them, German propaganda being what it was, but still—

We were walking through St. Peter Port on one such night when we passed the McLaren House. That was a fine old house taken over by German officers. A window was open and the wireless was playing a beautiful piece of music. We stopped to listen, thinking it must be a program from Berlin. But, when the music ended, we heard Big Ben strike and a British voice said, “This is the BBC—London.” You can never mistake Big Ben’s sound! London was still there! Still there. Elizabeth and I hugged, and we started waltzing up the road. That was one of the times I could not think about while I was in Neuengamme.

Yours sincerely,
John Booker

From Dawsey to Juliet

16th May, 1946

Dear Juliet,

There’s nothing left to do for your arrival except wait. Isola has washed, starched, and ironed Elizabeth’s curtains, looked up the chimney for bats, cleaned the windows, made up the beds, and aired all the rooms.

Eli has carved a present for you, Eben has filled your woodshed, and Clovis has scythed your meadow—leaving, he says, the clumps of wildflowers for you to enjoy. Amelia is planning a supper party for you on your first evening.

My only job is to keep Isola alive until you get here. Heights make her giddy, but nevertheless she climbed to the roof of Elizabeth’s cottage to stomp for loose tiles. Fortunately, Kit saw her before she reached the eaves and ran for me to come talk her down.

I wish I could do more for your welcome—I hope it may be soon. I am happy you are coming.

Yours,
Dawsey

Juliet to Dawsey

19th May, 1946

Dear Dawsey,

I’ll be there the day after tomorrow! I am far too cowardly to fly, even with the inducement of gin, so I shall come by the evening mail boat.

Would you give Isola a message for me? Please tell her that I don’t own a hat with a veil, and I can’t carry lilies—they make me sneeze—but I do have a red wool cape and I’ll wear that on the boat.

Dawsey, there isn’t one thing you could do to make me feel more welcome in Guernsey than you already have. I’m having trouble believing that I am going to meet you all at last.

Yours ever,
Juliet

From Mark to Juliet

May 20, 1946

Dear Juliet,

You asked me to give you time, and I have. You asked me not to mention marriage, and I haven’t. But now you tell me that you’re off to bloody Guernsey for—what? A week? A month? Forever? Do you think I’m going to sit back and let you go?

You’re being ridiculous, Juliet. Any half-wit can see that you’re trying to run away, but what nobody can understand is why. We’re right together—you make me happy, you never bore me, you’re interested in the things I’m interested in, and I hope I’m not deluded when I say I think the same is true for you. We belong together. I know you loathe it when I tell you I know what’s best for you, but in this case, I do.

For God’s sake, forget about that miserable island and marry me. I’ll take you there on our honeymoon—if I must.

Love,
Mark

From Juliet to Mark

20th May, 1946

Dear Mark,

You’re probably right, but even so, I’m going to Guernsey tomorrow and you can’t stop me.

I’m sorry I can’t give you the answer you want. I would like to be able to.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. Thank you for the roses.

From Mark to Juliet

Oh for God’s sake. Do you want me to drive you down to Weymouth?

Mark

From Juliet to Mark


Will you promise not to lecture me?

Juliet



From Mark to Juliet

No lectures. However, all other forms of persuasion will be employed.

Mark

From Juliet to Mark

Can’t scare me. What can you possibly do while driving?

Juliet

From Mark to Juliet


You’d be surprised. See you tomorrow.

M.
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From Juliet to Sidney

22nd May, 1946

Dear Sidney,

There’s so much to tell you. I’ve been in Guernsey only twenty hours, but each one has been so full of new faces and ideas that I’ve reams to write. You see how conducive to working island life is? Look at Victor Hugo—I may grow prolific if I stay here for any length of time.

The voyage from Weymouth was ghastly, with the mail boat groaning and creaking and threatening to break to pieces in the waves. I almost wished it would, to put me out of my misery, except I wanted to see Guernsey before I died. And as soon as we came in sight of the island, I gave up the notion altogether because the sun broke beneath the clouds and set the cliffs shimmering into silver.

As the mail boat lurched into the harbor, I saw St. Peter Port rising up from the sea on terraces, with a church on the top like a cake decoration, and I realized that my heart was galloping. As much as I tried to persuade myself it was the thrill of the scenery, I knew better. All those people I’ve come to know and even love a little, waiting to see—me. And I, without any paper to hide behind. Sidney, in these past two or three years, I have become better at writing than living—and think what you do to my writing. On the page, I’m perfectly charming, but that’s just a trick I learned. It has nothing to do with me. At least, that’s what I was thinking as the mail boat came toward the pier. I had a cowardly impulse to throw my red cape overboard and pretend I was someone else.

When we drew right alongside the pier, I could see the faces of the people waiting—and then there was no going back. I knew them by their letters. There was Isola in a mad hat and a purple shawl pinned with a glittering brooch. She was smiling fixedly in the wrong direction and I loved her instantly. Next to her stood a man with a lined face, and at his side, a boy, all height and angles. Eben and his grandson, Eli. I waved to Eli and he smiled like a beam of light and nudged his grandfather—and then I got shy and lost myself in the crowd that was pushing down the gangplank.

Isola reached me first by leaping over a crate of lobsters and grabbed me up in a fierce hug that swung me off my feet. “Ah, lovey!” she cried while I dangled.

Wasn’t that dear? All my nervousness was squeezed right out of me along with my breath. The others came toward me more quietly, but with no less warmth. Eben shook my hand and smiled. You can tell he was broad and hardy once, but he is too thin now. He somehow looks both grave and friendly at the same time. How does he manage to do that? I found myself wanting to impress him.

Eli swung Kit up on his shoulders, and they came forward together. Kit has chubby little legs and a stern face—dark curls, big grey eyes—and she did not take to me one bit. Eli’s jersey was speckled in wood shavings, and he had a present for me in his pocket—an adorable little mouse with crooked whiskers, carved from walnut. I gave him a kiss on the cheek and survived Kit’s malevolent glare. She has a very forbidding way about her for a four-year-old.

Then Dawsey held out his hands. I had been expecting him to look like Charles Lamb, and he does, a little—he has the same even gaze. He presented me with a bouquet of carnations from Booker, who couldn’t be present; he had concussed himself during a rehearsal and was in hospital overnight for observation. Dawsey is dark and wiry, and his face has a quiet, watchful look about it—until he smiles. Saving a certain sister of yours, he has the sweetest smile I’ve ever seen, and I remembered Amelia writing that he has a rare gift for persuasion—I can believe it. Like Eben—like everyone here—he is too thin, though you can tell he was more substantial once. His hair is going grey, and he has deep-set brown eyes, so dark they look black. The lines around his eyes make him seem to be starting a smile even when he’s not, but I don’t think he’s over forty. He is only a little taller than I am and limps slightly, but he’s strong—he hefted all my luggage, me, Amelia, and Kit into his wagon with no trouble.

I shook hands with him (I can’t remember if he said anything) and then he stepped aside for Amelia. She’s one of those ladies who is more beautiful at sixty than she could possibly have been at twenty (oh, how I hope someone says that about me someday!). Small, thin-faced, lovely smile, with grey hair in coronet braids, she gripped my hand tightly and said, “Juliet, I am glad you are here at last. Let’s get your things and go home.” It sounded wonderful, as though it really were my home.

As we stood there on the pier, some glint of light kept flashing in my eyes, and then around the dock. Isola snorted and said it was Adelaide Addison, at her window with opera glasses, tracking every move we made. Isola waved vigorously at the gleam and it stopped.

While we were laughing about that, Dawsey was seeing to my bags and making sure that Kit didn’t fall off the pier and generally making himself useful. I began to see that this is what he does—and that everyone depends upon him to do it.

The four of us—Amelia, Kit, Dawsey, and I—rode to Amelia’s farm in Dawsey’s cart, while everyone else walked. It wasn’t far except in terms of landscape, for we moved from St. Peter Port out into the countryside. There are rolling pasture-lands, but they end suddenly at cliffs, and all around is the moist salt smell of the sea. As we drove, the sun set and the mist rose. You know how sounds become magnified in the fog? Well, it was like that—every bird’s chirp was weighty and symbolic. Clouds boiled up over the cliff-sides, and the fields were swathed in grey by the time we reached the manor house, but I saw ghostly shapes that I think were the cement bunkers built by the Todt workers.

Kit sat beside me in the wagon and sent me many sideways glances. I was not so foolish as to try to talk to her, but I played my severed-thumb trick—you know, the one that makes your thumb look like it has been sliced apart.

I did it over and over, casually, not looking at her, while she watched me like a baby hawk. She was intent and fascinated but not gullible enough to break into giggles. She just said at last, “Show me how you do that.”

She sat across from me at supper and turned down her spinach with a thrust-out arm, hand straight up like a policeman. “Not for me,” she said, and I, for one, would not care to disobey her. She pulled her chair close to Dawsey’s and ate with one elbow planted firmly on his arm, pinning him in his place. He didn’t appear to mind, even if it did make cutting his chicken difficult, and when supper was over, she immediately climbed into his lap. It is obviously her rightful throne, and though Dawsey seemed to be attending to the conversation, I spied him poking out a napkin-rabbit while we talked of food-shortages during the Occupation. Did you know that the Islanders ground bird-seed for flour until they ran out of it?

I must have passed some test I didn’t know I was being given, because Kit asked me to tuck her into bed. She wanted to hear a story about a ferret. She liked vermin, did I? Would I kiss a rat on the lips? I said “Never” and that apparently won her favor—I was plainly a coward, but not a hypocrite. I told her a story and she presented her cheek an infinitesimal quarter of an inch to be kissed.

What a long letter—and it only contains the first four hours of the twenty. You’ll have to wait for the other sixteen.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sophie

24th May, 1946

Dearest Sophie,

Yes, I’m here. Mark did his best to stop me, but I resisted him mulishly, right to the bitter end. I’ve always considered doggedness one of my least appealing characteristics, but it was valuable last week.

It was only as the boat pulled away, and I saw him standing on the pier, tall and scowling—and somehow wanting to marry me—that I began to think maybe he was right. Maybe I am a complete idiot. I know of three women who are mad for him—he’ll be snapped up in a trice, and I’ll spend my declining years in a grimy bed-sit, with my teeth falling out one by one. Oh, I can see it all now: No one will buy my books, and I’ll ply Sidney with tattered, illegible manuscripts, which he’ll pretend to publish out of pity. Doddering and muttering, I’ll wander the streets carrying my pathetic turnips in a string bag, with newspaper tucked into my shoes. You’ll send me affectionate cards at Christmas (won’t you?) and I’ll brag to strangers that I was once nearly engaged to Markham Reynolds, the publishing tycoon. They’ll shake their heads—The poor old thing’s crazy as a bedbug, of course, but harmless.

Oh God. This way lies insanity.

Guernsey is beautiful and my new friends have welcomed me so generously, so warmly, that I haven’t doubted I’ve done right to come here—until just a moment ago, when I started thinking about my teeth. I’m going to stop thinking about them. I’m going to step into the meadow of wildflowers right outside my door and run to the cliff as fast as I can. Then I’m going to fall down and look at the sky, which is shimmering like a pearl this afternoon, and breathe in the warm scent of grass and pretend that Markham V. Reynolds doesn’t exist.

I’ve just come back indoors. It’s hours later—the setting sun has rimmed the clouds in blazing gold and the sea is moaning at the bottom of the cliffs. Mark Reynolds? Who’s he?

Love always,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

27th May, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Elizabeth’s cottage was plainly built for an exalted guest to stay in, because it’s quite spacious. There is a big sitting room, a bathroom, a larder, and a huge kitchen downstairs. There are three bedrooms and a bath upstairs. And best of all, there are windows everywhere, so the sea air can sweep into every room.

I’ve shoved a writing table by the biggest window in my sitting room. The only flaw in this arrangement is the constant temptation to go outside and walk over to the cliff’s edge. The sea and the clouds don’t stay the same for five minutes running and I’m scared I’ll miss something if I stay inside. When I got up this morning, the sea was full of sun pennies—and now it all seems to be covered in lemon scrim. Writers ought to live far inland or next to the city dump, if they are ever to get any work done. Or perhaps they need to be stronger-minded than I am.

If I needed any encouragement to be fascinated by Elizabeth, which I don’t, her possessions would do it for me. The Germans arrived to take over Sir Ambrose’s house and gave her only six hours to remove her belongings to the cottage. Isola said Elizabeth brought only a few pots and pans, some cutlery and kitchen china (the Germans kept the good silver, crystal, china, and wine for themselves), her art supplies, an old wind-up phonograph, some records, and the rest were armloads of books. So many books, Sidney, that I haven’t had time to really look at them—they fill the living-room shelves and overflow into the kitchen hutch. She even set a stack at the end of the sofa to use for a table—wasn’t that brilliant?

In every nook, I find little things that tell me about her. She was a noticer, Sidney, like me, for all the shelves are lined with shells, bird feathers, dried sea grasses, pebbles, eggshells, and the skeleton of something that might be a bat. They’re just bits that were lying on the ground, that anyone else would step over or on, but she saw they were beautiful and brought them home. I wonder if she used them for still-lifes? I wonder if her sketch-books are here somewhere? There’s prowling to be done. Work first, but the anticipation is like Christmas Eve seven days a week.

Elizabeth also carried down one of Sir Ambrose’s paintings. It is a portrait of her, painted I imagine when she was about eight years old. She is sitting on a swing, all ready to pump up and away—but having to sit still for Sir Ambrose to paint. You can tell by her eyebrows that she doesn’t like it. Glares must be inheritable, because she and Kit have identical ones.

My cottage is right inside the gates (honest three-barred farm gates). The meadow surrounding the cottage is full of scattered wildflowers until you get to the cliff’s edge where rough grass and gorse take over.

The Big House (for want of a better name) is the one that Elizabeth came to close up for Ambrose. It is just up the drive from the cottage and is a wonderful house. Two-storied, L-shaped, and made of beautiful blue-grey stone. It’s slate-roofed with dormer windows and a terrace stretching from the crook of the L down its length. The top of the crooked end has a windowed turret and faces the sea. Most of the huge old trees had to be cut down for firewood, but Mr. Dilwyn has asked Eben and Eli to plant new trees—chestnuts and oaks. He is also going to have peach trees espaliered next to the brick garden walls—as soon as they are rebuilt too.

The house is beautifully proportioned with wide tall windows that open straight out onto the stone terrace. The lawn is growing green and lush again, covering up the wheel ruts of German cars and trucks.

Escorted at different times by Eben, Eli, Dawsey, or Isola, I have quartered the island’s ten parishes in the past five days; Guernsey is very beautiful in all its variety—fields, woods, hedgerows, dells, manors, dolmens, wild cliffs, witches’ corners, Tudor barns, and Norman cottages of stone. I have been told stories of her history (very lawless) with almost every new site and building.

Guernsey pirates had superior taste—they built beautiful homes and impressive public buildings. These are sadly dilapidated and in need of repair, but their architectural beauty shows through anyway. Dawsey took me to a tiny church—every inch of which is a mosaic of broken china and smashed pottery. One priest did this all by himself—he must have made pastoral calls with a sledgehammer.

My guides are as various as the sights. Isola tells me about cursed pirate chests bound with bleached bones washing up on the beaches and what Mr. Hallette is hiding inside his barn (he says it’s a calf, but we know better). Eben describes how things used to look, before the war, and Eli disappears suddenly and then returns with peach juice and an angelic smile on his face. Dawsey says the least, but he takes me to see wonders—like the tiny church. Then he stands back and lets me enjoy them as long as I want. He’s the most un-hurrying person I’ve ever met. As we were walking along the road yesterday, I noticed that it cut very close to the cliffs and there was a trail leading down to the beach below. “Is this where you met Christian Hellman?” I asked. Dawsey looked startled and said yes, this was the spot. “What did he look like?” I asked, for I wanted to picture the scene. I expected it was a futile request, given that men cannot describe each other, but Dawsey knew how. “He looked like the German you imagine—tall, blond hair, blue eyes—except he could feel pain.”

With Amelia and Kit, I have walked to town several times for tea. Cee Cee was right in his raptures over sailing into St. Peter Port. The harbor, with the town traipsing straight up and steeply to the sky, must be one of the most beautiful in the world. Shop windows on High Street and the Pollet are sparkling clean and are beginning to fill up with new goods. St. Peter Port may be essentially drab right now—so many buildings need refurbishing—but it does not give off the dead-tired air poor London does. It must be because of the bright light that flows down on everything and the clean, clear air and flowers growing everywhere—in fields, on verges, in crannies, between paving stones.

You really have to be Kit’s height to see this world properly. She’s grand at pointing out certain things I would otherwise miss—butterflies, spiders, flowers growing tiny and low to the ground—they’re hard to see when you are faced with a blazing wall of fuchsias and bougainvillea. Yesterday, I came upon Kit and Dawsey crouched in the brush beside the gate, quiet as thieves. They weren’t stealing, though; they were watching a blackbird tug a worm out of the ground. The worm put up a good fight, and the three of us sat there in silence until the blackbird finally got it down his gullet. I’d never really seen the entire process before. It’s revolting.

Kit carries a little box with her sometimes when we go to town—a cardboard box, tied up tight with cord and a red yarn handle. Even when we have tea, she holds it on her lap and is very protective of it. There are no air holes in the box, so it can’t be a ferret. Or, oh Lord, maybe it’s a dead ferret. I’d love to know what’s in it, but of course I can’t ask.

I do like it here, and I’m settled in well enough to start work now. I will, as soon as I come back from fishing with Eben and Eli this afternoon.

Love to you and Piers,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

30th May, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Do you remember when you sat me down for fifteen sessions of the Sidney Stark School of Perfect Mnemonics? You said writers who sat scribbling notes during an interview were rude, lazy, and incompetent and you were going to make sure I never disgraced you. You were unbearably arrogant and I loathed you, but I learned your lessons well—and now you can see the fruits of your hard work:

I went to my first meeting of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society last night. It was held in Clovis and Nancy Fossey’s living room (with spill-over into the kitchen). The speaker of the evening was a new member, Jonas Skeeter, who was to talk about The Meditations of Marcus Aurelius.

Mr. Skeeter strode to the front of the room, glared at us all, and announced he didn’t want to be there and had only read Marcus Aurelius’s silly book because his oldest, his dearest, and his former friend, Woodrow Cutter, had shamed him into it. Everyone turned to look at Woodrow, and Woodrow sat there, obviously shocked and his mouth agape.

“Woodrow,” Jonas Skeeter went on, “came across my field where I was busy, building up my compost. He was holding this little book in his hands and he said he’d just finished reading it. He’d like me to read it too, he said—it was very profound.

“ ‘Woodrow, I’ve got no time to be profound,’ I said.

“He said, ‘You should make time, Jonas. If you’d read it, we’d have better things to talk about at Crazy Ida’s. We’d have more fun over a pint.’

“Now, that hurt my feelings, no good saying it didn’t. My childhood friend had been holding himself above me for some time—all because he read books for you people and I didn’t. I’d let it pass before—to each his own, as my Mum always said. But now he had gone too far. He had insulted me. He put himself above me in conversation.

“ ‘Jonas,’ he said, ‘Marcus was a Roman emperor—and a mighty warrior. This book is what he thought about, down there among the Quadi. They were barbarians who was waiting in the woods to kill all the Romans. And Marcus, hard-pressed as he was by those Quades, he took the time to write up this little book of his thoughts. He had long, long thoughts, and we could use some of those, Jonas.’

“So I pushed down my hurt and took the damned book, but I came here tonight to say before all, Shame, Woodrow! Shame on you, to put a book above your boyhood friend!

“But I did read it and here is what I think. Marcus Aurelius was an old woman—forever taking his mind’s temperature—forever wondering about what he had done, or what he had not done. Was he right—or was he wrong? Was the rest of the world in error? Could it be him instead? No, it was everybody else who was wrong, and he set matters straight for them. Broody hen that he was, he never had a tiny thought that he couldn’t turn into a sermon. Why, I bet the man couldn’t even take a piss—”

Someone gasped, “Piss! He said piss in front of ladies!”

“Make him apologize!” cried another.

“He doesn’t have to apologize. He’s supposed to say what he thinks, and that’s what he thinks. Like it or not!”

“Woodrow, how could you so hurt your friend?”

“For shame, Woodrow!”

The room fell quiet when Woodrow stood up. The two men met in the middle of the floor. Jonas held out his hand to Woodrow, and Woodrow clapped Jonas on the back, and the two of them left, arm in arm, for Crazy Ida’s. I hope that’s a pub and not a woman.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. Dawsey was the only Society member who seemed to find last night’s meeting at all funny. He’s too polite to laugh out loud, but I saw his shoulders shaking. I gathered from the others that it had been a satisfying but by no means extraordinary evening.

Love again,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

31st May, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Please read the enclosed letter—I found it slipped under my door this morning.


Dear Miss Ashton,

Miss Pribby told me you wanted to know about our recent Occupation by the German Army—so here is my letter.

I am a small man, and though Mother says I never had a prime, I did. I just didn’t tell her about it. I am a champion whistler. I have won contests and prizes for my whistling. During the Occupation, I used this talent to unman the enemy.

After Mother was asleep, I would creep out of the house. I’d make my silent way down to the Germans’ brothel (if you’ll pardon the term) on Saumarez Street. I’d hide in the shadows until a soldier emerged from his tryst. I do not know if ladies are aware of this, but men are not at their peak of fitness after such an occasion. The soldier would start walking back to his quarters, often whistling. I’d start slowly walking, whistling the same tune (but much better). He’d stop whistling, but I would not stop whistling. He’d pause a second, thinking that what he had taken for an echo was actually another person in the dark—following him. But who? He would look back, I’d have slipped into a doorway. He’d see no one—he’d start on his way again, but not whistling. I’d start to walk again and to whistle again. He’d stop—I’d stop. He’d hurry on, but I’d still whistle, following him with hard footsteps. The soldier would rush toward his quarters, and I’d return to the brothel to wait for another German to stalk. I do believe I made many a soldier unfit to perform his duties well the next day. Do you see?

Now, if you’ll pardon me, I will speak more about brothels. I do not believe those young ladies were there because they wanted to be. They were sent from the Occupied territories of Europe, same as the Todt slave workers. It could not have been nice work. To the soldiers’ credit, they demanded the German authorities give the women an extra food allowance, same as given to the island’s heavy workers. Furthermore, I saw some of these same ladies share their food with the Todt workers, who were sometimes let out of their camps at night to hunt for food.

My mother’s sister lives on Jersey. Now that the war is over, she can come visit us—more’s the pity. Being the sort of woman she is, she told a nasty story.

After D-Day the Germans decided to send their brothel ladies back to France, so they put them all on a boat to St. Malo. Now those waters are very wayward, broiled-up, and ugly. Their boat was swept onto the rocks and all aboard were drowned. You could see those poor drowned women—their yellow hair (bleached hussies, my aunt called them) spread out in the water, washing against the rocks. “Served them right, the whores,” my aunt said—she and my mother laughed.

It was not to be borne! I jumped up from my chair and knocked the tea table over on them deliberately. I called them dirty old bats.

My aunt says she will never set foot in our house again, and Mother hasn’t spoken to me since that day. I find it all very peaceful.

Yours truly,
Henry A. Toussant



From Juliet to Sidney

6th June, 1946

Mr. Sidney Stark
Stephens & Stark Ltd.
21 St. James’s Place
London S.W.1

Dear Sidney,

I could hardly believe it was you, telephoning from London last night! How wise of you not to tell me you were flying home; you know how planes terrify me—even when they aren’t dropping bombs. Wonderful to know you are no longer five oceans away, but only across the Channel. Will you come to see us as soon as you can?

Isola is better than a stalking horse. She has brought seven people over to tell me their Occupation stories—and I have a growing packet of interview notes. But for now, notes are all they are. I don’t know yet if a book is possible—or, if possible, what form it should take.

Kit has taken to spending some of her mornings here. She brings rocks or shells and sits quietly—well, moderately quietly—on the floor and plays with them while I work. When I am finished, we take a picnic lunch down to the beach. If it’s too foggy, we play indoors; either Beauty Parlor—brushing each other’s hair until it crackles—or Dead Bride.

Dead Bride is not a complicated game like Snakes and Ladders; it’s quite simple. The bride veils herself in a lace curtain and stuffs herself into the laundry hamper, where she lies as though dead while the anguished bridegroom hunts for her. When he finally discovers her entombed in the laundry hamper, he breaks into loud wails. Then and only then does the bride jump up, yell “Surprise!” and clutch him to her. Then it is all joy and smiles and kisses. Privately, I don’t give that marriage much of a chance.

I knew that all children were gruesome, but I don’t know whether I’m supposed to encourage them in it. I’m afraid to ask Sophie if Dead Bride is too morbid a game for a four-year-old. If she says yes, we’ll have to stop playing, and I don’t want to stop. I love Dead Bride.

So many questions arise when you are spending your days with a child. For instance, if one likes to cross one’s eyes a lot, might they get stuck that way forever—or is that a rumor? My mother said they would, and I believed her, but Kit is made of sterner stuff and doubts it.

I am trying hard to remember my parents’ ideas about child-raising, but, as the child raised, I’m scarcely a good judge. I know I got spanked for spitting my peas across the table at Mrs. Morris, but that’s all I can recall. Perhaps she deserved it. Kit seems to show no ill-effects from having been brought up piecemeal by Society members. It certainly hasn’t made her fearful and retiring. I asked Amelia about it yesterday. She smiled and said there was no hope that a child of Elizabeth’s would be fearful and retiring. Then she told me a lovely story about her son, Ian, and Elizabeth when they were children. He was to be sent to school in England, and he was not at all happy about it, so he decided to run away from home. He consulted Jane and Elizabeth, and Elizabeth persuaded him to buy her boat for his escape. The trouble was, she had no boat—but she didn’t tell him that. Instead, she built one herself in three days. On the appointed afternoon, they hauled it down to the beach, and Ian set off, with Elizabeth and Jane waving their hankies from the shore. About half a mile out, the boat began to sink—fast. Jane was all for running to get her father, but Elizabeth said there wasn’t time and since it was all her fault, she would have to save him. She took off her shoes, dove into the waves, and swam out to Ian. Together, they pulled the wreckage to shore, and she brought the boy to Sir Ambrose’s house to dry off. She returned his money, and as they sat steaming before the fire, she turned to him and said gloomily, “We’ll just have to steal a boat, that’s all.” Ian told his mother that he decided it would be simpler to go to school after all.

I know it will take a prodigious amount of time to catch up on your work. If you do have a moment to spare, could you find a book of paper dolls for me? One full of glamorous evening gowns, please.

I know Kit is growing fond of me—she pats my knee in passing.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

10th June, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I’ve just received a wonderful package from your new secretary. Is her name really Billee Bee Jones? Never mind, she’s a genius anyway. She found Kit two books of paper dolls—and not just any old paper dolls either. She found Greta Garbo and Gone with the Wind paper dolls—pages of lovely gowns, furs, hats, boas—oh, they are wonderful. Billee Bee also sent a pair of snub-nosed scissors, a piece of thoughtfulness that would never have occurred to me. Kit is using them now.

This is not a letter, but a thank-you note. I’m writing one to Billee Bee, too. However did you find such an efficient person? I hope she’s plump and motherly, because that’s how I’m imagining her. She enclosed a note saying eyes do not stay crossed permanently—it’s an old wives’ tale. Kit is thrilled and plans to cross her eyes until supper.

Love to you,
Juliet

P.S. I would like to point out that contrary to certain insinuating remarks in your last, Mr. Dawsey Adams makes no appearance in this letter. I haven’t seen Mr. Dawsey Adams since Friday afternoon, when he came to pick up Kit. He found us decked in our finest jewels and marching about the room to the stirring strains of Pomp and Circumstance on the gramophone. Kit made him a dishtowel cape, and he marched with us. I think he has an aristocrat lurking in his genealogy; he can gaze benevolently into the middle distance just like a duke.

Letter received in Guernsey on 12th June, 1946


To: “Eben” or “Isola” or Any Member of a Book Society on Guernsey, Channel Islands, Great Britain
(Delivered to Eben 14th June, 1946)



Dear Guernsey Book Society,

I greet you as those dear to my friend Elizabeth McKenna. I write to you now so that I may tell you of her death in Ravensbrück Concentration Camp. She was executed there in March of 1945.

In those days before the Russian Army arrived to free the camp, the SS carried truck loads of papers to the crematorium and burned them in the furnaces there. Thus I feared you might never learn of Elizabeth’s imprisonment and death.

Elizabeth spoke often to me of Amelia, Isola, Dawsey, Eben, and Booker. I recall no surnames but believe the names Eben and Isola to be unusual Christian names and thus hope you may be found easily on Guernsey.

I know also that she cherished you as her family, and she felt gratitude and peace that her daughter, Kit, was in your care. Therefore, I write so you and the child will know of her and the strength she showed to us in the camp. Not strength only, but a métier she had for making us forget where we were for a small while. Elizabeth was my friend, and in that place friendship was all that aided one to remain human.

I reside now at the Hospice La Forêt in Louviers in Normandy. My English is yet poor, so Sister Touvier is improving my sentences as she writes them down.

I am now twenty-four years of age. In 1944, I was caught by the Gestapo at Plouha in Brittany, with a packet of forged ration cards. I was questioned, beaten only, and sent to Ravensbrück Concentration Camp. I was put in Block Eleven, and it was here I met Elizabeth.

I will tell you how we met. One evening she came to me and said my name, Remy. I had a joy to hear my name spoken. She said, “Come with me. I have a wonderful surprise to show you.” I did not understand her meaning, but I ran with her to the back of the barracks. A broken window there was stuffed with papers, and she pulled them out. We climbed out and ran toward the Lagerstrasse.

There I saw fully what she had meant by a wonderful surprise. The sky showing above the walls looked to be on fire—low-flying clouds of red and purple, lit from below with dark gold. They changed shapes and shades as they raced together across the sky. We stood there, hand in hand, until the darkness came.

I do not think that anyone outside such a place could know how much that meant to me, to spend such a quiet moment together.

Our home, Block Eleven, held almost four hundred women. In front of each barracks was a cinder path where roll call was held twice a day, at 5:30 A.M., and in the evening after work. The women from each barracks stood in squares of one hundred women each—ten women in ten rows. The squares would stretch so far to the right and left of ours, we could often not see the end of them in the fog.

Our beds were on wooden shelves, built in platforms of three. There were pallets of straw to sleep upon, sour smelling and alive with fleas and lice. There were large yellow rats which ran over our feet at night. This was a good thing, for the overseers hated the rats and stench, so we would have freedom from them in the late nights.

Then, Elizabeth told me about your island of Guernsey and your book society. These things seemed like Heaven to me. In the bunks, the air we breathed was weighted with sickness and filth, but when Elizabeth spoke, I could imagine the good, fresh sea air and the smell of fruit in the hot sun. Though it cannot be true, I do not remember the sun shining one day on Ravensbrück. I loved to hear, too, about how your book society came to be. I almost laughed when she told of the roasted pig, but I didn’t. Laughter made trouble in the barracks.

There were several standpipes with cold water for us to wash in. Once a week we were taken for showers and given a piece of soap. This was necessary for us, for the thing we feared most was to be dirty, to fester. We dared not become ill, for then we could not work. We would be of no further use to the Germans and they would have us put to death.

Elizabeth and I walked with our group each morning at 6:00, to reach the Siemens factory where we worked. It was outside the walls of the prison. Once there, we pushed handcarts to the railroad siding and unloaded heavy metal plates onto the carts. We were given wheat paste and peas at noon, and returned to camp for roll call at 6:00 P.M. and a supper of turnip soup.

Our duties changed according to need, and one day we were ordered to dig a trench to store potatoes in for winter. Our friend Alina stole a potato but dropped it on the ground. All digging stopped until the overseer could discover the thief.

Alina had ulcerated corneas, and it was necessary that the overseers not notice this—for they might think her to be going blind. Elizabeth said quickly she had taken the potato, and was sent to the punishment bunker for one week.

The cells in this bunker were very small. One day, while Elizabeth was there, a guard opened the door to each cell and turned high-pressure water hoses on the prisoners. The force of the water pushed Elizabeth to the floor, but she was fortunate that the water never reached her folded blanket. She was eventually able to rise and lie under her blanket until the shivering stopped. But a young pregnant girl in the next cell was not so fortunate or so strong as to get up. She died that night, frozen to the floor.

I am perhaps saying too much, things you do not wish to hear. But I must do this to tell you how Elizabeth lived—and how she held on hard to her kindness and her courage. I would like her daughter to know this also.

Now I must tell you the cause of her death. Often, within months of being in camp, most women stopped menstruation. But some did not. The camp doctors had made no provision for the prisoners’ hygiene during this time—no rags, no sanitary towels, no soap. The women who were menstruating just had to let the blood run down their legs.

The overseers liked this, this oh so unsightly blood, it gave them the excuse to scream, to hit. A woman named Binta was the overseer for our evening roll call and she began to rage at a bleeding girl. Rage at her, and threaten her with her upraised rod. Then she began to beat the girl.

Elizabeth broke out of our line fast—so fast. She grabbed the rod from Binta’s hand and turned it upon her, hitting her over and over. Guards came running and two of them struck Elizabeth to the ground with their rifles. They threw her into a truck and took her again to the punishment bunker.

One of the guards told me that on the next morning soldiers formed a guard around Elizabeth and took her from her cell. Outside the camp walls there was a grove of poplar trees. The branches of the trees formed an allée and Elizabeth walked down this by herself, unaided. She knelt on the ground and they shot her in the back of her head.

I will stop now. I know that I often felt my friend beside me when I was ill after the camp. I had fevers, and I imagined that Elizabeth and I were sailing to Guernsey in a little boat. We had planned this in Ravensbrück—how we would live together in her cottage with her baby, Kit. It helped me to sleep.

I hope you will come to feel Elizabeth by your side as I do. Her strength did not fail her, nor her mind, not ever—she just saw one cruelty too many.

Please accept my best wishes,
Remy Giraud

Note from Sister Cecile Touvier, placed in the envelope with Remy’s letter

Sister Cecile Touvier, Nurse, writing to you. I have made Remy go to rest now. I do not approve of this long letter. But she insisted on writing it.

She will not tell you how sick she has been, but I will. In the few days before the Russians arrived at Ravensbrück, those filthy Nazis ordered anyone who could walk to leave. Opened the gates and turned them loose upon the devastated countryside. “Go,” they ordered. “Go—find any Allied troops that you can.”

They left those exhausted, starving women to walk miles and miles without any food or water. There were not even any gleanings left in the fields they walked past. Was it any wonder their walk became a death march? Hundreds of the women died on the road.

After several days, Remy’s legs and body were so swollen with famine edema, she could not continue to walk. So she just laid herself down in the road to die. Fortunately, a company of American soldiers found her. They tried to give her something to eat, but her body would not receive it. They carried her to a field hospital, where she was given a bed and quarts of water were drained from her body. After many months in hospital, she was well enough to be sent to this hospice in Louviers. I will tell you she weighed less than sixty pounds when she arrived here. Otherwise, she would have written you sooner.

It is my belief that she will get her strength back properly once she has written this letter and she can set about laying her friend to rest. You may, of course, write to her, but please do not ask her questions about Ravensbrück. It will be best for her to forget.

Yours truly,
Sister Cecile Touvier

From Amelia to Remy Giraud

16th June, 1946

Mlle. Remy Giraud
Hospice La Forêt
Louviers
France

Dear Mlle. Giraud,

How good you were to write to us—how good and how kind. It could not have been an easy task to call up your own terrible memories in order to tell us of Elizabeth’s death. We had been praying that she would return to us, but it is better to know the truth than to live in uncertainty. We were grateful to learn of your friendship with Elizabeth and to think of the comfort you gave to one another.

May Dawsey Adams and I come visit you in Louviers? We would like to, very much, but not if you would find our visit too disturbing. We want to know you and we have an idea to propose. But again, if you’d prefer that we didn’t, we will not come.

Always, our blessings for your kindness and courage.

Sincerely,
Amelia Maugery

From Juliet to Sidney

16th June, 1946

Dear Sidney,

How comforting it was to hear you say “God damn, oh God damn.” That’s the only honest thing to say, isn’t it? Elizabeth’s death is an abomination and it will never be anything else.

It’s odd, I suppose, to mourn so for someone you’ve never met. But I do. I have felt Elizabeth’s presence all along; she lingers in every room I enter, not just in the cottage, but in Amelia’s library, which she stocked with books, and Isola’s kitchen, where she stirred up potions. Everyone always speaks of her—even now—in the present tense, and I had convinced myself that she would return. I wanted so much to know her.

It’s worse for everyone else. When I saw Eben yesterday, he seemed older than ever before. I’m glad he has Eli by him. Isola has disappeared. Amelia says not to worry; she does that when she’s sick at heart.

Dawsey and Amelia have decided to go to Louviers to try to persuade Mlle. Giraud to come to Guernsey. There was a heartrending moment in her letter—Elizabeth used to help her go to sleep in the camp by planning their future in Guernsey. She said it sounded like Heaven. The poor girl is due for some Heaven; she has already been through Hell.

I am to take care of Kit while they are gone. I am so sad for her—she will never know her mother—except by hearsay. I wonder about her future, too, as she is now—officially—an orphan. Mr. Dilwyn told me there is plenty of time to make a decision. “Let us leave well enough alone at the moment.” He doesn’t sound like any other banker or trustee I’ve ever heard of, bless his heart.

All my Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Mark

17th June, 1946

Dear Mark,

I’m sorry that our conversation ended badly last night. It’s very difficult to convey shades of meaning while roaring into the telephone. It’s true—I don’t want you to come this weekend. But it has nothing whatever to do with you. My friends have just been dealt a terrible blow. Elizabeth was the center of the circle here, and the news of her death has shaken us all. How strange—when I picture you reading that sentence, I see you wondering why this woman’s death has anything to do with me or you or your plans for the weekend. It does. I feel as though I’d lost someone very close to me. I am in mourning.

Do you understand a little better now?

Yours,
Juliet

From Dawsey to Juliet

21st June, 1946

Miss Juliet Ashton
Grand Manoir, Cottage
La Bouvée
St. Martin’s, Guernsey

Dear Juliet,

We are here in Louviers, though we have not been to see Remy yet. The trip has tired Amelia very much and she wants to rest for a night before we go to the hospice.

It was a direful journey across Normandy. Piles of blasted stone walls and twisted metal line the roads in towns. There are big gaps between buildings, and the ones left look like black, broken-off teeth. Whole fronts of houses are gone and you can see in, to the flowered wallpaper and the tilted bedsteads clinging somehow to the floors. I know now how fortunate Guernsey really was in the war.

Many people are still in the streets, hauling away bricks and stone in wheelbarrows and carts. They’ve made roads of heavy wire netting placed over rubble, and tractors are moving along them. Outside the towns are ruined fields with huge craters and torn-up land and hedges.

It is grievous to see the trees. No big poplars, elms, and chestnuts—what’s left is pitiful, charred black, and stunted—sticks without shade.

Mr. Piaget, the innkeeper here, told us that the German engineers ordered hundreds of soldiers to chop down trees—whole woods and coppices. Then they stripped off the branches, smeared the trunks with creosote, and stuck them upright in holes they had dug in the fields. The trees were called Rommel’s Asparagus and were meant to keep Allied gliders from landing and soldiers from parachuting.

Amelia went to bed right after supper, so I walked through Louviers. The town is pretty in spots, though much of it was bombed and the Germans set fire to it when they retreated. I cannot see how it will become a living town again.

I came back and sat on the terrace till full dark, thinking about tomorrow.

Give Kit a hug from me.

Yours ever,
Dawsey

From Amelia to Juliet

23rd June, 1946

Dear Juliet,

We met Remy yesterday. I felt unequal somehow to meeting her. But not, thank Heavens, Dawsey. He calmly pulled up lawn chairs, sat us down under a shade tree, and asked a nurse if we could have tea.

I wanted Remy to like us, to feel safe with us. I wanted to learn more about Elizabeth, but I was frightened of Remy’s fragility and Sister Touvier’s admonitions. Remy is very small and is far too thin. Her dark curly hair is cut close to her head, and her eyes are enormous and haunted. You can see that she was a beauty in better times, but now—she is like glass. Her hands tremble a good deal, and she is careful to hold them down in her lap. She welcomed us as much as she was able, but she was very reserved until she asked about Kit—had she gone on to Sir Ambrose in London?

Dawsey told her of Sir Ambrose’s death and how we are raising Kit. He showed her the photograph of you and Kit that he carries. She smiled then and said, “She is Elizabeth’s child. Is she strong?” I couldn’t speak, thinking of our lost Elizabeth, but Dawsey said yes, very strong, and told her about Kit’s passion for ferrets. That made her smile again.

Remy is alone in the world. Her father died long before the war; in 1943, her mother was sent to Drancy for harboring enemies of the government and later died in Auschwitz. Remy’s two brothers are missing; she thought she saw one of them in a German train station as she was on her way to Ravensbrück, but he did not turn when she screamed his name. The other she has not seen since 1941. She believes that they, too, must be dead. I was glad Dawsey had the courage to ask her questions—Remy seemed to find relief in speaking of her family.

I finally broached the subject of Remy coming to stay awhile with me in Guernsey. She grew reserved again and explained that she was going to leave the hospice very soon. The French government is offering pensions to concentration-camp survivors: for time lost in camps, for permanent injuries, and for recognition of suffering. They also give a small stipend to those who wish to resume their education.

In addition to the government stipend, the Association Nationale des Anciennes Déportées et Internées de la Résistance will help Remy pay the rent of a room or share a flat with other survivors, so she has decided to go to Paris and seek an apprenticeship in a bakery.

She was adamant about her plans, so I left the matter there, but I don’t believe Dawsey is willing to do so. He thinks that sheltering Remy is a moral debt we owe to Elizabeth—perhaps he is right, or perhaps it is simply a way to relieve our sense of helplessness. In any case, he has arranged to go back tomorrow and take Remy for a walk along the canal and to visit a certain patisserie he saw in Louviers. Sometimes, I wonder where our old, shy Dawsey has gone.

I feel well, though I am unusually tired—perhaps it is seeing my beloved Normandy so devastated. I will be glad to be home, my dear.

A kiss for you and Kit,
Amelia

From Juliet to Sidney

28th June, 1946

Dear Sidney,

What an inspired present you sent Kit—red satin tap shoes covered with sequins. Wherever did you find them? Where are mine?

Amelia has been tired since her return from France, so it seems best for Kit to stay with me, especially if Remy decides to come to Amelia’s when she leaves the hospice. Kit seems to like the idea too—Heaven be thanked. Kit knows her mother is dead now; Dawsey told her. I’m not sure what she feels about it. She hasn’t said anything, and I wouldn’t dream of pressing her. I try not to hover unduly or make her special treats. After Mother and Father died, Mr. Simpless’s cook brought me huge slices of cake and then stood there, watching me mournfully while I tried to swallow. I hated her for thinking that cake would somehow make it up to me for losing my parents. Of course, I was a wretched twelve-year-old, and Kit is only four—she would probably like some extra cake—but you understand what I mean.

Sidney, I am in trouble with my book. I have much of the data from the States’ records and a slew of personal interviews to start the story of the Occupation—but I can’t make them come together in a structure that pleases me. Straight chronology is too tedious. Shall I pack my pages up and send them to you? They need a finer and more impersonal eye than mine. Would you have time to look them over now or is the backlog from your Australian trip still so heavy?

If it is, don’t worry—I am working anyway and something brilliant may yet come to me.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. Thank you for the lovely clipping of Mark dancing with Ursula Fent. If you were hoping to send me into a jealous rage, you failed. Especially as Mark had already telephoned to tell me that Ursula follows him about like a lovesick bloodhound. You see? The two of you do have something in common: you both want me to be miserable. Perhaps you could start a club.

From Sidney to Juliet

1st July, 1946

Dear Juliet,

Don’t pack up your pages—I want to come to Guernsey myself. Will this weekend suit you?

I want to see you, Kit, and Guernsey—in that order. I have no intention of reading your pages while you pace up and down in front of me—I’ll bring the ms back to London.

I can arrive Friday afternoon on the five o’clock plane and stay until Monday evening. Will you book a hotel room for me? Can you also manage a small supper party? I want to meet Eben, Isola, Dawsey, and Amelia. I’ll bring the wine.

Love,
Sidney

From Juliet to Sidney

Wednesday

Dear Sidney,

Wonderful! Isola won’t hear of you staying at the inn (she hints of bedbugs). She wants to put you up herself and needs to know if noises at dawn are apt to bother you? That is when Ariel, her goat, arises. Zenobia, the parrot, is a late sleeper.

Dawsey and I and his cart will meet you at the airfield. May Friday hurry up and get here.

Love,
Juliet

From Isola to Juliet (left under Juliet’s door)

Friday—close to dawn

Lovey, I can’t stop, I must hurry to my Market stall. I am glad your friend will be staying with me. I’ve put lavender sprigs in his sheets. Is there one of my elixirs you’d like me to slip in his coffee? Just nod to me at Market and I’ll know which one you mean.

XXX
Isola

From Sidney to Sophie

6th July, 1946

Dear Sophie,

I am, at last, on Guernsey with Juliet and am ready to tell you three or four of the dozen things you asked me to find out.

First and foremost, Kit seems as fond of Juliet as you and I are. She is a spirited little thing, affectionate in a reserved way (which is not as contradictory as it sounds) and quick to smile when she is with one of her adoptive parents from the Literary Society.

She is adorable, too, with round cheeks, round curls, and round eyes. The temptation to cuddle her is nearly overwhelming, but it would be a slight upon her dignity, and I am not brave enough to try it. When she sees someone she doesn’t like, she has a stare that would shrivel Medea. Isola says she reserves it for cruel Mr. Smythe, who beats his dog, and evil Mrs. Guilbert, who called Juliet a Nosy Parker and told her she ought to go back to London where she belonged.

I’ll tell you one story of Kit and Juliet together. Dawsey (more about him later) came by to pick Kit up and go see Eben’s fishing boat come in. Kit said good-bye, flew out, then flew back in, ran up to Juliet, lifted her skirt a quarter of an inch, kissed her kneecap, and flew back out again. Juliet looked dumbfounded—and then as happy as you or I have ever seen her.

I know you think Juliet seemed tired, worn, frazzled, and pale when you saw her last winter. I don’t think you realize how harrowing those teas and interviews can be; she looks as healthy as a horse now and is full of her old zest. So full, Sophie, I think she may never want to live in London again—though she doesn’t realize it yet. Sea air, sunshine, green fields, wildflowers, the ever-changing sky and ocean, and most of all, the people seem to have seduced her from City life.

I can easily see how they could. It’s such a homey, welcoming place. Isola is the kind of hostess you always wished you’d come across on a country visit—but never do. She rousted me out of bed the first morning to help her dry rose petals, churn butter, stir up something (God knows what) in a big pot, feed Ariel, and go to the fish market to buy her an eel. All of this with Zenobia the parrot on my shoulder.

Now, about Dawsey Adams. I have inspected him, as per instructions. I liked what I saw. He’s quiet, capable, trustworthy—oh Lord, I’ve made him sound like a dog—and he has a sense of humor. In short, he is completely unlike any of Juliet’s other swains—praise indeed. He did not say much at our first meeting—nor at any of our meetings since, come to think of it—but let him walk into a room, and everyone in it seems to breathe a little sigh of relief. I have never in my life had that effect on anyone, can’t imagine why not. Juliet seems a bit nervous around him—his silence is slightly daunting—and she made a dreadful mess of the tea things when he came by for Kit yesterday. But Juliet has always shattered teacups—remember what she did to Mother’s Spode?—so that may not signify. As for him, he watches her with dark, steady eyes—until she looks at him and then he glances away (I do hope you’re appreciating my observational skills).

One thing I can say unequivocally: he’s worth dozens of Mark Reynoldses. I know you think I’m unreasonable about Reynolds, but you haven’t met him. He’s all charm and oil, and he gets what he wants. It’s one of his few principles. He wants Juliet because she’s pretty and “intellectual” at the same time, and he thinks they’ll make an impressive couple. If she marries him, she’ll spend the rest of her life being shown to people at theatres and clubs and weekends and she’ll never write another book. As her editor, I’m dismayed by that prospect, but as her friend, I’m horrified. It will be the end of our Juliet.

It’s hard to say what Juliet is thinking about Reynolds, if anything. I asked her if she missed him, and she said, “Mark? I suppose so,” as if he were a distant uncle, and not a favorite one at that. I’d be delighted if she forgot all about him, but I don’t think he’ll allow it.

To return to minor topics like the Occupation and Juliet’s book, I was invited to accompany her on calls to several Islanders this afternoon. Her interviews were to be about Guernsey’s Day of Liberation on May 9 last year.

What a morning that must have been! The crowds were lined up along St. Peter Port’s harbor. Silent, absolutely silent, masses of people looking at the Royal Navy ships sitting just outside their harbor. Then when the Tommies landed and marched ashore, all hell broke loose. Hugs, kisses, crying, yelling.

So many of the soldiers landing were Guernseymen themselves. Men who hadn’t seen or heard a word from their families in five years. You can imagine their eyes searching the crowds for family members as they marched—and the joy of their reunions.

Mr. LeBrun, a retired postman, told us the most unusual story of all. Some British ships took leave of the fleet in St. Peter Port and sailed a few miles north to St. Sampson’s Harbor. Crowds had gathered there, waiting to see the landing craft crash through the German anti-tank barriers and come up onto the beach. When the bay doors opened, out came not a platoon of uniformed soldiers, but one lone man, got up as a caricature English gent in striped trousers, a morning coat, top hat, furled umbrella, and a copy of yesterday’s Times clasped in his hand. There was a split-second of silence before the joke sank in, and then the crowd roared—he was mobbed, clapped on the back, kissed, and put up on the shoulders of four men to be marched down the street. Someone screamed, “News—news from London herself,” and snatched the Times out of his hand! Whoever that soldier was, he was brilliant and deserves a medal.

When the rest of the soldiers emerged, they were carrying chocolates, oranges, cigarettes, tea bags to toss to the crowd. Brigadier Snow announced that the cable to England was being repaired, and soon they could be talking to their evacuated children and families in England. The ships also brought in food, tons of it, and medicines, paraffin, animal feed, clothes, cloth, seeds, and shoes!

There must be enough stories to fill three books—it may be a matter of culling. But don’t worry if Juliet sounds nervous from time to time—she should. It’s a daunting task.

I must stop now and get dressed for Juliet’s supper party. Isola is swathed in three shawls and a lace dresser scarf—and I want to do her proud.

Love to you all,
Sidney

From Juliet to Sophie

7th July, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Just a note to tell you Sidney is here and we can stop worrying about him—and his leg. He looks wonderful: tanned, fit, and without a noticeable limp. In fact, we threw his cane in the ocean—I’m sure it’s half-way to France by now.

I had a small supper party for him—cooked by me alone, and edible, too. Will Thisbee gave me The Beginner’s Cook-Book for Girl Guides. It was just the thing; the writer assumes you know nothing about cookery and writes useful hints—“When adding eggs, break the shells first.”

Sidney is having a grand time as Isola’s houseguest. They apparently sat up late talking last night. Isola doesn’t approve of small talk and believes in breaking the ice by stomping on it.

She asked him if we were engaged to be married. If not, why not? It was plain to everyone that we doted on one another.

Sidney told her that indeed he did dote on me; always had, always would, but we both realized we could never marry—he was a homosexual.

Sidney told me that Isola neither gasped, fainted, nor blinked—just gave him her good old fish eye and asked, “And Juliet knows?”

When he told her yes, I had always known, Isola jumped up, swooped down, kissed his forehead, and said, “How nice—just like dear Booker. I’ll not tell a soul; you can rely on me.”

Then she sat back down and began to talk about Oscar Wilde’s plays. Weren’t they a stitch? Sophie, wouldn’t you have loved to be a fly on the wall? I would.

Sidney and I are going shopping now for a hostess gift for Isola. I said she would love a warm, colorful shawl, but he wants to get her a cuckoo clock. Why???

Love,
Juliet

P.S. Mark doesn’t write, he telephones. He rang me up just last week. It was one of those terrible connections that forced us perpetually to interrupt one another and bellow “WHAT?” but I managed to get the gist of the conversation—I should come home and marry him. I politely disagreed. It upset me much less than it would have a month ago.

From Isola to Sidney

8th July, 1946

Dear Sidney,

You are a very nice house guest. I like you. So did Zenobia, else she would not have flown onto your shoulder and cuddled there so long.

I’m glad you like to sit up late and talk. I favor that myself of an evening. I am going to go to the manor now to find the book you told me about. How is it that Juliet and Amelia never made mention of Miss Jane Austen to me?

I hope you will come visit Guernsey again. Did you like Juliet’s soup? Wasn’t it tasty? She will be ready for pie crust and gravy soon—you must go at cooking slowly, else you’ll just make slops.

I was lonesome for company after you left, so I invited Dawsey and Amelia to take tea yesterday. You should have seen how I didn’t utter a word when Amelia said she thought you and Juliet were going to marry. I even nodded and slitted my eyes, like I knew something they didn’t, to throw them off the scent.

I do like my cuckoo clock. How cheery it is! I run in the kitchen to watch it. I am sorry Zenobia bit the little bird’s head off, she has a jealous nature—but Eli said he could carve me another one, as good as new. His little perch still pops out on the hour.

With fondness, your hostess,

Isola Pribby

From Juliet to Sidney

9th July, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I knew it! I knew you’d love Guernsey. The next-best thing to being here myself was having you here—even for such a short visit. I’m happy that you know all my friends now, and they you. I’m particularly happy you enjoyed Kit’s company so much. I regret to tell you that some of her fondness for you is due to your present, Elspeth the Lisping Bunny. Her admiration for Elspeth has caused her to take up lisping, and I am sorry to say, she is very good at it.

Dawsey just brought Kit home—they have been visiting his new piglet. Kit asked if I was writing to Thidney. When I said yes, she said, “Thay I want him to come back thoon.” Do you thee what I mean about Elspeth?

That made Dawsey smile, which pleased me. I’m afraid you didn’t see the best of Dawsey this weekend; he was extra-quiet at my supper party. Perhaps it was my soup, but I think it more likely that he is preoccupied with Remy. He seems to think that she won’t get better until she comes to Guernsey to recuperate.

I am glad you took my pages home to read. God knows I am at a loss to divine just what exactly is wrong with them—I only know something is.

What on earth did you say to Isola? She stopped in on her way to pick up Pride and Prejudice and to berate me for never telling her about Elizabeth Bennet and Mr. Darcy. Why hadn’t she known there were better love stories around? Stories not riddled with ill-adjusted men, anguish, death, and graveyards! What else had we kept from her?

I apologized for such a lapse and said you were perfectly right, Pride and Prejudice was one of the greatest love stories ever written—and she might actually die of suspense before she finished it.

Isola said Zenobia is saddened by your leaving—she’s off her feed. So am I, but I’m so grateful you could come at all.

Love,
Juliet

From Sidney to Juliet

12th July, 1946

Dear Juliet,

I’ve read your chapters several times, and you are right—they won’t do. Strings of anecdotes don’t make a book.

Juliet, your book needs a center. I don’t mean more in-depth interviews. I mean one person’s voice to tell what was happening all around her. As written now, the facts, as interesting as they are, seem like random, scattered shots.

It would hurt like hell to write this letter to you, except for one thing. You already have the core—you just don’t know it yet.

I am talking about Elizabeth McKenna. Didn’t you ever notice how everyone you interviewed sooner or later talked about Elizabeth? Lord, Juliet, who painted Booker’s portrait and saved his life and danced down the street with him? Who thought up the lie about the Literary Society—and then made it happen? Guernsey wasn’t her home, but she adapted to it and to the loss of her freedom. How? She must have missed Ambrose and London, but she never, I gather, whined about it. She went to Ravensbrück for sheltering a slave worker. Look how and why she died.

Juliet, how did a girl, an art student who had never held a job in her life, turn herself into a nurse, working six days a week in the hospital? She did have dear friends, but in reality she had no one to call her own at first. She fell in love with an enemy officer and lost him; she had a baby alone during war time. It must have been fearful, despite all her good friends. You can only share responsibilities up to a point.

I’m sending back the ms and your letters to me—read them again and see how often Elizabeth is spoken of. Ask yourself why. Talk to Dawsey and Eben. Talk to Isola and Amelia. Talk to Mr. Dilwyn and to anyone else who knew her well.

You live in her house. Look around you at her books, her belongings.

I think you should write your book around Elizabeth. I think Kit would greatly value a story about her mother—it would give her something to hang on to, later. So, either quit altogether—or get to know Elizabeth well.

Think long and hard and tell me if Elizabeth could be the heart of your book.

Love to you and Kit,
Sidney

From Juliet to Sidney

15th July, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I don’t need more time to think about it—the minute I read your letter, I knew you were right. So slow-witted! Here I’ve been, wishing that I had known Elizabeth, missing her as if I had—why did I never once think of writing about her?

I’ll begin tomorrow. I want to talk to Dawsey, Amelia, Eben, and Isola first. I feel that she belongs to them more than the others, and I want their blessing.

Remy wants to come to Guernsey, after all. Dawsey has been writing to her, and I knew he could persuade her to come. He could talk an angel out of Heaven if he chose to speak, which is not often enough to suit me. Remy will stay with Amelia, so I get to keep Kit with me.

Undying love and gratitude,
Juliet

P.S. You don’t suppose Elizabeth kept a diary, do you?

From Juliet to Sidney

17th July, 1946

Dear Sidney,

No diary, but the good news is she did draw while her paper and pencil lasted. I found some sketches stuffed into a large art folio on the bottom shelf of the sitting-room bookcase. Quick line drawings that seem marvelous portraits to me: Isola caught unaware, hitting at something with a wooden spoon; Dawsey digging in a garden; Eben and Amelia with their heads together, talking.

As I sat on the floor, turning them over, Amelia dropped by for a visit. Together we pulled out several large sheets of paper, covered with sketch after sketch of Kit. Kit asleep, Kit on the move, on a lap, being rocked by Amelia, hypnotized by her toes, delighted with her spit bubbles. Maybe every mother looks at her baby that way—with that intense focus—but Elizabeth put it on paper. There was one shaky drawing of a wizened little Kit, made the day after she was born, according to Amelia.

Then I found a sketch of a man with a good, strong, rather broad face; he’s relaxed and appears to be looking over his shoulder, smiling at the artist. I knew at once it was Christian—he and Kit have a cowlick in exactly the same place. Amelia took the paper into her hands; I had never heard her speak of him before and asked if she had liked him.

“Poor boy,” she said. “I was so set against him. It seemed insane to me that Elizabeth had chosen him—an enemy, a German—and I was frightened for her. For the rest of us, too. I thought that she was too trusting, and he would betray her and us—so I told her that I thought she should break off with him. I was very stern with her.

“Elizabeth just stuck out her chin and said nothing. But the next day, he came to visit me. Oh, I was appalled. I opened the door and there was an enormous, uniformed German standing before me. I was sure my house was about to be requisitioned and I began to protest when he thrust forward a bunch of flowers—limp from being clutched. I noticed he was looking very nervous, so I stopped scolding and demanded to know his name. ‘Captain Christian Hellman,’ he said, and blushed like a boy. I was still suspicious—what was he up to?—and asked him the purpose of his visit. He blushed more and said softly, ‘I’ve come to tell you my intentions.’

“ ‘For my house?’ I snapped.

“ ‘No. For Elizabeth,’ he said. And that’s what he did—just as if I were the Victorian father and he the suitor. He perched on the edge of a chair in my drawing room and told me that he intended to come back to the Island the moment the war was over, marry Elizabeth, raise freesias, read, and forget about war. By the time he was finished speaking, I was a little in love with him myself.”

Amelia was half in tears, so we put the sketches away and I made her some tea. Then Kit came in with a shattered gull’s egg she wanted to glue together, and we were thankfully distracted.

Yesterday Will Thisbee appeared at my door with a plate of cakes iced with prune whip, so I invited him to tea. He wanted to consult with me about two different women; and which one of the two I’d marry if I were a man, which I wasn’t. (Do you have that straight?)

Miss X has always been a ditherer—she was a ten-month baby and has not improved in any material way since then. When she heard the Germans were coming, she buried her mother’s silver teapot under an elm tree and now can’t remember which tree. She is digging holes all over the Island, vowing she won’t stop till she finds it. “Such determination,” said Will. “Quite unlike her.” (Will was trying to be subtle, but Miss X is Daphne Post. She has round vacant eyes like a cow’s and is famous for her trembling soprano in the church choir.)

And then there is Miss Y, a local seamstress. When the Germans arrived, they had only packed one Nazi flag. This they needed to hang over their headquarters, but that left them with nothing to run up a flag pole to remind the Islanders they’d been conquered.

They visited Miss Y and ordered her to make a Nazi flag for them. She did—a black, nasty swastika, stitched onto a circle of dingy puce. The surrounding field was not scarlet silk, but baby-bottom-pink flannel. “So inventive in her spite,” said Will. “So forceful!” (Miss Y is Miss Le Roy, thin as one of her needles, with a lantern jaw and tight-folded lips.)

Which did I think would make the best companion for a man’s nether years, Miss X or Miss Y? I told him that if one had to ask which, it generally meant neither.

He said, “That’s exactly what Dawsey said—those very words. Isola said Miss X would bore me to tears, and Miss Y would nag me to death.

“Thank you, thank you—I shall keep up my search. She is out there somewhere.”

He put on his cap, bowed, and left. Sidney, he may have been polling the entire Island, but I was so flattered to have been included—it made me feel like an Islander instead of an Outlander.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. I was interested to learn that Dawsey has opinions on marriage. I wish I knew more about them.

From Juliet to Sidney

19th July, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Stories of Elizabeth are everywhere—not just among the Society members. Listen to this: Kit and I walked up to the churchyard this afternoon. Kit was off playing among the tombstones, and I was stretched out on Mr. Edwin Mulliss’s tombstone—it’s a table-top one, with four stout legs—when Sam Withers, the cemetery’s ancient groundskeeper, stopped beside me. He said I reminded him of Miss McKenna when she was a young girl. She used to take the sun right there on that very slab—brown as a walnut she’d get.

I sat up straight as an arrow and asked Sam if he had known Elizabeth well.

Sam said, “Well—not as to say real well, but I liked her. She and Eben’s girl, Jane, used to come up here together to that very tombstone. They’d spread a cloth and eat their picnic—right on top of Mr. Mulliss’s dead bones.”

Sam went on about what catbirds those two little girls were, always up to some mischief—they tried to raise a ghost one time and scared the daylights out of the vicar’s wife. Then he looked over at Kit, who’d reached the church gate by then and said, “That’s surely a sweet little girl of hers and Captain Hellman’s.”

I pounced on that. Had he known Captain Hellman? Had he liked him?

He glared at me and said, “Yes, I did. He was a fine fella, for all he was a German. You’re not going to throw off on Miss McKenna’s little girl because of that, are you?”

“I wouldn’t dream of it!” I said.

He waggled a finger at me. “You’d better not, missy! You’d best learn the truth of certain matters, before you go trying to write any book about the Occupation. I hated the Occupation, too. Makes me mad to think of it. Some of those blighters was purely mean—come right into your house without knocking—push you around. They was the sort to like having the upper hand, never having had it before. But not all of them was like that—not all, by a long shot.”

Christian, according to Sam, was not. Sam liked Christian. He and Elizabeth had come upon Sam in the churchyard once, trying to dig out a grave when the ground was ice-hard and as cold as Sam himself. Christian picked up the shovel and threw his back into it. “He was a strong fella, and he was done as soon as he started,” Sam said. “Told him he could have a job with me anytime, and he laughed.”

The next day, Elizabeth came out with a thermos jug full of hot coffee. Real coffee from real beans Christian had brought to her house. She gave him a warm sweater too that had belonged to Christian.

Sam said, “Truth to tell, as long as the Occupation was to last, I met more than one nice German soldier. You would, you know, seeing some of them as much as every day for five years. Greetings were bound to happen.

“You couldn’t help but feel sorry for some of them—there at the last—stuck here and knowing their folks back home were being bombed to pieces. Didn’t matter then who started it in the first place. Not to me, anyway.

“Why, there’d be soldiers riding guard in the back of potato lorries going to the army’s mess hall—children would follow them, hoping potatoes would fall off into the street. Soldiers would look straight ahead, grim-like, and then flick potatoes off the pile—on purpose.

“They did the same thing with oranges. Same with lumps of coal—my, those were precious when we didn’t have no fuel left. There was many such incidents. Just ask Mrs. Godfray about her boy. He had the pneumonia and she was worried half to death because she couldn’t keep him warm nor give him good food to eat. One day there’s a knock on her door and when she opens up, she sees an orderly from the German hospital on the step. Without a peep, he hands her a vial of that sulfonamide, tips his cap, and walks away. He had stolen it from their dispensary for her. They caught him later, trying to steal some again, and they sent him off to prison in Germany—maybe hung him. We’d not be knowing which.”

He glared at me again suddenly. “And I say that if some toffee-nosed Brit wants to call being human Collaboration, they’ll need to talk to me and Mrs. Godfray first!”

I tried to protest, but Sam turned his back and walked away. I gathered Kit up and we came on home. Between the wilted flowers for Amelia and the coffee beans for Sam Withers, I felt I was beginning to know Kit’s father—and why Elizabeth must have loved him.

Next week will bring Remy to Guernsey. Dawsey leaves for France on Tuesday to fetch her.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sophie

22nd July, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Burn this letter; I would not care to have it appear among your collected papers.

I’ve told you about Dawsey, of course. You know that he was the first here to write me; that he is fond of Charles Lamb; that he is helping to raise Kit; that she adores him.

What I haven’t told you is that on the very first evening that I arrived on the Island, the moment Dawsey held out both his hands to me at the bottom of the gangplank, I felt an unaccountable jolt of excitement. Dawsey is so quiet and composed that I had no idea if it was only me, so I’ve struggled to be reasonable and casual and usual for the last two months. And I was doing very nicely—until tonight.

Dawsey came over to borrow a suitcase for his trip to Louviers—he is going to collect Remy and bring her here. What kind of man doesn’t even own a suitcase? Kit was sound asleep, so we put my case in his cart and walked up to the headlands. The moon was coming up and the sky was colored in mother-of-pearl, like the inside of a shell. The sea for once was quiet, with only silvery ripples, barely moving. No wind. I have never heard the world be so silent before, and it dawned on me that Dawsey himself was exactly that silent too, walking beside me. I was as close to him as I’ve ever been, so I began to take particular note of his wrists and hands. I was wanting to touch them, and the thought made me light-headed. There was a knife-edgy feeling—you know the one—in the pit of my stomach.

All at once, Dawsey turned. His face was shadowed, but I could see his eyes—very dark eyes—watching me, waiting. Who knows what might have happened next—a kiss? A pat on the head? Nothing?—because in the next second we heard Wally Beall’s horse-drawn carriage (that’s our local taxi) pull up to my cottage, and Wally’s passenger called out, “Surprise, darling!”

It was Mark—Markham V. Reynolds, Junior, resplendent in his exquisitely tailored suit, with a swath of red roses over his arm.

I truly wished him dead, Sophie.

But what could I do? I went to greet him—and when he kissed me all I could think of was Don’t! Not in front of Dawsey! He deposited the roses on my arm and turned to Dawsey with his steely smile. So I introduced the two of them, wishing all the time I could crawl into a hole—I don’t know why, exactly—and watched dumbly as Dawsey shook his hand, turned to me, shook my hand, said, “Thank you for the suitcase, Juliet. Good-night,” climbed in his cart, and left. Left, without another word, without a backward glance.

I wanted to cry. Instead I invited Mark indoors and tried to seem like a woman who had just received a delightful surprise. The wagon and the introductions had awakened Kit, who looked suspiciously at Mark and wanted to know where Dawsey had gone—he hadn’t kissed her good-night. Me neither, I thought to myself.

I put Kit back to bed and persuaded Mark that my reputation would be in tatters if he didn’t go to the Royal Hotel at once. Which he did, with a very bad grace and many threats to appear on my doorstep this morning at six.

Then I sat down and chewed my fingernails for three hours. Should I take myself over to Dawsey’s house and try to pick up where we left off? But where did we leave off? I’m not sure. I don’t want to make a fool of myself. What if he looked at me with polite incomprehension—or worse yet, with pity?

And besides—what am I thinking? Mark is here. Mark, who is rich and debonair and wants to marry me. Mark, whom I was doing very well without. Why can’t I stop thinking about Dawsey, who probably doesn’t give a hoot about me. But maybe he does. Maybe I was about to find out what’s on the other side of that silence.

Damn, damn, and damn.

It’s two in the morning, I have not a fingernail to my name, and I look at least a hundred years old. Maybe Mark will be repulsed by my haggard mien when he sees me. Maybe he will spurn me. I don’t know that I will be disappointed if he does.

Love,
Juliet

From Amelia to Juliet (left under Juliet’s door)

23rd July, 1946

Dear Juliet,

My raspberries have come in with a vengeance. I am picking this morning and making pies this afternoon. Would you and Kit like to come for tea (pie) this afternoon?

Love,
Amelia

From Juliet to Amelia

23rd July, 1946

Dear Amelia—

I’m terribly sorry, I can’t come. I have a guest.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. Kit is delivering this in hopes of getting some pie. Can you keep her for the afternoon?

From Juliet to Sophie

24th July, 1946

Dear Sophie,

You should probably burn this letter as well as the last one. I’ve refused Mark finally and irrevocably, and my elation is indecent. If I were a properly brought-up young lady, I’d draw the curtains and brood, but I can’t. I’m free! Today I bounced out of bed feeling frisky as a lamb, and Kit and I spent the morning running races in the pasture. She won, but that’s because she cheats.

Yesterday was a horror. You know how I felt when Mark appeared, but the next morning was even worse. He turned up at my door at seven, radiating confidence and certain that we’d have a wedding date set by noon. He wasn’t the least bit interested in the Island, or the Occupation, or Elizabeth, or what I’d been doing since I arrived—didn’t ask a single question about any of it. Then Kit came down to breakfast. That surprised him—he hadn’t really registered her the night before. He had a nice way with her—they talked about dogs—but after a few minutes, it was obvious he was waiting for her to clear off. I suppose in his experience, nannies whisk the children away before they can annoy their parents. Of course, I tried to ignore his irritation and made Kit her breakfast as usual, but I could feel his displeasure billowing across the room.

At last Kit went outside to play, and the minute the door closed behind her, Mark said, “Your new friends must be damned smart—they’ve managed to saddle you with their responsibilities in less than two months.” He shook his head—pitying me for being so gullible.

I just stared at him.

“She’s a cute kid, but she’s got no claim on you, Juliet, and you’re going to have to be firm about it. Get her a nice dolly or something and say good-bye, before she starts thinking you’re going to take care of her for the rest of her life.”

Now I was so angry I couldn’t talk. I stood there, gripping Kit’s porridge bowl with white knuckles. I didn’t throw it at him, but I was close to it. Finally, when I could speak again, I whispered, “Get out.”

“Sorry?”

“I never want to see you again.”

“Juliet?” He really had no idea what I was talking about.

So I explained. Feeling better by the minute, I told him that I would never marry him or anyone else who didn’t love Kit and Guernsey and Charles Lamb.

“What the hell does Charles Lamb have to do with anything?” he yelped (as well he might).

I declined to elucidate. He tried to argue with me, then to coax me, then to kiss me, then to argue with me again, but—it was over, and even Mark knew it. For the first time in ages—since February, when I met him—I was completely sure that I had done the right thing. How could I ever have considered marrying him? One year as his wife, and I’d have become one of those abject, quaking women who look at their husbands when someone asks them a question. I’ve always despised that type, but I see how it happens now.

Two hours later, Mark was on his way to the airfield, never (I hope) to return. And I, disgracefully un-heartbroken, was gobbling raspberry pie at Amelia’s. Last night, I slept the sleep of the innocent for ten blissful hours, and this morning I feel thirty-two again, instead of a hundred.

Kit and I are going to spend this afternoon at the beach, hunting for agates. What a beautiful, beautiful day.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. None of this means anything with regard to Dawsey. Charles Lamb just popped out of my mouth by coincidence. Dawsey didn’t even come to say good-bye before he left. The more I think about it, the more convinced I am that he turned on the cliff to ask if he could borrow my umbrella.

From Juliet to Sidney

27th July, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I knew that Elizabeth had been arrested for sheltering a Todt worker, but I hadn’t known she had an accomplice until a few days ago, when Eben happened to mention Peter Sawyer, “who was arrested with Elizabeth.” “WHAT?” I screeched, and Eben said he’d let Peter tell me about it.

Peter is living now in a nursing home near Le Grand Havre in Vale, so I telephoned him, and he said he’d be very glad to see me—especially if I had a tot of brandy about me.

“Always,” I said.

“Lovely. Come tomorrow,” he replied, and rang off.

Peter is in a wheelchair, but what a driver he is! He races it around like a madman, cuts round corners and can turn on a sixpence. We went outside, sat under an arbor, and he tippled while he talked. This one time, Sidney, I took notes—I couldn’t bear to lose a word.

Peter was already in the wheelchair, but still living in his home in St. Sampson’s, when he found the Todt worker, Lud Jaruzki, a sixteen-year-old Polish boy.

Many of the Todt workers were permitted to leave their pens after dark to scrounge for food—as long as they came back. They were to return for work the next morning—and if they didn’t, a hunt went up for them. This “parole” was one way the Germans had to see the workers didn’t starve—without wasting too much of their own foodstuffs on them.

Almost every Islander had a vegetable garden—some had hen houses and rabbit hutches—a rich harvest for foragers. And that is what the Todt slave workers were—foragers. Most Islanders kept watch over their gardens at night—armed with sticks or poles to defend their vegetables.

Peter stayed outside at night too, in the shadows of his hen house. No pole for him, but a big iron skillet and metal spoon to bang it with and sound the alarm for neighbors to come.

One night he heard—then saw—Lud crawl through a gap in his hedgerow. Peter waited; the boy tried to stand but fell down, he tried to get up again, but couldn’t—he just lay there. Peter wheeled over and stared down at the boy.

“He was a child, Juliet. Just a child—lying faceup in the dirt. Thin, my God he was thin, wasted and filthy, in rags. He was covered with vermin; they came out from under his hair, crawled across his face, crawled over his eyelids. That poor boy didn’t even feel them—no flicker, no nothing. All he’d wanted was a goddamned potato—and he didn’t even have the strength to dig it up. To do this to boys!

“I tell you, I hated those Germans with all my heart. I couldn’t bend down to see if he was breathing, but I got my feet off my chair pedals and managed to prod and poke him until I got his shoulders turned near me. Now, my arms are strong, and I pulled the boy halfway onto my lap. Somehow, I got us both up my ramp and into the kitchen—there, I let the boy fall on the floor. I built up my fire, got a blanket, heated water; I wiped his poor face and hands and drowned every louse and maggot I picked off him.”

Peter couldn’t ask his neighbors for help—they might report him to the Germans. The German Commandant had said anyone who sheltered a Todt worker would be sent to a concentration camp or shot where they stood.

Elizabeth was coming to Peter’s house the next day—she was his Nursing Aid and she visited once a week, sometimes more. He knew Elizabeth well enough to be pretty certain that she’d help him keep the boy alive and she’d keep quiet about it.

“She arrived around mid-morning next day. I met her by the door and said I had trouble waiting inside and if she didn’t want trouble she shouldn’t come in. She knew what I was trying to say, and she nodded and stepped right in. Her jaw clenched when she knelt by Lud on the floor—he smelled something fierce—but she got down to business. She cut off his clothes and burned them. She bathed him, shampooed his hair with tar soap—that was a jolly mess, we did laugh, if you can believe it. Either that or the cold water woke him up some. He was startled—scared till he saw who we were. Elizabeth, she kept speaking softly, not that he could understand a word she said, but he was soothed. We hauled him into my bedroom—we couldn’t keep him in my kitchen, neighbors might come in and see him. Well, Elizabeth nursed him. There wasn’t any medicine she could get—but she got soup bones for broth and real bread, on the Black Market. I had eggs, and bit by bit, day by day, he got his strength back. He slept a lot. Sometimes Elizabeth had to come after dark, but before curfew. It wouldn’t do for anyone to see her coming to my house too often. People told on their neighbors, you know—trying to curry favor, or food, from the Germans.

“But someone did notice, and someone did tell—I don’t know who it was. They told the Feldpolizei, and they came on that Tuesday night. Elizabeth had bought some chicken meat, stewed it, and was feeding Lud. I sat by his bedstead.

“They surrounded the house, all quiet until they busted in. Well—we was caught, fair and square. Taken that night, all of us, and God knows what they did to that boy. There wasn’t any trial, and we was put on a boat to St. Malo the next day. That’s the last I saw of Elizabeth, led into the boat by one of the guards from the prison. She looked so cold. I didn’t see her after, when we got to France, and I didn’t know where they sent her. They sent me to the federal prison in Coutances, but they didn’t know what to do with a prisoner in a wheelchair, so they sent me home again after a week. They told me to be grateful for their leniency.”

Peter said he knew Elizabeth had left Kit with Amelia whenever she came to his house. Nobody knew Elizabeth was helping with the Todt worker. He believes she let everyone think she had hospital duty.

Those are the bare bones, Sidney, but Peter asked if I would come back again. I said, yes, I’d love to—and he told me not to bring brandy—just myself. He did say he would like to see some picture magazines if I had any to hand. He wants to know who Rita Hayworth is.

Love,
Juliet

From Dawsey to Juliet

7th July, 1946

Dear Juliet,

It will soon be time for me to gather Remy from the hospice, but as I have a few minutes, I will use them to write to you.

Remy seems stronger now than she was last month, but she is very frail yet. Sister Touvier drew me aside to caution me—I must see to it that she gets enough to eat, that she stays warm, that she’s not upset. She must be around people—cheerful people, if possible.

I’ve no doubt that Remy will get nourishing food, and Amelia will see to it that she’s warm enough, but how am I to serve up good cheer? Joking and such is not natural to me. I didn’t know what to say to the Sister, so I just nodded and tried to look jolly. I think I was not a success, for Sister glanced at me sharply.

Well, I will do my best, but you, blessed as you are with a sunny nature and light heart, would make a better companion for Remy than I. I don’t doubt she will take to you as we all have, these last months, and you will do her good.

Give Kit a hug and kiss for me. I will see you both on Tuesday.

Dawsey

From Juliet to Sophie

29th July, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Please ignore everything I have ever said about Dawsey Adams.

I am an idiot.

I have just received a letter from Dawsey praising the medicinal qualities of my “sunny nature and light heart.”

A sunny nature? A light heart? I have never been so insulted. Light-hearted is a short step from witless in my book. A cackling buffoon—that’s what I am to Dawsey.

I am also humiliated—while I was feeling the knife-edge of attraction as we strolled through the moonlight, he was thinking about Remy and how my light-minded prattle would amuse her.

No, it’s clear that I was deluded and Dawsey doesn’t give two straws for me.

I am too irritated to write more now.

Love always,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

1st August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Remy is here at last. She is petite and terribly thin, with short black hair and eyes that are nearly black too. I had imagined that she would look wounded, but she doesn’t, except for a little limp, which shows itself as a mere hesitancy in her walk, and a rather stiff way of moving her neck.

Now I’ve made her sound waiflike, and she isn’t, really. You might think so from a distance, but never up close. There is a grave intensity in her that is almost unnerving. She is not cold and certainly not unfriendly, but she seems to be leery of spontaneity. I suppose if I had been through her experience, I would be the same—a bit removed from daily life.

You can cross out all of the above when Remy is with Kit. At first, she seemed inclined to follow Kit around with her eyes instead of talking to her, but that changed when Kit offered to teach her how to lisp. Remy looked startled, but she agreed to take lessons and they went off to Amelia’s greenhouse together. Her lisp is hampered by her accent, but Kit doesn’t hold that against her and has generously given her extra instructions.

Amelia had a small dinner party the evening Remy arrived. Everyone was on their best behavior—Isola arrived with a big bottle of tonic under her arm, but she thought better of it once she had a look at Remy. “Might kill her,” she muttered to me in the kitchen, and stuffed it in her coat pocket. Eli shook her hand nervously and then retreated—I think he was afraid he’d hurt her accidentally. I was pleased to see that Remy was comfortable with Amelia—they will enjoy each other’s company—but Dawsey is her favorite. When he came into the sitting room—he was a little later than the rest—she relaxed visibly and even smiled at him.

Yesterday was cold and foggy, but Remy and Kit and I built a sandcastle on Elizabeth’s tiny beach. We spent a long time on its construction, and it was a fine, towering specimen. I had made a thermos of cocoa, and we sat drinking and waiting impatiently for the tide to come in and knock the castle down.

Kit ran up and down the shoreline, inciting the waters to rush in farther and faster. Remy touched my shoulder and smiled. “Elizabeth must have been like that once,” she said, “the Empress of the seas.” I felt as if she had given me a gift—even such a tiny gesture as a touch takes trust—and I was glad she felt safe with me.

While Kit danced in the waves, Remy spoke about Elizabeth. She had intended to keep her head down, conserve the strength she had left, and come home as quickly as she could after the war. “We thought it would be possible. We knew of the invasion, we saw all the Allied bombers flying over the camp. We knew what was happening in Berlin. The guards could not keep their fear from us. Each night we lay sleepless, waiting to hear the Allied tanks at the gates. We whispered that we could be free the next day. We did not believe we would die.”

There didn’t seem to be anything else to say after that—though I was thinking, if only Elizabeth could have held on for a few more weeks, she could have come home to Kit. Why, why, so close to the end, did she attack the overseer?

Remy watched the sea breathe in and out. Then she said, “It would have been better for her not to have such a heart.”

Yes, but worse for the rest of us.

The tide came in then: cheers, screams, and no more castle.

Love,
Juliet

From Isola to Sidney

1st August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I am the new Secretary of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society. I thought you might like to see a sample of my first minutes, being as how you are interested in anything Juliet is interested in. Here they are:


30th July–1946–7:30 P.M.

Night cold. Ocean noisy. Will Thisbee was host. House dusted, but curtains need washing.

Mrs. Winslow Daubbs read a chapter from her autobiography, The Life and Loves of Delilah Daubbs. Audience attentive—but silent afterwards. Except for Winslow, who wants a divorce.

All were embarrassed, so Juliet and Amelia served the dessert they’d made earlier—a lovely ribbon cake, on real china plates—which we don’t usually run to.

Miss Minor then rose to ask if we were going to start being our own authors, could she read from a book of her very own thoughts? Her text is called The Common Place Book of Mary Margaret Minor.

Everybody already knows what Mary Margaret thinks about everything, but we said “Aye” because we all like Mary Margaret. Will Thisbee ventured to say that perhaps Mary Margaret will edit herself in writing, as she has never done in talking, so it might not be so bad.

I moved we have a specially called meeting next week so I don’t have to wait to talk about Jane Austen. Dawsey seconded! All said, “Aye.” Meeting adjourned.


Miss Isola Pribby,

Official Secretary to the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society





Now that I’m Official Secretary, I could swear you in for a member if you’d like to be one. It’s against the rules, because you’re not an Islander, but I could do it in secret.

Your friend,
Isola

From Juliet to Sidney

3rd August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Someone—and I can’t imagine who—has sent Isola a present from Stephens & Stark. It was published in the mid-1800s and is named The New Illustrated Self-Instructor in Phrenology and Psychiatry: with Size and Shape Tables and Over One-Hundred Illustrations. If that is not enough, there’s a sub-title: Phrenology: the Science of Interpreting Bumps on the Head.

Eben had Kit and me, Dawsey, Isola, Will, Amelia, and Remy over for supper last night. Isola arrived with tables, sketches, graph paper, a measuring tape, calipers, and a new notebook. Then she cleared her throat and read the advertisement on the first page: “You too can learn to read Head Bumps! Stun Your Friends, Confound Your Enemies with Indisputable Knowledge of Their Human Faculties or Lack of Them.”

She thumped the book onto the table. “I’m going to become an adept,” she announced, “in time for the Harvest Festival.”

She has told Pastor Elstone she will no longer dress up in shawls and pretend to read palms. No, from now on she will see the future in a Scientific way, by reading head bumps! The church will make far more money from head bumps than Miss Sybil Beddoes does with her booth, WIN A KISS FROM SYBIL BEDDOES.

Will said she was exactly right; Miss Beddoes wasn’t a good kisser and he for one was tired of kissing her, even for Sweet Charity’s sake.

Sidney, do you realize what you have unleashed on Guernsey? Isola’s already read the lumps on Mr. Singleton’s head (his stall is next to hers at market) and told him his Love of Fellow Creatures Bump had a shallow trench right down the middle—which was probably why he didn’t feed his dog enough.

Do you see where this could lead? Someday she’ll find someone with a Latent Killer Knot, and he’ll shoot her—if Miss Beddoes doesn’t get her first.

One wonderful, unexpected thing did come from your present. After dessert Isola began to read the bumps on Eben’s head—dictating the measurements for me to write down. I glanced over at Remy, wondering what she would make of Eben’s hair standing on end, and Isola rummaging through it. Remy was trying to stifle a smile, but she couldn’t manage it and burst out laughing. Dawsey and I stopped dead and stared at her!

She is so quiet, not a one of us could imagine such a laugh. It was like water. I hope I’ll hear it again.

Dawsey and I have not been as easy with one another as we once were, though he still comes often to visit Kit, or to walk Remy over to see us. Hearing Remy laugh is the first time we’ve caught eyes for a fortnight. But perhaps he was only admiring how my sunny nature had rubbed off on her. I do, according to some people, have a sunny nature, Sidney. Did you know that?

Billee Bee sent a copy of Screen Gems magazine to Peter. There was a photo essay on Rita Hayworth—Peter was delighted, though surprised to see Miss Hayworth posing in her nightdress! Kneeling on a bed! What was the world coming to?

Sidney, isn’t Billee Bee tired of being sent on personal errands for me?

Love,
Juliet

From Susan Scott to Juliet

5th August, 1946

Dear Juliet,

You know Sidney does not keep your letters clasped next to his heart; he leaves them open on his desk for anyone to see, so of course I read them.

I am writing to reassure you about Billee Bee’s errand-running. Sidney doesn’t ask her. She begs to perform any little service she can for him, or you, or “that dear child.” She all but coos at him and I all but gag at her. She wears a little angora cap with a chin bow—the kind that Sonja Henie skates in. Need I say more?

Also, contrary to what Sidney thinks, she isn’t an angel straight from Heaven, she’s from an employment agency. Meant to be temporary, she has dug herself in—and is now indispensable and permanent. Can’t you think of some living creature Kit would like to have from the Galapagos? Billee Bee would sail on the next tide for it—and be gone for months. Possibly forever, if some animal there would just eat her.

All my best to you and Kit,
Susan

From Isola to Sidney

5th August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I know it was you who sent The New Illustrated Self-Instructor in Phrenology and Psychiatry: with Size and Shape Tables and Over One-Hundred Illustrations. It is a very useful book and I thank you for it. I’ve been studying hard, and I’ve got so I can finger through a whole headful of bumps without peeking into the book more than three or four times. I hope to make a mint for the church at the Harvest Festival, as who would not desire to have their innermost workings—good and rotten—revealed by the Science of Phrenology? No one, that’s who.

It’s a real lightning bolt, this Science of Phrenology. I’ve found out more in the last three days than I knew in my whole life before. Mrs. Guilbert has always been a nasty one, but now I know that she can’t help it—she’s got a big pit in her Benevolence spot. She fell in the quarry when she was a girl, and my guess is she cracked her Benevolence and was never the same since.

Even my own friends are full of surprises. Eben is Garrulous! I never would have thought it of him, but he’s got bags under his eyes and there’s no two ways about it. I broke it to him gently. Juliet didn’t want to have her bumps read at first, but she agreed when I told her that she was standing in the way of Science. She’s awash in Amativeness, is Juliet. Also Conjugal Love. I told her it was a wonder she wasn’t married, with such great mounds.

Will cackles up, “Your Mr. Stark will be a lucky man, Juliet!” Juliet blushed red as a tomato, and I was tempted to say he didn’t know much because Mr. Stark is a homosexual, but I recollected myself and kept your secret like I promised.

Dawsey up and left then, so I never got to his lumps, but I’ll pin him down soon. I think I don’t understand Dawsey sometimes. For a while there, he was downright chatty, but these days he doesn’t have two words to rub together.

Thank you again for the fine book.

Your friend,
Isola

Telegram from Sidney to Juliet

6th August, 1946


BOUGHT A SMALL BAGPIPE FOR DOMINIC AT GUNTHERS YESTERDAY. WOULD KIT LIKE ONE? LET ME KNOW SOONEST AS THEY ONLY HAVE ONE LEFT. HOW’S THE WRITING? LOVE TO YOU AND KIT. SIDNEY



From Juliet to Sidney

7th August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Kit would love a bagpipe. I would not.

I think the work is going splendidly, but I’d like to send you the first two chapters—I won’t feel settled until you’ve read it. Do you have the time?

Every biography should be written within a generation of its subject’s life, while he or she is still in living memory. Think what I could have done for Anne Brontë if I’d been able to speak to her neighbors. Perhaps she wasn’t really meek and melancholy—perhaps she had a screaming temper and dashed the crockery to the floor regularly once a week.

Each day I learn something new about Elizabeth. How I wish I had known her myself! As I write, I catch myself thinking of her as a friend, remembering things she did as though I’d been there—she’s so full of life that I have to remind myself she’s dead, and then I feel the wrench of losing her again.

I heard a story about her today that made me want to lie down and weep. We had supper with Eben this evening, and afterward Eli and Kit went out to dig for earthworms (a chore best done by the light of the moon). Eben and I took our coffee outside, and for the first time he chose to talk about Elizabeth to me.

It happened at the school where Eli and the other children were waiting for the Evacuation ships to come. Eben was not there, because the families were not allowed, but Isola saw it happen, and she told him about it that night.

She said the room was full of children, and Elizabeth was buttoning up Eli’s coat, when he told her he was scared about getting on the boat—going away from his mother and his home. If their ship was bombed, he asked, who would he say good-bye to? Isola said that Elizabeth took her time, like she was studying his question. Then she pulled up her sweater and took a pin off her blouse. It was her father’s medal from the first war, and she always wore it.

She held it in her hand and explained to him that it was a magic badge, that nothing bad could happen to him while he wore it. Then she had Eli spit on it twice to call up the charm. Isola saw Eli’s face over Elizabeth’s shoulder and told Eben that it had that beautiful light children have before the Age of Reason gets at them.

Of all the things that happened during the war, this one—making your children go away to try to keep them safe—was surely the most terrible. I don’t know how they endured it. It defies the animal instinct to protect your young. I see myself becoming bearlike around Kit. Even when I’m not actually watching her, I’m watching her. If she’s in any sort of danger (which she often is, given her taste in climbing), my hackles rise—I didn’t even know I had hackles before—and I run to rescue her. When her enemy, the parson’s nephew, threw plums at her, I roared at him. And through some queer sort of intuition, I always know where she is, just as I know where my hands are—and if I didn’t, I should be sick with worry. This is how the species survives, I suppose, but the war threw a wrench in all that. How did the mothers of Guernsey live, not knowing where their children were? I can’t imagine.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. How about a flute?

From Juliet to Sophie

9th August, 1946

Darling Sophie,

What lovely news—a new baby! Wonderful! I do hope you won’t have to eat dry biscuits and suck lemons this time. I know you two don’t care which/what/who you have, but I would love a girl. To that end, I am knitting a tiny matinee jacket and cap in pink wool. Of course Alexander is delighted, but what about Dominic?

I told Isola your news, and I’m afraid she may send you a bottle of her Pre-Birthing Tonic. Sophie—please don’t drink it and don’t dispose of it where the dogs might find it. There may not be anything actually poisonous in her tonics, but I don’t think you should take any chances.

Your inquiries about Dawsey are misdirected. Send them to Kit—or Remy. I scarcely see the man anymore, and when I do, he is silent. Not silent in a romantic, brooding way, like Mr. Rochester, but in a grave and sober way that indicates disapproval. I don’t know what the trouble is, truly I don’t. When I arrived in Guernsey, Dawsey was my friend. We talked about Charles Lamb and we walked all over the Island together—and I enjoyed his company as much as that of anyone I’ve ever known. Then, after that appalling night on the headlands, he stopped talking—to me, at any rate. It’s been a terrible disappointment. I miss the feeling that we understood one another, but I begin to think that was only my delusion all along.

Not being silent myself, I am wildly curious about people who are. Since Dawsey doesn’t talk about himself—doesn’t talk at all, to me—I was reduced to questioning Isola about his head bumps to get information about his past life. But Isola is beginning to fear that the lumps may lie after all, and she offered as proof the fact that Dawsey’s Violence-Prone Node isn’t as big as it should be, given he almost beat Eddie Meares to death!!!!

Those exclamations are mine. Isola seemed to think nothing at all of it.

It seems Eddie Meares was big and mean and gave/traded/sold information to the German authorities for favors from them. Everyone knew, which didn’t seem to bother him, since he’d go to a bar to brag and show off his new wealth: a loaf of white bread, cigarettes, and silk stockings—which, he said, any girl on the Island would surely be plenty grateful for.

A week after Elizabeth and Peter were arrested, he was showing off a silver cigarette case, hinting it was a reward for reporting some goings-on he’d seen at Peter Sawyer’s house.

Dawsey heard of it and went to Crazy Ida’s the next night. Apparently, he went in, walked up to Eddie Meares, grabbed him by the shirt collar, lifted him up off his bar stool, and began banging his head on the bar. He called Eddie a lousy little shit, pounding his head down between each word. Then he yanked Eddie off the stool and they set to it on the floor.

According to Isola, Dawsey was a mess: nose, mouth bleeding, one eye puffed shut, one rib cracked—but Eddie Meares was a bigger mess: two black eyes, two ribs broken, and stitches. The Court sentenced Dawsey to three months in the Guernsey jail, though they let him out in one. The Germans needed their jail space for more serious criminals—like Black Marketeers and the thieves who stole petrol from army lorries.

“And to this day, when Eddie Meares spies Dawsey coming through the door of Crazy Ida’s, his eyes go shifty and his beer spills and not five minutes later, he’s sidling out the back door,” Isola concluded.

Naturally, I was agog and begged for more. Since she’s disillusioned with bumps, Isola moved on to actual facts.

Dawsey did not have a very happy childhood. His father died when he was eleven, and Mrs. Adams, who’d always been poorly, grew odd. She became fearful, first of going into town, then of going into her own yard, and finally, she wouldn’t leave the house at all. She would just sit in the kitchen, rocking and staring out at nothing Dawsey could ever see. She died shortly before the war began.

Isola said that what with all of this—his mother, farming, and stuttering so bad at one time—it came to pass that Dawsey was always shy and never, except for Eben, had any ready-made friends. Isola and Amelia were acquainted with him, but that was about all.

That was how matters stood until Elizabeth came—and made him be friends. Forced him, really, into the Literary Society. And then, Isola said, how he did blossom! Now he had books to talk about instead of swine fever—and friends to talk with. The more he talked, says Isola, the less he stuttered.

He’s a mysterious creature, isn’t he? Perhaps he is like Mr. Rochester, and has a secret sorrow. Or a mad wife down in his cellar. Anything is possible, I suppose, but it would have been difficult to feed a mad wife on one ration book during the war. Oh dear, I wish we were friends again (Dawsey and I, not the mad wife).

I meant to dispatch Dawsey in a terse sentence or two, but I see that he has taken several sheets. Now I must rush to make myself presentable for tonight’s meeting of the Society. I have exactly one decent skirt to my name, and I have been feeling dowdy. Remy, for all she’s so frail and thin, manages to look stylish at every turn. What is it about French women?

More anon.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

11th August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

I am happy that you are happy with my progress on Elizabeth’s biography. But more about that later—for I have something to tell you that simply cannot wait. I hardly dare believe it myself, but it’s true. I saw it with my own eyes!

If, and mind you only if, I am correct, Stephens & Stark will have the publishing coup of the century. Papers will be written, degrees granted, and Isola will be pursued by every scholar, university, library, and filthy-rich private collector in the Western Hemisphere.

Here are the facts—Isola was to speak at last night’s Society meeting on Pride and Prejudice, but Ariel ate her notes right before supper. So, in lieu of Jane, and in a desperate hurry, she grabbed up some letters written to her dear Granny Pheen (short for Josephine). They, the letters, made up a kind of a story.

She pulled the letters out of her pocket, and Will Thisbee, seeing them swathed in pink silk and tied with a satin bow, cried out, “Love letters, I’ll be bound! Will there be secrets? Intimacies? Should gentlemen leave the room?”

Isola told him to hush up and sit down. She said they were letters to her Granny Pheen from a very kind man—a stranger—when she was but a little girl. Granny had kept them in a biscuit tin and had often read them to her, Isola, as a bedtime story.

Sidney, there were eight letters, and I’m not going to attempt to describe their contents to you—I’d fail miserably.

Isola told us that when Granny Pheen was nine years old, her father drowned her cat. Muffin had apparently climbed onto the table and licked the butter dish. That was enough for Pheen’s beastly father—he thrust Muffin into a burlap bag, added some rocks, tied up the sack, and flung Muffin into the ocean. Then, meeting Pheen walking home from school, he told her what he’d done—and good riddance, too.

He then toddled off to the tavern and left Granny sitting plumb in the middle of the road, sobbing out her heart.

A carriage, driving far too fast, came within a whisker of running her down. The coachman rose from his seat and began to curse her, but his passenger—a very big man, in a dark coat with a fur collar, jumped out. He told the driver to be quiet, leaned over Pheen, and asked if he could help her.

Granny Pheen said no, no—she was beyond help. Her cat was gone! Her Pa had drowned Muffin, and now Muffin was dead—dead and gone forever.

The man said, “Of course Muffin’s not dead. You do know cats have nine lives, don’t you?” When Pheen said yes, she had heard of such before, the man said, “Well, I happen to know your Muffin was only on her third life, so she has six lives left.”

Pheen asked how he knew. He said he just did, He Always Knew—it was a gift he’d been born with. He didn’t know how or why it happened, but cats would often appear in his mind and chat with him. Well, not in words of course, but in pictures.

Then he sat down in the road beside her and said for them to keep still—very still. He would see if Muffin wanted to visit with him. They sat in silence for several minutes, when suddenly the man grabbed Pheen’s hand!

“Ah—yes! There she is! She’s being born this minute! In a mansion—no, a castle. I think she’s in France—yes, she’s in France. There’s a little boy petting her—stroking her fur. He loves her already, and he’s going to name her—how strange, he is going to name her Solange. That’s a strange name for a cat, but still. She is going to live a long, lovely venturesome life. This Solange has great spirit, great verve, I can tell already!”

Granny Pheen told Isola she was so rapt by Muffin’s new fate, she quit crying. But she told the man she would still miss Muffin so much. The man lifted her to her feet and said of course she would—she should mourn for such a fine cat as Muffin had been and she would grieve for some time yet.

However, he said, he would call on Solange every once in a while and find out how she was faring and what she was up to. He asked Granny Pheen’s name and the name of the farm where she lived. He wrote her answers down in a small notebook with a silver pencil, told her she’d be hearing from him, kissed her hand, got back into the carriage, and left.

Absurd as all this sounds, Sidney, Granny Pheen did receive letters. Eight long letters over a year—all about Muffin’s life as the French cat Solange. She was, apparently, something of a feline Musketeer. She was no idle cat, lolling about on cushions, lapping up cream—she lived through one wild adventure after another—the only cat ever to be awarded the red rosette of the Legion of Honor.

What a story this man made up for Pheen—lively, witty, full of drama and suspense. I can only tell you the effect it had on me—on all of us. We sat enchanted—even Will was left speechless.

But here, at last, is why I need a sane head and sober counsel. When the program was over (and much applauded), I asked Isola if I could see the letters, and she handed them to me.

Sidney, the writer had signed his letters with a grand flourish:

Very Truly Yours,
O. F. O’F. W. W.

Sidney, do you suppose? Could it possibly be that Isola has inherited eight letters written by Oscar Wilde? Oh God, I am beside myself.

I believe it because I want to believe it, but is it recorded anywhere that Oscar Wilde ever set foot on Guernsey? Oh, bless Speranza, for giving her son such a preposterous name as Oscar Fingal O’Flahertie Wills Wilde.

In haste and love and please advise at once—I’m having difficulty breathing.

Juliet

Night Letter from Sidney to Juliet

13th August, 1946

Let’s believe it! Billee did some research and discovered that Oscar Wilde visited Jersey for a week in 1893, so it’s possible he went to Guernsey then. The noted graphologist Sir William Otis will arrive on Friday, armed with some borrowed letters of Oscar Wilde’s from his university’s collection. I’ve booked rooms for him at the Royal Hotel. He’s a very dignified sort, and I doubt he’d want Zenobia roosting on his shoulder.

If Will Thisbee finds the Holy Grail in his junkyard, don’t tell me. My heart can’t stand much more.

Love to you and Kit and Isola,
Sidney

From Isola to Sidney

14th August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Juliet says you’re sending a hand-writing fellow to look at Granny Pheen’s letters and decide if Mr. Oscar Wilde wrote them. I’ll bet he did, and even if he didn’t, I think you will admire Solange’s story. I did, Kit did, and I know Granny Pheen did. She would twirl, happy in her grave, to have so many others know about that nice man and his funny ideas.

Juliet told me if Mr. Wilde did write the letters, many teachers and schools and libraries would want to own them and would offer me sums of money for them. They would be sure and keep them in a safe, dry, properly cooled place.

I say no to that! They are safe and dry and chilly now. Granny kept them in her biscuit tin, and in her biscuit tin they’ll stay. Of course anyone who wants to come see them can visit me here, and I’ll let them have a look. Juliet said lots of scholars would probably come, which would be nice for me and Zenobia—as we like company.

If you’d like the letters for a book, you can have them, though I hope you will let me write what Juliet calls the preface. I’d like to tell about Granny Pheen, and I have a picture of her and Muffin by the pump. Juliet told me about royalties and then I could buy me a motorcycle with a sidecar—there is a red one, second-hand, down at Lenoux’s Garage.

Your friend,
Isola Pribby

From Juliet to Sidney

18th August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Sir William has come and gone. Isola invited me to be present for the inspection, and of course I jumped at the chance. Promptly at nine, Sir William appeared on the kitchen steps; I panicked at the sight of him in his sober black suit—what if Granny Pheen’s letters were merely the work of some fanciful farmer? What would Sir William do to us—and you—for wasting his time?

He settled grimly among Isola’s sheaves of hemlock and hyssop, dusted his fingers with a snowy handkerchief, fitted a little glass into one eye, and slowly removed the first letter from the biscuit tin.

A long silence followed. Isola and I looked at one another. Sir William took another letter from the biscuit tin. Isola and I held our breath. Sir William sighed. We twitched. “Hmmmm,” he murmured. We nodded at him encouragingly, but it was no good—there was another silence. This one stretched on for several weeks.

Then he looked at us and nodded.

“Yes?” I said, hardly daring to breathe.

“I’m pleased to confirm that you are in possession of eight letters written by Oscar Wilde, madam,” he said to Isola with a little bow.

“GLORY BE!” bellowed Isola, and she reached round the table and clutched Sir William into a hug. He looked somewhat startled at first, but then he smiled and patted her cautiously on the back.

He took one page back with him to get the corroboration of another Wilde scholar, but he told me that was purely for “show.” He was certain he was correct.

He may not tell you that Isola took him for a test drive in Mr. Lenoux’s motorcycle—Isola at the wheel, he in the sidecar, Zenobia on his shoulder. They got a citation for reckless driving, which Sir William assured Isola he would be “privileged to pay.” As Isola says, for a noted graphologist, he’s a good sport.

But he’s no substitute for you. When are you going to come see the letters—and, incidentally, me—for yourself? Kit will do a tap dance in your honor and I will stand on my head. I still can, you know.

Just to torment you, I won’t tell any news. You’ll have to come and find out for yourself.

Love,
Juliet

Telegram from Billee Bee to Juliet

20th August, 1946


DEAR MR. STARK CALLED SUDDENLY TO ROME. ASKED ME TO COME AND COLLECT LETTERS THIS THURSDAY. PLEASE WIRE IF THIS SUITS; LONGING FOR PETITE VACANCE ON DARLING ISLAND. BILLEE BEE JONES



Telegram from Juliet to Billee Bee


I’D BE DELIGHTED. PLEASE LET ME KNOW ARRIVAL TIME, AND I’LL MEET YOU. JULIET.



From Juliet to Sophie

22nd August, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Your brother is becoming altogether too august for my taste—he has sent an emissary to retrieve Oscar Wilde’s letters for him! Billee Bee arrived on the morning mail boat. It was a very rough voyage so she was shaky-legged and green-faced—but game! She couldn’t manage lunch, but she rallied for dinner and made a lively guest at tonight’s Literary Society meeting.

One awkward moment—Kit doesn’t seem to like her. She backed away and said, “I don’t kiss,” when Billee attempted one. What do you do when Dominic is rude—chastise him on the spot, which seems embarrassing for everyone, or wait until later for privacy? Billee Bee covered beautifully, but that shows her good manners, not Kit’s. I waited, but I’d like your opinion.

Ever since I learned that Elizabeth was dead and Kit an orphan, I have worried about her future—and about my own future without her. I think it would be unbearable. I’m going to make an appointment with Mr. Dilwyn when he and Mrs. Dilwyn return from their holiday. He is her legal guardian, and I want to discuss my possible guardianship/adoption/foster-parenting of Kit. Of course, I want outright adoption, but I’m not sure Mr. Dilwyn would consider a spinster lady of flexible income and no fixed abode a desirable parent.

I haven’t said a word about this to anyone here, or to Sidney. There is so much to dither over—What would Amelia say? Would Kit like the idea? Is she old enough to decide? Where would we live? Can I take her away from the place she loves for London? A restricted city life instead of going about in boats and playing tag in cemeteries? Kit would have you, me, and Sidney in England, but what about Dawsey and Amelia and all the family she has here? It would be impossible to replace or replicate them. Can you imagine a London nursery-school teacher with Isola’s flair? Of course not.

I argue myself all the way to one end of the question and back again several times a day. One thing I am sure of, though, is that I want to take care of Kit forever.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. If Mr. Dilwyn says no, not possible—I might just grab Kit up and come hide out in your barn.

From Juliet to Sidney

23rd August, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Called suddenly to Rome, were you? Have you been elected Pope? It had better be something at least that pressing, to excuse your sending Billee Bee to collect the letters in your stead. And I don’t know why copies won’t do; Billee says you insist on seeing the originals. Isola would not countenance such a request from any other person on earth, but for you, she’ll do it. Please do be awfully careful with them, Sidney—they are the pride of her heart. And see that you return them in person.

Not that we don’t like Billee Bee. She’s a very enthusiastic guest—she’s outdoors sketching wildflowers this minute. I can see her little cap among the grasses. She thoroughly enjoyed her introduction to the Literary Society last night. She made a little speech at the end of the meeting and even asked Will Thisbee for the recipe of his delicious Apple Puff. This may have been carrying good manners too far—all we could see was a blob of dough that didn’t rise, covering a yellowish substance in the middle and all peppered through with seeds.

I am sorry you weren’t in attendance, for the evening’s speaker was Augustus Sarre, and he spoke on your favorite book, The Canterbury Tales. He chose to read “The Parson’s Tale” first because he knew what a Parson did for a living—not like those other fellows in the book: a Reeve, a Franklin, or a Summoner. “The Parson’s Tale” disgusted him so much he could read no more.

Fortunately for you, I made careful mental notes, so I can give you the gist of his remarks. To wit: Augustus would never let a child of his read Chaucer, it would turn him against Life in general and God in particular. To hear the Parson tell it, life was a cesspool (or as near as), where a man must wade through the muck as best he could; evil ever seeking him out, and evil ever finding him. (Don’t you think Augustus has a touch of the poet about him? I do.)

Poor old man must forever be doing penance or atoning or fasting or lashing himself with knotted ropes. All because he was Born in Sin—and there he’d stay until the last minute of his life, when he would receive God’s Mercy.

“Think of it, friends,” Augustus said, “a lifetime of misery with God not letting you draw one easy breath. Then in your last few minutes—POOF!—you’d get Mercy. Thanks for nothing, I say.

“That’s not all, Friends: man must never think well of himself—that is called the sin of Pride. Friends, show me a man who hates himself, and I’ll show you a man who hates his neighbors more! He’d have to—you’d not grant anyone else something you can’t have for yourself—no love, no kindness, no respect! So I say, Shame on the Parson! Shame on Chaucer!” Augustus sat down with a thump.

Two hours of lively discussion on Original Sin and Predestination followed. Finally, Remy stood to speak—she’d never done so before, and the room fell silent. She said softly, “If there is Predestination, then God is the devil.” No one could argue with that—what kind of God would intentionally design Ravensbrück?

Isola is having several of us to supper tonight, with Billee Bee as guest of honor. Isola said that though she doesn’t like rifling through a stranger’s hair, she will read Billee Bee’s bumps, as a favor to her dear friend Sidney.

Love,
Juliet

Telegram from Susan Scott to Juliet

24th August, 1946


DEAR JULIET: AM APPALLED BILLEE BEE ON GUERNSEY TO COLLECT LETTERS. STOP! DO NOT—I REPEAT—DO NOT TRUST HER. DO NOT GIVE HER ANYTHING. IVOR, OUR NEW SUB-EDITOR, SAW BILLEE BEE AND GILLY GILBERT (HE OF THE LONDON HUE AND CRY AND LATE VICTIM OF YOUR TEAPOT THROWING) EXCHANGING LONG, LOOSE-LIPPED KISSES IN THE PARK. THE TWO OF THEM TOGETHER BODES ILL. SEND HER PACKING, WITHOUT THE WILDE LETTERS. LOVE, SUSAN



From Juliet to Susan

25th August, 1946
2:00 A.M.

Dear Susan,

You are a heroine! Isola herewith grants you an honorary membership in the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, and Kit is making you a special present that involves sand and paste (you’ll want to open that parcel outdoors).

The telegram came in the nick of time. Isola and Kit had gone out early to collect herbs, and Billee Bee and I were alone in the house—I thought—when I read your telegram. I bolted up the stairs and into her room—she was gone, her suitcase was gone, her handbag was gone, and the letters were gone!

I was terrified. I ran downstairs and telephoned Dawsey to come quick and help hunt for her. He did, but first he called Booker and asked him to check the harbor. He was to stop Billee Bee from leaving Guernsey—at any cost!

Dawsey arrived quickly and we hurried down the road toward town.

I was half-trotting along behind him, looking in hedgerows and behind bushes. We had drawn even with Isola’s farm when Dawsey suddenly stopped short and began to laugh.

There, sitting on the ground in front of Isola’s smokehouse, were Kit and Isola. Kit was holding her new quilted ferret (a gift from Billee Bee) and a big brown envelope. Isola was sitting on Billee Bee’s suitcase—a Portrait of Innocence, the both of them—while an awful squawking was coming from inside the smokehouse.

I rushed to hug Kit and the envelope to me, while Dawsey undid the wooden peg from the smokehouse hasp. There, crouched in a corner, cursing and flailing, was Billee Bee—Isola’s parrot, Zenobia, flapping around her. She had already snatched off Billee Bee’s little cap, and pieces of angora wool were floating through the air.

Dawsey lifted her up and brought her outside—Billee Bee screaming all the while. She’d been set upon by a crazed witch. Assaulted by her Familiar, a child—clearly one of the Devil’s Own! We’d regret it! There’d be lawsuits, arrests, prison for the lot of us! We’d not see daylight again!

“It’s you who won’t see daylight, you sneak! Robber! Ingrate!” shouted Isola.

“You stole those letters,” I screamed. “You stole them from Isola’s biscuit tin and tried to sneak off with them! What were you and Gilly Gilbert going to do with them?”

Billee Bee shrieked, “None of your business! Wait till I tell him what you’ve done to me!”

“You do that little thing!” I snapped. “Tell the world about you and Gilly. I can see the headlines now—‘Gilly Gilbert Seduces Girl to Life of Crime!’ ‘From Love-Nest to Lock-up! See Page Three!’ ”

That shushed her for a moment and then, with the exquisite timing and presence of a great actor, Booker arrived, looking huge and vaguely official in an old army coat. Remy was with him, carrying a hoe! Booker viewed the scene and glared so fiercely at Billee Bee, I was almost sorry for her.

He took her arm and said, “Now, you’ll collect your rightful belongings and take your leave. I’ll not arrest you—not this time! I will escort you to the harbor and personally put you aboard the next boat to England.”

Billee Bee stumbled forward and gathered up her suitcase and handbag—then she made a lunge for Kit and yanked the quilted ferret out of her arms. “I’m sorry I ever gave it to you, you little brat.”

How I wanted to slap her! So I did—and I feel sure it jarred her back teeth loose. I don’t know but what island living is getting to me.

My eyes are falling shut on me, but I must tell you the reason for Kit and Isola’s early-morning herb collecting. Isola felt Billee Bee’s head bumps last night and didn’t like her reading at all. B.B.’s Duplicitous Bump was big as a goose egg. Then—Kit told her she’d seen Billee Bee in her kitchen, prowling through the shelves. That was enough for Isola, and they set their surveillance plan in motion. They would shadow Billee Bee today and see what they would see!

They rose early, skulked behind bushes, and saw Billee Bee tiptoeing out of my back door with a big envelope. They followed her a bit, until she passed by Isola’s farm. Isola pounced and manhandled her into the smokehouse. Kit gathered all of Billee Bee’s possessions from the dirt, and Isola went to get her claustrophobic parrot, Zenobia, and threw her into the smokehouse with Billee Bee.

But, Susan, what on earth were she and Gilly Gilbert going to do with the letters? Weren’t they worried about being arrested for thieving?

I am so grateful to you and Ivor. Please thank him for everything: his keen eyesight, his suspicious mind, and his good sense. Better yet, kiss him for me. He’s wonderful! Shouldn’t Sidney promote him from Sub-Editor to Editor-in-Chief?

Love,
Juliet

From Susan to Juliet

26th August, 1946

Dear Juliet,

Yes, Ivor is wonderful and I have told him so. I kissed him for you, and then again for myself! Sidney did promote him—not to Editor-in-Chief, but I imagine he’s well on his way.

What did Billee Bee and Gilly plan to do? You and I weren’t in London when the “teapot incident” broke into the headlines—we missed the uproar it caused. Every journalist and publisher who loathes Gilly Gilbert and The London Hue and Cry—and there are plenty—was delighted.

They thought it was hilarious and Sidney’s statement to the press didn’t do much to soothe matters—just whipped them into fresh fits of laughter. Well, neither Gilly nor the LH&C believes in forgiveness. Their motto is get even—be quiet, be patient, and wait for the day of vengeance to come, as it surely will!

Billee Bee, poor besotted booby and Gilly’s mistress, felt the shame even more keenly. Can’t you see Billee Bee and Gilly huddled together, plotting their revenge? Billee Bee was to insinuate herself into Stephens & Stark, and find anything, anything at all, that would hurt you and Sidney, or better yet, turn you into laughingstocks.

You know how rumors run like wildfire around the publishing world. Everyone knows you’re in Guernsey writing a book about the Occupation, and in the last two weeks, people have begun to whisper that you’ve discovered a new Oscar Wilde work there (Sir William may be distinguished, but he’s not discreet).

It was too good for Gilly to resist. Billee Bee was to steal the letters, The London Hue and Cry would publish them, and you and Sidney would be scooped. What fun they’d have! They’d worry about lawsuits later. And of course, never mind what it would do to Isola.

It makes me sick to my stomach to think how close they came to succeeding. Thank God for Ivor and Isola—and Billee Bee’s Duplicitous Bump.

Ivor will fly over to copy the letters on Tuesday. He has found a yellow velvet ferret, with emerald-green feral eyes and ivory fangs, for Kit. I think she’ll want to kiss him for it. You can too—but keep it short. I make no threats, Juliet—but Ivor is mine!

Love,
Susan

Telegram from Sidney to Juliet

26th August, 1946


I’LL NEVER LEAVE TOWN AGAIN. ISOLA AND KIT DESERVE A MEDAL, AND SO DO YOU. LOVE, SIDNEY



From Juliet to Sophie

29th August, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Ivor has come and gone, and Oscar Wilde’s letters are back safe in Isola’s biscuit tin. I’ve settled down as much as I can until Sidney reads them—I’m wild to know what he thinks of them.

I was very calm on the day of our adventure. It was only later, after Kit was in bed, that I started to feel skittish and nervous—and began to pace.

Then there was a knock at the door. I was amazed—and a little flustered—to see Dawsey through the window. I threw the door open to greet him—and found him and Remy on my front step. They had come to see how I was. How kind. How flat.

I wonder if Remy shouldn’t be getting homesick for France by now? I have been reading an article by a woman named Giselle Pelletier, a political prisoner held at Ravensbrück for five years. She writes about how difficult it is for you to get on with your life as a camp survivor. No one in France—not friends, not family—wants to know anything about your life in the camps, and they think that the sooner you put it out of your mind—and out of their hearing—the happier you’ll be.

According to Miss Pelletier, it is not that you want to belabor anyone with details, but it did happen to you and you cannot pretend it didn’t. “Let’s put everything behind us” seems to be France’s cry. “Everything—the war, the Vichy, the Milice, Drancy, the Jews—it’s all over now. After all, everyone suffered, not just you.” In the face of this institutional amnesia, she writes, the only help is talking with fellow survivors. They know what life in the camps was. You speak, and they can speak back. They talk, they rail, they cry, they tell one story after another—some tragic, some absurd. Sometimes they can even laugh together. The relief is enormous, she says.

Perhaps communication with other survivors would be a better cure for Remy’s distress than bucolic island life. She is physically stronger now—she’s not so shockingly thin as she was—but she still seems haunted.

Mr. Dilwyn is back from his holiday, and I must make an appointment to talk to him about Kit soon. I keep putting it off—I’m so dreadfully afraid that he’ll refuse to consider it. I wish I looked more motherly—perhaps I should buy a fichu. If he requests character witnesses, will you be one? Does Dominic know his letters yet? If so, he can print out this:


Dear Mr. Dilwyn,

Juliet Dryhurst Ashton is a very nice lady—sober, clean, and responsible. You should let Kit McKenna have her for a mother.

Yours sincerely,
James Dominic Strachan



I didn’t tell you, did I, about Mr. Dilwyn’s plans for Kit’s heritage on Guernsey? He has engaged Dawsey, and a crew Dawsey is to select, to restore the Big House: banisters replaced; graffiti removed from the walls and paintings; torn-out plumbing replaced with new; windows replaced; chimneys and flues cleaned; wiring checked and terrace paving stones repointed—or whatever it is you do to old stones. Mr. Dilwyn is not yet certain what can be done with the wooden paneling in the library—it had a beautiful carved frieze of fruit and ribbons, which the Germans used for target practice.

Since no one will want to go on holiday to Europe itself for the next few years, Mr. Dilwyn is hoping the Channel Islands might become a tourist haven again—and Kit’s house could make a wonderful holiday house for families to rent.

But on to stranger events: the Benoit sisters asked me and Kit for tea this afternoon. I had never met them, and it was quite an odd invitation; they asked if Kit had “a steady eye and good aim? Does she like rituals?”

Bewildered, I asked Eben if he knew of the Benoit sisters. Were they sane? Was it safe to take Kit there? Eben roared with laughter and said yes, the sisters were safe and sane. He said Jane and Elizabeth had visited them every summer for five years; the girls always wore starched pinafores, polished court shoes, and little lace gloves. We would have a fine time, he said, and he was glad to see the old traditions were coming back. We would have a lavish tea, with entertainment afterwards, and we should go.

None of which told me what to expect. They are identical twins, in their eighties. So very prim and ladylike, dressed in ankle-length gowns of black georgette, larded with jet beads at bosom and hem, their white hair piled like swirls of whipped cream atop their heads. So charming, Sophie. We did have a sinful tea, and I’d barely put my cup down when Yvonne (older by ten minutes) said, “Sister, I do believe Elizabeth’s child is too small yet.” Yvette said, “I believe you’re right, Sister. Perhaps Miss Ashton would favor us?”

I think it was very brave of me to say, “I’d be delighted,” when I had no idea what they were proposing.

“So kind if you would, Miss Ashton. We denied ourselves during the war—so disloyal to the Crown, somehow. Our arthritis has grown very much worse: we cannot even join you in the rites. It will be our pleasure to watch!”

Yvette went to a drawer in the sideboard, while Yvonne slid out one side of the pocket doors between their drawing room and dining room. Taped to the previously hidden panel was a full-page, full-length newspaper rotogravure portrait in sepia of the Duchess of Windsor, Mrs. Wallis Simpson as was. Cut out, I gather, from the society pages of the Baltimore Sun in the late ’30s.

Yvette handed me four silver-tipped, finely balanced, evil-looking darts.

“Go for the eyes, dear,” she said. So I did.

“Splendid! Three-for-four, Sister. Almost as good as dear Jane! Elizabeth always fumbled at the last moment! Shall you want to try again next year?”

It’s a simple story, but sad. Yvette and Yvonne adored the Prince of Wales. “So darling in his little plus fours.” “How the man could waltz!” “How debonair in evening dress!” So fine, so royal—until that hussy got hold of him. “Snatched him from the throne! His crown—gone!” It broke their hearts. Kit was enthralled with it all—as well she might be. I am going to practice my aim—four-for-four being my new goal in life.

Don’t you wish we had known the Benoit sisters while we were growing up?

Love and XXX,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

2nd September, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Something happened this afternoon; while it ended well, it was disturbing, and I am having trouble going to sleep. I am writing to you, instead of Sophie, because she’s pregnant and you’re not. You don’t have a delicate condition to be upset in, and Sophie does—I am losing my grip on grammar.

Kit was with Isola, making gingerbread men. Remy and I needed some ink and Dawsey needed some kind of putty for the Big House, so we all walked together into St. Peter Port.

We took the cliff walk by Fermain Bay. It’s a beautiful walk, with a rugged path that wanders up and around the headlands. I was a little ahead of Remy and Dawsey because the path had narrowed.

A tall red-headed woman walked around the large boulder at the path’s turning and came toward us. She had a dog with her, an Alsatian, and a big one. He was not on a leash and he was overjoyed to see me. I was laughing at his antics and the woman called out, “Don’t worry. He never bites.” His paws came up on my shoulders, attempting a big, slobbering kiss.

Then, behind me, I heard a noise—an awful gulping gasp: a deep gagging that went on and on. I can’t describe it. I turned and saw that it was Remy; she was bent over almost double and vomiting. Dawsey had caught her and was holding her as she kept on vomiting, deep spasms of it, over both of them. It was terrible to see and hear.

Dawsey yelled, “Get that dog away, Juliet! Now!”

I frantically pushed the dog away. The woman was crying and apologizing, almost hysterical herself. I held on to the dog’s collar and kept saying, “It’s all right! It’s all right! It’s not your fault. Please go. Go!” She finally did, hauling her poor, confused pet along by his collar.

Remy was quiet then, only gasping for breath. Dawsey looked over her head and said, “Let’s get her to your house, Juliet. It’s closest.” He picked her up and carried her—me trailing behind, helpless and scared.

Remy was cold and shaking, so I drew a bath for her, and after she was warm again, put her into bed. She was already half-asleep, so I gathered her clothes into a bundle, and went downstairs. Dawsey was standing by the window, looking out.

Without turning, he said, “She told me once that those guards used big dogs. Riled them up and loosed them deliberately on the lines of women standing for roll call—just to watch the fun. Christ! I’ve been ignorant, Juliet. I thought being here with us could help her forget.

“Good will isn’t enough, is it, Juliet? Not nearly enough.”

“No,” I said, “it isn’t.” He didn’t say anything more; he just nodded to me and left. I telephoned Amelia to tell her where Remy was and why and started the laundry. Isola returned Kit; we had supper and played Snap till bedtime.

But I can’t sleep.

I am so ashamed of myself. Had I actually thought Remy well enough to return home—or did I just want her to go? Did I think it was past time for her to go back to France—to just get on with IT, whatever IT might be? I did—and it’s sickening.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. As long as I’m confessing, I might as well tell you something else. Bad as it was to stand there holding Remy’s awful clothes and smelling Dawsey’s ruined ones, all I could think of was, he said “good will … good will isn’t enough, is it?” Does that mean that is all he feels toward her? I’ve chewed over that errant thought all evening.

Night letter from Sidney to Juliet

4th September, 1946

Dear Juliet, All that errant thought means is that you’re in love with Dawsey yourself. Surprised? I’m not. Don’t know what took you so long to fall to it—sea air is supposed to clear your head. I want to come and see you and Oscar’s letters for myself, but I can’t get away till the 13th. All right? Love, Sidney

Telegram from Juliet to Sidney

5th September, 1946


DEAR SIDNEY—YOU’RE INSUFFERABLE, ESPECIALLY WHEN YOU’RE RIGHT. LOVELY TO SEE YOU ANYHOW ON THE 13TH. LOVE, JULIET



From Isola to Sidney

6th September, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Juliet says you’re going to come look at Granny Pheen’s letters with your own eyes, and I say it’s about time. Not that I minded Ivor; he was a nice fellow, though he should leave off wearing those little hairbow ties. I told him they didn’t do much for him, but he was more interested to hear about my suspicions of Billee Bee Jones, how I shadowed her and locked her up in the smokehouse. He said it was a fine piece of detective work and Miss Marple couldn’t have done better herself!

Miss Marple is not a friend of his, she is a lady detective in fiction books, who uses all she knows about HUMAN NATURE to figure out mysteries and solve crimes that the police can’t.

He set me to thinking about how fine it would be to solve mysteries myself. If only I knew of any.

Ivor said skullduggery is everywhere, and with my fine instincts, I could train myself to become another Miss Marple. “You clearly have excellent observation skills. All you need now is practice. Note everything and write it down.”

I went to Amelia’s and borrowed a few books with Miss Marple in them. She’s a caution, isn’t she? Just sitting there quietly, knitting away; seeing things everybody else misses. I could keep my ears open for what doesn’t listen right, see things from the sides of my eyes. Mind you, we don’t have any unsolved mysteries on Guernsey, but that’s not to say we won’t one day—and when we do, I’ll be ready.

I still savor the head bump book you sent me and I hope your feelings are not hurt that I want to turn to another calling. I still trust the truth of lumps; it’s just that I’ve read the head bumps of everyone I care for, except yours, and it can get tedious.

Juliet says you’ll come next Friday. I can meet your plane and ride you to Juliet’s. Eben is having a beach party the next night, and he says you are most welcome. Eben hardly ever gives parties, but he said this one is to make a happy announcement to us all. A celebration! But of What? Does he mean to announce nuptials? But whose? I hope he is not getting married hisself; wives don’t generally let husbands out by themselves of an evening and I would miss Eben’s company.

Your friend,
Isola

From Juliet to Sophie

7th September, 1946

Dear Sophie,

Finally, I mustered my courage and told Amelia that I wanted to adopt Kit. Her opinion means a great deal to me—she loved Elizabeth so dearly; she knows Kit so well—and me, almost well enough. I was anxious to have her approval—and terrified that I wouldn’t get it. I choked on my tea but in the end managed to get the words out. Her relief was so visible, I was shocked. I hadn’t realized how worried she’d been about Kit’s future.

She started to say, “If I could have one—” then stopped and started again, “I think it would be a wonderful thing for both of you. It would be the best possible thing—” Then she broke off and pulled out her handkerchief. And then, of course, I pulled out my handkerchief.

After we were finished crying, we plotted. Amelia will go with me to see Mr. Dilwyn. “I have known him since he was in short pants,” she said. “He won’t dare refuse me.” Having Amelia on your side is like having the Third Army at your back.

But something wonderful—even more wonderful than having Amelia’s approval—has happened. My last doubt has shrunk to less than pinpoint size.

Do you remember my telling you about the little box Kit often carried with her, all tied up in string? The one I thought might hold a dead ferret? She came into my room this morning, and patted my face until I woke up. She was carrying her box.

Without a word, she began undoing the string and took the lid off—parted the tissue paper and gave the box to me. Sophie—she stood back and watched my face as I turned the things in the box over, and then lifted them all out on the coverlet. The articles were: a tiny, eyelet-covered baby pillow; a small snapshot of Elizabeth, digging in her garden and laughing up at Dawsey; a woman’s linen handkerchief, smelling faintly of jasmine; a man’s signet ring; and a small leather book of Rilke’s poetry with the inscription, For Elizabeth—who turns darkness into light, Christian.

Tucked into the book was a much-folded scrap of paper. Kit nodded, so I carefully opened it and read, “Amelia—Kiss her for me when she wakes up. I’ll be back by six. Elizabeth. P.S. Doesn’t she have the most beautiful feet?”

Underneath this was Kit’s grandfather’s WWI medal, the magic badge Elizabeth had pinned on Eli when he was being evacuated to England. Bless Eli’s heart—he must have given it to her.

She was showing me her treasures, Sophie—her eyes did not leave my face once. We were both so solemn, and I, for once, didn’t start crying; I just held out my arms. She climbed right into them, and under the covers with me—and went sound asleep. Not me! I couldn’t. I was too happy planning the rest of our lives.

I don’t care about living in London—I love Guernsey and want to stay here, even after finishing Elizabeth’s book. I can’t imagine Kit living in London, having to wear shoes all the time, having to walk instead of run, having no pigs to visit. No fishing with Eben and Eli, no visits with Amelia, no potion-mixing with Isola, and most of all, no walks, no days, no visits, with Dawsey.

I think, if I become Kit’s guardian, we can continue to live in Elizabeth’s cottage and save the Big House as a holiday home for the idle rich. I could take my vast profits from Izzy and buy a flat for Kit and me to stay in when we visit London.

Her home is here, and mine can be. Writers can write on Guernsey—look at Victor Hugo. The only thing I’d truly miss about London are Sidney and Susan, the nearness to Scotland, new plays, and Harrods Food Hall.

Pray for Mr. Dilwyn’s good sense. I know he has it, I know he likes me, I know he knows Kit is happy living with me, and that I am solvent enough for two at the moment—and who can say better than that in these decadent times? Amelia thinks that if he does say no adoption without a husband, he will still gladly grant her guardianship to me.

Sidney is coming to Guernsey again next week. I wish you were coming too—I miss you.

Love,
Juliet

From Juliet to Sidney

8th September, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Kit and I took a picnic out to the meadow to watch Dawsey start to rebuild Elizabeth’s fallen-down stone wall. It was a wonderful excuse to spy on Dawsey and his way of going at things. He studied each rock, felt the heft of it, brooded, and placed it on the wall. Smiled if it accorded with the picture in his head. Took it off if it didn’t and searched out a different stone. He is very calming to the spirit.

He grew so accustomed to our admiring gazes that he issued an unprecedented invitation to supper. Kit had a prior engagement—with Amelia—but I accepted with unbecoming haste and then fell into an absurd twitter about being alone with him. We were both a bit awkward when I arrived, but he, at least, had the cooking to occupy him and retired to the kitchen, refusing help. I took the opportunity to snoop through his books. He hasn’t very many, but his taste is superior—Dickens, Mark Twain, Balzac, Boswell, and dear old Leigh Hunt. The Sir Roger de Coverley Papers, Anne Brontë’s novels (I wonder why he had those) and my biography of her. I didn’t know he owned that; he never said a word—maybe he loathed it.

Over supper, we discussed Jonathan Swift, pigs, and the trials in Nuremberg. Doesn’t that reveal a breathtaking range of interests? I think it does. We talked easily enough, but neither of us ate much—even though he made a delicious sorrel soup (much better than I could). After coffee, we strolled down to his barn for a pig viewing. Grown pigs don’t improve upon acquaintance, but piglets are a different matter—Dawsey’s are spotted and frisky and sly. Each day they dig a new hole under his fence, ostensibly to escape, but really just for the amusement of watching Dawsey fill in the gap. You should have seen them grin as he approached the fence.

Dawsey’s barn is exceedingly clean. He also stacks his hay beautifully.

I believe I am becoming pathetic.

I’ll go further. I believe that I am in love with a flower-growing, wood-carving quarry-man/carpenter/pig farmer. In fact, I know I am. Maybe tomorrow I will become entirely miserable at the thought that he doesn’t love me back—may, even, care for Remy—but right this very moment, I am succumbing to euphoria. My head and stomach feel quite odd.

See you on Friday—you may go ahead and give yourself airs for discovering I love Dawsey. You may even preen in my presence—this one time, but never again.

Love and XXXX
Juliet

Telegram from Juliet to Sidney

11th September, 1946


AM ENTIRELY MISERABLE. SAW DAWSEY IN ST. PETER PORT THIS AFTERNOON, BUYING SUITCASE WITH REMY ON HIS ARM, BOTH WREATHED IN SMILES. IS IT FOR THEIR HONEYMOON? WHAT A FOOL I AM. I BLAME YOU. WRETCHEDLY, JULIET



DETECTION NOTES OF MISS ISOLA PRIBBY PRIVATE: NOT TO BE READ, EVEN AFTER DEATH!

SUNDAY

This book with lines in it is from my friend Sidney Stark. It came to me in the mail yesterday. It had PENSÉES written in gold on the cover, but I scratched it off, because that’s French for Thoughts and I am only going to write down FACTS. Facts gleaned from keen eyes and ears. I don’t expect too much of myself at first—I must learn to be more observant.

Here are some of the observations I made today. Kit loves to be in Juliet’s company—she looks peaceful when Juliet comes in the room and she doesn’t make faces behind people’s backs anymore. Also she can wiggle her ears now—which she couldn’t before Juliet came.

My friend Sidney is coming to read Oscar’s letters. He will stay with Juliet this time, because she’s cleaned out Elizabeth’s storage room and put a bed in it for him.

Saw Daphne Post digging a big hole under Mr. Ferre’s elm tree. She always does it by the dark of the moon. I think we should all go together and buy her a silver teapot so she can quit and stay home nights.

MONDAY

Mrs. Taylor has a rash on her arms. What, or who, from? Tomatoes or her husband? Look into further.

TUESDAY

Nothing noteworthy today.

WEDNESDAY

Nothing again.

THURSDAY

Remy came to see me today—she gives me the stamps from her French letters—they are more colorful than English ones, so I paste them up. She had a letter in a brown envelope with a little open window in it, from the FRENCH GOVERNMENT. This is the fourth one she’s gotten—what do they want of her? Find out.

I did start to observe something today—behind Mr. Salles’s market stall, but they stopped when they saw me. Never mind, Eben is having his beach picnic on Saturday—so I am sure to have something to observe there.

I have been looking at a book about artists and how they size up a picture they want to paint. Say they want to concentrate on an orange—do they study the shape direct? No, they don’t. They fool their eyes and stare at the banana beside it, or look at it upside down, between their legs. They see the orange in a brand-new way. It’s called getting perspective. So, I am going to try a new way of looking—not upside down between my legs, but by not staring at anything direct or straight ahead. I can move my eyes slyly if I keep my lids lowered a bit. Practice this!!!

FRIDAY

It works—not staring head-long works. I went with Dawsey, Juliet, Remy, and Kit in Dawsey’s cart to the airfield to meet dear Sidney.

Here is what I observed: Juliet hugged him to her, and he swung her around like a brother would. He was pleased to meet Remy, and I could tell he was watching her sideways, like I was doing. Dawsey shook Sidney’s hand, but he did not come in for apple cake when we got to Juliet’s house. It was a little sunk in the middle, but tasted fine.

I had to put drops in my eyeballs before bed—it is a strain, always having to skitter them sideways. My lids ache from having to keep them half-way down too.

SATURDAY

Remy, Kit, and Juliet came with me down to the beach to gather firewood for this evening’s picnic. Amelia was out in the sun too. She looks more rested and I am happy to see her so. Dawsey, Sidney, and Eli carried Eben’s big iron cauldron down between themselves. Dawsey is always nice and polite to Sidney, and Sidney is pleasant as can be to Dawsey, but he seems to stare at him in a wondering sort of way. Why is that?

Remy left the firewood and went over to talk to Eben, and he patted her on the shoulder. Why? Eben was never one to pat much. Then they talked awhile—but sadly out of my earshot.

When it was time to go home for lunch, Eli went off beach-combing. Juliet and Sidney each took ahold of one of Kit’s hands, and they walked her up the cliff path, playing that game of “One Step. Two Step. Three Steps—LIFT UP!”

Dawsey watched them go up the path, but he did not follow. No, he walked down to the shore and just stood there, looking out over the water. It suddenly struck me that Dawsey is a lonesome person. I think it may be that he has always been lonely, but he didn’t mind before, and now he minds. Why now?

SATURDAY NIGHT

I did see something at the picnic, something important—and like dear Miss Marple, I must act upon it. It was a brisk night and the sky looked moody. But that was fine—all of us bundled up in sweaters and jackets, eating lobster, and laughing at Booker. He stood on a rock and gave an oration, pretending to be that Roman he’s so crazy about. I worry about Booker, he needs to read a new book. I think I will lend him Jane Austen.

I was sitting, senses alert, by the bonfire with Sidney, Kit, Juliet, and Amelia. We were poking sticks in the fire, when Dawsey and Remy walked together toward Eben and the lobster pot. Remy whispered to Eben, he smiled, and picked up his big spoon and banged on the pot.

“Attention All,” Eben yelled, “I have something to tell you.”

All were silent, except for Juliet, who drew in her breath so hard I heard her. She didn’t let it out again, and went all over rigid—even her jaw. What could be the matter? I was so worried for her, having once been toppled by appendix myself, that I missed Eben’s first few words.

“… and so tonight is a farewell party for Remy. She is leaving us next Tuesday for her new home in Paris. She will share rooms with friends and is apprenticed to the famous confectioner Raoul Guillemaux, in Paris. She has promised that she will come back to Guernsey and that her second home will be with me and Eli, so we may all rejoice in her good fortune.”

What an outpouring of cheers from the rest of us! Everyone ran to gather around Remy and congratulate her. Everyone except Juliet—she let out her breath in a whoosh and flopped backward onto the sand, like a gaffed fish!

I peered around, thinking I should observe Dawsey. He wasn’t hovering over Remy at all—but how sad he looked. All of a sudden, IT CAME TO ME! I HAD IT! Dawsey didn’t want Remy to go, he feared she’d never come back. He was in love with Remy, and too shy in his nature to tell her so.

Well, I’m not. I could tell her of his affections, and then she, being French, would know what to do. She would let him know she’d find favor in his suit. Then they could marry, and she would not need to go off to Paris and live. What a blessing that I have no imagination and am able to see things clearly.

Sidney came up to Juliet and prodded her with his foot. “Feel better?” he asked, and Juliet said yes, so I quit worrying about her. Then he walked her over to make her manners to Remy. Kit was asleep in my lap, so I stayed where I was by the fire and thought carefully.

Remy, like most Frenchwomen, is practical. She would want evidence of Dawsey’s feelings for her, before she changed her plans willy-nilly. I would have to find the proof she’d need.

A bit later, when wine was opened and drunk in toasts, I walked up to Dawsey and said, “Daws, I noticed your kitchen floor is dirty. I want to come and scrub it for you. Will Monday suit?”

He looked a little surprised, but he said yes. “It’s an early Christmas present,” I said. “So you mustn’t think of paying me. Leave the door open for me.”

And so it was settled, and I said good-night to all.

SUNDAY

I laid my plans for tomorrow. I am nervous.

I will sweep and scrub Dawsey’s house, keeping a watch out for evidence that he cares for Remy. Maybe a poem “Ode to Remy,” all scrunched up and in his wastepaper basket? Or doodles of her name, scribbled all over his grocery list? Proof that Dawsey cares for Remy must (or almost must) be in plain sight. Miss Marple never really snooped so I won’t either—I will not force locks.

But once I give proof of his devotion to Remy, she’ll not get on the aeroplane to Paris on Tuesday morning. She will know what to do, and then Dawsey will be happy.

    ALL DAY MONDAY:
A SERIOUS ERROR, A JOYOUS NIGHT

I woke up too early and had to fiddle around with my hens till the hour I knew Dawsey had left for work up at the Big House. Then, I cut along to his farm, checking every tree trunk for carved hearts. None.

With Dawsey gone, I went in his back door with my mop, bucket, and rags. For two hours I swept, scrubbed, dusted, and waxed—and found nothing. I was beginning to despair, when I thought of books—the books on his shelves. I began to clap dust out of them, but no loose papers fell to the floor. I was fair along when suddenly I saw his little red book on Charles Lamb’s life. What was it doing here? I had seen him put it in the wooden treasure box Eli carved for his birthday present. But if the red book was here on the shelf, what was in his treasure box? And where was it? I tapped the walls. No hollow sounds anywhere. I thrust my arm down his flour bin—nothing but flour. Would he keep it in the barn? For rats to chew on? Never. What was left? His bed, under his bed!

I ran to his bedroom, fished under the bed, and pulled the treasure box out. I lifted the lid and glanced inside. Nothing met my eye, so I was forced to dump everything out on the bed—still nothing: not a note from Remy, not a photograph of her, no cinema ticket stubs for Gone With the Wind, though I knew he’d taken her to see it. What had he done with them? No handkerchief with the initial R in the corner. There was one, but it was one of Juliet’s scented ones and had a J embroidered on it. He must have forgotten to return it to her. Other things were in there, but nothing of Remy’s.

I put everything back in the box and straightened up the bed. My mission had failed! Remy would get on that aeroplane tomorrow, and Dawsey would stay lonely. I was heart-sore. I gathered up my mops and bucket.

I was trudging home when I saw Amelia and Kit—they were going bird-watching. They asked me to come along, but I knew that not even bird-song could cheer me up.

But I thought Juliet could cheer me—she usually does. I’d not stay long and bother her writing, but maybe she would ask me in for a cup of coffee. Sidney had left this morning, so maybe she’d be feeling bereft too. I hurried down the road to her house.

I found Juliet at home, papers awhirl on her desk, but she wasn’t doing anything, just sitting there, staring out the window.

“Isola!” she said. “Just when I’ve been wanting company!” She started to get up when she saw my mops and pails. “Have you come to clean my house? Forget that and come have some coffee with me.”

Then, she got a good look at my face and said, “Whatever is the matter? Are you ill? Come sit down.”

The kindness was too much for my broken spirits, and I—I admit it—I started to bawl. I said, “No, no, I’m not sick. I have failed—failed in my mission. And now Dawsey will stay unhappy.”

Juliet took me over to her sofa. She patted my hand. I always get the hiccups when I cry, so she ran and got me a glass of water for her fail-safe cure—you pinch your nose shut with your two thumbs, and plug up both ears with your fingers, while a friend pours a glass of water down your throat without let. You stomp your foot when you are close to drowning, and your friend takes the glass away. It works every time—a miracle—no more hiccups.

“Now tell me, what was your mission? And why do you think you failed?”

So I told her all about it—my idea that Dawsey was in love with Remy, and how I’d cleaned his house, looking for proof. If I’d have found any I’d have told Remy he loved her, and then she’d want to stay—maybe even confess her love for him first, to soothe the way.

“He is so shy, Juliet. He always has been—I don’t think anybody’s ever been in love with him, or him with anybody before, so he’d not know the right thing to do about it. It’d be just like him to hide away mementos and never say a word. I despair for him, I do.”

Juliet said, “A lot of men don’t keep mementos, Isola. Don’t want keepsakes. That doesn’t necessarily mean a thing. What on earth were you looking for?”

“Evidence, like Miss Marple does. But no, not even a picture of her. There’s lots of pictures of you and Kit, and several of you by yourself. One of you wrapped up in that lace curtain, being a Dead Bride. He’s kept all your letters, tied up in that blue hair ribbon—the one you thought you’d lost. I know he wrote Remy at the hospice, and she must have written him back—but no, nary a letter from Remy. Not even her handkerchief—oh, he found one of yours. You might want it back, it’s a pretty thing.”

She got up and went over to her desk. She stood there awhile, then she picked up that crystal thing with Latin, Carpe Diem, or some such, etched on the top. She studied it.

“ ‘Seize the Day,’ ” she said. “That’s an inspiring thought, isn’t it, Isola?”

“I suppose so,” I said, “if you like being goaded by a bit of rock.”

Juliet did surprise me then—she turned around to me and gave me that grin she has, the one that made me first like her so much. “Where is Dawsey? Up at the Big House, isn’t he?”

At my nodding, she bounded out the door, and raced up the drive to the Big House.

Oh wonderful Juliet! She was going to give Dawsey a piece of her mind for shirking his feelings for Remy.

Miss Marple never runs anywhere, she follows after slowly, like the old lady she is. So I did too. Juliet was inside the house by the time I got there.

I went on tippy-toes to the terrace and pressed myself into the wall by the library. The French windows were open.

I heard Juliet open the door to the library. “Good morning, gentlemen,” she said. I could hear Teddy Heckwith (he’s a plasterer) and Chester (he’s a joiner) say, “Good morning, Miss Ashton.”

Dawsey said, “Hello, Juliet.” He was on top of the big stepladder. I found that out later when he made so much noise coming down it.

Juliet said she would like a word with Dawsey, if the gentlemen could give her a minute.

They said certainly, and left the room. Dawsey said, “Is something wrong, Juliet? Is Kit all right?”

“Kit’s fine. It’s me—I want to ask you something.”

Oh, I thought, she’s going to tell him not to be a sissy. Tell him he must stir himself up and go propose to Remy at once.

But she didn’t. What she said was, “Would you like to marry me?”

I liked to die where I stood.

There was quiet—complete quiet. Nothing! And on and on it went, not a word, not a sound.

But, Juliet went on undisturbed. Her voice steady—and me, I could not get so much as a breath of air into my chest.

“I’m in love with you, so I thought I’d ask.”

And then, Dawsey, dear Dawsey, swore. He took the Lord’s name in vain. “My God, yes,” he cried, and clattered down that stepladder, only his heels hit the rungs, which is how he sprained his ankle.

I kept to my scruples and did not look inside the room, tempted though I was. I waited. It was quiet in there, so I came on home to think.

What good was training my eyes if I could not see things rightly? I had got everything wrong. Everything. It came out Happy, so happy, in the end, but no thanks to me. I don’t have Miss Marple’s insight into the cavities of the human mind. That is sad, but best to admit it now.

Sir William told me there were Motorcycle Races in England—silver cups given for speed, rough riding, and not falling off. Perhaps I should train for that—I already have my bike. All I’d need would be a helmet—maybe goggles.

For now, I will ask Kit over for supper and to spend the night with me so that Juliet and Dawsey can have the freedom of the shrubbery—just like Mr. Darcy and Elizabeth Bennet.

From Juliet to Sidney

17th September, 1946

Dear Sidney,

Terribly sorry to make you turn around and come right back across the Channel, but I require your presence—at my wedding. I have seized the day, and the night too. Can you come and give me away in Amelia’s back garden on Saturday? Eben to be Best Man, Isola to be Maid of Honor (she is manufacturing a gown for the occasion), Kit to throw rose petals.

Dawsey to be Groom.

Are you surprised? Probably not—but I am. I am in a constant state of surprise these days. Actually, now that I calculate, I’ve been betrothed only one full day, but it seems like my whole life has come into being in the last twenty-four hours. Think of it! We could have gone on longing for one another and pretending not to notice forever. This obsession with dignity can ruin your life if you let it.

Is it unseemly to get married so quickly? I don’t want to wait—I want to begin at once. All my life I thought that the story was over when the hero and heroine were safely engaged—after all, what’s good enough for Jane Austen ought to be good enough for anyone. But it’s a lie. The story is about to begin, and every day will be a new piece of the plot. Perhaps my next book will be about a fascinating married couple and all the things they learn about one another over time. Are you impressed by the beneficial effect of engagement on my writing?

Dawsey has just come down from the Big House and is demanding my immediate attention. His much-vaunted shyness has evaporated completely—I think it was a ploy to arouse my sympathies.

Love,
Juliet

P.S. I ran into Adelaide Addison in St. Peter Port today. By way of congratulation, she said “I hear you and that pig-farmer are going to regularize your connection. Praise the Lord!”
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Afterword
by Annie Barrows

I grew up in a family of storytellers. In my family, there is no such thing as a yes-or-no question, a simple answer, or a bald fact. You can’t even ask someone to pass the butter without incurring a story, and major holidays always end with the women gathered around the table, weeping with laughter, while our husbands sit in the next room, holding their heads.

Obviously, with so much practice, my family is rich in fine storytellers, but my aunt Mary Ann Shaffer was the jewel in our crown. What was it about Mary Ann turning a tale? She was one of the wittiest people I ever met, but wit wasn’t the essence of her gift. Her language was lustrous, her timing was exquisite, her delivery was a thing of beauty and a joy forever, but none of these reaches to the center of her charm. That, it seems to me, was her willingness to be delighted by people—their phrases, their frailties, and their fleeting moments of grandeur. Together with her delight was the impulse to share it; she told stories so that the rest of us, listening, could be delighted with her, and, time and again, she succeeded.

To tell is one thing, to commit to paper is another. For as long as I can remember, Mary Ann was always working on something, but she never completed a book to her own satisfaction, at least not until she embarked upon The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society.

The story of that embarkation began in 1980, when Mary Ann was in the throes of a fascination with Kathleen Scott, wife of the polar explorer Robert Falcon Scott. In order to write her biography, Mary Ann traveled to Cambridge, England, where her subject’s papers were archived. But when she reached her destination, Mary Ann discovered that the archive consisted primarily of aged bits and notes, illegibly scrawled in pencil. Thoroughly disgusted, Mary Ann threw the project over, but she was not yet ready to return home. Instead, for reasons that will always be obscure, she decided to visit the island of Guernsey, far in the nethermost reaches of the English Channel.

Mary Ann flew there, and, of course, drama followed. As her plane landed, what she described as “a terrible fog” arose from the sea and enshrouded the island in gloom. The ferry service came to a halt; the airplanes were grounded. With the dismal clank of a drawbridge pulling to, the last taxi rattled off, leaving her in the Guernsey airport, immured, isolated, and chilled to the bone. (Are you getting the sense of how Mary Ann told a story?) There, as the hours ticked by, she hunkered in the feeble heat of the hand-dryer in the men’s restroom (the hand-dryer in the women’s restroom was broken), struggling to sustain the flickering flame of life. The flickering flame of life required not only bodily nourishment (candy from vending machines), but spiritual aliment, that is, books. Mary Ann could no more endure a day without reading than she could grow feathers, so she helped herself to the offerings at the Guernsey airport bookstore. In 1980, this bookstore was evidently a major outlet for writings on the occupation of the island by the Germans during World War II. Thus, when the fog lifted, Mary Ann left the island, having seen nothing that could be considered a sight, with an armload of books and an abiding interest in Guernsey’s wartime experiences.

Some twenty years passed before Mary Ann, goaded by her writing group, began The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society. As the members of the Literary Society found during their ordeal, companionship can help us surmount nearly any barrier, imposed, self-imposed, or imagined. Likewise, Mary Ann’s writing group, by cajoling, critiquing, admiring, and demanding, sustained her through the obstacle course of creation and across the finish line to her first completed manuscript.

“All I wanted,” Mary Ann once said, “was to write a book that someone would like enough to publish.” She got what she wanted—and more—for publishers from around the world flocked to buy her book. It was a triumph, of course for her, but for the rest of us longtime Mary Ann listeners as well. Finally we had proof of what we had known all along—our own personal Scheherazade could beguile the world. We swelled with pride.

But then, just as if we were in some horrible retributive folk tale, the triumph turned, because Mary Ann’s health began to fail. When, shortly thereafter, the book’s editor requested some changes that required substantial rewriting, Mary Ann knew that she did not have the stamina to undertake the work, and she asked me if I would do it, on the grounds that I was the other writer in the family.

Of course I said yes. Writers are rarely the solution to anyone’s problems, and this was a unique occasion to help someone I loved. But to myself I whispered that it was impossible—impossible for me to take on my aunt’s voice, her characters, the rhythm of her plot.

However, there was no help for it; I had to begin. And once I began, I discovered something: It was easy. It was easy because I had grown up on Mary Ann’s tales—they didn’t just come with the butter, they were the butter. They were nourishment. All those years and years when her stories were the wallpaper of my life, when just passing through the dining room would garner me an odd expression or an obscure fact, Mary Ann’s idea of narrative was becoming mine. In the same way that people acquire accents and politics from their surroundings, I acquired stories.

Working on the book, then, was like sitting down with Mary Ann—her characters were people I knew (sometimes literally) and their most irrational actions had a certain familiar logic to me. When Mary Ann passed away, in early 2008, the book was a comfort, because it held her within it. The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society is a testament to Mary Ann’s talent, to be sure, but in the truest way it’s also the embodiment of her generosity. In it she offers, for our enjoyment, a catalog of her delights—the oddities that enchanted her, the expressions that entertained her, and, above all, the books that she adored.

I think that Mary Ann knew, before she died, that her book was going to be well received, but no one could ever be entirely prepared for the avalanche of acclaim that greeted its publication. As first the booksellers, then the reviewers, and finally actual readers got their hands on the book, we noticed that their praise often took the same form—the book was quirky, unlike anything else, charming, vivid, witty.… In other words, it was like Mary Ann herself. Suddenly, the rest of the world had a seat at the table where I had been feasting my whole life, and, as with any family party, they clustered around Mary Ann, weeping with laughter—or sorrow—as her stories billowed forth

The only flaw in the feast is that it ends. If I could have anything I wanted, I would choose story without end, and it seems that I have lots of company in that. I have received many, many letters from readers all over the world bemoaning the fact that the book comes to an end. “I want it to go on forever,” they say. “I want to go to Guernsey and join a book club.” “I want to be a member of the Society.” The good news is that as long as we don’t get too caught up in the space-time continuum, the book does still go on, every time a reader talks about it with another reader. The membership of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society increases each time the book is read and enjoyed. The wonderful thing about books—and the thing that made them such a refuge for the islanders during the occupation—is that they take us out of our time and place and understanding, and transport us not just into the world of the story, but into the world of our fellow readers, who have stories of their own.

In the months since the book was published, I have heard from readers who were reminded of their own wartime experiences. One Guernsey native told me of his evacuation to England, along with hundreds of other children, the week before the Germans invaded. The most thrilling moment, he said, was his first glimpse of a black cow. He hadn’t known that cows came in black. Another woman, a child in Germany during the war, told of bringing food to the French soldier hiding in her attic—she was the only member of the family small enough to squeeze through the trapdoor. It’s not all war stories, either. I’ve heard from people who want to know if Mary Lamb really stabbed her mother with a carving knife (yes!) and people who want to make potato peel pie (I advise against this) and people who want to read another book written in letters (Daddy Long Legs).

This profusion of questions, exclamations, and tales is the new version of the Society. Its members are spread all over the world, but they are joined by their love of books, of talking about books, and of their fellow readers. We are transformed—magically—into the literary society each time we pass a book along, each time we ask a question about it, each time we say, “If you liked that, I bet you’d like this.” Whenever we are willing to be delighted and share our delight, as Mary Ann did, we are part of the ongoing story of The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society.


Questions and Topics for Discussion

1. What was it like to read a novel composed entirely of letters? What do letters offer that no other form of writing (not even emails) can convey?

2. What makes Sidney and Sophie ideal friends for Juliet? What common ground do they share? Who has been a similar advocate in your life?

3. Dawsey first wrote to Juliet because books, on Charles Lamb or otherwise, were so difficult to obtain on Guernsey in the aftermath of the war. What differences did you note between bookselling in the novel and bookselling in your world? What makes book lovers unique, across all generations?

4. What were your first impressions of Dawsey? How was he different from the other men Juliet had known?

5. Discuss the poets, novelists, biographers, and other writers who capture the hearts of the members of the Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society. What does a reader’s taste in books say about his or her personality? Whose lives were changed the most by membership in the society?

6. Juliet occasionally receives mean-spirited correspondence from strangers, accusing both Elizabeth and Juliet of being immoral. What accounts for these judgmental letters?

7. In what ways were Juliet and Elizabeth kindred spirits? What did Elizabeth’s spontaneous invention of the society, as well as her brave final act, say about her approach to life?

8. Numerous Guernsey residents give Juliet access to their private memories of the occupation. Which voices were most memorable for you? What was the effect of reading a variety of responses to a shared tragedy?

9. Kit and Juliet complete each other in many ways. What did they need from each other? What qualities make Juliet an unconventional, excellent mother?

10. How did Remy’s presence enhance the lives of those on Guernsey? Through her survival, what recollections, hopes, and lessons also survived?

11. Juliet rejects marriage proposals from a man who is a stereotypical “great catch.” How would you have handled Juliet’s romantic entanglement? What truly makes someone a “great catch”?

12. What was the effect of reading a novel about an author’s experiences with writing, editing, and getting published? Did this enhance the book’s realism, though Juliet’s experience is a bit different from that of debut novelist Mary Ann Shaffer and her niece, children’s book author Annie Barrows?

13. What historical facts about life in England during World War II were you especially surprised to discover? What traits, such as remarkable stamina, are captured in a detail such as potato peel pie? In what ways does fiction provide a means for more fully understanding a non-fiction truth?

14. Which of the members of the Society is your favorite? Whose literary opinions are most like your own?

15. Do you agree with Isola that “reading good books ruins you for enjoying bad ones”?


About the Authors
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Mary Ann Shaffer, who passed away in February 2008, worked as an editor, as a librarian, and in bookshops. The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society was her first novel. Her niece Annie Barrows is the author of the children’s series Ivy and Bean, as well as The Magic Half. She lives in northern California.

Annie Barrows is available for select readings and lectures. To inquire about a possible appearance, please visit www.rhspeakers.com or call 212-572-2013.


Deluxe eBook Annotations

Part One

“Susan managed to procure ration coupons for icing sugar and real eggs for the meringue.”

If Juliet really were to have penned such a letter in January 1946, there would still be another seven years before eggs were derationed—and eight years for butter.

To weaken the British government during World War II, the Germans attacked ships bringing supplies to England. Before the war, Britain imported fifty-five million tons of food per year; a month after the conflict started, the amount had dropped to twelve million. Bacon, sugar, butter, tea, and meat were the first foods to be rationed in the island nation.

In addition to shipping constraints, many goods previously made in the country simply weren’t available. Raw materials could no longer be imported, and men who had worked in the factories were called to serve in the military. Factories that were still operating were commandeered to produce guns, ammunition, and other items needed for the war.

Food rationing began in January 1940, four months after the war started, to ensure equitable distribution of necessities and control pricing. Everyone received a coupon-filled “ration book” that entitled them to a certain amount of each regulated item, which still had to be paid for with currency. Adjustments in the allotments were made for those with special dietary needs like pregnant women, children, and vegetarians. (George VI’s wife, Queen Elizabeth, put Buckingham Palace on the same rations as the rest of the country.)

To use their ration books, people were required to register at local butchers, bakeries, grocers, and other retailers. Each shop was then provided with enough food for registered customers. One egg a week was the allotment in 1941, along with two ounces of butter, eight ounces of meat, three pints of milk, and two ounces of tea. Although a black market did develop, it never posed a serious threat to the system.

Fruits and vegetables were not rationed, but variety and quantity were limited. Oranges and other fruits that had to be shipped from abroad were virtually nonexistent in England during the war. Even fruit grown in Britain, like apples and strawberries, became rare, and shopkeepers customarily gave priority to expectant mothers and children. One woman recalled, “Mothers would queue for hours at butchers and bakers. Some previously common foodstuffs, such as bananas, disappeared completely from sale. On a given day after the war all children were given a banana; this day became known as banana day.”

Along with campaigns encouraging people to grow potatoes and carrots and to keep chickens, the government offered ideas on how to make meals while dealing with the challenges of the rationing system. Suggestions and recipes were shared in magazine ads and on a popular radio program, The Kitchen Front. Among the fake foods invented during the war years were mock crab (margarine, egg, and cheese), mock banana (parsnips, milk, and banana flavoring), and mock apricot tart (grated carrot, plum jam, and almond flavoring).

Food items were gradually derationed after the conclusion of the war. The practice officially ended on July 4, 1954, when the last controlled foods—meat and bacon—became freely available again. Rationing continued for nine years after the war concluded, in part because of the ravaged economy and infrastructure (approximately twenty-five percent of the nation’s wealth was lost).

Other objects limited during the war included gasoline, paper, soap, washing powder, and clothes. With factories being used to make military uniforms and parachutes, and fabrics like wool and cotton having to be imported, clothing was also rationed from 1941 to 1949.

Unlike the system of food rationing, where a coupon corresponded to a specific quantity of a certain item, every person was provided with a yearly allotment of sixty clothing coupons—reduced in 1942 to forty-eight and in subsequent years even fewer—and could acquire apparel according to individual needs. (Children were allocated an extra ten coupons to allow for growing out of clothes.)

What might an adult woman obtain in a one-year period with forty-eight coupons? One short coat, less than twenty-eight inches in length (eleven coupons); one pair of shoes (five); one wool dress (eleven); one blouse (five); one cardigan (five); one skirt (seven); one pair of stockings (two); and one scarf (two).
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“Dear as Izzy Bickerstaff is—and was—to me, I don’t want to write anything else under that name.”

Juliet wasn’t the first writer to use the unusual-sounding nom-de-plume Bickerstaff. In 1708, Irish writer and satirist Jonathan Swift (1667–1745), best remembered for his novel Gulliver’s Travels, used the moniker when he perpetrated an elaborate April Fool’s Day prank.

Cobbler John Partridge had fashioned a second career for himself publishing almanacs of predictions. Swift, who called Partridge a quack, penned a parody entitled Predictions for the Ensuing Year, by Isaac Bickerstaff, in which he foretold Partridge’s death of a fever on March 29. Partridge vehemently denounced the prediction, and Londoners eagerly waited to see who would be proved right.

On March 30, Bickerstaff gave an account of Partridge’s untimely end, and by April 1 it was considered common knowledge that the charlatan soothsayer had died. An elegy was printed, a gravestone was carved, and sightings of Partridge prompted some to remark on his close resemblance to a recently deceased acquaintance. The hoax was so successful that Partridge lost all credibility and stopped publishing his almanacs.

When writer Richard Steele launched a magazine, the Tatler, a year after Swift enacted his hoax, he borrowed his friend’s memorable pseudonym. The imaginary Isaac Bickerstaff appeared on the Tatler’s masthead as editor. As a woman at one of Juliet’s book signings loudly declares to a curmudgeon in the audience (in the letter from Juliet to Sidney of 21 January, 1946), when Steele later founded The Spectator with Joseph Addison, the men of letters once again used the Bickerstaff persona.
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“P.S. I am reading the collected correspondence of Mrs. Montagu. Do you know what that dismal woman wrote to Jane Carlyle?”

Anna Dorothea Benson Montagu’s backhanded compliment was directed at Jane Carlyle, the wife of Scottish essayist and historian Thomas Carlyle. Mrs. Montagu was one of the first people Thomas met in London during a visit in 1824, and she introduced him to the city’s literary life. He described her as “a stately matron with a quick intellect and a taste for exciting sentiments,” while Jane found her to be “a clever, high-minded woman, who has offered herself to me as a friend, with the most captivating grace and frankness.”

Both Thomas and Jane corresponded regularly with Mrs. Montagu, a former governess and the wife of a lawyer and philosopher, despite her meddling in some of their private affairs. The friendship eventually waned over Mrs. Montagu’s harsh treatment of a mutual friend who had involved her family in a business deal that went awry. Whatever her shortcomings, Thomas appears to have paid homage to her—and to his wife—in Wotton Reinfred, a semi-autobiographical novel he abandoned after seven chapters and which was published posthumously. The story’s heroine is named Jane Montagu.
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“My name is Dawsey Adams, and I live on my farm in St. Martin’s Parish on Guernsey.”

[image: ]

Location of Guernsey in the English Channel

“The Channel Islands are fragments of France that have fallen into the sea and been picked up by England. Hence their complex nationality,” wrote Victor Hugo in his Guernsey-set novel The Toilers of the Sea.

Situated roughly thirty miles off the coast of Normandy, France, and seventy miles from England, Guernsey is a self-governing dependency of the British crown—an arrangement that dates back more than eight hundred years.

Along with the rest of the Channel Islands, Guernsey, once ruled by the Duchy of Normandy, was for centuries caught up in conflict between England and France. The islanders supported King John of England in a 1204 battle during which the monarch lost his French territories. In return for their loyalty, the king rewarded them by allowing them to retain their ancient laws and privileges and to be largely self-governing.

The Bailiwick of Guernsey, which also includes the islands of Alderney, Sark, Herm, Jethou, Brecqhou, and Lihou, has its own constitution, currency, and postage stamps (including a set inspired by The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society that’s currently in production), fiscal and legal systems, and legislative assemblies. As a crown dependency, Guernsey swears allegiance to the Queen (in her role as the Duchess of Normandy) and not to the British government, although the latter is responsible for its defense and international representation.

Each of Guernsey’s ten parishes is governed by a douzaine, or constable, and has its own unique character; among them are St. Peter Port, the bustling capital, and St. Andrew’s, the only landlocked parish. Travelers who come by plane land in Forest, home to Guernsey’s only airport and the highest point on the island.

Guernsey’s intriguing history dates to 8000 BC, when Stone Age nomads migrated to the Channel Islands, which were separated from mainland France by rising sea levels at the end of the Ice Age. Along with its role in disputes between England and France, the island’s colorful and stormy past includes periods as an important Roman trading post, a haven for pirates, and a strategic force in the English Civil War. During World War II, the Channel Islands, including Guernsey, were the only British territory to be occupied by German troops.

Over the years, Guernsey’s main sources of revenue have shifted from fishing, shipbuilding, privateering, and other maritime industries to financial services and tourism. The second largest of the Channel Islands (Jersey trumps it in size) and the most densely populated, with some sixty-five thousand residents, Guernsey is a popular place for holidaymakers. As one tour company has proclaimed, the island’s beaches, cliff walks, countryside, and fresh sea air are “the ultimate natural antidote to stress.”

Among Guernsey’s famous guests were the Impressionist painter Pierre-Auguste Renoir, who stayed for a month in 1883 and painted fifteen canvases of the island’s terrain and vistas, and Victor Hugo, who took up residence for fourteen years in the mid-1800s, during his exile from his home country of France.

For more information: www.visitguernsey.com
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“I know of you because I have an old book that once belonged to you—the Selected Essays of Elia, by an author whose name in real life was Charles Lamb.”

[image: ]

A clerk with the East India Company for much of his life, Charles Lamb (1775–1834) moonlighted as a writer. Considered his greatest achievements are the essays he penned for The London Magazine “under the phantom cloud of Elia,” an assumed name borrowed from a fellow clerk.

A blend of erudition and colloquialism, seriousness and humor, many of Lamb’s essays drew on his everyday experiences and those of thinly disguised acquaintances, exploring topics ranging from card games and the perils of lending books to hungry London chimney sweeps and the pleasure of eating pineapple.

Lamb’s first published works were four sonnets featured in Samuel Taylor Coleridge’s Poems on Various Subjects. His other literary endeavors included a novella, Rosamund Gray, inspired by a true-life unrequited love affair. With his sister, Mary, he published Tales from Shakespeare, a retelling for children of the British Bard’s plays and a bestseller at the time, and Mrs. Leicester’s School, a collection of stories written as if told by young students.

Lamb was lifelong friends with the renowned Romantic poet Coleridge, a former schoolmate. They were part of a group of young London writers that also included artist-turned-author William Hazlitt and poets Leigh Hunt, Percy Bysshe Shelley, and Lord Byron.

Eighteenth-century essayist Lamb’s wit has survived the ages, tying him to a modern classic: Harper Lee chose a quote of his as the epigraph for To Kill a Mockingbird, her Alabama-set novel about race: “Lawyers, I suppose, were children once.”
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“Charles Lamb made me laugh during the German Occupation, especially when he wrote about the roast pig.”

The work Dawsey references, “A Dissertation Upon Roast Pig,” was written in 1822 and appeared in Charles Lamb’s Essays of Elia. A tale about the invention of barbecue, it’s one of numerous pieces he wrote celebrating food and exploring human beings’ often complicated social relationship with what we eat.

“A Dissertation Upon Roast Pig”

Mankind, says a Chinese manuscript, which my friend M. was obliging enough to read and explain to me, for the first seventy thousand ages ate their meat raw, clawing or biting it from the living animal, just as they do in Abyssinia to this day. This period is not obscurely hinted at by their great Confucius in the second chapter of his Mundane Mutations, where he designates a kind of golden age by the term Cho-fang, literally the Cooks’ holiday. The manuscript goes on to say, that the art of roasting, or rather broiling (which I take to be the elder brother) was accidentally discovered in the manner following. The swine-herd, Ho-ti, having gone out into the woods one morning, as his manner was, to collect mast for his hogs, left his cottage in the care of his eldest son Bo-bo, a great lubberly boy, who being fond of playing with fire, as younkers of his age commonly are, let some sparks escape into a bundle of straw, which kindling quickly, spread the conflagration over every part of their poor mansion, till it was reduced to ashes. Together with the cottage (a sorry antediluvian make-shift of a building, you may think it), what was of much more importance, a fine litter of new-farrowed pigs, no less than nine in number, perished. China pigs have been esteemed a luxury all over the East, from the remotest periods that we read of. Bo-bo was in the utmost consternation, as you may think, not so much for the sake of the tenement, which his father and he could easily build up again with a few dry branches, and the labour of an hour or two, at any time, as for the loss of the pigs. While he was thinking what he should say to his father, and wringing his hands over the smoking remnants of one of those untimely sufferers, an odour assailed his nostrils unlike any scent which he had before experienced. What could it proceed from?—not from the burnt cottage—he had smelt that smell before—indeed this was by no means the first accident of the kind which had occurred through the negligence of this unlucky young fire-brand. Much less did it resemble that of any known herb, weed, or flower. A premonitory moistening at the same time overflowed his nether lip. He knew not what to think. He next stooped down to feel the pig, if there were any signs of life in it. He burnt his fingers, and to cool them he applied them in his booby fashion to his mouth. Some of the crumbs of the scorched skin had come away with his fingers, and for the first time in his life (in the world’s life indeed, for before him no man had known it) he tasted—crackling! Again he felt and fumbled at the pig. It did not burn him so much now, still he licked his fingers from a sort of habit. The truth at length broke into his slow understanding, that it was the pig that smelt so, and the pig that tasted so delicious; and, surrendering himself up to the new-born pleasure, he fell to tearing up whole handfuls of the scorched skin with the flesh next it, and was cramming it down his throat in his beastly fashion, when his sire entered amid the smoking rafters, armed with retributory cudgel, and finding how affairs stood, began to rain blows upon the young rogue’s shoulders, as thick as hail-stones, which Bo-bo heeded not any more than if they had been flies. The tickling pleasure, which he experienced in his lower regions, had rendered him quite callous to any inconveniences he might feel in those remote quarters. His father might lay on, but he could not beat him from his pig, till he had fairly made an end of it, when, becoming a little more sensible of his situation, something like the following dialogue ensued.

“You graceless whelp, what have you got there devouring? Is it not enough that you have burnt me down three houses with your dog’s tricks, and be hanged to you, but you must be eating fire, and I know not what—what have you got there, I say?”

“O father, the pig, the pig, do come and taste how nice the burnt pig eats.”

The ears of Ho-ti tingled with horror. He cursed his son, and he cursed himself that ever he should beget a son that should eat burnt pig.

Bo-bo, whose scent was wonderfully sharpened since morning, soon raked out another pig, and fairly rending it asunder, thrust the lesser half by main force into the fists of Ho-ti, still shouting out “Eat, eat, eat the burnt pig, father, only taste—O Lord,”—with suchlike barbarous ejaculations, cramming all the while as if he would choke.

Ho-ti trembled in every joint while he grasped the abominable thing, wavering whether he should not put his son to death for an unnatural young monster, when the crackling scorching his fingers, as it had done his son’s, and applying the same remedy to them, he in his turn tasted some of its flavour, which, make what sour mouths he would for a pretence, proved not altogether displeasing to him. In conclusion (for the manuscript here is a little tedious) both father and son fairly sat down to the mess, and never left off till they had despatched all that remained of the litter.

Bo-bo was strictly enjoined not to let the secret escape, for the neighbours would certainly have stoned them for a couple of abominable wretches, who could think of improving upon the good meat which God had sent them. Nevertheless, strange stories got about. It was observed that Ho-ti’s cottage was burnt down now more frequently than ever. Nothing but fires from this time forward. Some would break out in broad day, others in the night-time. As often as the sow farrowed, so sure was the house of Ho-ti to be in a blaze; and Ho-ti himself, which was the more remarkable, instead of chastising his son, seemed to grow more indulgent to him than ever. At length they were watched, the terrible mystery discovered, and father and son summoned to take their trial at Pekin, then an inconsiderable assize town. Evidence was given, the obnoxious food itself produced in court, and verdict about to be pronounced, when the foreman of the jury begged that some of the burnt pig, of which the culprits stood accused, might be handed into the box. He handled it, and they all handled it, and burning their fingers, as Bo-bo and his father had done before them, and nature prompting to each of them the same remedy, against the face of all the facts, and the clearest charge which judge had ever given—to the surprise of the whole court, townsfolk, strangers, reporters, and all present—without leaving the box, or any manner of consultation whatever, they brought in a simultaneous verdict of “Not Guilty.”

The judge, who was a shrewd fellow, winked at the manifest iniquity of the decision: and, when the court was dismissed, went privily, and bought up all the pigs that could be had for love or money. In a few days his Lordship’s town house was observed to be on fire. The thing took wing, and now there was nothing to be seen but fires in every direction. Fuel and pigs grew enormously dear all over the district. The insurance offices one and all shut up shop. People built slighter and slighter every day, until it was feared that the very science of architecture would in no long time be lost to the world. Thus this custom of firing houses continued, till in process of time, says my manuscript, a sage arose, like our Locke, who made a discovery, that the flesh of swine, or indeed of any other animal, might be cooked (burnt, as they called it) without the necessity of consuming a whole house to dress it. Then first began the rude form of a gridiron. Roasting by the string, or spit, came in a century or two later, I forget in whose dynasty. By such slow degrees, concludes the manuscript, do the most useful, and seemingly the most obvious arts, make their way among mankind.

Without placing too implicit faith in the account above given, it must be agreed, that if a worthy pretext for so dangerous an experiment as setting houses on fire (especially in these days) could be assigned in favour of any culinary object, that pretext and excuse might be found in ROAST PIG.

Of all the delicacies in the whole mundus edibilis, I will maintain it to be the most delicate—princeps obsoniorum.

I speak not of your grown porkers—things between pig and pork—those hobbydehoys—but a young and tender suckling—under a moon old—guiltless as yet of the sty—with no original speck of the amor immunditiae, the hereditary failing of the first parent, yet manifest—his voice as yet not broken, but something between a childish treble, and a grumble—the mild forerunner, or praeludium, of a grunt.

He must be roasted. I am not ignorant that our ancestors ate them seethed, or boiled—but what a sacrifice of the exterior tegument!

There is no flavour comparable, I will contend, to that of the crisp, tawny, well-watched, not over-roasted, crackling, as it is well called—the very teeth are invited to their share of the pleasure at this banquet in overcoming the coy, brittle resistance—with the adhesive oleaginous—O call it not fat—but an indefinable sweetness growing up to it—the tender blossoming of fat—fat cropped in the bud—taken in the shoot—in the first innocence—the cream and quintessence of the child pig’s yet pure food—the lean, no lean, but a kind of animal manna—or, rather, fat and lean (if it must be so) so blended and running into each other, that both together make but one ambrosian result, or common substance.

Behold him, while he is doing—it seemeth rather a refreshing warmth, than a scorching heat, that he is so passive to. How equably he twirleth round the string!—Now he is just done. To see the extreme sensibility of that tender age, he hath wept out his pretty eyes—radiant jellies—shooting stars.

See him in the dish, his second cradle, how meek he lieth!—wouldst thou have had this innocent grow up to the grossness and indocility which too often accompany maturer swinehood? Ten to one he would have proved a glutton, a sloven, an obstinate, disagreeable animal—wallowing in all manner of filthy conversation—from these sins he is happily snatched away—

Ere sin could blight, or sorrow fade,

Death came with timely care—

his memory is odoriferous—no clown curseth, while his stomach half rejecteth, the rank bacon—no coalheaver bolteth him in reeking sausages—he hath a fair sepulchre in the grateful stomach of the judicious epicure—and for such a tomb might be content to die.

He is the best of Sapors. Pine-apple is great. She is indeed almost too transcendent—a delight, if not sinful, yet so like to sinning, that really a tender-conscienced person would do well to pause—too ravishing for mortal taste, she woundeth and excoriateth the lips that approach her—like lovers’ kisses, she biteth—she is a pleasure bordering on pain from the fierceness and insanity of her relish—but she stoppeth at the palate—she meddleth not with the appetite—and the coarsest hunger might barter her consistently for a mutton chop.

Pig—let me speak his praise—is no less provocative of the appetite, than he is satisfactory to the criticalness of the censorious palate. The strong man may batten on him, and the weakling refuseth not his mild juices.

Unlike to mankind’s mixed characters, a bundle of virtues and vices, inexplicably intertwisted, and not to be unravelled without hazard, he is—good throughout. No part of him is better or worse than another. He helpeth, as far as his little means extend, all around. He is the least envious of banquets. He is all neighbours’ fare.

I am one of those, who freely and ungrudgingly impart a share of the good things of this life which fall to their lot (few as mine are in this kind) to a friend. I protest I take as great an interest in my friend’s pleasures, his relishes, and proper satisfactions, as in mine own. “Presents,” I often say, “endear absents.” Hares, pheasants, partridges, snipes, barn-door chickens (those “tame villatic fowl”), capons, plovers, brawn, barrels of oysters, I dispense as freely as I receive them. I love to taste them, as it were, upon the tongue of my friend. But a stop must be put somewhere. One would not, like Lear, “give everything.” I make my stand upon pig. Methinks it is an ingratitude to the Giver of all good flavours, to extra-domiciliate, or send out of the house, slightingly, (under pretext of friendship, or I know not what) a blessing so particularly adapted, predestined, I may say, to my individual palate—it argues an insensibility.

I remember a touch of conscience in this kind at school. My good old aunt, who never parted from me at the end of a holiday without stuffing a sweetmeat, or some nice thing, into my pocket, had dismissed me one evening with a smoking plum-cake, fresh from the oven. In my way to school (it was over London bridge) a grey-headed old beggar saluted me (I have no doubt at this time of day that he was a counterfeit). I had no pence to console him with, and in the vanity of self-denial, and the very coxcombry of charity, school-boy-like, I made him a present of—the whole cake! I walked on a little, buoyed up, as one is on such occasions, with a sweet soothing of self-satisfaction; but before I had got to the end of the bridge, my better feelings returned, and I burst into tears, thinking how ungrateful I had been to my good aunt, to go and give her good gift away to a stranger, that I had never seen before, and who might be a bad man for aught I knew; and then I thought of the pleasure my aunt would be taking in thinking that I—I myself, and not another—would eat her nice cake—and what should I say to her the next time I saw her—how naughty I was to part with her pretty present—and the odour of that spicy cake came back upon my recollection, and the pleasure and the curiosity I had taken in seeing her make it, and her joy when she sent it to the oven, and how disappointed she would feel that I had never had a bit of it in my mouth at last—and I blamed my impertinent spirit of alms-giving, and out-of-place hypocrisy of goodness, and above all I wished never to see the face again of that insidious, good-for-nothing, old grey impostor.

Our ancestors were nice in their method of sacrificing these tender victims. We read of pigs, whipt to death with something of a shock, as we hear of any other obsolete custom. The age of discipline is gone by, or it would be curious to inquire (in a philosophical light merely) what effect this process might have towards intenerating and dulcifying a substance, naturally so mild and dulcet as the flesh of young pigs. It looks like refining a violet, yet we should be cautious, while we condemn the inhumanity, how we censure the wisdom of the practice. It might impart a gusto.

I remember an hypothesis, argued upon by the young students, when I was at St. Omer’s, and maintained with much learning and pleasantry on both sides, “Whether, supposing that the flavour of a pig who obtained his death by whipping (per flagellationem extremam) superadded a pleasure upon the palate of a man more intense than any possible suffering we can conceive in the animal, is man justified in using that method of putting the animal to death?” I forget the decision.

His sauce should be considered. Decidedly, a few bread crumbs, done up with his liver and brains, and a dash of mild sage. But, banish, dear Mrs. Cook, I beseech you, the whole onion tribe. Barbecue your whole hogs to your palate, steep them in shalots, stuff them out with plantations of the rank and guilty garlic; you cannot poison them, or make them stronger than they are—but consider, he is a weakling—a flower. —Charles Lamb
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“The enclosed postcard is a reproduction of a painting of Lamb by his friend William Hazlitt.”

Before artist William Hazlitt (1778–1830) changed his vocation and became a well-known journalist, essayist, and literary and drama critic, he created a portrait of his friend Charles Lamb in regal attire. The painting, housed in London’s National Portrait Gallery, is modeled on a famous seventeenth-century work by Diego Velázquez featuring the Spanish monarch Philip IV.

Lamb and Hazlitt met in London in the early 1800s, and were part of a literary circle that included William Wordsworth, Samuel Taylor Coleridge, and William Godwin, who allowed his young daughter, future Frankenstein author Mary Shelley, to listen in on the group’s discussions.

Hazlitt’s friendship with Lamb lasted for three decades, but his circle of friends and acquaintances gradually diminished due to his outspokenness on political matters and increasingly irascible behavior. He also alienated some of his fellow writers, including Wordsworth, by criticizing their work in print.

In his equally turbulent personal life, Hazlitt endured two failed marriages and an unrequited love for his landlord’s daughter. Best known for The Character of Shakespear’s Plays and The Spirit of the Age, a not-so-flattering collection of essays about his contemporaries, the impoverished Hazlitt died in London while working on a biography of Napoleon, his hero.
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“Bath is a glorious town …”
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Bath’s Royal Crescent
PHOTO: © BATH TOURISM PLUS

The curative spa waters and splendid Georgian architecture of Bath, England, have been drawing royals, writers, and other visitors for centuries.

The Romans were among the first to discover Bath’s allure, building an enormous spa and temple complex fed by underground hot springs. The city later fell into decline during medieval times but was revitalized in the early eighteenth century, after a visit by Queen Anne launched a trend that helped transform it into a fashionable and celebrated resort.

Built with a local honey-hued limestone, Bath’s structures and streetscapes were designed to emulate the splendor of ancient Rome—including the three-tiered terraced Circus, a circle of thirty-three houses modeled after the Colosseum. The architectural marvel was one of the key reasons Bath was designated a World Heritage Site by UNESCO in 1987.

Bath suffered extensive damage and more than four hundred casualties during World War II, when it was bombed along with York, Canterbury, and several other historic places in the United Kingdom. An incensed Hitler ordered the air raids (known as the “Baedeker Blitz”) in reprisal for British attacks on German cities. The impetus for the deadly campaign, intended to weaken British morale, came from a series of travel guides published by the German company Verlag Karl Baedeker. Said Nazi propagandist Baron Gustav Braun von Sturm, “We shall go out and bomb every building in Britain marked with three stars in the Baedeker Guide.”

More than two centuries earlier, novelist Daniel Defoe was one of many writers who made their way to Bath. During a 1724 visit he described the city as “the resort of the sound, rather than the sick” where the chief pastimes were gaming, visiting, and “all sorts of gallantry and levity.” In his comic novel The Pickwick Papers, Charles Dickens, who traveled to Bath as a young journalist, satirized the town’s melodramatic social life.

More than any other writer, Jane Austen put Bath on the literary map, despite being a reluctant resident. Preferring life in the countryside, she was reportedly so upset when her father announced the family’s move to the spa town that she fainted. Her five-year stay in Bath did offer creative fodder, however, and she used Bath as a backdrop in her novels Northanger Abbey and Persuasion.

A must-see site in Bath is the Jane Austen Centre, located in an elegant townhouse reconstructed into a replica of one occupied by the novelist. Along with insight into Austen’s life and work, the museum sheds light on what Bath was like during the time the author resided there. Be sure to emulate Austen’s characters by promenading along the Royal Crescent and sampling the hot spa waters at the Pump Room, a striking Corinthian-columned salon that was one of Catherine Morland’s favorite spots in Northanger Abbey.

Each year Bath beckons bibliophiles with the Jane Austen Festival, a ten-day Regency-themed extravaganza held in September, and the Bath Literature Festival, a nine-day gathering in late February/early March featuring more than one hundred and fifty authors.

For more information: www.visitbath.co.uk
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“What was it, then? Drink? Other women? A touch of the old Oscar Wilde?”
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Portrait of Oscar Wilde by Napoleon Sarony

Irish writer Oscar Wilde (1854–1900) is one of the more colorful figures in literary history, remembered as much for his biting wit and flamboyant style—including the signature green carnation he wore on his lapel—as for his literary endeavors.

Considered one of the greatest playwrights of the Victorian era, Wilde wrote and produced nine plays. (His sole novel is The Picture of Dorian Gray.) Personally, though, he was at odds with the conservative values of the time. When Gilly insinuates that Juliet may have broken off her engagement with Lieutenant Dartry because of “a touch of the old Oscar Wilde,” he is referring to the writer’s bisexuality.

Wilde was at the height of his success in 1895, with The Importance of Being Earnest showing to great acclaim on the London stage, when his life took a dramatic turn. The married father of two was arrested on a charge of “gross indecency” stemming from his homosexual relationship with Lord Alfred Douglas. Ignoring advice to flee the country, Wilde went on trial and was sentenced to two years’ imprisonment with hard labor. After his release, a shattered Wilde roamed around Europe until his death three years later in a Paris hotel.
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“Now, about Markham V. Reynolds, Junior. I do know who he is, and the Domesday Book won’t help—he’s an American.”
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The Domesday Book
PHOTO: © NATIONAL ARCHIVES UK

The Domesday Book is the world’s oldest surviving public record, commissioned in 1085 by William the Conqueror to assess the land and resources owned in England at the time. The ruler, who had invaded the country two decades earlier, was looking to fill his war chest and wanted to know the extent of the taxes he could raise.

The two-volume, nearly nine-hundred-page work is an extensive record of landholders, their tenants, the amount and type of property they owned (i.e., woodland or meadow), the number of animals, and other resources. “There was no single hide nor a yard of land, nor indeed one ox nor one cow nor one pig which was left out,” remarked an observer. Almost all of the places mentioned in the Domesday Book can be found on a current map of England and Wales, although many of the names have since been changed.

The Domesday Book’s title comes from a Biblical reference. The wide-ranging parameters of the survey and the irreversible nature of the information recorded in it led some to compare it to the Last Judgment, or Doomsday, when people will stand before God and answer for their deeds, documented in the Book of Life.

A copy of the Domesday Book is on display at the National Archives in London. The original, which was written on sheepskin parchment in red and black ink, is stored away in a specially made chest for safekeeping.

For more information: www.domesdaybook.co.uk and www.nationalarchives.gov.uk
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“They aren’t going to ask me to write about the Duchess of Windsor, are they?”

A king gave up his crown for American socialite Wallis Simpson (1896–1986), who became the Duchess of Windsor. While married to her second husband, a British-American businessman, and living in England, she met Edward, Prince of Wales, and began an affair with the future monarch. He ascended to the British throne on January 20, 1936, as King Edward VIII but made the controversial decision to abdicate his royal responsibility eleven months later.

Political complications prevented Edward from remaining king and marrying Simpson, who was twice divorced in a society where divorce was taboo. On December 11, 1936, he said in a radio broadcast, “I have found it impossible to carry the heavy burden of responsibility, and to discharge my duties as king as I would wish to do, without the help and support of the woman I love.”

Snubbed by the British royal family, the newly minted Duke and Duchess of Windsor lived in France during the years leading up to World War II. In 1937, they made a high-profile visit to Germany and met Adolf Hitler, who entertained them at his mountain home. Suspected of being Nazi sympathizers, the couple became the subject of an FBI investigation in 1941, although no charges were ever filed.

Despite a tumultuous union that included at least one affair by Wallis, the Duke and Duchess of Windsor were married for thirty-five years, until the Duke’s death from cancer in 1972.
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“I have a job at St. Peter Port harbor—unloading ships, so I can read during tea breaks.”
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Post box in St. Peter Port, Guernsey
PHOTO: © ALAN FORD

Guernsey’s capital and largest city, St. Peter Port has been a thriving maritime center since Roman times. Tucked into a harbor on the eastern side of the island, where it’s sheltered from fierce winds, the port has contributed considerably to Guernsey’s economic prosperity throughout the centuries.

Constructed on the steep cliffs above the harbor, St. Peter Port was once a small medieval village with a church at its center. The boundaries began to widen in the eighteenth century, when wealthy merchants built grandiose houses on the outskirts of the town.

As one-time St. Peter Port resident Victor Hugo described it in his novel The Toilers of the Sea, “The town is built on the slopes of a charming huddle of valleys and hills clustered around the Old Harbor as if they had been thrust there by the hand of a giant.”

Standing sentry at the port’s entrance is the imposing Castle Cornet, whose origins date to the thirteenth century. The fortress was formerly located on a tidal island that was joined by a breakwater to the harbor in the mid-1800s. The seaside town is also home to Elizabeth College, a day school for children ages two to eighteen, founded by Queen Elizabeth I in 1563.

Echoes of picturesque St. Peter Port’s past are still very much on display, from cobbled streets and hidden alleyways to Regency- and Georgian-style architecture (including Hugo’s abode). A siren’s song for travelers, this vibrant seaport is a striking blend of modernity and historic charm.
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“How we had been attending a meeting of the Guernsey Literary Society, and the evening’s discussion of Elizabeth and Her German Garden had been so delightful that we had all lost track of time.”

Published in 1898 to great acclaim, Elizabeth and Her German Garden is the autobiographical first novel by the Australian-born British author Elizabeth von Arnim (1866–1941). Born Mary Annette Beauchamp, von Arnim adopted the pseudonym “Elizabeth” and eventually came to be referred to by the moniker even among friends. Published anonymously and reprinted numerous times in its first year, the story chronicles the protagonist’s days spent in her Italian-style garden.

“The garden is the place I go to for refuge and shelter, not the house. In the house are duties and annoyances, servants to exhort and admonish, furniture, and meals; but out there blessings crowd round me at every step … it is there that all my sins and silliness are forgiven, there that I feel protected and at home, and every flower and weed is a friend and every tree a lover,” writes von Arnim. She penned the charming satirical novel while living on her husband’s family estate in the German countryside.

Von Arnim met her future spouse, Count Henning August von Arnim-Schlagenthin, a widower twice her age, while traveling in Italy, and the pair married two years later in 1891.

Hailed as one of the finest wits of her day, von Arnim authored more than twenty works. They include The Solitary Summer, a follow-up to Elizabeth and Her German Garden, and The Enchanted April, which has been adapted into an Academy Award-nominated feature film, a Broadway play, and a musical.

Among von Arnim’s literary connections were E. M. Forster, who was employed as a tutor for her children; the writer Katherine Mansfield, her cousin; and The War of the Worlds author H. G. Wells, with whom she had a three-year affair.

Following the count’s death in 1910, von Arnim began a romance with Frank, the second Earl Russell and the brother of philosopher Bertrand Russell. Their marriage quickly turned rancorous, but they never divorced. After living in London, Switzerland, and France, von Arnim moved to the United States at the start of World War II. She passed away in Charleston, South Carolina, after a bout of influenza.
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“I enjoy the war-time cartoons, but there is one that bewilders me. It was in a 1944 Punch and shows ten or so people walking down a London street.”

A humor and satire magazine founded by a wood engraver and a writer, Punch launched in London in 1841 and published for more than a century and a half before folding in 2002. The memorable name came about during a meeting after someone remarked that the magazine should emulate a good punch mixture—nothing without lemon, a reference to its inaugural editor, Mark Lemon.

A blend of witty prose and artwork, Punch claims to have created the cartoon “as we know it today.” Among the writers who wielded their pens for the magazine were William Makepeace Thackeray, P. G. Wodehouse, and A. A. Milne, then known as a humorist, playwright, and mystery author.

Milne’s career took a different turn after he composed the poems that comprised his first children’s book, When We Were Very Young, published in 1924. His publisher wasn’t keen on putting out a volume of children’s poetry, and it was decided that some of the verses—including one called “Teddy Bear”—would be previewed in Punch. When We Were Very Young was an immediate success, and Milne began working on a collection of stories about Christopher Robin and his stuffed teddy bear … now named Winnie-the-Pooh.

For more information: www.punch.co.uk
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“We were all used to bombing raids at night and the sights that followed, but these were unlike any bombs we had seen before.”
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View along the River Thames: smoke rising from the London docklands after an air raid during the Blitz
PHOTO: © NEW YORK TIMES PARIS BUREAU COLLECTION

In the late afternoon on September 7, 1940, hundreds of German planes rained bombs on London. The attack was the beginning of the Blitz (German for lightning), a period of near-nightly bombing of the city that continued through the following May.

Residents regularly sought refuge in air-raid shelters, and as many as 177,000 retreated below street level to the London Underground transit system. Much of the city was destroyed by fire and reduced to rubble. Iconic buildings like the British Museum, St. Paul’s Cathedral, Buckingham Palace, Westminster Abbey, and the House of Commons all suffered damage. Nearly one and a half million people’s homes were demolished, and an estimated twenty thousand civilians lost their lives.

One woman, a young girl when the Blitz began, lived with her parents in a flat overlooking the Thames. After the air raid sirens sounded on September 7, the three headed for a shelter near the wharf. She shared her memories of that day with the BBC:

“For two solid hours without remit we were bombarded with high explosive bombs. We could hear them dropping, and the building shook with each impact. There is no adequate way to describe the feeling; it was truly horrific. Finally the all clear sounded and we returned to our home. The whole of the dockside was burning; in fact, we were ringed with fire, and my father knew he had to get us out of there as soon as possible.” She and her mother returned to London three days later. “The stench of burning, the dirt and the sight of the destroyed buildings was quite frightening, but there was worse. As we neared home, one of my mother’s friends told us that our home was gone…. That day will live with me forever.”

Hitler’s aim with the Blitz was to demoralize the British population, disrupt commerce, and force the government to capitulate—a strategy that ultimately failed. Although the German leader called off the Blitz on May 11, 1941, and moved his bombers east in preparation for invading Russia, air raids on London continued through 1945.

Even after the Blitz, the terror from the sky was far from over for Londoners. Germany began launching V1 rockets: jet-propelled, pilotless aircraft equipped with one-ton warheads. Also known as Doodlebugs, as Juliet notes, the first ten V1s hit the city on June 12, 1944. The rocket’s engine would cut out once it reached its target, causing it to fall from the sky in a matter of seconds.

In September came the V2s, an even more deadly weapon developed by German scientists. The ballistic missiles traveled at the speed of sound, with no sign of attack until they hit the ground. “It was not as scary as the Doodlebug because it was so fast that you never saw it or heard it—until it landed with a loud whomf noise,” recalled a Londoner who lived through those terrifying times. “If it landed on you, you would not have heard it; you would be dead anyway.”

The letter “V” in the rockets’ names stands for Vergeltung, or retaliation.
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“I hope you don’t sack him; he seems a nice boy, and he really had no alternative—I menaced him with Remembrance of Things Past.”

French novelist Marcel Proust’s (1871–1922) seven-volume magnum opus, Remembrance of Things Past, is infamous for its length. He began the colossal work (later published as In Search of Lost Time, a more literal translation from the French) in 1909. He toiled day and night, rarely emerging from a cork-lined room in his Paris apartment. The last three volumes were published posthumously, after Proust passed away in 1922. The Modern Library editions clock in at more than four thousand five hundred pages combined. Volume Three alone has nearly nine hundred pages, hefty enough to use to menace someone, if necessary, as Juliet did.
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“Thursday’s too far away. Monday? Claridge’s? 7:00?”

One of the most exclusive hotels in London, Claridge’s hosted several royal families who fled the European continent during World War II. Guests included the kings of Greece, Norway, and Yugoslavia, as well as the queen of the Netherlands. A diplomat who once telephoned the hotel and asked to speak with the king was met with the response, “Certainly, sir. But which one?”

For more information: www.claridges.co.uk
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“I’m hauling slates for the Crown Hotel’s new roof. The owners are hopeful that tourists may want to come back this summer.”

Located in St. Peter Port, Guernsey’s capital, the waterfront space that once housed the Crown Hotel is now a pub called the Ship and Crown.
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“Since you should know something about me, I have asked the Reverend Simon Simpless, of St. Hilda’s Church near Bury St. Edmunds, Suffolk, to write to you.”

[image: ]

Abbey ruins in Bury St. Edmunds
PHOTO: © ST. EDMUNDSBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

“The coach rattled through the well-paved streets of a handsome little town, of thriving and cleanly appearance, and stopped before a large inn situated in a wide open street, nearly facing the old abbey,” writes Charles Dickens in The Pickwick Papers as the title character, kindly retired businessman and traveler Mr. Pickwick, arrives in Bury St. Edmunds, a historic market town in eastern England.

Bury St. Edmunds was established around the influential Benedictine Abbey, founded in 1020 and now in ruins with ornate gardens on the site. The town’s namesake is St. Edmund, king of the East Angles in the mid-ninth century. Many of the medieval-era buildings still stand, along with an abundance of Georgian architecture. A market takes place on Wednesdays and Saturdays in the town center. Along with Dickens, Bury St. Edmunds has another literary connection: essayist and historian Thomas Carlyle visited the abbey ruins in 1840.
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“She spent the very last of her inheritance on a flat in Chelsea. Chelsea, home of artists, models, libertines, and Socialists …”

Despite what Lady Bella Taunton tells Amelia, Juliet displayed good taste by purchasing a flat in glamorous Chelsea. Bordering the River Thames, it has been one of London’s most sought-after neighborhoods for centuries and has attracted countless famous figures from royalty to rockers.

Two of Henry VIII’s wives lived in Chelsea in the 1500s, after the monarch’s death, followed in later years by Oscar Wilde, Henry James, and other writers, as well as artists like James McNeill Whistler and John Singer Sargent. Virginia Woolf used the area as a backdrop in her 1919 novel Night and Day, a love story and social comedy that contrasts the daily lives of two friends. Illustrating the wide-ranging allure of the neighborhood, among the modern-day residents of Chelsea are rock star Mick Jagger and former British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher
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“One night in May 1941, a high-explosive bomb was dropped through the roof of the Inner Temple Hall Library.”

Located in London near the Royal Courts of Justice, the four Inns of Court—of which the Inner Temple is one—are centuries-old associations that play a central role in the recruitment, training, and professional development of barristers (lawyers).

During World War II, the Inner Temple Hall Library and much of its contents were destroyed during a succession of German air raids on the city. Association officials had at first refused to remove any of the books, which are used by the members of all four Inns. Rare and valuable manuscripts, such as a vellum illumination (c. 1460) featuring the earliest known depictions of the English court and court dress, were taken out of London to be stored.

After severe damage was done to the building, about half of the collection was moved to a dozen country houses. The remainder of the books was destroyed by fire on May 10, 1941, followed by further devastation to the building in 1942. Also going up in flames were correspondence, reports, and all other records prior to 1940. The Inner Temple Hall Library was subsequently rebuilt, reopening in 1958.

For more information: www.innertemplelibrary.org.uk
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“Doubtless you know of the huge memorial Victoria had built for her beloved consort, Prince Albert.”
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Gilded statue of Prince Albert at the center of the Albert Memorial

Situated in London’s Kensington Gardens, the Albert Memorial was commissioned by Queen Victoria to commemorate her beloved late husband, Prince Albert, who died of typhoid in 1861 at age forty-two. The elaborate Gothic Revival–style structure, nearly 180 feet tall, took more than a decade to complete.

Among its elaborate embellishments are bronze and marble statues representing the four continents, the virtues, and the industrial arts and sciences (agriculture, commerce, manufacturing, and engineering), and a frieze encircling the base adorned with likenesses of notable historical figures. At the memorial’s center is an eye-catching gilded statue of a seated Prince Albert. The price tag for the extravagant monument was £120,000, equivalent today to about £11,000,000 or $18,000,000.

More than six decades later, at the outset of World War II, the British government began the “Dig for Victory!” campaign. Citizens were encouraged to use their private gardens to grow vegetables and educated on how to do it successfully. Formal public gardens, including Kensington Gardens, were transformed into patches for growing cabbages, carrots, peas, and other edibles.
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“Odd as it may sound, the Germans allowed—and even encouraged—artistic and cultural pursuits among the Channel Islanders. Their object was to prove to the British that the German Occupation was a Model Occupation.”
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Main German defenses on Guernsey
PHOTO: © CHANNEL ISLANDS OCCUPATION SOCIETY / COLIN PARTRIDGE
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German soldiers in St. Peter Port, Guernsey, July/August 1940

“For strategic reasons it has been found necessary to withdraw the armed forces from the Channel Islands,” King George VI of England informed the Bailiffs of Guernsey and Jersey in June 1940. Having decided that the islands were of no tactical importance in the battle against Germany and couldn’t be defended without huge loss of life, the British government abandoned them to the advancing enemy forces making their way across France.

Prime Minister Winston Churchill called the move “repugnant” but complied with the decision, due to the nation’s inability to provide adequate ground or air defense for the islands. The fall of France just days earlier left Great Britain as the sole country standing against the Axis (the United States and the Soviet Union had yet to enter the war) and resources were stretched thin.

Unaware that the Channel Islands had been demilitarized, the Luftwaffe (German air force) bombed Guernsey’s St. Peter Port harbor on June 28, 1940, killing thirty-eight civilians. (Jersey was also attacked.) Two days later German troops landed at the newly completed Guernsey airport, beginning five years of occupation on the island.

The conquest of the first British territories was a coup for Hitler, whose new acquisition was fuel for the Nazi propaganda machine. There was much curiosity about the Channel

Islands in Germany. A history student, Dr. Hans Auerbach, was tasked with writing a book about the islands, published in Paris in 1941.

Prior to the Occupation, Guernsey evacuated seventeen thousand of its forty thousand residents and Jersey some six thousand, six hundred out of fifty thousand. Nearly the entire population of Alderney left, with the opposite on Sark, where most people opted to remain. For those Channel Islanders that stayed, life changed overnight.

The day after the Germans took control of Guernsey, The Guernsey Press printed orders outlining new rules. Towns were given German names and clocks were set to Central European time. A curfew was instituted, radios were banned, the use of private cars was forbidden, and social groups could meet only with permission from the German High Command.

The phrase “Model Occupation” is alluded to in a radio address given on August 8, 1940, by Ambrose Sherwill, president of the Guernsey Controlling Committee, who said: “May this Occupation be a model to the world—on the one hand, tolerance on the part of the military authorities and courtesy and correctness on the part of the occupying forces, and, on the other, dignity, courtesy, and exemplary behavior on the part of the civilian population; perfect obedience to law and order, conformity—the strictest conformity—with blackout regulations and with orders and regulations issued by the German commandant and the civil authorities.”

Despite Sherwill’s optimism, many Channel Islanders—cut off from the outside world—suffered brutality and injustice at the hands of the Germans. On Guernsey, infractions against the occupiers, which included escape attempts, publishing war news in underground newspapers, and hiding radio sets, were met with harsh repercussions. Some citizens were deported to prisons and concentration camps and never returned. In addition, all English-born residents and those with military connections were ordered to be sent to prison camps on the Continent.

Food became scarcer as the war progressed, with islanders coming close to starvation during the last eight months of the Occupation, after the D-Day invasion in Normandy cut off supplies from France. At one point during the Occupation, the number of German officers on Guernsey was equal to the number of citizens.

Sir Philip Bailhache, the Bailiff of Jersey from 1995 to 2009, summed it up by saying, “There is nothing noble about a military occupation. From the viewpoint of the occupied it is a period of continuing humiliation. For the occupier it is often a corrosive and corrupting experience. For Channel Islanders, the small size of the islands and the vast scale of the fortifications inflicted upon them, made the five years of German Occupation … a time of suffocation, intrusion and social paralysis…. This was no model occupation.”

Life on Guernsey during the war years is re-created at the German Occupation Museum. A tank and other weaponry are on display, along with memorabilia such as letters, posters, an Enigma enciphering machine, and notices of civilian executions, like that of a man who was shot for espionage after releasing a pigeon with a message to England. Life-size dioramas depict a farmhouse kitchen and a street scene with shop fronts as they would have appeared at the time of the Occupation.

For more information: occupied.guernsey.net
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“Since there was scant butter, less flour, and no sugar to spare on Guernsey then, Will concocted a potato peel pie: mashed potatoes for filling, strained beets for sweetness, and potato peelings for crust.”

Potato Peel Pie

by Annie Barrows

Here’s a recipe for a potato peel pie, but I warn you, it tastes like paste. The more authentic it is, the nastier. These ingredients will make a very small pie (expand at will):

1 potato

1 beet

1 tablespoon milk

Peel the potato and put the peelings in a pie pan. Don’t cook the peels, because you’re in the middle of an Occupation and you don’t have any fuel. Boil the potato and the beet together in salty water—but not for very long, due to the fuel problem, just until you can stick a fork in the potato. Take them out and mash them up with the milk. Pour the glop in the pie pan. Bake at 375 degrees for as short a time as is consonant with digestion (fuel again), say fifteen minutes.

The finished product will look quite attractive and pink. If you squint, you can almost imagine raspberries. Don’t be fooled. It looks a lot better than it is. However, if you forgot that you were in the middle of World War II and added a bunch of butter and milk and salt, it could be quite tasty.
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“You have written a book about Anne Brontë, sister to Charlotte and Emily.”

On the windswept, heather-dotted Yorkshire moors of northern England, Charlotte (1816–1855), Emily (1818–1848), and Anne Brontë (1820–1849) found inspiration for the “stories of passionate encounters” that Isola admires. A particular favorite for Isola is Emily’s only novel, Wuthering Heights, which Charlotte once described as being “hewn in a wild workshop.”

The Brontës spent most of their lives in the Yorkshire village of Haworth, where their father was a clergyman at a local church. Soon after the family settled in Haworth parsonage in 1820, tragedy followed: the deaths of their mother and two elder sisters. The Brontë children found solace in reading voraciously and writing fanciful stories in miniature illustrated books.

There was no sibling rivalry among the Brontë sisters, who would gather around the dining room table in the evenings to pen prose and brainstorm plot ideas. Their first publication was a jointly written book of poetry (under the androgynous pseudonyms Currer, Ellis, and Acton Bell) that sold a mere two copies. Charlotte’s first novel, The Professor, was rejected for publication, but success soon followed when Jane Eyre became an instant bestseller in 1847. Its popularity prompted the publisher to rush out Emily’s Wuthering Heights and Anne’s Agnes Grey and, shortly thereafter, Anne’s The Tenant of Wildfell Hall.

The pleasure of the sisters’ newfound literary achievements proved to be short-lived. Their thirty-one-year-old brother, Branwell, was stricken with tuberculosis and passed away the following year. Within eight months of his death, thirty-year-old Emily and twenty-nine-year-old Anne suffered the same fate. Stricken with grief, Charlotte wrote, “A year ago—had a prophet warned me how I should stand in June 1849—how stripped and bereaved, I should have thought—this can never be endured.” Charlotte went on to publish two more novels, Shirley and Villette, before passing away on March 31, 1855, shortly before her thirty-ninth birthday, newly married and in the early stages of pregnancy.

The eleven-room brick Georgian dwelling that was home to the literary siblings is now the Brontë Parsonage Museum. Like novelist Virginia Woolf, who traveled to Haworth in 1904, visitors can see the black sofa on which Emily died, Charlotte’s diminutive dresses and shoes, and paintings by amateur artist Branwell, including the only existing portrait of the three sisters together.

For more information: www.bronte.info
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“I didn’t like Wuthering Heights at first, but the minute that specter, Cathy, scrabbled her bony fingers on the window glass—I was grasped by the throat and not let go.”

Isola admits to not liking Emily Brontë’s Wuthering Heights until the scene where “that specter, Cathy,” appears at a window in the middle of the night. If you plan to read the novel and, like Isola, you find you’re having trouble getting into the story, hold out until you get to the gripping passage below. Juliet reveals that she, too, became fascinated by the story “at the exact same moment” (letter from Juliet to Isola of 28 February, 1946).

From Wuthering Heights:

I heard distinctly the gusty wind, and the driving of the snow; I heard, also, the fir-bough repeat its teasing sound, and ascribed it to the right cause: but it annoyed me so much, that I resolved to silence it, if possible; and, I thought, I rose and endeavoured to unhasp the casement. The hook was soldered into the staple: a circumstance observed by me when awake, but forgotten. “I must stop it, nevertheless!” I muttered, knocking my knuckles through the glass, and stretching an arm out to seize the importunate branch; instead of which, my fingers closed on the fingers of a little, ice-cold hand! The intense horror of nightmare came over me: I tried to draw back my arm, but the hand clung to it, and a most melancholy voice sobbed, “Let me in—let me in!” “Who are you?” I asked, struggling, meanwhile, to disengage myself. “Catherine Linton,” it replied shiveringly (why did I think of Linton? I had read Earnshaw twenty times for Linton); “I’m come home: I’d lost my way on the moor!” As it spoke, I discerned, obscurely, a child’s face looking through the window. Terror made me cruel; and, finding it useless to attempt shaking the creature off, I pulled its wrist on to the broken pane, and rubbed it to and fro till the blood ran down and soaked the bedclothes: still it wailed, “Let me in!” and maintained its tenacious gripe, almost maddening me with fear. “How can I!” I said at length. “Let me go, if you want me to let you in!” The fingers relaxed, I snatched mine through the hole, hurriedly piled the books up in a pyramid against it, and stopped my ears to exclude the lamentable prayer. I seemed to keep them closed above a quarter of an hour; yet, the instant I listened again, there was the doleful cry moaning on! “Begone!” I shouted. “I’ll never let you in, not if you beg for twenty years.” “It is twenty years,” mourned the voice: “twenty years. I’ve been a waif for twenty years!” Thereat began a feeble scratching outside, and the pile of books moved as if thrust forward. I tried to jump up; but could not stir a limb; and so yelled aloud, in a frenzy of fright.
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“He’s not the shallow dilettante you would have me believe, Sidney. He’s an expert on Wilkie Collins, of all things.”

Wilkie Collins (1824–1889) was a popular Victorian writer, a contemporary of Charles Dickens. During the 1860s he published four acclaimed novels, including The Woman in White, serialized in Dickens’s journal All the Year Round and so popular that perfumes and other commodities were named after it. His suspenseful tale The Moonstone, also serialized in All the Year Round, was described by T. S. Eliot as “the first, the longest, and the best of modern English detective novels.”

Collins’s personal life was unconventional for any age, let alone the didactic Victorian period. He indulged to excess in good food and wine, dressed flamboyantly, and took vast quantities of opium to relieve the symptoms of rheumatic gout. Collins never married but did carry on simultaneous longtime affairs with two women—widowed mother Caroline Graves, who ultimately married another man but later returned to Collins, and Martha Rudd, twenty years his junior, with whom he fathered three children.

Despite any distractions in his personal life, Collins was a prolific wordsmith. He penned fourteen plays, more than sixty short stories, one hundred nonfiction pieces, and thirty novels. The Moonstone drew crowds of booklovers outside the publisher’s office eagerly waiting for the next installment. Since their publication nearly a century and a half ago, The Moonstone and The Woman in White have never been out of print.
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“It seems to me the less he said, the more beauty he made. Do you know what sentence of his I admire the most? It is ‘The bright day is done, and we are for the dark.’ ”

The sentence Eben admires is from William Shakespeare’s tragic play Antony and Cleopatra. In Act 5, Scene 2, Cleopatra, mourning Antony’s death, watches a triumphant Caesar leave the room thinking he now has control over her. She whispers in the ear of one of her faithful attendants, Iras, presumably relaying her plans to commit suicide. Iras responds, “Finish, good lady; the bright day is done, and we are for the dark.”
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“Elizabeth used to say a poem. I don’t remember all of it, but it began ‘Is it so small a thing to have enjoyed the sun, to have lived light in the spring, to have loved, to have thought, to have done, to have advanced true friends?’ ”

The line of poetry Eben shares with Juliet is from “Empedocles on Etna” by British writer Matthew Arnold (1822–1888). Published anonymously in 1852, the lengthy dramatic verse (later retitled “The Hymn of Empedocles”) tells of the ancient Greek philosopher Empedocles. No longer able to feel joy, he throws himself into the crater of Mount Etna.

An excerpt from Arnold’s poem:


Is it so small a thing

To have enjoy’d the sun,

To have lived light in the spring,

To have loved, to have thought, to have done;

To have advanc’d true friends, and beat down baffling foes;

That we must feign a bliss

Of doubtful future date,

And, while we dream on this,

Lose all our present state,

And relegate to worlds yet distant our repose?

Not much, I know, you prize

What pleasures may be had,

Who look on life with eyes

Estrang’d, like mine, and sad:

And yet the village churl feels the truth more than you;

Who’s loath to leave this life

Which to him little yields:

His hard-task’d sunburnt wife,

His often-labour’d fields;

The boors with whom he talk’d, the country spots he knew.

But thou, because thou hear’st

Men scoff at Heaven and Fate;

Because the Gods thou fear’st

Fail to make blest thy state,

Tremblest, and wilt not dare to trust the joys there are.

I say: Fear not! life still

Leaves human effort scope.

But, since life teems with ill,

Nurse no extravagant hope.

Because thou must not dream, thou need’st not then despair!
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“My grandson, Eli, was evacuated to England when he was seven.”

“Evacuation of Children” read the headline in a Guernsey newspaper on June 19, 1940. With the Channel Islands demilitarized and a German invasion becoming likely, parents had just hours to decide if they wanted to send their children away from the island or have them remain. The next morning, the first boat left St. Peter Port bound for England with more than eleven hundred children aboard.

As Eben recounts to Juliet (letter from Eben to Juliet of 10 March, 1946), more than five thousand children in all were evacuated from Guernsey, a little more than a week before German forces took over the island. The children were taken to live in various communities in England and Scotland, where reception committees made up of town officials and volunteers—who had been given barely forty-eight hours’ notice of their arrival—were on hand to greet and care for them.

Some of the teachers who accompanied the children re-established their schools in England to keep pupils together throughout the war. After Guernsey was liberated, some evacuees were joined by their families in England and Scotland, while others returned to the island. Many experienced joyful reunions, such as Eben and Eli would have had, but for others five years of separation made it too difficult to re-establish bonds with their loved ones.

——

Fourteen-year-old Guernsey resident James E. Kimpton was on his way home after a visit to Vazon Bay when he received the news that children were to be evacuated from the island immediately. Here is his story, which he shared in correspondence with Annie Barrows.

“When we reached home we were told that we could take only a tomato box of belongings with us. So we put on every possible article of clothing. I had just celebrated my fourteenth birthday, and one of my aunts had sent me a beautiful large box of watercolors, since I am something of an artist. I had to leave that behind in my desk, and I was most unhappy having to leave that to the Germans….

“Eventually we boarded a coal carrier ship from Poland called The Viking. It was crammed silly with children of all ages. It was the last ship to leave Guernsey for England. The ship zig-zagged all the way at speed to Weymouth for fear of German submarines. Most of the children were seasick, so you can imagine the conditions. We were hours waiting outside Weymouth not knowing where we were going. Snacks were brought out to us. The group I was with, about eighty of us, were told we were going to London to a big college, and we eventually got on a train. Halfway there the train stopped and all the lights went out; it was an air-raid warning, the first of many during our stay in Norwood, at the college in South London. The college was directly on one of the main routes for the German bombers. We spent a lot of time in underground shelters, scared silly by the sounds of bombs and anti-aircraft fire. Each morning we would see the terrible destruction all round the campus. We were evacuated out to a stately mansion near Hertford in time for the V-1s. But then those years are all another story.

“My memories of Guernsey are golden. Our farm had prize-winning Guernsey cows and pigs. The Germans took them all away. The butter made there was famous and so were all the tomatoes. We were always the first on to the English market. Our long walks to various bays to swim and picnic are still very much with me seventy years later.”

——

Eight-year-old Robin Cortvriend and his older siblings, Tony and Valerie, were three of the children evacuated from Guernsey. They rode in the ship’s cargo hold, and after docking in Weymouth, England, Robin and Tony traveled north by train. They lived in two different English villages before being settled in a farmhouse called Ardvorlich in the Scottish countryside, with twenty or so schoolmates from Guernsey. They were looked after by several teachers who had evacuated with the children.

During the years Robin and Tony lived in Scotland, they saw Valerie only a few times. Their sister was sent to Wales, a long distance from where they were staying, and travel was a risky undertaking in wartime Britain. Their brother Barry, who was serving in the British Army, was able to pay them a visit once. Robin shared some of his memories of the evacuation and his time in Scotland with Annie Barrows.

“My last recollection of my parents waving to us from the side of the road is still vivid, as we rode away from school in a bus, heading for the port after many delays and false starts. I thought all this was a great adventure, but my parents must have been torn apart by this drama, seeing their children depart for England in the care of comparative strangers, to a place where they had never been, not knowing when or if they would ever see them again. They still had recent memories of World War I, particularly my father, who had fought in that truly awful war, so seeing their children possibly going into real danger, and knowing that the Germans were probably on their way to the Channel Islands, must have been almost more than they could bear. The Germans did land a few days later, and their five-year ordeal under German Occupation began….

“Our school group, which included my brother Tony but not my sister Valerie, was accommodated for about three weeks in a church, sleeping on the floor along with hundreds of other refugees. On most nights, we were herded to the nearest bomb shelter as the air raids were frequent, dangerous, and noisy, with some bombs falling close enough to loosen dust and small debris from the shelter ceilings. The shelters were crowded, and I recollect that the people we shared space with were sympathetic and kind to us small children….

“I think it was six or nine months before we had word from our parents: cryptic twenty-five-word messages delivered via the Red Cross in Switzerland. I think it was a similar time before our parents heard from us. Initially, we could send one message a month, which might take weeks before delivery, but later we had the luxury of writing fifty words. These messages were heavily censored; no place names were allowed and only strictly personal statements could be made. Devious ways were thought up to give our parents some idea of where we were. I believe kilts and possibly bagpipes were mentioned to indicate our Scottish location, not that we ever wore kilts. Our clothes were few and the most basic kind, some coming from Canadian donors, particularly boots and bib overalls. Our clothes were patched; sometimes the patches were patched, long before it became fashionable to wear torn or patched jeans….

“Our life at Ardvorlich was spartan, but as kids, I suspect particularly for the boys, we accepted our lot and hardly felt we were deprived. Our food was certainly plain and devoid of luxuries, as food rationing was strict as the war progressed. We had one egg a week, two ounces of butter, and perhaps four ounces of meat. Bread was rationed, too, but we had enough. Bread was a sort of gray color, as flour was milled using the whole grain; white flour was unobtainable, as was whole wheat flour. Why the bread was gray, I am not sure. Fresh fruit was scarce; we had apples occasionally, but imported fruit like grapes, oranges, and bananas were just not seen for five years. To give us vitamin C, people were encouraged to collect wild rose hips, which I remember doing, and they were made into rose hip syrup, rich in vitamin C and not a bad-tasting product. The sandwiches we took to school were pretty basic, usually bread and jam, which compared rather unfavorably to the fare our fellow students brought to school….

“Our games or amusements were all products of our imagination and ingenuity. Most nearby trees had all been climbed many times. The loch was a favorite place and we could amuse ourselves for hours on the rocky shores of this cold body of water. We constructed rafts made from five-gallon oil drums, fastened to a wood frame made from tree trunks or branches and any scrap of sawn lumber we could find…. We often climbed the local hills, most notably Ben Vorlich, a fairly strenuous walk of perhaps ten miles and three thousand feet of climbing, which is still reckoned to be a good hike today by any standards….

“On one occasion we, the boys, decided we had had enough and so planned to run away. We spent some time planning this event, deciding where to go and what to take as well as hoarding some food acquired by raiding the larder. The plan included taking such essentials as stamp collections and homemade model airplanes, so on a fair evening, we took to the hills with some blankets and our supplies. We hiked up a few miles and pitched camp, but no sooner had we done so than the teachers discovered us. I suspect that Miss Wilson’s brother-in-law, married to her sister Susan, on leave from the RAF, had a big hand in tracking us down. I can’t recall the punishments we had for this escapade, but I am certain we paid dearly for it. Sadly, Susan’s husband died soon afterwards; his aircraft hit a cliff on the coast of Ireland and all the crew were killed, a chilling reminder of how close the war was, even if we were buried in the Scottish Highlands.

“Candy was strictly rationed, two or four ounces a week. When we had saved some money, we would take our ration coupons to the local store, a walk of four miles one way, and probably ate the whole lot immediately….

“I recall that we made the best we could of Christmas. I think we usually had a turkey dinner and stockings, which were opened as soon as we could, after the teachers hung them up while we feigned sleep. We had a tree and there were usually one or two presents for each of us, but by today’s standards, it was slim pickings….

“In Callander, where we attended school, many Norwegian soldiers were stationed and trained in preparation for D-Day. A week or so before D-Day, we were all allowed out to watch King Haakon of Norway inspect the soldiers paraded on the school playing fields before they took part in the invasion. We learned later from our parents that they could hear the guns from France, which to them was a wonderful sound, as they knew exactly what was happening. After D-Day, we kept maps of the war’s progress in Europe. We were also allowed to listen to Churchill’s famous war speeches, received via a battery-powered radio. I remember his voice now and the powerful effect these speeches had on everyone. In his speech delivered on V-E Day (Victory in Europe), I remember him saying, ‘Our dear Channel Islanders will be liberated today.’ After five long years, our parents were finally going to be free and we would have the chance of living a normal life with them again.

“When Guernsey was finally liberated, our parents, not being native Guernsey people, could not leave the confining island soon enough and so they came over to England at the first opportunity. I think it took a week or two, but finally Tony and I were put on a train and left for London, where Valerie met us. I think we stayed there a day, so Valerie was able to show us a little of London, where we had never been. The extensive bomb damage was a staggering sight and terrible to see.

“We finally met up with our parents, who were staying with Barry’s in-laws in the village of West Grinstead in Sussex. They seemed in good shape and we had a joyful reunion. It was a treat for us to have better food. Tony and I were lodged at a local farm, where they had great produce and no shortage of fine things to eat. So ended an unusual five-year period in the lives of us children. It was not an experience that I would wish on any child and some scars and influences remain to this day. It must have been infinitely worse for our parents, who endured five awful years under the Germans, near starvation, deprived of their children, and often hearing no word from us for months at a time.”

In later years, Robin, Tony, and Valerie all made visits to Guernsey to see the house where they had once lived. After being liberated from the Occupation, their parents never returned to the island.
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“He is a portrait painter of some note, though I’ve never understood why. His portrait of the Countess of Lambeth as Boadicea, lashing her horses, was unforgivable.”

Boadicea was the queen of the Iceni tribe, which inhabited an area of Britain in the first century AD that roughly corresponds to the present-day county of Norfolk in the eastern part of England. The fearsome ruler led an uprising against the occupying forces of the Roman Empire to avenge her husband’s death and the brutal treatment of her and her daughters. Although defeated in battle, Boadicea is remembered for her strength and courage. The warrior queen has even inspired a line of luxury perfumes, Boadicea the Victorious, with fragrances bearing names like Adventuress, Noble, Powerful, and Alluring.
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“Anyway, I did win the hand of the Widow Hubert—my Nancy. I got her to go for walk along the cliffs one evening, and I said, ‘Lookie there, Nancy. The gentleness of Heaven broods o’er the sea—Listen, the mighty Being is awake.’ ”

The line Clovis uses to woo Nancy is from the sonnet “It is a Beauteous Evening, Calm and Free” by English Romantic poet William Wordsworth (1770–1850). While visiting France in the early 1790s, Wordsworth had a love affair with a Frenchwoman, Annette Vallon, with whom he fathered a daughter, Caroline, before returning to England. Political instability in France and war between the two countries prevented him from visiting his daughter for nearly a decade. He penned this memorable verse after a seaside walk in France with the young Caroline.


“It is a Beauteous Evening, Calm and Free”

It is a beauteous evening, calm and free,

The holy time is quiet as a Nun

Breathless with adoration; the broad sun

Is sinking down in its tranquility;

The gentleness of heaven broods o’er the Sea;

Listen! the mighty Being is awake,

And doth with his eternal motion make

A sound like thunder—everlastingly.

Dear child! dear Girl! that walkest with me here,

If thou appear untouched by solemn thought,

Thy nature is not therefore less divine:

Thou liest in Abraham’s bosom all the year;

And worshipp’st at the Temple’s inner shrine,

God being with thee when we know it not.
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“Lieutenant Owen, he wrote a line, ‘What passing-bells for these who die as cattle? Only the monstrous anger of the guns.’ ”

The line Clovis mentions is from “Anthem for Doomed Youth” by Wilfred Owen (1893–1918), who has become one of the most lauded poets of World War I for his works depicting the realities and horrors of warfare. Wounded in combat in 1917, Owen was taken to a hospital in Edinburgh. There he met fellow patient and poet Siegfried Sassoon, who became his mentor. A collection of Owen’s poems was published in December 1920, two years after the twenty-five-year-old writer was killed in combat. Mentioned in the first line of “Anthem for Doomed Youth,” passing-bells were rung to announce someone’s death.


“Anthem for Doomed Youth”

What passing-bells for these who die as cattle?

Only the monstrous anger of the guns.

Only the stuttering rifles’ rapid rattle

Can patter out their hasty orisons.

No mockeries now for them; no prayers nor bells;

Nor any voice of mourning save the choirs,

The shrill, demented choirs of wailing shells;

And bugles calling for them from sad shires.

What candles may be held to speed them all?

Not in the hands of boys, but in their eyes

Shall shine the holy glimmers of goodbyes.

The pallor of girls’ brows shall be their pall;

Their flowers the tenderness of patient minds,

And each slow dusk a drawing-down of blinds.
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“The Commandant of Guernsey had ordered all Jews to report to the Grange Lodge Hotel and register.”

Located in St. Peter Port, the Grange Lodge Hotel was built as a private house in 1815 and has operated as an inn since the 1930s. One of Guernsey’s oldest hotels, it was used as the headquarters for the German Feld Kommandant during the Occupation.

The registration process dictated for Jews by the occupying authorities turned out to be the first step in an increasingly severe, systematized persecution enacted through a series of “orders” registered in Guernsey’s and Jersey’s courts and carried out with the aid of local officials.

Jewish shop proprietors were required to display a sign stating that their business was “Jewish owned”; these businesses were subsequently “Aryanized” and turned over to non-Jews. Some of the other constraints on Jews included restricted shopping hours and being forbidden from attending public entertainments. Anti-Semitic films were shown at movie theaters to cheering audiences.

Beginning in 1942, Jews living in the Channel Islands were transported to internment camps in mainland Europe. Among the first to go were Auguste Spitz and Therese Steiner. The evening before their departure, the two women paid a visit to a friend, Elisabet Duquemin, who recalled, “They had a paper with them from the Germans that they had to report the next morning to be taken away to France and were in a terrible state of anxiety. They borrowed a suitcase from me, and I never saw the poor girls again.”

Spitz and Steiner were sent to Auschwitz and are believed to have died in the gas chambers there. Less than a year later Duquemin was deported, along with her husband and their eighteen-month-old daughter (the stated reason for his deportation: “wife is a Jew”). All three survived their imprisonment.

Other islanders were also the target of Hitler’s prejudice. In October 1942, Allied forces launched a small-scale raid on the island of Stark and killed two German officers. In reprisal, Hitler ordered the deportation of about a thousand Channel Island residents in specific categories, including Jews, high-ranking Freemasons, anyone thought to be politically suspect, those who refused to work, unemployed young men, and leading public figures.

For more information: www.grangelodgehotel.com
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“In early 1942, he was ordered to a hospital in Caen; his ship was sunk by Allied bombers and he was drowned.”

Guernsey was once part of the Duchy of Normandy, governed by William the Conqueror. After adding the title King of England to his royal résumé, the ruler made Caen, a city in northwestern France, his secondary residence.

William had taken a liking to Caen after building his-and-hers abbeys there with his wife, Matilda of Flanders. Their marriage in 1053 angered the pope (supposedly because they were cousins), and in exchange for a dispensation they promised to construct the religious edifices: William the Abbaye-aux-Hommes (Men’s Abbey) and Matilda the Abbaye-aux-Dames (Ladies’ Abbey).

Some Caen residents sought shelter in the Abbaye-aux-Hommes after Allied forces began bombing the city on June 6, 1944, in an attempt to prevent German tanks from fortifying enemy positions on nearby Normandy beaches. The city was bombarded with twenty-five hundred pounds of explosives and burned for eleven days. Caen was a thriving industrial and university city when World War II broke out. Afterwards, more than eighty percent of it had been destroyed, including the medieval quarter.

At the museum Memorial de Caen, exhibitions include “D-Day and the Battle of Normandy,” which illuminates how much the liberation of France truly cost the region of Normandy. “World War—Total War” covers seven chapters in World War II history, from the Holocaust to life on the front lines. The Nobel Peace Prize Gallery is located in the former German command headquarters. A park opened in 1988, where separate American, British, and Canadian gardens commemorate the Allies.

For more information: www.memorial-caen.fr
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“Do you want to come to the British Museum with me? I’ve got an appointment in the Reading Room at two o’clock. We can look at the mummies afterward.”

At the time Juliet would have conducted her research, the circular domed Reading Room at the British Museum adjoined the institution’s well-stocked library department in an inner courtyard. (The extensive collection of books and reference volumes housed there has since been moved to the British Library.) Those who wanted to use the sumptuously decorated Reading Room—completed in 1857, a century after the museum opened—had to apply in writing for a “reader’s ticket.” Among those granted access were Dracula author Bram Stoker and Sherlock Holmes creator Arthur Conan Doyle.

Today the Reading Room is the centerpiece of the museum’s Queen Elizabeth II Great Court, built in the space once occupied by the library. At two acres, the spectacular glass-roofed area is the largest covered public square in Europe.

For more information: www.britishmuseum.org
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“Will Thisbee said I would burn like my cherries jubilee.”

Cherries jubilee is a decadent dessert created by renowned chef Auguste Escoffier in honor of Queen Victoria. The popular belief is that the confection made its debut in 1897, when a celebration took place for the British monarch’s Diamond Jubilee, commemorating her sixty years on the throne.

To create the dramatic dessert, cherries are simmered with sugar and brandy and then set alight. A more recent modification is to serve the cherry concoction over ice cream. Sound tempting? Try the “Cherries Jubilee” or “Triple-Cherries Jubilee” recipes on www.epicurious.com.
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“… my son, Ian, died at El Alamein …”

In late 1942, Germany and its Axis partners were triumphing in Europe and Russia. They were headed for the strategically important Suez Canal in northern Africa when the tide of World War II began to turn. Three separate battles took place near El Alamein, an Egyptian railway depot, between July and November. During the final battle, an eleven-day skirmish fought amid sandstorms and desert winds, the Allies defeated German and Italian troops and forced them to retreat.

The Battle at El Alamein was a pivotal victory for British forces, paving the way for Germany’s surrender in North Africa several months later and offering soldiers and those on the home front a much-needed morale boost. In the United Kingdom, church bells—which during the war were usually only rung to warn of a German invasion—chimed in victory. Prime Minister Winston Churchill later wrote in his World War II memoirs, “Before Alamein we never had a victory. After Alamein we never had a defeat.”
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“This summer, gorse will begin to grow around the fortifications, and by next year, perhaps vines will creep over them.”

Gorse is a familiar sight along Guernsey’s cliff-top paths. The abundant shrub has thick green spines rather than leaves, and blooms bright yellow flowers year round (giving rise to the saying “Love will go out of fashion when the gorse ceases to bloom”).

Bluebells, forget-me-nots, and the rare sand crocus are some of the other wildflowers that flourish on the island. Guernsey’s location in the path of the warming Gulf Stream gives it a mild climate and keeps it perpetually in bloom. In January alone, 449 flowering plants have been recorded.

The island’s horticultural industry dates back more than two hundred years, when the first greenhouses were erected and locals tried their hand at grape growing. The tomato became a lucrative export in the mid-1800s and thrived for a century until increased competition from other countries and changes in the British railway system made the venture less profitable.

Flowers are a significant export industry for Guernsey, particularly freesia, carnations, and roses, which account for the majority of those varieties sold in the United Kingdom. The island’s Bridget Ozanne Orchid Fields, named for the late botanist, are home to an extremely rare wild orchid.

Guernsey hosts many annual botanical events, including three weeklong Floral Festivals in the spring, summer, and fall.

For more information: www.floralguernsey.gg
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“Hitler was fanatic about fortifying these islands—England was never to get them back!”

After seizing the Channel Islands in June 1940, Hitler announced his intention to “convert them into an impregnable fortress” to prevent the British from reclaiming them. The islands became the most heavily reinforced section of his Atlantic Wall, an extensive system of coastal fortifications built to defend against an Allied invasion.

As Amelia tells Juliet, Hitler ordered large-gun emplacements, anti-tank walls along the shoreline (residents were forbidden access to the island’s beaches), bunkers, batteries, arms depots, and underground tunnels. Massive quantities of concrete and steel were shipped in, along with thousands of slave laborers held by the Nazis to complete the work.

The Germans also commandeered and used the strongholds that had been built on Guernsey throughout the centuries, such as Castle Cornet at the entrance to St. Peter Port’s harbor. Another was Fort George (c. 1780), the main citadel during the French Revolution and later the headquarters of the German Luftwaffe’s radar early-warning service. Today the gun battery is all that remains of the fort.

The Germans constructed many new fortifications, like the five-story Pleinmont Observation Tower on the island’s southwest coast and the Fort Hommet Casement Bunker, which contains original weaponry used in 1944. Like other World War II–era strongholds on Guernsey, both have been fully restored and are open to the public.

For more information: www.islandlife.org/forts_gsy.htm and occupied.guernsey.net
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“He ordered large-gun emplacements, anti-tank walls on the beaches, hundreds of bunkers and batteries, arms and bomb depots, miles and miles of underground tunnels, a huge underground hospital, and a railroad to cross the island to carry materials.”

A tunnel complex excavated by the Germans as a fuel storage facility for U-boats is the site of the La Valette Underground Military Museum. Exhibits cover various aspects of the island’s military history, from the Royal Guernsey Militia, one of the oldest military organizations in the world, through World War I and the five-year period of the World War II German Occupation.

Another section of tunnel has been home to the Guernsey Aquarium for more than three decades.

For more information: www.visitguernsey.com




Back




“He ordered large-gun emplacements, anti-tank walls on the beaches, hundreds of bunkers and batteries, arms and bomb depots, miles and miles of underground tunnels, a huge underground hospital, and a railroad to cross the island to carry materials.”

For three and a half years, slave workers carved nearly twenty-three thousand feet of tunnels from solid rock using everything from explosives to their bare hands. The result of their labor was the German Military Underground Hospital, the largest remaining structure from the Occupation in the Channel Islands.

The hospital encompassed an operating theater, an X-ray room, a laboratory, a dispensary, staff sleeping quarters, a mortuary, and a cinema, and was in use for only three months, when wards were occupied by German troops wounded in the Normandy D-Day landings in June 1944. An ammunition store adjoining the hospital was in use for nine months. Today the warren of rooms is eerily empty, with only some hospital beds, signs in German, and a few other items left to illustrate its previous purpose.

For more information: www.visitguernsey.com
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“Thousands of those men and boys died here, and I have recently learned that their inhuman treatment was the intended policy of Himmler.”

Heinrich Himmler (1900–1945) rose through the ranks to become one of the most powerful figures in Nazi Germany and the prime architect of the Holocaust. As the head of the feared SS—Hitler’s protection squad (which grew in size and power to rival the armed forces)—and the Gestapo (Secret State Police), Himmler was responsible for the security of the Nazi empire.

The SS established the Third Reich’s first concentration camp, built mainly to detain political prisoners, at Dachau in 1933. Soon after, Himmler was given control over a centralized system of detention facilities that included concentration camps, labor camps, prisoner of war camps, transit camps, and camps that served as killing centers.

By 1944, there were thirty to forty main camps and hundreds of subcamps in Germany and occupied Europe. On the island of Alderney, part of the Bailiwick of Guernsey, a concentration camp and several labor camps were established. SS authorities killed millions of prisoners throughout the camp system, among them Jews, Communists, Roma (Gypsies), homosexuals, and Jehovah’s Witnesses. The camps were also a source of cheap forced labor and subjects for involuntary medical experiments.

The persecution of Jews under the Nazi regime began years before the outbreak of World War II, with practices becoming increasingly severe and culminating in the “final solution.” Himmler was the key official responsible for conceiving and overseeing what is now known as the Holocaust, the mass murder of Europe’s Jewish population.
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“Some of the Todt workers were kept down on the Common, behind a wire fence …”

After Hitler decreed that German-occupied coastal areas were to be heavily fortified, Fritz Todt (1891–1942), a high-ranking Nazi official and founder of the Organisation Todt, a civil and military engineering firm in Germany, was tapped to oversee construction of the Atlantic Wall.

Some Todt workers were employed voluntarily, while others had been forced into service but were paid for their efforts and generally not ill-treated. The company also relied heavily on slave labor, exploiting “enemies of the state” for economic gain, including Russian prisoners of war, who, as Amelia explains to Juliet, were treated in a particularly harsh manner.

By 1943, thousands of foreign slave laborers were toiling on Guernsey, worked incessantly and living in horrible conditions. Many of them died from exhaustion and starvation. If an islander was found sheltering a slave worker, it was a serious offense punishable by arrest and deportation to a concentration camp.
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“At least he is allowed to live in Government House, the only mansion of any note on Guernsey …”

Built in the eighteenth century for a wealthy island dweller and then used as the governor’s official residence, the grandiose Old Government House opened as a hotel in 1858. The only time guests weren’t allowed was from 1940 to 1945, when the Germans commandeered the property—a short walk from the St. Peter Port harbor—to use as their General Staff Headquarters. Now known as the Old Government House Hotel and Spa, the luxurious lodging place has hosted at least one royal visitor: in 1957, Queen Elizabeth II enjoyed a luncheon at the hotel.

For more information: www.theoghhotel.com
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“At least he is allowed to live in Government House, the only mansion of any note on Guernsey—if you don’t count Sausmarez Manor, which I don’t.”

A former high court judge in Constantinople and Shanghai and the recently retired Bailiff of Guernsey, Sir Havilland de Sausmarez (1861–1941) dealt with the German Occupation of Guernsey with a spirited stubbornness. His steadfast refusal to install electricity ended up sparing his historic home, parts of which date to the late twelfth or early thirteenth century, from being requisitioned by the Germans.

Having been altered and added to over the centuries, Sausmarez Manor is an intriguing tapestry of architectural styles including Tudor, Queen Anne, Regency, and Victorian. A notable feature is a widow’s walk, a rooftop platform or cupola for optimum sea views, something traditionally associated with houses in the United States’ New England region.

Among the manor’s colorful inhabitants have been diplomats, privateers, admirals, inventors, artists, and politicians, including New York’s first governor, Sir Edmund Andros. Some of the financing for the stately house’s construction came from a bounty collected after the capture of a treasure-laden Spanish galleon.

Along with house tours and a lakeside café, Sausmarez Manor now features a subtropical garden resplendent with bamboo, banana, and palm trees, birds of paradise, ginger lilies, camellias, and other flora both familiar and exotic. Displayed throughout the grounds are sculptures created by artists from around the world.

For more information: www.sausmarezmanor.co.uk
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“But doesn’t it seem to you that when Mary was sane there was no one saner—or better company?”

When Charles Lamb was twenty-one, a tragedy befell his family. His older sister, Mary, stabbed and killed their mother “in a fit of insanity,” as Lamb described her actions in a letter to his friend Samuel Taylor Coleridge. He arrived after the murder had been committed with “only time enough to snatch the knife out of her grasp.”

The September 26, 1796, edition of the Times of London reported:

On Friday afternoon the coroner and a jury sat on the body of a lady in the neighborhood of Holborn, who died in consequence of a wound from her daughter the preceding day. It appeared by the evidence adduced that while the family were preparing for dinner, the young lady seized a case-knife lying on the table, and in a menacing manner pursued a little girl, her apprentice, round the room. On the calls of her infirm mother to forbear, she renounced her first object, and with loud shrieks, approached her parent. The child, by her cries, quickly brought up the landlord of the house, but too late. The dreadful scene presented him the mother lifeless, pierced to the heart, on a chair, her daughter yet wildly standing over her with the fatal knife, and the old man, her father, weeping by her side, himself bleeding at the forehead from the effects of a severe blow he received from one of the forks she had been madly hurling about the room.

For a few days prior to this, the family had observed some symptoms of insanity in her, which had so much increased on the Wednesday evening that her brother, early the next morning, went to Dr. Pitcairn; but that gentleman was not at home.

It seems that the young lady had been once before deranged. The jury of course brought in their verdict—Lunacy.

The jury’s verdict of “lunacy” is akin to temporary insanity, and Mary was placed in an asylum. Lamb and his father, who was suffering from dementia, had to change residences. “We are,” he wrote to Coleridge, “in a manner marked.” Lamb was able to retain his sister’s release on the condition that he took guardianship of her, which spared her from life in a mental institution. Mary was confined to a private hospital for three years, until their father passed away, and she then went to live with Lamb in London.

“It is a great object to me to live in town, where we shall be much more private, and to quit a house and neighborhood where poor Mary’s disorder, so frequently recurring, has made us a sort of marked people,” Lamb confided to a friend. “We can be nowhere private except in the midst of London…. Only God send Mary well again, and I hope all will be well!” (Lamb had been confined briefly at a psychiatric hospital for his mental state in 1795, but there was no later recurrence.)

After relocating to London, both Lambs enjoyed an active and rich social life and often hosted popular literary and theatrical figures. Although Mary had periodic episodes of mental illness, she was considered by Lamb’s illustrious acquaintances—Coleridge, William Wordsworth, Percy Bysshe Shelley, and Lord Byron among them—to be cheerful and good-natured. According to writer William Hazlitt, a longtime friend of both Lambs, he “never met with a woman who could reason, and had met with only one thoroughly reasonable—Mary Lamb.”
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“When Wordsworth chided him for not caring enough about nature, Charles wrote, ‘I have no passion for groves and valleys….’ ”

Despite not having a fondness for the outdoors, Charles Lamb was good friends with Samuel Taylor Coleridge and William Wordsworth—renowned poets and the two most famous figures in the British Romantic movement, which drew heavily on nature themes—and ventured from London to visit with them in the scenic Lake District in northern England. In this excerpt from a letter to Wordsworth, some of which Juliet references to Dawsey, Lamb makes the case for why he prefers city life to the country.

January 30, 1801

I ought before this to have replied to your very kind invitation into Cumberland. With you and your sister I could gang anywhere; but I am afraid whether I shall ever be able to afford so desperate a journey. Separate from the pleasure of your company, I don’t much care if I never see a mountain in my life. I have passed all my days in London, until I have formed as many and intense local attachments as any of you mountaineers can have done with dead nature. The lighted shops of the Strand and Fleet Street; the innumerable trades, tradesmen, and customers; coaches, wagons, playhouses; all the bustle and wickedness round about Covent Garden; the very women of the town; the watchmen, drunken scenes, rattles; life awake, if you awake, at all hours of the night; the impossibility of being dull in Fleet Street; the crowds, the very dirt and mud, the sun shining upon houses and pavements; the print-shops, the old-book stalls, parsons cheapening books; coffee-houses, steams of soups from kitchens; the pantomimes, London itself a pantomime and a masquerade—all these things work themselves into my mind, and feed me without a power of satiating me. The wonder of these sights impels me into night-walks about her crowded streets, and I often shed tears in the motley Strand from fullness of joy at so much life. All these emotions must be strange to you; so are your rural emotions to me. But consider what must I have been doing all my life, not to have lent great portions of my heart with usury to such scenes?

My attachments are all local, purely local—I have no passion (or have had none since I was in love, and then it was the spurious engendering of poetry and books) to groves and valleys. The rooms where I was born, the furniture which has been before my eyes all my life, a bookcase which has followed me about like a faithful dog (only exceeding him in knowledge), wherever I have moved; old chairs, old tables; streets, squares, where I have sunned myself; my old school—these are my mistresses. Have I not enough without your mountains? I do not envy you. I should pity you, did I not know that the mind will make friends with anything. Your sun and moon, and skies and hills and lakes, affect me no more or scarcely come to be in more venerable characters, than as a gilded room with tapestry and tapers, where I might live with handsome visible objects. I consider the clouds above me but as a roof beautifully painted, but unable to satisfy the mind, and at last, like the pictures of the apartment of a connoisseur, unable to afford him any longer a pleasure. So fading upon me, from disuse, have been the beauties of Nature, as they have been confidently called; so ever fresh and green and warm are all the inventions of men and assemblies of men in this great city. —C.L.




Back




“… I want my flat, or a facsimile of it, back again, just as it was—with Cheyne Walk and the river outside my windows.”

Located in the fashionable London neighborhood of Chelsea along the Thames, Cheyne Walk might well be one of the most storied streets in the world. Blue plaques on many of the eighteenth-century houses along the elegant thoroughfare commemorate notable occupants like Middlemarch author George Eliot, who spent the last three weeks of her life at No. 4. Two famous figures have lived at No. 16: painter Dante Gabriel Rossetti and poet Algernon Charles Swinburne. Dracula author Bram Stoker took up residence in No. 27 with his wife and son, while No. 93 is the birthplace of novelist Elizabeth Gaskell. And that’s just some of the street’s famed residents.

Nearby on Cheyne Row, Scottish essayist Thomas Carlyle and his wife, Jane, moved into a three-story Queen Anne–style house. In a soundproof attic study he wrote some of his most famous works, including the historical treatise The French Revolution. Charles Dickens and Alfred Lord Tennyson were some of the guests who came to call on Carlyle, whose house (No. 24) is now open as a museum. Living up the street from the Carlyles was journalist and essayist Leigh Hunt, who found the house for the couple.

For more information: www.nationaltrust.org.uk/carlyleshouse
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“I am godmother to their son, Dominic, and though I haven’t taught him any hymns, we did pull the hinges off his cellar door last time I saw him—it was a Pictish ambush.”

The Picts lived in what is now eastern and northern Scotland from the late Iron Age to the early medieval era. During a battle the Pictish cavalry feigned fear and pretended to retreat, drawing their enemy into a trap and winning the conflict. Their deceitful tactic gave rise to the term “Pictish ambush.”
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“We started to go by Candie Gardens, and there everything changed—carnival to nightmare.”

Created in 1894, Candie Gardens in St. Peter Port are lush with flowers, plants, and trees from around the world, and feature a rare surviving example of a Victorian public flower garden. While strolling among the flora, visitors can admire statues of Queen Victoria and French novelist Victor Hugo; see heated glasshouses from the late eighteenth century, the oldest known in the British Isles; and take in a sweeping vista of St. Peter Port and some of the neighboring islands.

Candie Gardens is home to the Guernsey Museum and Art Gallery, which opened in 1978. One of the few purpose-built museums in postwar Britain, the building incorporates an octagon-shaped vintage bandstand that was part of the gardens. The museum has a permanent display on the history of the island and also stages rotating exhibits throughout the year.

For more information: www.museum.guernsey.net
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“Mr. Ferre, who’d been in back of us, grabbed my arm. He’d fought on the Somme.”

The Battle of the Somme was one of the largest battles fought during World War I, as the Allies attempted to break through the German front line in the Somme region in northern France. The conflict lasted from July 1 to November 18, 1916, and is infamous for the number of lives lost. With more than one million casualties, including nearly fifty-eight thousand Allied troops on the first day alone, it is one of the deadliest military operations in history.
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“With that elegant nose of yours, you’ll be the new Nefertiti.”

Nefertiti was an ancient Egyptian queen renowned for her great beauty. Her origins are unknown and so is her end. By the fourteenth year of the reign of Pharaoh Akhenaten, her husband, she had disappeared from public view. Despite considerable speculation, historians have never been able to determine what became of the monarch. One popular theory is that she adopted men’s garb and ruled as co-regent with her husband.
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“When I die I am going to leave all my money to the Red Cross.”

Food wasn’t the only necessity supplied to the islanders by the Red Cross. Beginning in early 1942, the Joint War Organisation, made up of the British Red Cross and the Order of St. John Ambulance, sent numerous shipments of medical supplies to the Channel Islands. This included everything from insulin to vitamin D for children, as well as specific necessities like special powders for a man who had been gassed during World War I.

The essentials brought by the Vega in December 1944 represented a wide-ranging effort. Nearly 120,000 food parcels came from the British Commonwealth supply stores in Lisbon, Portugal, as well as Canada and New Zealand. A Portuguese donor contributed 5.3 tons of salt; 96,000 cigarettes were a New Zealand brand; and clothing for children and babies was supplied through an associate of the British Embassy in Lisbon.

Channel Islanders showed their appreciation by giving back to the Red Cross. By October 1945, the people of Guernsey and Jersey had raised £171,000 and presented it to the aid organization with a note stating they were “trying to show their undying gratitude to the British and Empire Red Cross Societies for the great and timely aid.”

A Jersey resident told the Red Cross during a recent conversation, “I feel quite angry when there are appeals for disasters abroad [and] people bleat, ‘Oh, that’s all very well, but charity begins at home.’ But I always feel, if the people of Canada and New Zealand had thought like that in 1944, I wouldn’t be sitting here today being interviewed by you.”

For more information: www.redcross.org or www.redcross.org.uk




Back




“I was in Neuengamme Concentration Camp in Germany.”

Established at a brickworks facility in 1938, Neuengamme started out as a subcamp overseen by administrators of the Sachsenhausen concentration camp. In only a few months the number of prisoners—initially mostly political dissidents—had grown so dramatically that Neuengamme became a concentration camp in its own right, eventually the largest in northwest Germany.

Denied adequate food, shelter, and medicine, prisoners were forced to labor in the brick factory and at off-site projects like the construction of a canal. They also cleaned up rubble and removed unexploded munitions from the streets of Hamburg and other cities after Allied bombings. Forbidden from seeking safety in air-raid shelters, some prisoners were killed during an Allied attack on the city of Bremen. Neuengamme has been preserved as a memorial.

For more information: www.kz-gedenkstaette-neuengamme.de
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“In April of ’45, the Commandant at Neuengamme picked out those of us who were still fit enough to work and sent us to Belsen.”

“Over an acre of ground lay dead and dying people. You could not see which was which…. The living lay with their heads against the corpses and around them moved the awful, ghostly procession of emaciated, aimless people, with nothing to do and with no hope of life, unable to move out of your way, unable to look at the terrible sights around them…. This day at Belsen was the most horrible of my life,” reported BBC correspondent Richard Dimbleby, who accompanied British troops when they liberated the Bergen-Belsen concentration camp in Germany on April 15, 1945.

Bergen-Belsen was originally established as a camp for prisoners of war. Fourteen thousand Soviet POWs lost their lives due to starvation, disease, and exposure between July 1941 and April 1942. Later used as a civilian concentration camp run by the notorious Josef Kramer, the “Beast of Belsen,” it was referred to as the “Star Camp” for the yellow star badge that inmates were made to wear to identify them as Jews.

In 1944 and 1945, additional prisoners were brought to Bergen-Belsen by the thousands. Severe overcrowding led to deplorable living conditions and disease, made infinitely worse by Kramer’s solution for controlling a diarrhea epidemic: starvation. Prisoner Moshe Peer, who as a child was interned in the concentration camp, recalled years later, “Bergen-Belsen was worse than Auschwitz because there people were gassed right away so they didn’t suffer a long time.” After the war, Kramer was tried and executed for his crimes.

Even on liberation day, the horrors didn’t end for Bergen-Belsen’s prisoners. The British found more than ten thousand unburied corpses and sixty thousand sick and dying inmates, twenty-eight thousand of whom later died. As the Germans retreated, they made it difficult for Allied troops to treat the sick by sabotaging the water supply to the barracks. In all, more than seventy thousand people died at Bergen-Belsen during the war years.

In March 1945 alone, eighteen thousand people perished from starvation and typhus, two of whom were Anne Frank and her sister, Margot. “One day this terrible war will be over…. The time will come when we’ll be people again and not just Jews,” wrote Frank in the posthumously published diary that would earn her worldwide acclaim. She and Margot passed away just weeks before Bergen-Belsen was liberated.

The camp’s only British survivor was Jersey resident Harold Le Druillenec, who was arrested for helping a Russian prisoner escape and for being in possession of a forbidden wireless set. He later gave testimony when Kramer and forty-four others were tried, recalling, “The day the British tanks first appeared … I was actually having my first meal for five days; I was eating grass…. I think I can fairly describe Belsen as probably the foulest and vilest spot that ever soiled the surface of this earth.”

Today more than a quarter of a million people each year visit the Bergen-Belsen Memorial, which encompasses the grounds of the former POW and concentration camps, and a historical exhibit on the atrocities that took place at Bergen-Belsen.

For more information: bergen-belsen.stiftung-ng.de/en/home.html
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“But, when the music ended, we heard Big Ben strike and a British voice said …”

[image: ]

Big Ben
PHOTO: © PETR KRATOCHVIL

The nickname Big Ben is popularly used to describe the majestic clock tower at the Palace of Westminster (Houses of Parliament) in London, although the moniker was originally bestowed on the Great Bell that chimes on the hour. The melodious sound was first heard on July 11, 1859. One of two men is believed to have inspired the name. The more popular candidate is Sir Benjamin Hall, First Commissioner for Works and Public Buildings, although Ben Caunt, a champion heavyweight boxer in the 1850s, is also a contender.

BBC Radio first broadcast the clock’s chimes to the United Kingdom on New Year’s Eve in 1923. Sixteen years later, at the start of World War II, the clock dials became unlit to comply with blackout regulations, which were put in place to ensure that no lighting would aid enemy bombers in finding their targets. The clock wasn’t re-illuminated until 1945, but the chimes never ceased.

In 1940, the Silent Minute was introduced in the UK by a military service member and garnered the support of King George VI, Winston Churchill, and the Parliamentary Cabinet. Each evening before the 9 P.M. BBC radio news broadcast, people were asked to think about those fighting in the war for the minute it took Big Ben’s chimes to ring.

United Kingdom residents can arrange through their Member of Parliament to tour the clock tower and climb the 334 steps to the belfry. Overseas visitors have to admire Big Ben from the outside or take a virtual visit at www.parliament.uk.
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Part Two

“You see how conducive to working island life is? Look at Victor Hugo—I may grow prolific if I stay here for any length of time.”

Guernsey’s most famous resident was, in fact, a foreigner: French writer Victor Hugo (1802–1885), who spent fourteen years living on the island while in exile from his native country. He took up residence in Hauteville House, an elegant, white stone manse overlooking Havelet Bay and the harbor at St. Peter Port.

Hugo arrived on Guernsey five years after his exile began. On December 11, 1851, he had left Paris for Brussels, Belgium, dressed in disguise and traveling under a pseudonym. The outspoken writer and political figure became a wanted man for establishing a Committee of Resistance against Louis-Napoleon Bonaparte, who had staged a coup d’état after his election and declared himself Emperor Napoleon III.

Hugo’s fate was sealed when, after arriving in Brussels, he wrote a politically charged tract ridiculing the emperor. The pamphlet was smuggled into France, where it was enthusiastically received. It became too dangerous for his family to remain in France, and they joined him in exile—as did his longtime mistress, former actress Juliette Drouet, who lived a short distance from Hugo on Guernsey.

While living on Guernsey, Hugo completed his epic tale Les Misérables (the manuscript of which was in a trunk that almost went overboard during his move from the Channel Island of Jersey). He also wrote the novel The Toilers of the Sea, in which he included a message to the place and people that sheltered him: “I dedicate this book to the rock of hospitality and liberty, that corner of old Norman soil where dwells that noble little people of the sea; to the island of Guernsey, austere and yet gentle, my present asylum, my future tomb.”

Hugo had a dramatic flair for interior decorating and oversaw a complete redesign of Hauteville House, selecting one-of-a-kind adornments like tapestry wall coverings originally worked for Queen Christina of Sweden, gilded statues from the Doge’s Palace in Venice, and a screen embroidered by Madame de Pompadour. Some of the mirrors, figurines, and other items he acquired from antiques shops on the island.

Every room in Hauteville House features a different style, from an entrance hall with hand-carved decorations based on his popular novel The Hunchback of Notre-Dame to Baroque and Chinese furniture and accents. When the famous writer was away, the house was shown to visitors. During the summer of 1867, nearly a thousand people toured the residence.

Hugo’s domain was the attic, where he admired the sea views from a glassed-in lookout and slumbered in a bedroom designed to resemble a ship’s cabin. Ever the lyrical wordsmith, he described his abode as being like “a seagull’s nest high above the immense foam of the waves.”

The creatively embellished Hauteville House, which is open to the public from April through September, remains much as it did in Hugo’s day. The property is maintained by the city of Paris and was donated by the writer’s descendants, one of whom remarked that the historic abode is “a veritable three-storey autograph, a poem in several rooms.”

When Hugo wasn’t toiling at his writing, he would often ramble through the cobblestone streets of St. Peter Port, take a dip in Fermain Bay, or stroll along the island’s cliff-top pathways. He gave generously to charitable causes and hosted a weekly dinner at Hauteville House for poor children in St. Peter Port, with members of his family serving a meal to as many as forty guests.

Hugo finally returned to Paris on September 5, 1870, after the fall of Napoleon III’s empire, greeted by thousands of well-wishers who gathered at the Gare du Nord train station to welcome him back. Still a champion for democracy, he was elected to the new republic’s Senate in 1876 and played an instrumental role in preventing the creation of another dictatorship.

During Hugo’s years abroad, Louis-Napoleon made two public appeals for French exiles to come back to their homeland. The writer refused, declaring, “When freedom returns, I shall return.” His steadfast conviction inspired the New-York Tribune to declare, “His voice is that of free men everywhere.”
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“Guernsey is very beautiful in all its variety—fields, woods, hedgerows, dells, manors, dolmens, wild cliffs, witches’ corners, Tudor barns, and Norman cottages of stone.”

Intriguing traces of Guernsey’s far-reaching past are evident in the dolmens that dot the island. The aboveground burial chambers were constructed in the Neolithic, or New Stone Age, period. Fifteen of the more than sixty dolmens built on Guernsey still exist, among them Les Fouaillages, which was discovered in 1977. The original part dates to 4500 BC, making it one of the oldest structures in Europe.

Excavated in 1837, Le Dehus covers a complex Neolithic passage grave and is especially notable for a carving depicting a bearded archer. Another is Le Creux es Faies, used for many years as a stable and, according to local folklore, the entrance to a fairyland.
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“Guernsey is very beautiful in all its variety—fields, woods, hedgerows, dells, manors, dolmens, wild cliffs, witches’ corners, Tudor barns, and Norman cottages of stone.”

Legend has it that witchcraft and wizardry once flourished on Guernsey. The ancient stone burial chambers Le Catioroc and Le Trepied are said to have been Friday night gathering places for witches’ covens. Writer and island resident Victor Hugo remarked that Le Catioroc echoed with the cries of women waiting for their lover, the devil.

In 1448, the pope decreed that witchcraft was heresy and began a crusade against alleged practitioners of the dark arts. From 1560 to 1640, forty-four people were burned at the stake on Guernsey. Another thirty-five were banished from the island for life.
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“Guernsey pirates had superior taste—they built beautiful homes and impressive public buildings.”

Privateering, or legalized piracy, was once the lifeblood of Guernsey’s economy. In the 1600s, the Crown gave Guernsey ship owners and captains the go-ahead to seize enemy ships during wartime, a practice that continued through the early 1800s. During wars with France, as well as the American Revolutionary War, Guernsey captains disrupted trade through the English Channel and used their knowledge of local waters to evade their foes.

The fearsome seafarers commandeered everything from French wines and brandies to timber and cotton. The results of the privateers’ efforts can be seen in St. Peter Port, where the construction of many grandiose buildings was financed with illicitly gotten riches.

A Guernsey resident who earned a different sort of living from the sea was Captain William Le Lacheur (1802–1863), who was the first person to import coffee directly from Costa Rica to Europe, in the nineteenth century. A famed figure on two continents (his ships were once featured on Costa Rican currency and stamps), he’s credited with transforming the Central American nation’s poverty-stricken economy.
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“Dawsey took me to a tiny church—every inch of which is a mosaic of broken china and smashed pottery.”

The creator of Guernsey’s Little Chapel was a perfectionist. The strikingly colorful, diminutive shrine that stands today is the third one created by Brother Déodat, who tore down its predecessors soon after constructing them in the early twentieth century. The second chapel was demolished after the Bishop of Portsmouth was unable to pass through the doorway.

Barely sixteen feet long and thought to be the smallest consecrated chapel in the world, Brother Déodat’s unusual creation is a miniature version of the famous grotto and basilica in Lourdes, France. The interior can accommodate about four people.

Inside and out, the Little Chapel is adorned in mosaics made of seashells, pebbles, and pieces of broken china. After the chapel was featured in an article in the Daily Mirror, a London newspaper, materials began pouring in from islanders and others around the world, including fragments from famed china manufacturers Wedgwood and Royal Doulton.

For more information: www.thelittlechapel.org
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“The speaker of the evening was a new member, Jonas Skeeter, who was to talk about The Meditations of Marcus Aurelius.”

Although Jonas Skeeter wasn’t taken with The Meditations of Marcus Aurelius, the book has a high-profile fan. Former American president Bill Clinton included the Roman emperor’s Meditations on a list of his twenty favorite reads. Two other titles that made the cut were Maya Angelou’s I Know Why the Caged Bird Sings and Hillary Rodham Clinton’s Living History.
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“He found us decked in our finest jewels and marching about the room to the stirring strains of Pomp and Circumstance on the gramophone.”

Popular at graduation ceremonies, Pomp and Circumstance is a series of orchestral marches composed by Sir Edward Elgar beginning in 1901 and used during the coronation of Britain’s King Edward VII. The title was inspired by a line in Shakespeare’s play Othello: “Pride, pomp, and circumstance of glorious war!”
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“I greet you as those dear to my friend Elizabeth McKenna. I write to you now so that I may tell you of her death in Ravensbrück Concentration Camp.”

A concentration camp in northern Germany, Ravensbrück was unusual in that it was a facility primarily for women. Between 1939 and 1945, more than one hundred thirty thousand female prisoners passed through Ravensbrück. They came from over thirty countries, though the largest group was from Poland, and included Jews, Roma and Sinti (Gypsies), and Jehovah’s Witnesses.

Aside from male administrators, staff at Ravensbrück consisted entirely of female guards. After the war, numerous camp personnel were tried, convicted, and a number of them executed for crimes against humanity. The inmates under their watch lived in subhuman conditions that led to starvation and disease. Thousands were shot, strangled, gassed, buried alive, or worked to death. Some were subjected to medical experiments, while others were forced to work in a brothel established to reward male prisoners for meeting work quotas.

In early March 1945, as Allied forces closed in, detainees were transferred from Ravensbrück to other concentration camps. About twenty thousand female prisoners, along with most of the few remaining male prisoners, were forced to evacuate on foot and head north until Soviet troops intercepted and freed them. When Ravensbrück was liberated in April 1945, soldiers found more than three thousand ill men, women, and children in the camp.

Among the tens of thousands of people who lost their lives at Ravensbrück were Roman Catholic nun Elise Rivet, who volunteered to go to the gas chamber in place of a mother and fellow prisoner; twenty-five-year-old French princess Anne de Bauffremont-Courtenay; Elisabeth de Rothschild, whose husband was a prominent businessman and wine-maker; and two hundred young Polish women who were members of the Home Army.

Survivors of Ravensbrück include Corrie ten Boom, author of The Hiding Place, who was incarcerated along with several of her family members for harboring Jews in their Netherlands home; Eileen Nearne, a British spy code-named Rose, who escaped to safety after being sent to another camp; and Countess Karolina Lanckoronska, an art history professor and member of the Polish underground. Lanckoronska renounced the warm apartment, afternoon tea, and other privileges at Ravensbrück her connections afforded her and went on a hunger strike until she was reunited with the other inmates.

For more information: www.ravensbrueck.de
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“Elizabeth and I walked with our group each morning at 6:00, to reach the Siemens factory where we worked.”

Siemens—today one of the largest engineering companies in the world—was the major private firm that used slave labor provided by Ravensbrück prisoners. The company constructed living quarters adjacent to the main concentration camp to house workers, who made electrical components for V-1 and V-2 rockets, submarine parts, and other weaponry.

As the war progressed, the Nazis increasingly relied on forced labor for the production of armaments. Ravensbrück prisoners were sent to work in over forty satellite camps set up across occupied German territory. More than half a century after the war ended, Siemens, Daimler-Benz, and other companies that had used slave labor during World War II finally agreed to pay compensation to some of the workers.
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“When she sees someone she doesn’t like, she has a stare that would shrivel Medea.”

One of the great sorceresses of the ancient world, the bloodthirsty Medea often used her magic to commit reprehensible deeds and wreak havoc on friends and enemies alike. After her husband, Jason, left her to marry another woman, Glauce, Medea went on a vengeful rampage. She murdered the new bride, using a poisoned robe and crown that burned the flesh from Glauce’s body, and even killed her own two children to further Jason’s pain. Leaving her estranged spouse to mourn his losses, Medea fled the scene in a chariot drawn by winged dragons.
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“Her interviews were to be about Guernsey’s Day of Liberation on May 9 last year.”

World War II in Europe came to an end on May 8, 1945, declared V-E Day (Victory in Europe) by Prime Minister Winston Churchill and President Harry Truman. But it wasn’t until the next day that Guernsey was declared free of occupation. Since the German government had not officially sanctioned the surrender of the Channel Islands, the commander in charge refused to relinquish the territory until the early hours of May 9. After the act of surrender was completed onboard a ship moored off the island, British troops came ashore and were greeted with jubilant celebration.

German soldiers were rounded up and interned in the camps that had been used to hold foreign workers. Most were transported to the UK as prisoners of war, although a thousand troops remained behind to assist in removing land mines, dismantling large guns, and other clean-up efforts.

Guernsey’s Liberation Day is celebrated annually on May 9. Festivities traditionally include a morning service at the Town Church in St. Peter Port, street entertainment along the waterfront, and a fireworks display over Castle Cornet.
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“How is it that Juliet and Amelia never made mention of Miss Jane Austen to me?”

Jane Austen (1775–1817) is a literary heroine of Mary Ann Shaffer and Annie Barrows, whose favorite novel by the popular nineteenth-century scribe is Mansfield Park. “This is one of the Austens that ‘nobody reads,’ but it’s my favorite because the author champions moral fiber over glitz and manages to make us all agree that dull Fanny Price is a heroine and charming Mary Crawford is a villain,” says Barrows.

The story of Fanny Price, an impoverished, straitlaced young girl taken in by wealthy relatives, Mansfield Park is said to be Austen’s most controversial work. Even members of her own family were divided on whether or not they were fond of the plot and the characters.

Among the comments Austen compiled were some from her mother, who didn’t like Mansfield Park as well as Pride and Prejudice and found Fanny to be “insipid.” Her sister, Cassandra, on the other hand, “thought it quite as clever, tho’ not so brilliant, as Pride and Prejudice” and was “fond of Fanny.”

Mansfield Park was Jane Austen’s third published novel, following Pride and Prejudice and Sense and Sensibility. Another of Austen’s lesser-known works is the epistolary novel Lady Susan, unpublished in Austen’s lifetime, about a beautiful, scheming widow who wreaks havoc on hearts and homes while searching for a second husband. The tale unfolds through letters written to and from Lady Susan, along with other missives in which the correspondents share their unvarnished thoughts about the merry widow.

Whether it’s Pride and Prejudice, which Isola borrows from Amelia, the divisive Mansfield Park, or one of Austen’s other works, reading fiction is a worthy pastime. As Catherine Morland notes in Northanger Abbey, “The person, be it gentleman or lady, who has not pleasure in a good novel, must be intolerably stupid.”
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“I put Kit back to bed and persuaded Mark that my reputation would be in tatters if he didn’t go to the Royal Hotel at once.”

After German forces landed on Guernsey on June 30, 1940, they were taken to the Royal Hotel to meet with local officials and inform them that the island was being occupied. The hotel has since been demolished and office buildings, apartments, and restaurants have been erected on the site.
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“There wasn’t any trial, and we was put on a boat to St. Malo the next day.”

If you decide to visit Guernsey by sea from the European mainland, it’s likely you’ll make your way through St. Malo (Saint-Malo in French). The fortified city along the coast of Brittany is a primary French port for travelers to the Channel Islands.

Settled in the sixth century by a Welsh monk, St. Malo thrived for centuries as a fishing harbor. It later became a base for merchant vessels and privateers (government-sanctioned pirates), earning its formidable reputation as the “City of Corsairs.” In preparation for reprisals from angry nations whose ships had been plundered, including the English, the town constructed its defensive walls in the 1600s.

In August 1944, fierce fighting erupted between the Allies and the Germans. When the battle ended, the majority of St. Malo’s buildings were in ruins. The ancient walls were one of the few structures to survive nearly unscathed. The city’s cathedral, where explorer Jacques Cartier received a blessing from St. Malo’s bishop before his historic voyage to Canada in 1535, was not as fortunate. Much of the original church was reduced to rubble, including the spire, and has since been rebuilt.

Some sightseeing in St. Malo has to be done according to the ebb and flow of the tides. At low tide, history- and literature-loving tourists can venture to the Fort National stronghold (c. 1689), perched on a rocky outcrop, and the Île du Grand Bé, where the writer and St. Malo native Chateaubriand is buried.
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“They sent me to the federal prison in Coutances …”

The French hilltop town of Coutances, whose origins date back two thousand years, wasn’t spared when Allied and German forces clashed in Normandy in 1944. Heavy bombing reduced much of the city to rubble, but its centerpiece—a majestic Norman Gothic cathedral constructed mainly in the thirteenth century—escaped serious damage. The diocese of Coutances once had ecclesiastical control over the Channel Islands, an arrangement that lasted four hundred years until the mid-1500s. Coutances was also the home of the prison where most of Guernsey’s resisters were sent.
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“Could it possibly be that Isola has inherited eight letters written by Oscar Wilde?”

Annie Barrows is often asked whether Oscar Wilde really wrote such letters like the ones Isola’s grandmother receives, or if he is known to have ever visited Guernsey. Here she answers the question:

The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society was my aunt Mary Ann Shaffer’s only complete novel, and in some ways a catalogue of her many fascinations. When Mary Ann fell ill during the rewrite process, she asked me to finish the book for her, which I happily did. Now, as the sole remaining author of The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, I am often asked to explain my co-author’s motive behind this or that aspect of the book—why potato peel pie? Why Charles Lamb? Why ferrets? Usually, the honest answer is Why Not? Or, because she thought it was funny. Occasionally, though, the answer is more complicated. The episode [featuring Oscar Wilde’s letters] is one that elicits a lot of curiosity; some readers assume it’s based on historical fact, and some assume it’s fictional, but essentially, they all want to know why Oscar Wilde makes an appearance in a story about the Occupation of the Channel Islands during the Second World War.

The short and disingenuous answer is: why not.

The short and honest answer is: Mary Ann adored Oscar Wilde.

The long and honest answer is: one of the great and little-discussed satisfactions of writing a work of fiction is raising the dead. Anyone who has cursed the year of her birth for excluding her from the company she most desires can circumvent history neatly by writing about it. Full engagement, intimate conversations, plenty of time to concoct replies worthy of one’s heroes—what could be more fulfilling? Not much. When Mary Ann transported Oscar Wilde to Guernsey, she was giving herself—via Granny Pheen and Isola—the opportunity to talk to him and Wilde the opportunity to meet her beloved characters. It is charming, in the old sense of the word as well as the new, to imagine Wilde in Mary Ann’s world, and, as charm was something that Wilde understood better than most, I’m sure he would have been pleased with the result.

This essay appeared on the website www.oscholars.com.
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“Everything—the war, the Vichy, the Milice, Drancy, the Jews—it’s all over now.”

Vichy refers to the French government installed by the Germans after Germany defeated and occupied France at the beginning of World War II. Under the terms of an armistice agreement with Adolf Hitler, the country was divided into occupied and unoccupied zones. Germany controlled northern and western France, including the entire Atlantic coast. The remaining two-thirds of the country was overseen by the French government, led by Henri-Philippe Pétain from the provisional capital in the town of Vichy. On October 30, 1940, Pétain made official the French state’s alliance with the Germans and declared in a radio address, “I enter today on the path of collaboration.”

Terms of the armistice agreement included the surrender of all Jews living in France to the Germans, the dissolution of the French Army, and the continued captivity of more than one and a half million French soldiers. After Allied forces liberated France in 1944, Pétain and his officials fled to Germany, where they established a government in exile. Some members of the Vichy regime were later executed for war crimes.

Established by the Vichy, the Milice française (French Militia) was a paramilitary police force that at its peak in 1944 had more than thirty thousand members. The Milice, which included both uniformed and plainclothes personnel, collaborated with the Germans in locating and deporting Jews. Notorious for its brutality, the organization also hunted down members of French resistance groups.

After a police raid in Paris in the summer of 1941, several thousand Jews were arrested and taken to Drancy, a suburb northeast of the city. Officially, Drancy was a transit camp, a way station for Jews being transported to Auschwitz and other concentration camps. Drancy remained under the control of the Vichy French police for two years and was then taken over by the Germans. Exact numbers vary, but altogether about sixty-five thousand French Jews passed through Drancy, most of whom—men, women, and children—were killed at their final destinations.
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“He said it was a fine piece of detective work and Miss Marple couldn’t have done better herself!”

When a stage director adapted Agatha Christie’s (1890–1976) novel The Murder of Roger Ackroyd and replaced the character of spinster Caroline Sheppard with a young girl, he inadvertently inspired one of crime fiction’s most famous amateur detectives. Unhappy with the swap, Christie vowed to take up the cause for “old maids.”

Looks can be deceiving when it comes to white-haired, tweed-clad Miss Jane Marple. An astute observer of human nature, the cunning elderly sleuth (some might say busybody) has been a match for many a murderer. Miss Marple’s 1926 debut in a magazine short story was followed by an appearance in the novel The Murder at the Vicarage, one of the most popular of Christie’s more than eighty works. Miss Marple detects in a dozen novels and twenty short stories, several of which take place in her hometown of St. Mary Mead outside London. “There is a great deal of wickedness in village life,” said the crime-solver.

Much to Christie’s surprise, Miss Marple became a fan favorite and rivaled even her mustachioed Belgian detective Hercule Poirot in popularity. Not only was The Murder at the Vicarage a smash success upon its publication, it was also adapted for the theater and, in a fitting turn, brought Miss Marple to the stage. Her concluding case is chronicled in Sleeping Murder, written during World War II and published after Christie’s death in 1976.

For more information: www.agathachristie.com
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“… and a small leather book of Rilke’s poetry with the inscription …”

Rainer Maria Rilke (1875–1926) defied his parents’ wishes that he become a military officer and instead pursued a literary career, becoming one of the most renowned poets in the German language. The future wordsmith was born on December 4, 1875, in Prague, the capital of Bohemia (then part of Austria-Hungary and now the Czech Republic), and endured an unhappy childhood. With an uncle’s support, he left a military academy and enrolled in a preparatory school and then university.

Rilke published his first book of poetry, Leben und Lieder (Life and Songs), in 1894, followed by two more collections in the next two years. During an 1899 trip to Russia, Rilke met novelist Leo Tolstoy, who influenced his work Stories of God. Another famous figure who impacted Rilke was the sculptor Auguste Rodin, who employed the writer as his private secretary in Paris. While living in Paris, Rilke first began to develop a new style of lyrical poetry, drawing on the skills of perceptive observation he learned from Rodin and the painter Paul Cézanne.

Rilke’s best-known works are Sonnets to Orpheus and the Duino Elegies. The latter is a series of ten poems he began while staying at Duino Castle on Italy’s Adriatic coast in 1912, and later worked on in Paris and Munich. He stopped writing for several years while suffering from depression during World War I, during which time he served in the Austrian Army. Then in 1922, in a burst of creativity during a three-week span, he completed the remaining five poems in the Duino Elegies and penned the fifty-five poems in Sonnets to Orpheus.

After being diagnosed with leukemia, Rilke died on December 29, 1926.
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“Dawsey shook Sidney’s hand, but he did not come in for apple cake when we got to Juliet’s house.”

Here is a recipe for an apple cake, Gâche Mélée (pronounced Gosh Mel-are), a traditional Guernsey dessert and a favorite with locals.

Ingredients

¼ lb. suet or Guernsey butter

½ lb. plain flour

1½ lbs. apples (peeled, cored, and chopped)

½ lb. Demerara sugar*

¼ tsp. nutmeg

¼ tsp. cinnamon

¼ tsp. mixed spice

1 tsp. salt

1 free-range egg

½ c. water

Preparation

Rub the butter or suet into the flour until the mixture has the texture of breadcrumbs. Add apples and all other dry ingredients, and mix well. Add egg and water and again mix well. Place in a 7-inch (18cm) square tin.

Tip: Prior to making this dessert, the dry ingredients and apples can be mixed together and stood in the fridge to improve the flavor. Also, why not keep back some sugar to sprinkle on top prior to cooking?—this makes a crunchier top.

Cooking

Cook in a low oven for two hours until golden brown.

*Demerara is a raw brown sugar.
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“I hope, too, that my book will illuminate my belief that love of art—be it poetry, storytelling, painting, sculpture, or music—enables people to transcend any barrier man has yet devised.”

The Guernsey Literary Festival launched in 2011, with Annie Barrows as a featured speaker. The line-up also included other writers with novels set on Guernsey. Mary Horlock’s The Book of Lies unfolds dual stories, both of which are entangled in betrayal and secrets: of 1980s high-school student Cathy and of her uncle, Charlie, four decades earlier during the German Occupation of the island. Part love story and part murder mystery, Island Madness by Tim Binding illuminates what life was like for the islanders during the Occupation and explores questions about collaboration and the nature of war.

For more information: www.arts.gg
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“… and people who want to read another book written in letters (Daddy Long Legs).”

If you enjoyed the epistolary form of The Guernsey Literary and Potato Peel Pie Society, here are fifteen more stories told through letters to check out.

84, Charing Cross Road by Helene Hanff (1970)

In 1949, New York author Helene Hanff began a twenty-year correspondence with an antiquarian bookseller in London, trading missives about literature and poignant personal topics like food rationing in postwar Britain. This “charmer,” declared a New York Times reviewer, “will beguile an hour of your time and put you in tune with mankind.”

Be My Knife by David Grossman (2002)

A love affair of words begins after a rare book dealer sees a beautiful woman across the room at a class reunion and feels compelled to write to her, on the understanding that they will never meet. The two married, thirty-something adults, dissatisfied with their lives, find passion and a connection that has eluded them.

The Color Purple by Alice Walker (1982)

This poignant Pulitzer Prize-winning novel is the story of two sisters—one a missionary in Africa and the other a young woman trapped in an abusive marriage in Depression-era Georgia, where a final injustice compels her to change her life.

Daddy-Long-Legs by Jean Webster (1912)

A wealthy, anonymous benefactor agrees to fund bright and lively orphan Judy Abbott’s higher education with one stipulation: she must keep him informed about the ups and down of college life, horrendous Latin lessons and all.

Dangerous Liaisons by Pierre Choderlos de Laclos (1782)

In this cautionary tale of moral and emotional depravity (published just before the French Revolution), two bored, jaded aristocrats embark on a game of seduction and manipulation—preying on an innocent convent girl and a virtuous married woman—and are unprepared for the consequences when their pastime proves more dangerous than they imagined.

Evelina by Frances Burney (1778)

Called “the chick-lit novel of 1778,” Fanny Burney’s comic and clever tale—considered a precursor to Jane Austen’s works—follows the adventures of a sheltered young woman through London society as she contends with snobs, rakes, and ill-mannered relatives, and crosses paths with eminently eligible Lord Oliver.

Fair and Tender Ladies by Lee Smith (1988)

Penning letters “to hold onto what is passing,” feisty Appalachian mountain girl and onetime aspiring writer Ivy Rowe shares a lifetime of stories, from growing up on a pre—World War I farm in a land both beautiful and poverty-stricken to early motherhood, marriage, and the surprising passion she finds in middle age.

Griffin and Sabine by Nick Bantock (1991)

When London designer Griffin Moss receives an intriguing note from a mysterious South Pacific islander, Sabine Strohem, they strike up an increasingly romantic correspondence through a series of handcrafted postcards and letters. Artist and author Nick Bantock continues their story in Sabine’s Notebook and The Golden Mean.

Lady Susan by Jane Austen (1871)

One of Jane Austen’s lesser-known novels of Regency manners and mores, Lady Susan wittily recounts the exploits of a beautiful, flirtatious widow on the hunt for a suitable second husband while at the same time playing matchmaker for her daughter.

Pamela; Or, Virtue Rewarded by Samuel Richardson (1740)

This melodramatic story of a young maidservant’s steadfast determination to protect her virtue and rebuff her predatory master’s attempts to seduce her is considered the first modern English novel. Pamela caused widespread controversy, both lauded as a moral tale and denounced as pornography in disguise.

The Pull of the Moon by Elizabeth Berg (1996)

When Nan turns fifty, she leaves her husband and college-age daughter at home in Massachusetts and embarks on an impromptu cross-country trek. Along the way she confronts long-held fears and embraces new challenges, chronicling her journey in diary entries and letters to her husband.

The Screwtape Letters by C. S. Lewis (1942)

Through the entertaining letters exchanged between the devil Screwtape and his demon-in-training nephew, Wormwood, who has been assigned to convert a young Christian man to the dark side, C. S. Lewis delves into moral questions about good versus evil, temptation, repentance, grace, and what it means to live an honest life.

Wanderlust by Chris Dyer (2003)

In this madcap romantic comedy, a headstrong travel writer married to her career sets out on a personal journey around the world. She tirelessly searches for happiness, juggles would-be suitors, encounters eclectic strangers, and meets her deadlines, all relayed in emails to her mother, her boss, and her best friend.

We Need to Talk About Kevin by Lionel Shriver (2003)

In startlingly direct correspondences with her estranged husband, Eva attempts to come to terms with marriage, career, family, and parenthood two years after her fifteen-year-old son, Kevin, committed a horrific crime—murdering seven students and two others at his high school.

A Woman of Independent Means by Elizabeth Forsyth Hailey (1978)

A bestselling sensation when it was first published, this richly woven novel follows wealthy Bess Steed Garner for sixty years, beginning at the turn of the twentieth century, as she faces the trials and triumphs of love, marriage, and motherhood and blazes her way through a conformist high society at odds with her independent spirit.
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Chat.
Comment.
Connect.

Visit our online book club community at www.randomhousereaderscircle.com

Chat

Meet fellow book lovers and discuss what you’re reading.

Comment

Post reviews of books, ask—and answer—thought-provoking questions, or give and receive book club ideas.

Connect

Find an author on tour, visit our author blog, or invite one of our 150 available authors to chat with your group on the phone.

Explore

Also visit our site for discussion questions, excerpts, author interviews, videos, free books, news on the latest releases, and more.









	Books are better with buddies.
www.Facebook.com/RHReadersCircle
	[image: ]










THE RANDOM HOUSE [image: ] PUBLISHING GROUP





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_016_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_015_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_014_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_013_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_012_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_011_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_010_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_L03_r1.jpg
)





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_L02_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_L01_r1.jpg







OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_cvt_r1.jpg







OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_019_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_018_r1.jpg
P






OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_017_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_005_r1.jpg
The Guernsey Literary
and Potato Peel Pie Society

MARY ANN SHAFFER
& ANNIE BARROWS

A Reader’s Guide






OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_004_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_003_r1.jpg
PART TWO






OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_002_r1.jpg
PART ONE






OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_001_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_cvi_r1.jpg
<) Deluxe Reading Group Edition

Mary Ann Shaffer
and o
Annie Barrows





OEBPS/page-template.xpgt
 

   
    
		 
    
  
     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
         
             
             
             
             
             
             
        
    

  

   
     
  





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_009_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_008_r1.jpg
GUERNSEY

HERM-SARK-ALDERNEY





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_007_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_006_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_tp_r1.jpg
The Guernsey Literary
and Potato Peel Pie Society

MARY ANN SHAFFER
& ANNIE BARROWS

Dial Press Trade Paperbacks

N






OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_021_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Shaf_9780679644583_epub_020_r1.jpg





